
Strategic Planning & 
Environment 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Agenda 

 
1 

 

TUESDAY 14 MARCH 2023 AT 7.30 PM 
 

Council Chamber, The Forum 
 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Beauchamp 
Councillor England 
Councillor Foster 
Councillor Harden (Chairman) 
Councillor P Hearn 
Councillor Riddick 
Councillor Rogers (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Stevens 
Councillor R Sutton 
Councillor Taylor 
Councillor Timmis 
Councillor Wilkie 
Councillor C Wyatt-Lowe 
 

 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 13) 
 
 To agree the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest. 

 
4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 
5. CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE IN 

RELATION TO CALL-IN   
 

6. ACTION POINTS FROM PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 14 - 17) 
 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

 

7. Q3 REPORTS PLANNING DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION  (Pages 18 - 24) 
 

8. Q3 REPORT ENVIRONMENTAL AND COMMUNITY PROTECTION  (Pages 25 - 28) 
 

9. Q3 ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES   
 
 Report to follow 

 
10. PARADISE DESIGN CODE  (Pages 29 - 242) 
 
 Please note that I have reduced the file sizes of Appendix A and Appendix C due to the 

constraints of outlook and our website. If a full size version of either document is required 
please contact Keeley Mitchell and she can provide this to you via Herts FX 

 
11. HEMEL TOWN CENTRE FRAMEWORK  (Pages 243 - 390) 

 
12. WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 391 - 394) 

 
 
 



                                                              Chairman  

MINUTES 
 

 
Dacorum Borough Council 

 
Strategic Planning and Environment 

Wednesday 1
st

 February 2023 
 
 
 
Councillors:  
Neil Harden (Chair) 
Mark Rogers (Vice-Chair)   
Jane Timmis       
Garrick Stevens 
Adrian England 
Stewart Riddick 
Rob Beauchamp 
Sheron Wilkie 
Rosie Sutton 
Nigel Taylor 
Anne Foster 
 
Also in attendance: Julie Banks (Cllr) 

 Alan Anderson (Cllr) 

 
 

Officers: (6) 
Alex Robinson – Assistant Director Planning 
Emma Walker – Head of Environmental and Community Protection 
Ciaran Corkerry – Lead Environmental Health Officer 
James Doe – Strategic Director – Place  
Shalini Jayasinghe – Strategic Planning & Regeneration Team Leader 
Trevor Pugh – Assistant Director – Neighbourhood Delivery 
Diane Southam – Assistant Director Place, Communities and Enterprise Restructure. 
 
The meeting began at 20:43 
 
 
1 MINUTES 
 
Cllr Timmis referred to page 8, paragraph 3, stating that ARobinson's minuted response requires 
revision. It was agreed that the sentence would be reworded.  
  
The minutes of the previous meeting were formally approved as an accurate record, subject to the 
agreed revision. 
 
2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from, Cllr Hearn and Cllr Wyatt-Lowe 
 
3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 
4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation.  
 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



                                                              Chairman  

5 CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE IN 
RELATION TO A CALL–IN 

None. 
 
6  ACTION POINTS FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
The order of the agenda was changed and The financial Monitoring Report and Key Performance 
indicator items were heard as part of the joint budget meeting. 
 
 
7  JOINT BUDGET 
 
This item was presented collectively in the joint Budget meeting by Nigel Howcutt, he was happy to 
take questions. 
 
Cllr Foster referred to the £15k in the budget for repairs at Berkhamsted Leisure Centre and asked 
what is in the budget for the new leisure centre project. N Howcutt advised that there is a significant 
amount of money in the capital programme for Berkhamsted Leisure Centre over the next 2 years and 
that details of this were shared with the Finance and Resources Committee as a Part Two element 
and will be the single biggest capital investment in the capital programme. 
 
Cllr Beauchamp commented on the capital programme costs on page 40 of the report and line 94 
regarding the Water Gardens North Car Park drainage improvements. Cllr Beauchamp noted the 
£35k in the budget and suggested that this is to help resolve the flooding issue that occurs at the exit 
and asked why the Council was paying this when it should be down to the contractor. The Chair 
queried whether this would fall under N Howcutt's remit and that the information may be commercially 
sensitive. N Howcutt agreed and suggested that this be discussed further outside of the meeting. 
 
 
8  Q3 FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 
 
Fiona jump presented this report and was happy to take questions.  
 
There were no questions from the Strategic Planning and Environment Committee 
 
 
9  KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR UPDATE 
 
Hannah Peacock presented the report in the joint budget committee and was happy to take questions. 
 

Cllr Foster noted the KPI  regarding refused applications and asked why it was not passed on 

elsewhere. ARobinson advised that the indicator is based on a low number of schemes. The Chair 

commented that removed KPIs will still be monitored by officers. It was clarified that this was 

regarding DOP07 on page 97 of the report with the entry stating 'slightly above target, this is 

principally due to officers leaving and closing down (by refusing difficult cases before they left)'.  

  

ARobinson advised that the indicator purely records the refused application and is not an indication 

that they should not be refused. It was clarified that it covers all refusals. ARobinson confirmed that he 

would look into this further. 

 

Action - ARobinson to look into wording of refused applications KPI.  

 

 

10 AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS AND AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN 
UPDATE 

 

Page 4



                                                              Chairman  

EWalker presented the update, noting the impact of air quality and the Council's duty to monitor this. 

Any exceedances are dealt with by the declaration of air quality management areas and action plans 

with objectives set to assist and reduce these exceedances. Three air quality management areas 

have been declared as (1) Lawn Lane, Hemel Hempstead, (2) London Road, Apsley, and (3) High 

Street, Northchurch. These were declared in 2012 due to an exceedances for nitrogen oxide ("NOx"), 

primarily due to contributions from road transportation services. Levels in Lawn Lane and London 

Road have consistently remained over objective levels, though levels in Northchurch have shown 

compliance over the last 5 years.  

  

With the onset of the Covid pandemic, the government instruction to stay at home translated into 

substantial improvements in NOx levels in Lawn Lane and London Road, those these reductions are 

being treated as exceptional and directly linked to pandemic restrictions. Levels for Northchurch have 

remained compliant post-lockdown.  

  

Priorities over the last 2 years have been in relation to responding to the impact of Covid-19 and 

Environmental and Community Protection officers were redeployed to functions relating to the 

pandemic. Opportunities to progress actions to improve air quality have therefore been limited, though 

there is now a focus on this with the re-initiation of the Air Quality Steering Group.  

  

EWalker proposed the revocation of Air Quality Management Area 3 at Northchurch in consultation 

with Defra. EWalker stated that they are confident that future exceedances of objective levels in 

Northchurch are unlikely and therefore recommended that the content and progress of the air quality 

action plans be noted and that agreement be given to rescind the Air Quality Management Area in 

Northchurch, as well as agreeing to widening air quality monitoring to include PM2.5 using portable 

units.  

  

Cllr England commented that air quality requires a wider perspective beyond the 3 areas and he 

noted his disappointment that the report focuses on these. Cllr England noted that air quality across 

the borough could be improved. Cllr England also noted that current UK levels are set higher than 

suggested levels and that he would have liked to see this referenced in the report.  

  

Cllr England referred to the raw data report that was sent to Defra and noted the mention of Marlowes 

and Queensway. Cllr England quoted page 22 of the data report, noting that new sites were 

introduced in 2020 to consider areas not previously identified under previous rounds of review, and 

that on page 7 it states that the Council also identified a new potential area of exceedance as a result 

of new monitoring. Cllr England noted that this new area is not mentioned in the report, and that the 

report states that the proper way to improve air quality is having fewer cars in the worst areas. Cllr 

England queried why the new exceedance was not mentioned in the report.  

  

The Chair summarised Cllr England's comments as querying the criteria by area 3 and where the 

criteria is of adding Queensway as a new area.  

  

CCorkerry commented on Queensway, noting that the 2022 report focuses on 2021 data. Queensway 

was the only point showing exceedances and that for 2023 they will be looking at how far this issues 

goes. 3 tubes in areas well below urban background levels are being deployed to Queensway Old 

Town High Street. CCorkerry that they would normally expect 3 years of exceedance before Defra 

would expect them to declare an Air Quality Management Area.  

  

Cllr England acknowledged the response and suggested that the discovery of a potential new Air 

Quality Management Area should have been highlighted in the report. CCorkerry confirmed that this is 

being looked into further and why they are seeing this exceedance and confirmed that it would be 

included if the exceedance continues.  

Page 5



                                                              Chairman  

  

Cllr Anderson referred to Cllr England's comments and asked officers to provide clarity on whether 

Dacorum has a particular air quality issue or shares similar issues to other local authorities. EWalker 

advised that some local authority areas are an entire air quality management area, and whilst 

Dacorum has 3 small distinct areas, you would expect better air quality than more built up areas. 

EWalker confirmed that the issue is pursued closely with the Air Quality Steering Group to look at the 

air quality management plan, though this is not an issue that DBC can deal with in isolation. Traffic is 

the largest pollutant and this sits within HCC, which has its own plans, and whilst DBC can influence 

this, there is a limit to how much they can push their own agenda. CCorkerry commented that 

Dacorum's readings are rated as 'good'.  

  

Cllr Stevens commented on health concerns and the investment in mobile pollution detectors, noting 

that they are 95% accurate, and that there are problems where there are high concentrations of 

traffic. Cllr Stevens referred to the intention to widen the monitoring stations looking at smaller 

particles and confirmed that they would be writing to HCC to request a monitoring unit to be put onto 

the high street.  

  

Cllr Stevens noted that the report was written last year and advised that the WHO has updated its 

guidance on safe levels of pollution. The limit on PM2.5 has dropped from 10 to 5 microns per cubic 

metre, compared to 20 in the UK, and Cllr England stated that they could not reach global limits in the 

short-term without banning cars. Cllr England commented that they need to look at diverting people 

away from busier roads and stated that he would have liked to see in the report how pollution is being 

considered.  

  

The Chair noted that a number of items are outside of the remit of DBC and asked officers to respond 

on what actions it is taking. TPugh commented on health impact, noting that they need to consider 

both the levels measured and the exposure of the individual. TPugh confirmed that they work closely 

with HCC. EWalker added that they do aim to influence national policy with one of their officers, 

DCarr, on the UK panel for best available techniques for air quality. It was also noted that DBC chair 

the Hertfordshire and Bedfordshire Air Quality Officers Group and this is used to try and influence 

partners, such as HCC, and HCC also sit on the Air Quality Steering Group.  

  

Cllr Stevens recognised that regulations are set at a national level, though the minister is refusing to 

update them to recommended guidelines.  

  

Cllr Banks commented that members could be petitioning county councillors given that they are the 

decision makers on this and ensure that they are making councillors of their concerns and demands 

for action.  

  

TPugh noted that DBC take actions though the local plan.  

  

Cllr England stated that they can take local action, such as through planning, though they have seen 

increased housing development and greater car use. Cllr England noted that since 2021 he has been 

the councillor for part of Apsley, and suggested that he, along with Cllr Maddern, speak with the team 

to see what further actions can be taken.  

  

Cllr England referred to page 46 of the report and the recommendation to relocate bus stops in 

Northchurch. Cllr England noted that Northchurch has now been identified as less of a concern and 

asked if they could therefore look to relocate bus stops in Apsley. Looking at the other 

recommendations, Cllr England agreed that they should consider Clean Air Zones again, though there 

is a bus driver shortage and the decreasing confidence in bus travel was noted.  

  

Page 6



                                                              Chairman  

Cllr England noted the mention of action on climate emergency within the report and stated that the 

report is referring to someone who is no longer at DBC.  

  

Cllr England queried when the government is expected to release its Transport Decarbonisation Plan. 

No response was given.  

  

Cllr England asked why electronic monitoring equipment is in Northchurch when it should be in 

Apsley. CCorkerry confirmed that they successfully obtained a £40k capital bid, of which £23-28k is 

the reallocation of the Northchurch analyser, and they are looking at 2 potential locations in Apsley 

with the most suitable location being outside the community centre. Another part of the capital bid will 

be used to purchase 3 Zephyr air monitors that are solar powered, and though they are not as 

accurate as real-time monitors, they provide information on NOx, PM2.5, PM10 and PM1, and 1 of 

these will be placed in Northchurch to ensure that levels are monitored, and the other 2 will put on 

Lawn Lane and Apsley. Monitors will also be provided by HCC and 3 locations have been highlighted, 

including outside a school, and handheld analysers will be sent out to schools so air quality can be 

covered as part of the curriculum.  

  

A comment was raised regarding the bridge repairs where it was noted that there was an option to 

make this a 2-way bridge, which would have considerably reduced congestion on Apsley High Street. 

It was noted that DBC need to continue as best it can to prevent situations such as this occurring 

again.  

  

Cllr Foster commented on the local plan for Berkhamsted, noting that traffic and sustainability don't 

appear to be part of this, and asked if numbers of cars are considered as part of planning. ARobinson 

noted that the NPP provides a broad framework for assessing transport proposals, though the bar is 

very high. ARobinson explained that they worked closely with HCC to develop the strategy to try and 

move as many people away from private car use, though this is challenging in Berkhamsted. As 

planning applications come forward, developers will be required to produce transport assessments 

and metrics are used to calculate trips, and ARobinson stated that he was unsure if this data is used 

to create a particular figure. It was noted that any major development will ask for an air quality impact 

assessment that involves air quality monitoring based on the types of houses and the number of 

estimated cars. Mitigation will be discussed, such as air source heat pumps and EV charging.  

  

Cllr Foster asked if there is any legislation in place that allows them to insist on heat pumps. 

CCorkerry stated that they can only suggest it. ARobinson added that, as the local plan develops, 

they are able to develop policies more than they can at present and they can look to introduce 

additional obligations.  

  

Cllr Foster noted that parents often ask about pollution at lower levels, such as at buggy level, and 

asked if this is measured. CCorkerry stated that this is where handheld devices can be used, though 

current legislation is to measure at 2 metres and to consider long-term exposure.  

  

Cllr Foster commented on EV charging and asked if they receive government funding for on-street 

charging points. CCorkerry advised that this is currently being managed by Climate Change and 

Sustainability officers as part of the restructure. Cllr Foster noted that potential sites for EV charging 

have been identified and commented that they have been previously been told that this is managed 

by HCC. CCorkerry stated that colleagues in the Climate Change and Sustainability team can now 

influence this more through their own steering group, though the decisions still sit with HCC.  

  

Cllr Taylor commented that he was at the HCC Highways and Transport Committee and that they had 

stated that EV charging was down to district councils and they would be allowing on-street charging, 

and it was noted that they indicated they would be allowing a pilot to allow residents to have some 

Page 7



                                                              Chairman  

form of trunking across pavements if they could park their cars outside their houses to connect cables 

there.  

  

Cllr Taylor referred to planning in Berkhamsted, noting that the previous draft of the local plan 

proposed to put around 2,200 houses on the edge, and this will put extra cars on the road. The 

current road layout means that almost every route will go through a set of traffic lights in the centre of 

town and Cllr Taylor said he was unsure how anyone would avoid using these routes. Cllr Taylor 

asked that the 'severe harm' trigger be clarified. ARobinson referred to paragraph 111 in the MPPF, 

noting that developments should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be 

an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 

would be severe. ARobinson confirmed he would circulate the document.  

  

Cllr Taylor advised that there is an opportunity with the local plan to address such issues, such as 

requiring developers to plant twice as many trees as they are removing.  

  

Cllr England advised that the Committee were being asked to note the report. Given the level of 

discussion, Cllr England suggested that the comments be provided to the teams. The Chair noted that 

it was an update report and that comments made would be included in the Cabinet report. Cllr Banks 

confirmed that she would capture the comments from the meeting and ensure they form part of the 

presentation to Cabinet, and it was noted that members could also attend Cabinet.  

  

Cllr England referred to TPugh's comment regarding exposure to pollutants and he noted the row of 

maisonettes along London Road that are covered in soot. It was noted that if any residents consider 

their health to be impacted by their accommodation then they should speak to housing officers.  

  

Cllr England asked what would be done in relation to workplace parking. TPugh noted that this has 

been explored and they are arranging a review of the Leyland area. This will come under the place 

portfolio and will sit alongside the local plan with a number of proposals on how Leyland should be 

developed.  

  

Cllr Foster agreed that developers should be asked to plant more trees and asked that, if brought in, 

this needs to be enforced.  

  

Cllr Beauchamp asked that they ensure there are bus bays available if they are considering moving 

bus stops.  

  

Cllr Beauchamp commented on zoning, noting that they try to limit the number of cars by bringing in 

parking standards, though they can't limit the number of cars people own and use across the borough. 

Cllr Beauchamp noted the success of Brighton's bus service and suggested that they look to replicate 

this.  

  

The Committee noted the report and the recommendations of the report. 
 

11 RELEASE OF CORE CIL SPENDING 
 

ARobinson took the report as read and noted that the Council currently holds around £15m in core 

CIL and that the decision taken was to hold back on spending CIL until a local plan and infrastructure 

deliver plan was finalised. Given the delays to local plan, officers feel that delaying any spend on 

infrastructure is less justified. A number of options have been considered on releasing CIL and the 

recommendation is that 20% of core CIL is released. A number of technical changes to the bidding 

process has also been recommended along with changes to governance of the Infrastructure 

Advisory Group and how projects are approved.  

  

Page 8



                                                              Chairman  

ARobinson noted a correction on the first table on page 63 of the report, stating that the row 'Rest of 

borough-rural area' should read 9.8% with a total figure of £267,027.  

  

ARobinson advised that a number of potential projects have been identified in the report, as set out in 

section 6.  

  

Cllr Beauchamp noted the potential for making part Waterhouse Street into a cycle lane, noting that 

this would help alleviate some traffic issues, though this may push some to Leighton Buzzard Road. 

Cllr Beauchamp asked if borough councillors will have any input in how core CIL is spent.  

  

ARobinson advised that the intention is that anyone can put together projects to go to the 

Infrastructure Advisory Group for assessment with no restrictions in place. Bids or projects will come 

in for assessment and projects will then be presented to the group who will then make a 

recommendation to the Portfolio Holder and Cabinet. ARobinson noted that they will also be looking 

at what other sources of funding are available, and where there is neighbourhood funding available, 

this will be explored before considering core CIL.  

  

ARobinson commented on the cycle lane scheme, noting that he does not have the assessment of 

the impact on the area and is currently only listed as a potential project. It was suggested that this 

could be discussed further offline if required.  

  

Cllr Foster asked for the difference between scrutiny and accountability from the existing and new 

process. ARobinson advised that they will broadly operate in similar ways, and whilst the membership 

will predominantly be the same, under the previous regime there would be an infrastructure business 

plan and lift projects from the delivery plan and set out a longer-term time horizon for spending CIL 

money. These projects would be assessed before going to full Cabinet and Council. The new 

proposal is that the infrastructure delivery plan is the core document and the business plan will be 

removed, and instead of recommendations going to Cabinet and Council, they will go to Cabinet for 

approval.  

  

Cllr Foster noted the emphasis based on the IDP and asked which IDP the proposed projects are 

based on. ARobinson noted that the IDP is a live document that is reviewed at least annually, and the 

intention with the new process is to report an infrastructure funding statement every December 

alongside an updated IDP. The IDP sets out strategic priorities for the borough and projects will need 

to be identified on the IDP. The local plan is in development and a consultation will take place later in 

the year, therefore the intention is to update the IDP based on the emerging local plan.  

  

Looking at the plan, ARobinson referred to the settlement table in section 5.3 and noted that they 

propose to release CIL funding and ring-fence it based on settlements. The IDP identifies £1.3bn of 

infrastructure, and if this is apportioned based on the settlement, this gives the figures included in the 

table. The initial release of money is based on the growth proportions set out, and projects set out at 

the back of the report are examples of projects the team is aware of and may not necessarily be 

brought forward.  

  

Cllr Foster remarked on applying for CIL being the last option and suggested that it should be the first 

option available. ARobinson commented that local funding primarily sits in neighbourhood pots that sit 

parish councils or ward members and should therefore be the first pot of funding to explore before 

looking at core CIL. ARobinson noted that core CIL sits within a strategic framework. Cllr Foster 

clarified that if an application sits within strategic funding then they could request CIL funding before 

looking elsewhere. The Chair added that this is additional funding what parishes already receive 

through CIL.  

  

Page 9



                                                              Chairman  

ARobinson explained that, as part of the assessment process, they would look for a demonstration 

that other sources of funding have been explored first where possible.  

  

Cllr Anderson commented on core CIL funding not being spent until this point, noting that they will not 

get enough CIL to meet infrastructure needs and it has not been spent in an attempt to save as much 

as possible. Cllr Anderson advised that they are only releasing a small amount for quick wins and that 

they would need to be strict on awarding it. Cllr Anderson added that considerations aren't just 

geographical but they also need to consider types of funding, noting that 40% should be spent on 

education, 40% on transport and that Dacorum will only receive 20%.  

  

JDoe noted that they have been collecting CIL since 2015 and there is now a need to refresh the 

governance around it. On which funding should be explored first, JDoe advised that parish or town 

councils have a lot more latitude over the use of local CIL, and they need to be more rigorous on how 

core CIL is used. There may also be other forms of funding to explore to ensure that the borough is 

benefiting.  

  

ARobinson advised that other sources of funding may be available and that these will be taken into 

consideration when assessing if core CIL should be used.  

  

Cllr Roberts referred to the examples listed on pages 71-73 of the report and asked if anything should 

be done by councillors related to these to apply for these projects. ARobinson explained that the 

projects listed will be assessed first as they are projects that they are already aware of, though this 

does not necessarily mean they will be funded. An initial assessment will be conducted shortly, and 

there will be future rounds of assessment. ARobinson recommended to members that if they have a 

particular project in mind then they should get in touch with the team for guidance on what information 

is required. If an application misses this round, it will be considered as part of the next round. 

SJayasinghe recommended that members inform the team of potential projects as soon as possible 

so they can take members through the assessment process.  

  

Cllr Timmis referred to item 5.4 on page 63 of the report and queried what counts as education as 

part of infrastructure given that education is provided by HCC. Cllr Timmis commented on highways 

and transportation, and asked when this is a DBC decision rather than that of HCC.  

  

ARobinson advised that the tables in the paper represent how much of the known infrastructure 

requirement, and the thematic table represents how much of the total infrastructure is needed for 

transport and recommendation. It was noted that education means new schools, and Cllr Timmis 

stated that this is an issue for HCC. ARobinson agreed, noting that despite who it is provided by, the 

infrastructure need is linked to new schools. If core CIL is released, it can be focused in a number of 

ways, such as by a settlement of thematic basis, and the recommendation is to not fix it thematically 

and instead by settlement.  

  

On the Highways Authority role, ARobinson suggested that this be discussed further offline to ensure 

that they discharge their functions correctly when looking at planning applications.  

  

Cllr Timmis referred to page 77 of the report and the table on how money would be distributed. Cllr 

Timmis commented that if you are not "parished" then funds are held by the council and ward 

councillors responsible for spend, otherwise the funds are transferred to the parish council to make 

the decision. Cllr Timmis noted that she regularly attends parish council meetings though is not seen 

to be making any decisions regarding the spending of CIL. ARobinson noted that it is set in the 

regulations that funding has to be transferred to parish councils for their use.  

  

Page 10



                                                              Chairman  

Cllr Timmis commented on Hemel Garden Communities, noting that a large amount of CIL will be 

accrued Great Gaddesden Parish Council. ARobinson commented that this would depend on several 

assumptions. Cllr Timmis asked if the parish council would be in receipt of this or if it would be for 

Hemel Hempstead. It was noted that this would depend on whether the money is 0-rated to CIL and 

that developer contributions could also come through Section 106, as done with some larger sites.  

  

Cllr Stevens remarked on the consultation of the new planning regime and stated that they would be 

reforming Section 106 and doing away with CIL. The Chair advised that they are not at this point yet 

and it was noted that the discussion is regarding replacing the CIL with an Infrastructure Levy. Cllr 

Anderson queried if the parish element would be changed.  

  

Cllr England referred to 4.4 in the report regarding improving the speed and effectiveness of the 

decision-making process and asked when funds would be available for decisions made by Cabinet. 

ARobinson advised that the proposal is to take the first round of bids to the next Cabinet meeting and 

that they are organising an advisory group to consider the first round of bids. The first round of bids 

will therefore be considered at the meeting on 14th February.  

  

Cllr England remarked that £3m would be decided upon by next Cabinet. ARobinson noted that whilst 

they are proposing the release of £3m, the projects being assessed may not total this, and the 

decision may be that no projects progress to Cabinet.  

  

Cllr England noted that full Council members were being removed and that members won't be 

involved in the decisions. The Chair noted that there are a number of internal structures where 

members are involved and that the democratic process is still in place. It was also noted that 

members can attend Cabinet meetings and ask questions. Cllr England noted that members would 

not have a vote. The Chair clarified that the original comment made by Cllr England was regarding 

members not being included and confirmed that they would be included in the process. It was noted 

that a particular step has been removed with the decision not going to full Council.  

  

It was asked if there is cross-party membership of the IAG. It was confirmed there is not. ARobinson 

advised that the membership of the IAG is set out in the report. Cllr England commented that member 

voting has been removed and that there is no cross-party representation. The Chair commented that 

members had the opportunity to scrutinise the proposal during the meeting and could make a decision 

to not endorse the report.  

  

Cllr England recommended that Scrutiny be chaired by the opposition. The Chair advised that the 

discussion was on the report and that any changes to Scrutiny would need to be taken up with the 

Leader of the Council.  

  

Cllr Wilkie commented on releasing £3m just 8 weeks out of purdah. Cllr Foster acknowledged the 

reason behind wanting to release CIL and noted the issue of members not being part of the IAG and 

the decision going to Cabinet and not full Council. Whilst the reason to release to CIL is accepted, Cllr 

Foster noted that concerns regarding the removal of this step remains a concern.  

  

Cllr Beauchamp proposed that if CIL is to be spent in a local ward or parish then local members 

should be part of the IAG. The Chair advised that this is not part of the governance criteria, though the 

amendment could be suggested.  

  

JDoe noted that the IAG is a technical group and only acts in an advisory capacity.  

  

The Chair noted that the concerns of council members should be discussed at Cabinet.  

  

Page 11



                                                              Chairman  

Cllr Wilkie asked how they can ensure that core CIL is being fairly distributed across the borough. 

ARobinson confirmed that the annual infrastructure funding statement will set out what projects are 

being considered by the IAG and which projects have been funded. ARobinson added that they have 

tried to set out ring-fenced money for different parts of the borough to mitigate the risk of projects in 

particular areas getting disproportionate levels of funding. The IAG is an advisory organisation and 

will make a recommendation to Cabinet who will accept, reject or amend recommendations.  

  

The Chair noted that there is the opportunity for ward members to raise projects with SJayasinghe 

and that these may be fed into IAG.  

  

The Committee noted the report and its recommendations.  

  

Cllr Timmis asked if the discussions from the meeting would be included with the recommendations. 
The Chair advised that the recommendations are set out as written unless a vote is carried to add it 
as a recommendation, otherwise points are highlighted by the Portfolio Holder and the minutes will be 
available. The Chair stated that he would expect the Portfolio Holder to raise the potential concerns 
discussed. It was also noted that any member could attend Cabinet to raise their concerns. 
 
 
12 EXCULSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

13 PLACE, COMMUNITIES AND ENTERPRISE RESTRUCTURE 

 

Full details in Part 2 Minutes 

 

14  WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The work programme was noted 

.  

 

There being no further business, the Chair closed the meeting at 10:50 
 
 

Page 12



Document is Restricted

Page 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Strategic Planning & Environment OSC Action Points - Jan 

 

Date of 
meeting 

Action point Responsible 
officer 

Date action 
completed 

Response 

12 
October
2022 

HPeacock and MParr to check if 
prediction of 30,000 cars by 2030 
includes development of local plan 

H Peacock 30/12/22 LF sent to committee 01/12/22 

12 
October 
2022 

To circulate the outstanding debt 
figure. 

A Robinson 31/10/22 LF sent to committee 31/10/22 

8 Nov 
2022 

H Peacock to report back 
complaints figures. (complaints 
policy) 
 

H peacock 14/11/22 LF sent to committee 01/12/22 

8 Nov 
2022 

Richard Le Brun’s  team to contact 
Ashridge about dumping of green 
waste and invasive species 

R Lebrun  Ongoing 

6 Dec 
2022 

Further update on digitalisation to be 
included as part of the quarterly 
report. 

A Robinson  To be completed on next report cycle 

10 Jan 
2023 

ARobinson to provide Committee 
with threshold for which 
developments biodiversity net gains 
applies to 

A Robinson 21/01/2023 In January 2022, Defra undertook a consultation on Biodiversity 
Net Gain Regulations and Implementation that sought views on 
the following: 
‘Proposals We are proposing to make the following exemptions 
using our regulation-making powers 

1. developments impacting habitat areas below a ‘de 
minimis’ (minimal) threshold  
2. householder applications  
3. change of use applications  

P
age 14

A
genda Item

 6



We are also considering whether to make exemptions for the 
following:  

4. creation of biodiversity gain sites  
5. self-build and custom housebuilding  

And we are proposing to not apply the following exemptions, 
some of which were discussed in the previous net gain 
consultation:  

6. brownfield sites which meet set criteria  
7. temporary permissions  
8. developments for which permitted development rights 
are not applicable due to their location in conservation 
areas or national park’. 

The results of this consultation have not yet been released and a 
decision is still to be issued by Government on the thresholds and 
exemptions. This is expected to be included within secondary 
legislation.   
 

10 Jan 
2023 

ARobinson to check timelines for 10% 
uplift delivery 

A Robinson 25/01/2023 There is no guidance on this within the information currently 
released by Government. 

10 Jan 
2023 

ARobinson to look into policy CS14 
and creation of 10,000 jobs alongside 
claim from Hemel Garden 
Communities of 10,000 jobs. 

A Robinson 25/01/2023 Information on the number of jobs created since the adoption of 
the Core Strategy (2013) is recorded annually in the Authority 
Monitoring Report (AMR). 
 
The 2020/21 AMR showed the net change in jobs from 2006-
2020 to be in excess of 10,000 set out in CS14. This demonstrates 
that policy CS14 has been achieved and that the claim from 
Hemel Garden Communities of 10,000 jobs would be in 
addition.   
 
The following job numbers are extracted from the 2020/21 AMR: 
This shows a net increase in jobs since 2006, however there are 
some concerns over the accuracy of figures 

P
age 15



 
5.1       Core Strategy Policy CS14 proposes a net increase of 
10,000 jobs in Dacorum over the plan period (2006-2031). This is 
an increase of approximately 15%. The jobs growth target was 
recommended by the Dacorum Employment Land Update 2011. 
This report forecast significant growth during the plan period of 
office jobs (+7,300) and non-B[1] jobs (+5,900), but a decline in 
industry and warehousing jobs (-3,400).  
5.2       Employee jobs[2] in the Borough fell during the 2008-2009 
recession, but have recovered strongly since 2010 and are now 
well above pre-recession levels. Job numbers increased 
significantly by 26,000 between 2018 and 2019 (Table 5.1) and 
remained high in 2020. The overall increase since 2006 is 37,200 
jobs. It means the Core Strategy’s 2006-2031 jobs growth target 
has already been achieved. This is a very good performance given 
the length and depth of the recent recession. One reason for the 
strong jobs growth is the Council’s proactive approach towards 
promoting economic development.  
 
Table 5.1: Employee jobs 2006-2020 
 

2006 2011 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Net change 2006-20 

58,800 57,200 68,000 68,000 69,000 95,000 96,000 +37,200 

            Source: NOMIS Office for National Statistics (ONS). 2006 
figures from the Annual Business Inquiry (ABI). 
 
5.3       The job growth figures should be treated with caution, 
although it is the best available for this purpose. As explained in 
Appendix A to the South West Hertfordshire Economic Study 

                                                           
[1]

 Non-B jobs are jobs not within Use Classes B1 (business use), B2 (general industry) and B8 (storage and distribution). 
[2]

 The number of employee jobs is defined as ‘the number of jobs held by employees and excludes the self-employed, Government supported trainees and HM Forces 

P
age 16



Update (2018), there are often inaccuracies in the data. In reality, 
it is most unlikely that job growth in Dacorum between 2018 and 
2019 was anything like as high as indicated by Table 5.1. 
5.4       Services continue to dominate employee jobs by sector in 
the local economy (Table 5.2). However, the very high jobs figure 
for administration and support services (33,000) is almost 
certainly a substantial over-estimate, given that the 2018 figure 
for this sector was only 8,000 jobs. Other large sectors in 
Dacorum are retail; professional, scientific and technical; 
information and communication; education, health and social 
work; transport and storage; and information and 
communication. The role of knowledge-based industries is 
becoming more important in Dacorum, as it is nationally.  
 

10 Jan 
2023 

ARobinson to request an update on 
the Dacorum Economic Recovery 
Plan. 

A Robinson 25/01/2023 Sent via email 25/01/2023 

1 Feb 
2023 

ARobinson to look into wording of 
refused applications KPI. 

ARobinson  The reason for the increase in refusals during this period is 
because a number of unacceptable applications were 
refused by some Officers who were winding up legacy 
cases before departing. 

     

     

 

P
age 17



   
 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Planning, Development and Regeneration Quarter 3 Performance Report 2022-23 

Date: 14 March 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Cllr Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix 1 – Performance Report  

Background papers: 

 

 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

None 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Alex Robinson – Assistant Director for Planning  

 

Alex.Robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228236 (ext. 2208) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities - A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

- Building strong and vibrant communities 

- Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

- Providing good quality affordable homes, in 

particular for those most in need 

- Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service 

delivery  

- Climate and ecological emergency 

 
   

Strategic Planning and Environment  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 18

Agenda Item 7

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


   
 

   
 

Wards affected All 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To set out the performance outturn for the service 

for Quarter 3 of 2022-23. 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. That the report is noted. 

 

Period for post policy/project review:  

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 This report presents the performance outturn for the Planning, Development and Regeneration service for 

the second quarter (October – January) of the business year 2022-23. The full performance report is at 

Appendix 1.  

 

1.2 The performance report at Appendix 1 shows a total of 5 indicators. These have been reduced following a 

corporate wide review of KPIs undertaken by the Performance Team. The report setting out the background 

to this can be found here: Agenda for Strategic Planning & Environment Overview & Scrutiny on Wednesday, 

1st February, 2023, 7.30 pm (dacorum.gov.uk). 

 

1.3 Of the revised KPIs two are departmental performance measures and three are measures reflect local 

construction activity. Of the two performance measures one is green and one is red.  

 

Planning applications determined within target 

 

1.4 The percentage of all planning applications determined within target (DMP01) sits at 80% against a target of 

70%. This represents a good performance from the team particularly given the ongoing restrictions relating 

to the Chilterns Beechwoods and vacancies at the Planning Officer level. 

 

Enforcement Site Visits  

 

1.5 The percentage of all planning enforcement priority site visits (PE04) sits at 79% when compared to a target 

of 100%. The service continues to make progress in reducing live caseload, which then assists in creating time 

to visit new cases within deadlines. Although performance in this quarter is below the 100% target it does 

represents an overall performance from the previous quarter. This also corresponded with the team not 

having an Assistant Team Leader for three weeks during this period.  

 

Affordable Housing  

 

1.6 For indicator D01 – the number of affordable housing starts on sites in the period – there is no data on this 

for the period.  

 

1.7 For indicator D02 – the number of affordable housing completions in the period – there is no data on this for 

the period. 

 

 

 

Page 19

https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=3455
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=3455


   
 

   
 

Retail Properties  

 

1.8 For indicator CPE01 – the number of retail properties (vacancy rate) for the period – there is no data on this 

for the period. However, the current vacancy rate for council owned commercial assets is 4.6%. 

 

2. Options and alternatives considered 

 

2.1 Not applicable.  
 

3. Consultation 

 

3.1 James Doe – Strategic Director (Place) 

 

3.2 Philip Stanley - Interim Head of Development Management and Planning 

 

3.3 Ronan Leydon – Team Leader, Strategic Planning 

 

4. Financial and value for money implications: 

 

Financial  

 

4.1 None arising from decisions on this report though the financial indicators for Planning fees and Local Land 

Charges report an under recovery of income against target levels. 

 

Value for Money 

 

4.2 None arising from this report. 

 

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1 None arising from this report. 

 

6. Risk implications: 

 

6.1 None arising from this report. Risks addressed through service level risk register. 

 

7. Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

 

7.1 Community Impact Assessment - Not applicable for this report. 

 

7.2 Human Rights – There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report.  

 

8. Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

 

8.1 None arising from this report. 

 

9. Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

 

9.1 None arising from this report. 

Page 20



   
 

   
 

10. Conclusions:   

 

10.1 Not applicable 

 

 

11. Appendix 1 - Performance Report (attached separately)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



Strategic Planning & Environment OSC

 Place Report

Development - Quarterly Performance Scorecard

D01 Number of Affordable
Housing started on sites in
period

Dec 2022 0

D02 Number of Affordable
Housing completions in
period

Dec 2022 0

Measure
Code ↑ Measure Date Actual Target DoT Performance Trend

1

P
age 22



Development Management & Planning - Quarterly Performance Scorecard

DMP01 �Q� Percentage of all planning
applications determined
within target �Q�

Dec 2022 80% 70%

A good performance from the team, especially taking into account the HRA restrictions and vacancies at the lower Planning Officer level.
PE04 Percentage of all Planning

Enforcement priority site
visits completed within
target

Dec 2022 79% 100%

The team continues to make progress in reducing live caseload, which then assists in creating time to visit new cases within deadlines. The performance in this
quarter, whilst below the 100% target, represents a clear improvement. It should also be noted that the team were without an ATL for three weeks during this
period. The new ATL has been reminded of the upmost importance of visiting P1 cases in time (this quarter 9 out of 10 P1 cases were in time).

Measure
Code ↑ Measure Date Actual Target DoT Performance Trend

2

P
age 23



Place, Communities & Enterprise - Quarterly Performance Scorecard

CPE01 Retail properties – vacancy
rate

Dec 2022

Data for borough wide retail units is not available for this update. The current vacancy rate for council owned commercial assets is 4.6%. Data is not currently recorded by asset type but it
is likely that the vacancy rate for council owned retail assets is lower than this as the majority are held in neighbourhood centres where the vacancy rate is very low.

Measure
Code ↑ Measure Date Actual Target DoT Performance Trend

3

P
age 24



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Spatial Planning and Environmental Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Q3 Environmental and Community Protection Update 

Date: 14th March 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Julie Banks , Portfolio Holder for Regulatory and Community  

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices:  

Background papers: 

 

 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Emma Walker 

Group Manager Environmental and Community Protection  

 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228861 (ext. 2861) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for 

those most in need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

 

Wards affected All 

 

   

Spatial Planning and Environment  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To provide Members with the performance 

report for quarter 3 in relation to Environmental 

and Community Protection 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. For information only.  

Period for post policy/project review:  

 

1 Introduction/Background:  

1.1 For the purpose of this report, ‘Environmental and Community Protection’ includes the following services: 

 Environmental Health Team (Covid 19 Outbreak Control, Food Safety, Health and Safety Enforcement, 
Statutory Nuisances, Contaminated Land, Drainage, Private Water Supplies, Infectious Diseases, Air Quality 
Management, High Hedges) 

 Operations  Team (Public Health, Pest Control, Animal Welfare, Dog Warden Services, Environmental 
Enforcement) 

 Corporate Health, Safety and Resilience Team (Internal Health and Safety Advice, Technical Support, 
Emergency Planning and Business Continuity).  

 

2 Environmental and Community Protection – Q3 Performance Indicators  

 

2.1  ECP09, Number of High risk food hygiene inspections carried achieved within the quarter is 58.70%. This 

is due to the backlog of inspections that arose during Covid. The Food Safety Recovery Plan that was 

discussed with members is running to target and is due to see this resolved by Q2 23/24.   

3 Environmental Health Team  

 

 The Team are continuing to follow the Food Recovery Plan. The Team continue to receive a steady flow of 
new Food Business Registrations and participated in the register your business publicity campaign. 
Contractors are continuing to inspect new businesses funded from the Contain Outbreak Management 
Fund as part of the recovery plan following Covid Pandemic.  
 

 Air Quality Steering Group was held in October.  Aims for the steering group have been re-drafted.   Our 
Scientific Officer David Carr sits on the Defra Advisory Group on the development of Best Available 
Techniques (BAT) with respect to Air Quality to enable influence at a national level as well as being the 
Chair of the Herts and Beds Air Quality Group. Annual Status Report was drafted and submitted to DEFRA 
for approval.  

 

 The Team continuing to support the Local Resilience Forum Working Groups for Covid and attend District 
Outbreak Planning Meetings and Winter Planning Groups.  
 

 Pollution have a number of resource intensive cases over Q3 in relation to noise these are actively being 
managed to resolution.  One case of cross boarder working in Markyate/Kensworth resulted in working 
closely with Central Bedfordshire Council regarding this case as the premises is in that area and the 
complainant across the road in Dacorum. The license for this premises was called in for review and a 
hearing heard on 30th November 2022.  The Designated Premises Supervisor was removed from their role 
and numerous conditions were placed on the licence regarding the Prevention of Public Nuisance and 
Crime and Disorder. 
 
 Page 26



4 Corporate Health and Safety Team  

4.1 Corporate Health Safety and Resilience Board was held on the 16th December 2022. Corporate Health 

Safety and Resilience Policies were reviewed with minor changes, they were agreed by the committee 

and send to Senior Leadership Team for ratification. Policies included,  

 Reviewed First Aid policy 

 Reviewed DSE policy 

 Reviewed Lone Working policy 

 Resilience Policy  

 

4.2 Funding from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund was secured to plan for potential future 

pandemics. Resilience training for Corporate Leadership Team has been arranged for Q4 from the 

Emergency Planning College. Health and Safety Training has also been arranged for Team Leaders and 

above to better support managers in the event of new and emerging risks including pandemic Flu or 

further waves of Covid.  

 

4.3 Members Health and Safety Training brief was delivery by the team on the 1st December to communicate 

members and Council responsibilities for Health and Safety matters.  

 

5 Operation Team 

 

5.1 41 Animal Welfare Cases, 20 Dangerous Dog Cases, 25 Prevention of Damage by Pests Queries, were 

investigated in Q3.  

 

5.2 5 Community Protection Warnings were served, 2Community Protection Notices, 7 Microchipping of Dogs 

Notice. 2 Prevention of Damage by Pests Acts Notices and 1 Animal Welfare Act Notice.  

 

5.3 We continue to see an uptick in Filthy and Verminous complex cases, a further 10 in Q3. Officer work with 

multiple agency partners to ensure that rick to Public Health is removed, preference as always is working 

with residents however enforcement action is taken. These cases are particularly time consuming and 

difficult to resolve.  

 

5.4  We are very proud to let you know that Ben Stevens and Team have been shortlisted for a Keep Britain 

Tidy, Excellence in Enforcement Award.  As members will be aware this team is now the most proactive 

Enforcement Team in Hertfordshire has recently introduced a new way of enforcing littering making a 

modest income for the team to reinvest in enforcement activities and has been recognised as one of the 

best Teams this year by Keep Britain Tidy a national organisation. This has really supported the Councils 

objectives and the place based strategies. The Team members are Ben Stevens, Paul Coates, Chris 

Briancon, Julie Fear (Temp) and Abdullah Khalil (Temp) and Team is led by Dawn Rhoden.  

 
5.5 Martyn Woodbridge, of Poynters Road, Luton, was sentenced on Thursday 17 November after a two-day 

trial in August where he was found guilty on two counts of fly-tipping. He was charged with two incidents 

of the unauthorised deposit of controlled waste in Coles Lane, Markyate contrary to S.33 of the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 between the 27 and 29 March 2021. Woodbridge was sentenced to 10 

months imprisonment (suspended for 12 months), ordered to attend 15 days of rehab activity and pay a 

contribution toward prosecutions costs for the sum of £900 and compensation of £600 for clear up costs. 

 

5.6 Dacorum Borough Council has once again achieved gold standard in the annual RSPCA Paw Prints 

awards. Both the Environmental Community Protection Animal Welfare service and the Housing 

teams have been recognised for good practice, exceeding basic and statutory service requirements 

with the aim of achieving higher animal welfare standards. 

 

Page 27



5.7  Full Year Data is now available for District Enforcement Contract. A total of 3536 FPNs have been issued 

successfully. Of which 2666 have been paid and 870 have been cancelled, written off after issuance or 

referred for prosecution. There were 327 cases prosecuted through the Single Justice Procedure during 

the 12 month period. Total income to DBC received (which is a 22% share of all paid FPNs) is £ £45,992. 

The FPN payment rate achieved = 75%. 

 
 

7 Options and alternatives considered 

 No options to consider, for information only. 

8 Consultation 

 N/A 

9 Financial and value for money implications: 

 N/A 

10 Legal Implications 

 N/A  

11 Risk implications: 

 N/A  

12 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report.    

13 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 

 N/A  

14 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

 N/A 

 

15 Conclusions:   

 Report to be noted by the Committee.  

 

 

Page 28



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Paradise Design Code – Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Date: 14th March 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A: Paradise Design Code – Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Appendix B: Paradise Design Code SPD - Code Compliance Checklist 

Appendix C: Paradise Design Code SPD - Consultation Statement 

Appendix D: Paradise Design Code SPD - Draft Adoption Statement  

Appendix E: Paradise Design Code SPD - SEA and HRA Screening Determination  

Appendix F: Paradise Design Code SPD - Updated Community Impact Assessment 

Background papers: 

 

Statutory Engagement on Paradise Design Code - Draft SPD: 

 Draft Documents and published responses to consultation: 
https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37164  

 SPAEOSC on 06/07/2022. 
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=3316  

 Cabinet on 12/07/2022 approved the Paradise Design Code draft 
Supplementary Planning Document for public consultation. 
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=157&MId=3337  

 
Supporting Documents: 

 The Core Strategy (2006-2031) 

 Site Allocations Development Plan Document (2006-2031) 

 Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD (2020) 

 Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 

 Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Vision (Draft) March 2023 
 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

CIA: Community Impact Assessment 

DBC: Dacorum Borough Council 

DPD: Development Plan Document 

DSDG: Dacorum Strategic Design Guide 

DLUHC: Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 

HCC: Hertfordshire County Council 

HRA: Habitats Regulations Assessment 

HGC: Hemel Garden Communities 

 

   

Strategic Planning & Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 29

Agenda Item 10

https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37164
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=3316
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=157&MId=3337
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


NMDC: National Model Design Code 

NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework 

SCI: Statement of Community Involvement 

SEA: Strategic Environmental Assessment  

SPAEOSC: Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

SPD: Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Please note that any reference to ‘Regulation [x]’ within the report will be referring to 

the relevant regulation(s) as set out within the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, unless clearly stated otherwise. 

 

Report Author: Keeley Mitchell – Assistant SPAR Officer 

Responsible Officer: Alex Robinson – Assistant Director, Planning 

 

Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228002 (ext. 2002) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities Paradise Design Code – Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) promotes the achievement of all the 
corporate priorities as set out below: 

- A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
- Building strong and vibrant communities 
- Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
- Providing good quality affordable homes, in 

particular for those most in need 
- Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service 

delivery 
- Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected Hemel Hempstead Town Centre 

Purpose of the report: 

 

To consult the Committee on the adoption of the 
Paradise Design Code – Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), following statutory consultation in 
2022. 
 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): That Committee informs Cabinet of its views on the 
proposed adoption version of the Paradise Design Code – 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
 

Period for post policy/project review: Once the Paradise Design Code is adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), a review of its 
impact and continuing relevance should be undertaken 
within 5 years. 

 

 

Page 30



 

1 Introduction/Background:  
 

1.1 The Government are moving towards greater use of design codes as part of wider planning reform proposals. 

This has been demonstrated by amendments to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 2021. In 

April 2021, Dacorum was one of 14 local authorities nationally to be awarded DLUHC pilot funding, to develop 

locally led design codes to steer design quality in emerging developments. This programme was supported by 

DLUHC’s newly established Office for Place as part of the Phase 1 of the National Model Design Code Testing 

Programme. 

 

1.2 The Paradise Design Code sets out a framework of design requirements for new development in the Paradise 

and Wood Lane area, which is currently allocated in the Site Allocations DPD (Reference MU/3). These 

requirements are site-specific, clear and detailed. Once adopted the Paradise Design Code will provide clarity 

about design expectations to applicants, and is expected to enhance the character of the local area and 

ensure future design quality. It has been prepared with the needs of design teams and officers in mind, and 

will be used by applicants, planning officers, statutory consultees and the wider community. 

 

1.3 On the 12th July 2022 the Council’s Cabinet approved the Paradise Design Code - draft Supplementary 

Planning Document for statutory public consultation. This consultation began on the 28th October 2022, and 

ran for four weeks, closing on the 28th November 2023. More detail on the outcome of the consultation can 

be found in section 4 of this report.  

 

1.4 The Council has produced a final ‘adoption version’ of the Paradise Design Code SPD, which reflects the 

responses made to the consultation. This is being presented to the committee before progressing to Cabinet 

and Full Council for adoption. 

 

2 Summary of the SPD: 
 

2.1 The project team has consisted of officers from Development Management and Strategic Planning. Tibbalds 

are the lead consultant who have provided external support on the design and masterplan. The project used 

the National Model Design Code to consider the design principles for the Paradise industrial area of Hemel 

town centre and was steered by DLUHC throughout the 6 month development programme.  

 

2.2 DBC appointed the following external consultants to support the projects development: 

 Tibbalds Urban Design and Planning – Masterplan lead 

 Commonplace – Digital Engagement lead 

 PRD Solutions – Viability lead 

 

2.3 The adoption version of the SPD has embedded feedback received from organisations and individuals during 

the statutory public consultation. 

 

Structure of the SPD: 

 

2.4 The introductory section of the SPD sets out how the document is structured, the status of the content and 

how it should be used, alongside a brief summary of the analysis and engagement undertaken to inform the 

content. The introduction also establishes the vision for the area, and explains the key priorities and 

objectives that have been identified to address opportunities and constraints.  

 

2.5 The Regulatory Plan (Figure 1.6 p. 14) provides the framework for development and establishes the key urban 

design principles for the site. An illustrative masterplan (Figure 1.7 p. 16) for the site has also been prepared, 
Page 31



however it is not the intention of the SPD that designers replicate this, the purpose is to demonstrate how the 

principles established within the code could be applied spatially.  

 

2.6 The main body of the SPD comprises four key sections, which reflect the structure and guidance established in 

the NMDC:  

 

a. Movement: This section provides coding for the movement network within the site, including the 

street hierarchy, parking access and servicing. It provides the framework for the site to create a safe 

and usable movement network within its boundaries, and into the wider area. 

b. Built Form: This section provides coding for the massing of the built form, block structures, density 

and heights. It also provide a strategy for the design of ground-floor uses within the site. 

c. Identity: This section sets out the key character drivers for the site, materials, building features and 

public realm. This section also provides a strategy for the open spaces within the site.  

d. Use: This section establishes the use strategy across the site, including the configuration of residential 

and non-residential uses.  

 

2.7 The codes within the SPD specify both mandatory and discretionary elements. Where the requirement is 

mandatory applicants will be expected to demonstrate compliance with this, in the case of discretionary 

elements applicants will be required to demonstrate that they have tested the feasibility of compliance. This 

approach reflects current best practice to ensure that a high standard of design will be secured, whilst 

offering applicants flexibility.  

 

2.8 Due to the site being in multiple ownership, Appendix A of the SPD establishes an ‘interdependency plan’, 

which details how sites in separate ownership can come forward as part of a wider development to deliver a 

more comprehensive outcome. Appendix B sets out the contextual analysis of the Paradise area in the 

context of the wider town, which informed the codes.  

 

Policy Provision for the SPD 

 

2.9 The NPPF (pp.129) states that in order to carry weight in decision-making, design codes should be produced 

as either part of the development plan, or as SPDs.  

 

2.10 The SPD sits under Policy CS11 of the Dacorum Core Strategy (adopted 2013), which states ‘The quality of 

neighbourhood design in towns and large villages will be reinforced through a Supplementary Planning 

Document on Urban Design’.  

 

2.11 It also sits under the DSDG (Adopted February 2021), which states that ‘DBC is in the process of preparing 

detailed guidance for other types of applications, to complement the DSDG’. This SPD sets out site-specific 

requirements for design, which go beyond the Borough-wide guidance established in the DSDG. The 

relationship between the Paradise Design Code SPD and the DSDG is set out in the introduction of the 

Paradise Design Code SPD (p.12).  

 

2.12 The SPD will only relate to development coming forward on the site ‘MU/3 Paradise and Wood Lane’, which 

is currently allocated for mixed use development in the adopted Site Allocations DPD (adopted 2017).  

 

Corporate priorities being delivered by the SPD 

 

2.13 The Paradise Design Code SPD promotes the achievement of all the following corporate priorities for 

Dacorum Borough Council.  

 

2.14 The SPD will support the emerging Town Centre Strategy as part of the Hemel Place Plan, steering design 

quality of emerging development in the town centre. The vision, principles and codes in the SPD are informed 
Page 32



by the pillars set out in the Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision, to ensure the site is considered as a 

part of the wider town.  

 

Next Steps 

 

2.15 The next steps following the public consultation, is to return the final version of the document to SPAEOSC, 

Cabinet and Full Council to approve the formal adoption of the SPD in accordance with Regulation 14. Once 

adopted the SPD will become a material planning consideration. 

 

2.16 Following the approval by Full Council to adopt the SPD, the Council will be required to publicise this, in line 

with the provisions established by the Council’s adopted SCI. The process for this will include: 

 

a. Publishing the adopted documents, an Adoption Statement, and the Consultation Statement on the 

Council’s website. 

b. Making all documents mentioned above available for inspection at the deposit points. 

c. Sending a copy of the Adoption Statement to the database of participants. 

The adoption statement will also be published in the ‘Hemel Gazette’ Newspaper and the ‘Hemel Today’ 

online news website, and the adoption will be promoted in the Council’s digital newsletter ‘Dacorum Life’. 

 

2.17 A draft Adoption Statement has been appended to this report (Appendix D) for reference. 

 

3 Options and alternatives considered 
 

3.1 Whilst applying for the DLUHC funding other sites in the town centre were considered for the production of a 

design code to steer development and improve development quality. From this, the Paradise area was 

selected due to its allocation status within the adopted and emerging Local Plan for the Borough, and the fact 

that the ownership of the site is heavily fragmented and would benefit from a comprehensive development 

framework. 

 

3.2 Design Codes were chosen as the policy direction for this site due to the flexibility in approach, which allows 

for individual character of development whilst safeguarding quality. 

 

3.3 Not preparing the SPD was not an option due to the risk of schemes of a lower design quality coming forward 

within the area. 

 

4 Consultation 

 
4.1 The statutory public consultation took place between 12pm on the 28th October 2022 and 11:59pm on the 

28th November 2022. The consultation on the Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) was undertaken in accordance with Regulations 12 and 13, and was also carried out in 

accordance with the requirements set out in the SCI (2019). The consultation sought views and opinions from 

residents, businesses and organisations on a full draft version of the SPD.  

 

4.2 Prior to the adoption of the SPD, the Council has prepared a Consultation Statement in accordance with 

Regulation 12a, which is appended to this report (Appendix C).  

 

4.3 Section 2 of this statement is a Consultation Report. This sets out the engagement methods used, the 

individuals invited to respond, how responses were invited, and the overall level of response. Section 3 of the 

statement is the Analysis of Responses. This identifies the key points raised in the responses to the 

consultation, and the officer response to these (table 3.1). It also sets out the tracked changes to the SPD 
Page 33



(table 3.2) following the consultation, demonstrating how the responses have been taken into account when 

preparing the final document. Section 4 details the next steps for the SPD.  

 

4.4 This document also provides copies of the key material used to advertise the consultation. It also contains full 

copies of all the individual responses made.   

 

4.5 The statutory public consultation followed an extensive programme of community engagement, which took 

place in the summer and autumn of 2021. Full details of this can also be found in the Consultation Statement.  

 

5 Financial and value for money implications: 
 

5.1 The Council received £50,000 grant funding from DLUHC, as part of a national pilot scheme to test and apply 

the NMDC. In addition to this £8,500 from the Place Budget was used to appoint consultants to review the 

draft SPD to ensure what was being proposed is financially viable. The consultants were appointed through a 

formal procurement process where quality, cost and value for money considerations were reflected in the 

scoring criteria. 

 

5.2 There are no financial implications in adopting the Paradise Design Code SPD, it would be expected that it 

would optimise the development management process in the Paradise and Wood Lane area, therefore saving 

internal resource and cost. 

 

6 Legal Implications 
 

6.1 We do not anticipate that there will be any legal implications directly associated with this report 

 

6.2 Prior to the adoption of the SPD, the Council has prepared a Consultation Statement in accordance with 

Regulation 12a (Appendix C). Under Section 23 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the 

Council has modified the content of the SPD to take account of representations which were received during 

the statutory public consultation. These modifications are detailed in the Consultation Statement. 

 

6.3 Following the completion of the committee process, the SPD will be adopted in accordance with the Council’s 

adopted SCI (2019). This will ensure full compliance with the relevant statutory requirements for SPDs, as set 

out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

6.4 The Council must prepare and publish an Adoption Statement for the SPD, as required by Regulation 14. The 

provisions for this are set out in Regulation 11. A draft Adoption Statement has been appended to this report 

(Appendix D). 

 

6.5 Any person with an interest in the decision to adopt an SPD may apply to the High Court for permission to 

Judicial Review that decision. Any application for a Judicial Review must be made within three months after 

the date of the adoption of the SPD.  

 

6.6 A screening assessment to carry out SEA and HRA has been undertaken to inform the adoption version of the 

SPD. This process is required under European Directive 2011/42/EC (the Directive) and associated 

Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (the Regulations), and the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017). The determination of this assessment is appended 

to this report (Appendix E).  

Page 34



 

7 Risk implications: 
 

7.1 The site was proposed for mixed-use development in the Emerging Strategy for Growth consultation 

document in 2020. Since this time, a number of landowners have expressed an interest in developing their 

site and have come forward for pre-application discussions with the Council. Because of this active planning 

context, there is a clear need for a development framework to steer quality and bring forward comprehensive 

redevelopment. 

 

7.2 Adopting this SPD would help steer the development and delivery quality of schemes on sites in the area 

through guidance on density, uses, character, green spaces and quality, amongst others. If this SPD is not 

adopted there would be a risk of schemes of a lower design quality coming forward and the strategic 

placemaking objectives set in the design code not being delivered. 

 

7.3 Having an adopted SPD will ease the development management process, by establishing metrics for key 

parameters such as heights, build form and materials for applicants to comply with. 

 

7.4 One area of risk on implementing the SPD is the interface with the Council’s car parking standards, set out in 

the separate Car Parking SPD. The Paradise Design Code does not change these standards; it merely provides 

guidance on design. In certain development scenarios, particularly if build costs continue to increase and sales 

values stagnate, it may prove challenging to deliver fully policy compliant car parking across the site, which is 

a risk to implementation. 

 

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 
 

8.1. A Community Impact Assessment (CIA) was prepared to support the preparation of the Paradise Design Code 

SPD, and was entered into the CIA database on the 21st June 2022, prior to the Cabinet meeting on the 12th 

July 2022. This document has been reviewed, and it was deemed that no major changes are required 

following the statutory public consultation on the SPD. The CIA is appended to this report (Appendix F).  

 

8.2. There are no implications for Human Rights relating directly to this report. Participation in the statutory 

consultation was optional, and free text boxes were provided to capture all feedback. This would not 

contravene respect for private and family life, home and correspondence, freedom of thought, belief and 

religion, freedom of expression and protection from discrimination in respect of these rights and freedoms. 

 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community safety) 
 

9.1. The Paradise Design Code SPD will deliver multiple benefits relating to climate change, health and wellbeing 

and community safety. The vision, objectives and priorities for the site as established by the SPD are framed 

around creating sustainable development and as a result, the proposals within the document set out the 

mechanisms for achieving this, including but not limited to: 

 

a. Implementing an open space strategy, which encourages the provision of open spaces, tree planting, 

urban wilding, and utilising roof space to provide enhancements to biodiversity and/or wider 

sustainability (such as communal growing spaces or sustainable energy generation).  

b. Delivering improvements to pedestrian and cycle safety, and improving and creating connections, to 

encourage active travel and contribute to a modal shift away from the use of private cars – a measure 

that will assist in mitigating wider impacts of climate change.  

Page 35



c. Protecting both residential privacy and environmental features by establishing no build zones and 

clear setback distances from main roads, and by defining areas with sensitive building frontages.  

d. Ensuring that all residential units are provided with their own outdoor space.  

 

9.2. Following the formal consultation, a number of changes have been made to the document in relation to 

sustainability measures, to reflect responses made. These are set out in detail within the Consultation 

Statement (Appendix C), but include: 

a. An objective has been expanded within the Movement section relating to the route to the wildlife 

site, to include the provision of tree planting.  

b. An objective has been added to the Built Form section regarding addressing the Climate Crisis. 

c. A note regarding a buffer zone to the locally designated wildlife site to the east has been included 

within Built Form section. 

d. A code has been added regarding biodiversity optimisation and SuDS inclusion within the Open Space 

Strategy, which applies to all open spaces on the site.  

e. A code has been added regarding providing for urban wildlife within the façade design of buildings in 

the Identity section. 

 

9.3. Overall, once adopted, the Paradise Design Code SPD will improve the overall sustainability and biodiversity 

of the area. 

 

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 
 

10.1 There are no implications directly associated with health & safety and HR/OD arising from this report. 

 

10.2 There is a pending scheme for consideration relating to a Dacorum owned site (Paradise Depot) which falls 

within the boundary of the area covered by the SPD. The Housing Development team has been consulted 

throughout the process of developing the document. The scheme is compliant with the mandatory 

requirements set out within the SPD. 

 

11 Conclusions:   
 

11.1 The Paradise Design Code SPD has been produced as part of a collaborative process, and the content 

informed by extensive engagement with council officers, members and the wider community, and 

representations received during the formal public consultation have been taken into account within the 

adoption version of the document. 

 

11.2 Following the SPAEOSC meeting on the 14th March, the Paradise Design Code SPD will progress to Cabinet 

and Full Council. This will be to approve the formal adoption of the SPD. Once this has been approved by Full 

Council, the SPD will be adopted in accordance with Regulation 14. 

 

11.3 Once adopted this SPD will be a material consideration in determining planning applications, and will steer 

the quality of schemes proposed. The existing development context relating to this site is currently active, 

with multiple sites coming forward for pre-application during the preparation of this document. By 

establishing parameters and instructions for applicants to comply with, this SPD will ensure the creation of a 

distinctive, attractive and sustainable place; therefore, it is key the SPD is adopted in a timely manner. 

Page 36



Paradise Design Code
Supplementary Planning Document 
March 2023

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre 

P
age 37



05 USE 68

5.0 Use 68

5.1 Site wide codes  70

5.2 Land Use Strategy  71

5.3 Opportunities   72

5.4 Frontages  73

Appendices 

Appendix A 78

Appendix B 86

 ❚ Contents

This document has been produced by Tibbalds Planning 
and Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 
with support from the Department for Levlling Up, Housing 
and Communities 

01 INTRODUCTION 4

Introduction and Vision  4

Purpose and status of this document 6

How to use this design code  7

Design topics  7

The Site and Context  10

Contextual Influences  10

Engagement 12

Key Priorities and Objectives 12

Regulatory Plan  14

02 MOVEMENT 20

2.0 Movement  20

2.1 Site wide codes  22

2.2 Street Hierarchy  23

2.3 Parking 25

2.4 Access: Pedestrians and Cyclists 28

2.5 Vehicular Access and Servicing  28

03 BUILT FORM 32

3.0 Built Form  32

3.1 Site wide codes  34

3.2 Density & Heights Strategy   35

3.3 Block Structure & Urban Grain   36

3.4 Ground Floor Frontages 42

04 IDENTITY 46

4.0 Identity  46

4.1 Site wide codes  48

4.2 Open space strategy 49

4.3 Typology A: Street Spaces 52

4.4 Typology B: Courtyard spaces 58

4.5 Typology C: Podium Gardens 58

4.6 Typology D: Roof Gardens   59

4.7 Typology E: Balconies  60

4.8 Elevational Treatment  61

P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



Introduction01

P
age 41



❚ INTRODUCTION

4

01

Introduction and Vision 

The Paradise Design Code aims 
to transform this part of Hemel 
Hempstead into a gateway 
neighbourhood for people to live, work, 
play and be active. It will build on the 
existing positive characteristics of the 
town, such as the high quality public 
open space, the established business 
community and its original New Town 
ambitions, to deliver a distinctive sense 
of place. It will create an inspiring, 
attractive and sustainable place which 
generates professional and social 
opportunities for the benefit of the new 
and wider community, whilst also 
protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment.

The production of this design code has 
been a collaborative process involving 
Dacorum Borough Council, Hertfordshire 
County Council, the local community, and 
the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities as part of the National 
Model Design Code Pilot. 

The National Model Design Code defines 
a design code as: 

■ a set of simple, concise, illustrated 
design requirements that are visual and 
numerical wherever possible to provide 
specific, detailed parameters for the 
physical development of a site or area.

Photograph © Jim Stephenson

Paradise will be a neighbourhood for people to live, work, play and be active. 

Workspaces will be carefully integrated  

Above: Images of best practice urban design schemes

New Town detailing will be interpreted in a 
contemporary way 

High quality and multi-functional public realm

Paradise Design Code   Introduction

P
age 42



Paradise Design Code   Introduction

01

Paradise Vision (Illustrative, compliant scheme shown). 

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
5

P
age 43



❚ INTRODUCTION01

Purpose and status of this 
document

Paradise will set a benchmark for high-
quality development in the centre of Hemel 
Hempstead. The Paradise Design Code is 
envisaged to be used by a number of 
different groups: 

■ Developers, as instructions to inform
their design;

■ The community, as information about
the development and what they can
expect; and

■ Council officers and members, as
a tool to assess individual planning
applications.

Figure 1.1: Structure and status of the Design Code content. 

* Note: all sections contain precedent images of good practice examples and schemes. 

Supporting 
information 

Introduction 
Key Priorities and Objectives 

Regulatory Plan 

Movement
Overarching Principles 

Key Plan and supporting codes

Illustrative Sections 

3D massing of code compliant 
illustrative masterplan 

Building Typologies

Stacked Open Space Strategy 

Land Use Opportunities 

Overarching Principles 

Built Form Key Plan, Heights Plan, Frontages 
and supporting codes

Overarching Principles 

Identity Key Plan, Key Spaces, On-street 
treatment and supporting codes

Overarching Principles 

Use Key Plans and supporting codes

Built Form 

Identity 

Use

Code compliance checklist 

Engagement 
Report

Site and Context Analysis 
(Appendix B) 

Illustrative Masterplan and Capacity 
Testing (Appendix A) 

D
es

ig
n 

C
od

in
g 

Ke
y 

G
ui

da
nc

e/
Ill

us
tr

at
iv

e 
 M

at
er

ia
l 

As a Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD), the Paradise Design Code supports 
Dacorum’s Local Plan policies, and is a 
material consideration in the determinaton of 
planning applications.

Any individual planning applications must be 
designed in accordance with current policy, 
any other material considerations and a 
further understanding of technical 
constraints such as utilities and 
infrastructure. 

All relevant planning applications need to 
demonstrate that the code compliance 
checklist, which can be obtained from 
Dacorum Borough Council, has been 
satisfied. 

Paradise Design Code   Introduction

6

P
age 44



Paradise Design Code   Introduction
7

01

How to use this design code 

This Design Code has been prepared with the needs of 
designers and officers in mind, so that it is practical and sets 
out clear justifications and requirements. It includes 
mandatory and discretionary elements. The words ‘must’ 
and ‘will’ indicate mandatory coding elements. ‘Should’ 
indicates advisory /discretionary guidance elements - 
where these are used then applicants will be required 
to demonstrate that they have tested the feasibility of 
compliance with the requirement. ‘Could’ and ‘may’ indicate 
elements of the code that are encouraged, but not 
compulsory. Illustrative material shows examples of how the 
coding could be applied as a design solution on site. 

For avoidance of doubt all coding images should be 
construed as mandatory unless specifically marked as 
guidance/illustrative. 

An illustrative masterplan, shown in Figure 1.7 has been 
prepared to demonstrate how the principles within this 
design code could be applied to the code spatially. The 
intention is not that the illustrative scheme is copied by 
designers. 

The appendices within this document set out the 
contextual analysis, from which the site specific coding has 
been derived.

Design topics 

All design guidance chapters are laid out on the page in a 
similar format with a reference bar along the right hand side 
of the spread. This provides the key information that the 
chapter relates to e.g. design priority, engagement topic and 
other areas of the design code that are cross-referenced. 

This design code covers four key sections: Movement, Built 
Form, Identity and Use, as set out on the next page.

04

Key
Central open space

Gateway space

Linear space

Strategic open space 

Indicative residential courtyards

Indicative commercial courtyards

Shared pedestrian /cycleway

Opportunity for tall building

Formal frontage character 

Paradise 

Park Lane

Wood Lane

Linear space

Informal frontage character 

Park edge

Priority: 

Also related to: 

COMMONPLACEThe feeling of being 
close to nature is what 
I like best about the 
open spaces in Hemel 
Hempstead

Site priority addressed Section number 

Other areas of the 
design code that are 
interrelated 

Quote from engagement 
event: Commonplace, 
Youth Workshop or Officer/
Member Engagement

Each section has a key plan, which builds on 
the regulatory plan and provides additional 
information according on the topic being 
coded

IDENTITY04

Figure 1.2: Sample design code page

P
age 45



❚ INTRODUCTION

8

01

03 Built Form 

02 Movement 

05 Use

04 Identity 

Section 3 sets out the 
codes for the articulation of 
the built form and massing. 

This section provides 
coding for the movement 
network within the site, 
including street hierarchy, 
parking and servicing.

This section establishes the 
use strategy across the site, 
including the configuration 
of residential and non-
residential uses. 

This section sets out the 
key character drivers for 
the site, including specific 
codes on the approach to 
the open spaces within the 
site. 

Paradise Design Code   Introduction

P
age 46



Paradise Design Code   Introduction
9

01

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 47



❚ INTRODUCTION01

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

J U N C T I O N  8  M 1
( 7  m i n  d r i v e )

T H E  S I T E 

T H E  P L O U G H 
R O U N D A B O U T 

H O S P I TA L 
A L L O C AT I O N 

L E I G H T O N  B U Z Z A R D
( 2 7  m i n  d r i v e )

B E R K H A M S T E A D
( 1 0  m i n  d r i v e )

WAT F O R D
( 2 0  m i n  d r i v e )

Figure 1.3: Site Location Plan

Contextual Influences 

The codes set out in this document have 
been influenced by contextual analysis of 
the wider town centre, encompassing 
both the new and old town. 

A number of residential developments are 
coming forward in close proximity to the 
site, including the recently constructed 
Poppy and Primrose Court development 
and the consented Paradise Fields 
development to the east. To the north of 
the site is Hemel Hempstead General 
Hospital, which is currently allocated for a 
replacement hospital, a new two form 
entry primary school and housing (400 
homes). The site must be considered in 
view of this, as part of a wider 
neighbourhood. 

Further detail on the analysis that has been 
undertaken and how this has influenced 
the design code is included in Appendix B.

N

The Site and Context 
The site of Paradise is located to the east of 
the central core of Hemel Hempstead, and is 
within the town centre boundary. It sits to the 
north of St Albans Road, a major arterial 
route into the town, however, it lacks 
presence within the town and isn’t a place 
that residents or visitors would happen 
across without a specific reason.  The site 
is currently occupied by a mix of commercial 
and industrial businesses, as well as a 
community food bank, all of which benefit 
from the transport links and proximity to the 
inner core of the town centre. The site area is 
2.92ha. The site is currently allocated for B1 
led business and housing (75 homes) in the 
Site Allocations Document, adopted as part 
of the Local Plan in 2017 . In 2020 we 
consulted on a draft Local Plan which 
included the site as an emerging allocation, 
for employment generating uses, 350 
homes, a replacement food bank and public 
open space.

The site is in fragmented land ownership and 
in order to address this complexity an 
interdependency plan has been developed, 
which sets out the assumptions made to 
progress the framework and code. This 
is set out in Appendix A, and explains how 
and where sites within separate land 
ownerships could come forward as part of a 
wider plot to produce a more positive 
outcome.  

Paradise Design Code  Introduction 

10

P
age 48



Paradise Design Code   Introduction
11

01

The site is used by a variety of businesses within the commercial and industrial sectors. 

Riverside, Hemel Hempstead town centre, is within a 10 minute walk of the site. 

A number of residential developments are coming forward within close proximity of the site. 

Hemel Hempstead’s identity as a New Town is strongly linked back to Geoffrey Jellicoe’s original 
vision for the town as a ‘city in a park’. 

P
age 49



❚ INTRODUCTION

12

01

Engagement

A series of engagement events have been 
undertaken to inform the design process 
and code work as it has developed. This 
programme of events has included the 
following: 

■ Landowner and Stakeholder

Workshops; 
■ Officer and Member Workshops & 

walkovers;

■ Youth Engagement Workshop; and

■ The wider general public via 
Commonplace.

Through reviewing the feedback received 
from these events, some of the common 
opinions expressed were: 

■ The importance of open space to the 
character of Hemel Hempstead. The 
existing open spaces within the town 
are generally considered some of the 
most positive spaces within the town.

■ Desire for additional planting and 
greenery as well as improved access to 
the existing green spaces.

■ Many buildings in the town centre are 
considered ‘dull or boring’  - there is a 
strong desire for an attractive new 
environment where development is 
coming forward.

■ Access and safety issues both with 
regard to pedestrian and cyclist 
movement and generally within open 
spaces were raised on a number of 
occasions. Lack of safety for cyclists 
on the main roads and particular 
concern about moving through areas 
that weren’t well overlooked were 
prominent in the feedback.

The feedback received has been used to 
shape the aims and objectives of the code, 
with the key priorities aiming to specifically 
target community ambitions and concerns 
for the new development. 

Key Priorities and Objectives

The major opportunity for the site is to 
create a compact development that 
signalises the approach to the town centre 
from the east. This site has the opportunity 
to create a benchmark 
for new, sustainable and mixed use 
development that has strong links to 
Hemel Hempstead’s New Town heritage 
and serves its local community. The site’s 
topography and proximity to the Paradise 
Fields wildlife site lend itself to a 
development that draws on Jellicoe’s 
original, radical visions for the town, 
embracing and celebrating its location 
between the town centre and the nature 
beyond. 

The masterplan will draw on the site’s 
central location with improved access 
between the town centre and the Paradise 
Fields wildlife site via a green link. 

Figure 1.4 sets out the key priorities and 
objectives for Paradise, which have been 
defined through the engagement process 
and through a detailed urban design and 
townscape analysis of the site in the 
context of the town centre. These priorities 
have been shaped to ensure that when 
brought together, they directly address the 
vision for the site. 

The priorities and objectives sit within the 
four pillars set out in the Hemel Garden 
Communities Spatial Vision, which are for: 

■ A green network;

■ Integrated neighbourhoods;

■ A self-sustaining economy; and

■ Engaged communities.

The three key priorities and objectives 
identified to achieve them address the site 
specific opportunities and constraints. 
The symbols shown adjacent (Figure 1.5) 
are used for each of the priorities, and are 
referred to throughout the document 
when a coding topic addresses a specific 
priority. 

Engagement events have taken a highly 
participatory approach to inform the coding. 
This image shows a photo taken by a member 
of the youth group during their walkover. 

Design Quality 

The Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 
(2021), provides Borough wide design 
guidance on delivering design quality for 
new homes and employment uses. 

The three parts of the SPD are: 

■ Design Process;

■ Design Principles; and

■ Employment Uses Guidance.

The Paradise Design Code supports the 
Dacorum Strategic Design Guide 
by providing detailed and site specific 
guidance for the Paradise and Wood Lane 
area.

Paradise Design Code   Introduction

P
age 50



Paradise Design Code   Introduction
13

01

F o u r  p i l l a r s 
s p a t i a l  v i s i o n 

s e t  o u t  i n 
H e m e l  G a r d e n 
C o m m u n i t i e s 

P a r a d i s e 
K e y 

p r i o r i t i e s 

Integrated: Connectivity, 
movement & sustainable 

transport 

Sustainable & Green  Urban Community 

P a r a d i s e 
K e y 

o b j e c t i v e s 

A green network 
Integrated 

neighbourhoods 

Use emerging uses & development 
to create a positive transition 

between neighbourhoods to the 
east, Paradise Fields, & the town 

centre 

Create a strong 
identity connected to 
Hemel Hempstead’s 
New Town heritage 

Provide a responsive 
and futureproof 
development 

Draw on the 
opportunity to 

provide a compact 
neighbourhood 

Positively integrate 
residential and 

employment uses 

Provide the right mix 
of uses: Support the 
community that live & 

work in Paradise 

Enhance the character 
of the area 

Improved connectivity, 
accessibility and 
feeling of safety 

Provide flexible 
amenity space to 

serve the on site and 
wider community 

A self-sustaining 
economy 

Engaged 
communities 

Activate streets and 
spaces & provide a 
high quality public 

realm

Improve connections 
to the town centre 
and provide new 

connections to the 
north 

P R I O R I T Y  1 P R I O R I T Y  2 P R I O R I T Y  3

Figure 1.4: Key principles and objectives for Paradise Figure 1.5: Symbolised key principles for 
Paradise, used throughout code

P
age 51



❚ INTRODUCTION

14

01

Regulatory Plan 

The Regulatory Plan shown on Figure 1.6 
sets the framework for the development 
at Paradise. This establishes the essential 
urban design principles for the site: 

■ Streets and blocks: The existing
street network and alignment has been 
retained and enhanced with additional
pedestrian and cycle links, to create a
connected, legible street network. 
Proposals must adhere to the
principles of the blocks set out on the 
plan. Variation in depth and width of 
blocks is acceptable and will be 
determined through detailed design, 
provided the key codes and objectives 
for the frontages set out in this 
document are adhered to.

■ Key nodes: These are junctions or
gateways that serve an important 
townscape purpose either within the
site or to increase prominence of the 
site in the wider context.

■ Improved connections: The existing
connections to the wildlife site to the 
east, and the Paradise Fields housing 
development which are currently
overgrown and underused must be
retained and enhanced, so that they are 
usable, legible and safe. New
connections to the future development 
on the hospital site to the south must
also be provided.

■ Continuous active frontages:
Frontages that define the primary route
through the site, between the town 
centre and wildlife site to the east. 
These frontages must contribute to the
urban neighbourhood character and
residential vehicular access must be
provided between or around the side of 
the blocks along this frontage.

■ Secondary and sensitive
frontages: All streets and spaces will 
be overlooked by frontages. The
regulatory plan requires particular
alignments of frontages where this is 
considered important to the character.

■ Marker buildings: The buildings
identified on the plan, which include
landmark buildings (see Section 3) are
individual buildings that terminate
strategic views or mark important 
corners within the neighbourhood.
Their importance as a marker building
doesn’t necessarily relate to the height 
of the building, but they can be 
exceptional through other design
approaches, for example stepping
forward of the building line or through 
distinctive, high quality elevational
treatment.

Paradise Design Code   Introduction

P
age 52



Paradise Design Code   Introduction
15

01

Figure 1.6: Regulatory Plan

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

N

W I L D L I F E  S I T E 
Town centre boundary Sensitive edge

Site boundary Existing building

Formal open space Primary street

Informal open space
Existing strategic route

Pedestrian priority
Existing pedestrian /  
cycle route

Mixed-uses
Shared pedestrian /  
cycle route

Indicative residential 
development Existing pedestrian route 

Opportunity for future 
strategic pedestrian 
and/or cycle route 

Marker building

TPOsContinuous active frontage

Key node

Secondary frontage

Sensitive frontage (ensure 
over-looking and element of 
activity / residential access)

Hospital site

P
age 53

kmitchell
Highlight



❚ INTRODUCTION

16

01

Figure 1.7: Left: Paradise Vision (Illustrative, compliant scheme shown)

St
 A

lb
an

s 
R

oa
d 

Paradise Design Code   Introduction

P
age 54



Paradise Design Code   Introduction
17

01

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 55



P
age 56



02 Movement

P
age 57



❚ MOVEMENT

20

02 MOVEMENT

2.0 Movement 

This section provides coding for the 
movement network within the site, 
including the street hierarchy, parking and 
servicing.

The site’s location is within the town centre 
boundary of Hemel Hempstead, and as 
such is well located in terms of proximity to 
public transport, shops and services within 
the heart of the town. At present, however, 
the site is very isolated despite its central 
location due to poor public realm 
connections, with the movement routes 
towards the centre being indirect and 
fragmented. In addition, the existing route 
into the wildlife site to the east from the site 
is overgrown and illegible, with no sense of 
where the route leads to. 

The existing street network within the site 
is heavily dominated by road infrastructure 
and parked cars, making it an undesirable 
environment for pedestrians and cyclists. 
At present, partially due to the industrial 
nature of the site, there are few pedestrians 
or cyclists moving through, unless they are 
visiting the site for a specific reason. 

The coding within the section provides the 
framework to create a safe and usable 
movement network with improved access 
for pedestrians and cyclists, both within its 
boundaries and into its wider context. 

Paradise Design Code   Movement

The movement network must support 
safe and direct passage through the site in 
all directions, to the wildlife site, the town 
centre, the proposed neighbourhood to 
the north and to St Albans Road. The 
existing route into the wildlife site to the 
east must be opened up and improved, 
with design proposals that are sensitive to 
the character and biodiversity of this 
existing open space, including tree 
planting and green infrastructure. 

Vehicular movement and parking must 
not dominate the streetscape /open
spaces and must be integrated sensitively 
into the public realm. 

Parking provision must be designed to
have flexibility in use in the future, if car 
dependency reduces. (Image above 
shows how a hard surfaced area can be 
re-purposed to serve the community). 

1. 2. 3.

P
age 58



Paradise Design Code   Movement
21

02

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 59



❚ MOVEMENT

22

02

2.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the 
movement across the site: 

■ The footpath between the eastern end of Paradise
and the wildlife site to the east must be retained
and enhanced to form a legible, accessible and safe
link for pedestrians.

■ If the Marlowes is redeveloped in the future, a 
connection through to Paradise is desirable, as 
illustrated on Figure 2.1. 

■ A north-south link for pedestrians and cyclists must
be provided between Paradise and the future 
neighbourhood to the north (Hospital Allocated
Site). This north-south shared pedestrian/cycle route
identified on Figure 2.1 has a preferred east-west
deviation limit of 37m maximum – this preferred 
zone is highlighted on the plan. 

■ The streets must accommodate shared vehicular
and cycle movement corridors, with pavements 
provided for pedestrians. Where routes are provided 
off-street (refer to Figure 2.1), the space must be
designed to incorporate shared pedestrian and cycle 
facilities. Future improvements to the public realm, 
including the potential for segregated cycleways
within the existing street corridors should be
explored in line  with emerging land use 
requirements throughout the site.

■ Vehicular accesses must be provided at
appropriate intervals so as not to be detrimental to 
the public realm and pedestrian/cycle movement 
e.g. through excessive carving up of the pavement. 
This will be considered on a case by case basis. 
Consolidated access points between sites should 
be provided if 

Figure 2.1: Movement Key Plan 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

Potential future connection 
to town centre 

W I L D L I F E  S I T E 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

N

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Existing road network and 
access to be considered 
for future public realm 
improvements

Existing section of road to 
become access only

Existing strategic route

Primary vehicle access

Existing pedestrian / cycle 
route

Bus stop

Primary shared pedestrian / 
cycle route

Walking distances

Off-street shared 
pedestrian  / cycle route

Potential strategic links to 
wider area to be determined 
as part of town centre 
strategy

Strategic pedestrian / cycle 
route

Key pedestrian 
intervention

Indicative surface car-
parking

Illustrative location of 
vehicle access to plots

Primary pedestrian and 
cycle access to plots

P
age 60

kmitchell_1
Highlight



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
23

02

COMMONPLACEThe negative perception 
of the existing area was 
partially down to being 
‘bad for cyclists.’

The code retains and enhances the existing street 
network within the site. 

adjacent sites come forward at the same 
time, unless it is unviable or unworkable 
with land use requirements. Each 
individual site should have a maximum
of one access point, taking into account 
the preference for consolidated access 
above.  

■ If, in the future, sites are changing in use 
from industrial to residential or other, 
resulting in the removal of industrial
traffic from the street network then traffic
calming schemes should be designed
and implemented with the owners and
occupiers at the time. 

■ Wood Lane and Paradise are streets that
must be targeted for public realm
improvements in the future as part of 
a comprehensive street improvement
scheme, accommodating any change of
use on site within a pedestrian and cycle
safe and environment.

■ Parking must be provided to the rear of 
the street frontages where possible, with 
the exception of those stated in the 
parking codes. Please refer to section 
2.5 for coding relating to servicing and 
2.3 for parking codes. 

■ All pavements/pedestrian links provided
within the site must comply with DDA 
requirements.

■ All existing and proposed streets and
active travel routes must consider how
they can maximise green infrastructure in
the design / retrofit.

2.2 Street Hierarchy 

The principal movement corridors and their 
alignment are set out on the Movement Key 
Plan (Figure 2.1). There is an existing street 
network within the site, with access currently 
provided from Park Lane to the west and St 
Albans Road to the south. Paradise and 
Wood Lane are the two existing streets 
within the site, which are approximately 7.5m 
wide, with footpaths either side. These 
streets are currently dominated by on street 
parking, with cars banking onto the 
pavements, and wide, frequent access 
points (dropped kerbs) into the businesses 
on site. This results in a poor and unsafe 
environment for pedestrian and cycle 
movement. 

The code retains the alignment of the existing 
streets so as not to compromise the traffic 
requirements of the existing businesses on 
site, and enhances the wider network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes into which it 
connects. The design of the pedestrian and 
cycle routes focusses on high levels of 
connectivity within the site, to and from 
Hemel Hempstead town centre and into the 
surrounding neighbourhoods, including the 
future neighbourhood to the north. 

The movement coding within this section, 
together with the on-street frontage 
conditions coded in Section 4.33 improves 
the existing environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists, and provides an interconnected, 
legible movement network. 

It is of utmost importance that all street 
elements within the network are designed to 
be inclusive and, in particular, consider 
needs relating to disability, age, gender and 
maternity. This must be addressed in 
conversations with highways officers at the 
detailed design stage. 

There are two categories of street within the 
site;

■ the existing streets which accommodate 
all modes of transport (pedestrian, cycle 
and vehicle); and

■ key areas of public space that 
accommodate only pedestrian and cycle 
movement.

In addition, the spaces to the rear/within the 
centre of the blocks must be designed to 
accommodate all modes of transport, but will 
not be delineated with carriageway/
pavements as with the existing streets. 
Instead, paving treatment and planted 
boundaries, for example, will subtly 
delineate the vehicle movement zones from 
the public spaces/gardens. Please refer to 
Section 4.4 for the coding relating to the 
design of these spaces. 

P
age 61



❚ MOVEMENT

24

02

Pedestrian and Cycle Movement

Cycling is seen as an essential mode of 
transport for the residents and employees 
within Paradise, as well as anyone moving 
through the site between the town centre 
and the wildlife site. The site will provide 
shared pedestrian and cycle leisure routes. 
Local variations in alignment may be 
agreed as part of an application, 
however the links must be provided
to connect the destinations as shown 
on Figure 2.1. Further information on 
pedestrian and cycle access is set out in 
Section 2.4. 

Vehicular Movement Network 

All streets must be designed in
accordance with Manual for Streets and 
the Hertfordshire Highways Design Guide 
and any future versions of these guidance 
documents. An indicative section of the 
retained street along Paradise, and how 
this sits within the wider framework of plots 
is shown on Figure  2.3. As can be seen, 
the existing carriageway and pavements 
have been retained, which will be subject 
to future improvements depending on the 
known users /businesses along the street. 
Further information on vehicular access 
and servicing is set out in Section 2.5. 

Figure 2.3: Illustrative section.

Figure 2.2: Section location

Non-residential use 

Landowner boundary 

Existing ProposedProposed

Landowner boundary 

Non-residential use 

P
age 62



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
25

02

“

“

YOUTH ENGAGEM
EN

T

2.3 Parking

This section sets out the codes for 
parking areas to ensure that they are well 
integrated, convenient and provide a 
positive environment. A range of parking 
solutions are acceptable to the different 
block typologies within Paradise: 

■ Restricted on-street parking

■ Undercroft parking

■ Podium parking

■ Courtyard parking

■ Basement/semi-basement parking

On Street 

■ Must only be provided for essential 
access needs, e.g. blue badge visitor 
parking or to be used as servicing bays;

■ Any spaces should  be surfaced with 
permeable block pavers. Black or grey
tarmac is undesirable and spaces
must not be delineated with white 
highway markings. If black/grey tarmac
is to be used it must be demonstrated 
that block pavers are unviable or 
undeliverable. If this is proven to be the 
case, any tarmac must be edged with 
block pavers. Parking bay delineation
must be carried out with paving units;

■ Parallel parking should be a minimum
of 2.0m wide x 6.0m long. There must
not be more than 3 spaces in a line 
without landscape or tree planting to 
break them up; and

■ On-street parking spaces must be
clearly demarcated and integrated into
the wider public realm strategy (please 
refer to Section 4.33).

Thumbs down for car dominance

Undercroft Parking 

■ Entrances to undercroft parking must
be legible for users, but minimise
impact on public realm. If access
to undercroft parking is to be from
primary frontages, this must only be
for private residential vehicles (i.e. not
double height servicing/industrial
accesses) and attractively screened;

■ Residential units above undercroft 
parking must provide surveillance to
the street and must have balconies
and/or large windows to provide a 
sense of overlooking.

Figure 2.4: Illustration of suitable undercroft parking provision. 

P
age 63



❚ MOVEMENT

26

02

Podium Parking 

■ Can be incorporated in a podium which 
is either in use solely as parking space, 
or mixed with uses that require a 
deeper floorplate, for example light
industrial uses.

■ The podium must be carefully
designed so that no blank walls are 
created. This can be achieved through 
the wrapping of the podium in active 
uses and/or stepping of the landscape 
down to street level to address any 
level change created by the podium.

Please refer to Section 4.5 for further 
coding on the open space strategy for 
courtyard parking areas. 

Non-residential use 

Residential unit Residential unit

Non-residential use 

Figure  2.5: Unit Typology 1a with podium parking - guidance plan. 

Figure 2.6: Unit Typology 1b with podium parking - guidance plan. 

P
age 64



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
27

02

COMMONPLACE“ ..any opportunities 
for additional amenity 
space should be 
considered before 
cars.. “

Courtyard Parking 

■ Rear courtyards must be clearly defined as 
either public or private.

■ The courtyard should be surfaced with 
permeable block pavers or other high quality 
surfacing. If black or grey tarmac is to be 
used it must be demonstrated that block 
pavers are unviable or undeliverable. If this is 
proven to be the case, any tarmac must be
edged with block pavers.

■ The layout of any parking must allocate space 
for electric charging points and should
accommodate vehicles that may be arising
as part of modal shift such as e-bikes or car 
sharing schemes.

■ The space must be designed with the ability 
to be re-purposed when dependence on the 
private car diminishes, for example as an area 
of green open space/recreation. This principle 
is illustrated on figures 2.7 and 2.8).

Please refer to Section 4.4 for further coding on the 
open space strategy for courtyard parking areas. 

Semi-Basement/Basement Parking 

This typology of parking should be provided where 
the quality of the public/private space around the 
block is likely to be compromised by a dominance 
of car parking. This solution relieves the open 
space of vehicles, allowing it to operate as a 
functional area of open space for the residents/
employees of Paradise. The deliverability of this 
approach is to be determined through plot-by-plot 
viability testing.

Figure 2.7: Courtyard parking integrated into landscaping- guidance plan. 

Figure 2.8: Future use of courtyard garden if car dependence reduces - guidance plan. 

P
age 65



❚ MOVEMENT

28

02

2.4 Access: Pedestrians and 
Cyclists

All residents and visitors will access their 
homes directly from either Paradise, Wood 
Lane or the key areas of public realm. The 
residential buildings will be via a mix of 
communal residential entrance lobbies 
and private front doors to either individual 
street facing apartments or maisonettes. 
The key codes for pedestrian and cycle 
access are as follows: 

■ All pedestrian accesses must be
provided on the street/public realm
frontage.

■ Pedestrian access points into
community/commercial/industrial
floorspace should be separate from
the servicing access.

■ Cyclists storage for occupants should
be provided within the curtilage of the 
building, where there will be secure 
storage and direct access into the main 
entrance lobbies.

■ Additional cycle storage must be
provided on-street or within shared
commercial courtyards for non-
residential uses and visitors.

2.5 Vehicular Access and Servicing 

Access and servicing arrangements will 
fall under two key categories: 

■ mixed-use units fronting onto Wood
Lane/Paradise; and

■ units fronting onto the key
pedestrian/cycle priority spaces.

The strategy for the two different locations 
has been designed to ensure the key 
public realm objectives of the site aren’t 
compromised while still enabling the 
‘mixed-use’ spaces to function efficiently. 

General codes: 

■ Access to parking should be provided
through, or around the block frontage 
so that parked vehicles are removed
from the street frontage. The
acceptable parking typologies set out 
in Section 2.3 must be followed.

■ Servicing should be provided directly
from the street network.

■ Servicing must be designed to ensure
access to the units is not restricted.

Typology 1: Mixed-use units fronting 
onto Wood Lane /Paradise 

■ Access and servicing must be
designed to be efficient and so that it
doesn’t compromise the public realm
or neighbouring residential uses.

■ Servicing bays should be integrated
into any on-street parking provided. 
Please refer to Section 4.33 for further 
codes associated with on-street
treatment.

Typology 2: Units fronting onto 
pedestrian /cycle priority spaces

■ Loading must be designed to be time 
limited, to ensure that the requirements 
for different types of units are met
within a time frame, outside of which 
the public realm can operate as usual.

■ Residential vehicular access must be
provided away from the key public 
realm spaces, to the rear of the 
frontage within shared courtyards, 
podium or undercroft parking. This
ensures these spaces are kept free 
from continuous through traffic.

P
age 66



Paradise Design Code   Movement
29

02

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 67



P
age 68



03 Built Form 

P
age 69



❚ BUILT FORM03

3.0 Built Form 

This section sets out the codes for the 
articulation of the built form and massing. 

The urban neighbourhood aspirations set 
out for the site are afforded by its proximity 
to the core of the town, and location within 
the town centre boundary. The built form 
on site is low rise in nature and does not 
positively contribute to the urban 
townscape of the centre, with poorly 
defined frontages and little enclosure 
provided to the street. The low rise nature 
of the site means it isn’t prominent despite 
its position on a major arterial route into the 
town (St Albans Road). 

The built form coding set out in this section 
sets out the parameters for any 
development coming forward on the site, 
which addresses the key opportunities 
afforded by the site’s location and 
responds to the distinctive qualities of the 
new town. This section provides the 
coding for the articulation and massing of 
the built form as well as the ground floor 
strategy for the site. 

There are four key code objectives that 
this section addresses, as set out on this 
page.

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
32

The block structure and typologies used must 
embrace variety and interest, whilst maintaining 
a legible and coherent townscape.

Buildings must be articulated to provide strong 
definition and enclosure to the streets and spaces 
within the site with positive and active building 
frontages of high quality design.

1. 2.

BUILT FORM

P
age 70



Paradise Design Code   Built Form
33

03

3. 
Kings Crescent by Karakusevic Carson ©Peter Landers 

The heights strategy must respond to the surrounding 
context; with landmark buildings marking the primary 
entrances from St Albans Road and Park Lane and 
decreased height respecting the privacy and amenity of 
the existing dwellings on Orchid Drive and Poppy and 
Primrose Court.

4. 
Goldsmith Street Passivehaus Development ©Mikhail Riches

Proposals must respond to the climate crisis with a 
sustainable design for buildings and the public realm. 

Resilience to climate change should inform every 
stage within the design and development process, 
including capturing opportunities for a fabric first 
approach, low carbon construction, habitat creation, 
on-site biodiversity net gain, water efficiency, green 
infrastructure, SuDS, and energy creation. 

P
age 71



❚ BUILT FORM

34

03

3.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the built 
form across the site: 

■ A consistent building line must be provided 
along Paradise and Wood Lane, providing 
enclosure and definition to the streets. 

■ All buildings on Paradise are to be set back 
from the highways boundary behind a 3m 
space, and a minimum of 2m for buildings on 
Wood Lane. The codes for this space are set 
out in Section 03. With justification, marker 
and landmark buildings may be exempted 
from this code for a particular reason e.g. a 
stepped building line to frame an urban open 
space. It must be demonstrated that this won’t 
compromise any street-wide public realm 
improvements.

■ Broken /less continuous frontages are to be 
provided along the northern and eastern tree 
belts. This could be through the use of open 
courtyard blocks (see section 2.32) or stepped 
building lines. 

■ To reflect the New Town character of the town 
centre, interest and variety in the townscape 
must be created through variation in massing 
(height) and/or elevational treatment rather than 
through variation in roof typology. All roof forms 
should be flat.

■ Marker buildings have been identified on Plan 
3.1. These can be buildings of additional height, 
or exceptional in other ways e.g. stepped 
building line or particular façade treatment. 

N

Figure 3.1: Built Form Key Plan 

Continuous active/formal frontages must maintain a consistent and 
continuous building line. 

Left: ‘Sensitive/informal 
frontages’ may be broken, with 
shorter lengths of frontage and/
or a varied building line defining 
the spaces they front onto. This 
example shows a courtyard 
garden breaking the block 
frontage. 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

HIGHTOWN 

W I L D L I F E  S I T E 

Marker building

Secondary frontage

No build zone

Opportunity for tall building

Indicative courtyard block

Indicative linear block

Strategic pedestrian /  
cycle route

Setback from highways 
boundary  
min of 3m on Paradise 
min of 2m on Wood Lane

Continuous active frontage 
(no vehicle access)

Sensitive frontage (ensure 
over-looking and element of 
activity / residential access)

P
age 72

kmitchell_2
Highlight



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
35

03

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

■ No-build zones backing onto the existing 
dwellings in Orchid Drive and Poppy and 
Primrose Court must be adhered to, in 
order to protect the privacy and amenity of 
existing residents. This ensures an 18m 
separation distance between the new and 
existing dwellings.

■ All blocks must provide usable communal
amenity space either within ground level
courtyard spaces or in podium gardens. 
Please refer to sections 3.4 and 3.5 for 
coding relating to these open space 
typologies.

■ A mixture of flats and maisonettes are 
encouraged across the site. 

■ A buffer zone should be considered in 
plots running adjacent to the wildlife site to 

enhance the green corridor on the eastern 
edge. Plot lines have been set back to 
allow for this. 

3.2 Density & Heights Strategy  

The density and heights strategy is defined 
by the ambitions to create an urban 
neighbourhood that remains sensitive to the 
existing context. 

The following key code principles apply:

■ The landmark (6-8 storey) elements must
retain a vertical element that complies
with the façade balance set out in  4.13.
This must be achieved by applying a
similar ratio of upper floor height on the

Note: Heights taken from ground level. Minimum and maximum height ranges for any built development 
within these zones, excluding podium parking. 

Thumbs up for marker buildings helping me f nd my way!

Figure 3.2: Heights Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Opportunity for landmark 
element  6-8 storeys

5-6 storeys

Marker building No-build zone
4-5 storeys

4 storeys

2-3 storeys

Flexible height range of 
up to 6-8 storeys

Flexible height range of 
up to 7 storeys

Single storey podium or 
Ground floor courtyard

P
age 73



❚ BUILT FORM

36

03

frontage as shown on the  heights plan 
in solid colour. 

■ Building heights must step down in
response to the existing dwellings on
Orchid Drive which are 2-3 storeys in
height.

■ Building heights must step up in the
landmark building locations identified
on Figure 3.1.

■ Pop-up elements at roof level such
as lift overruns, stairs to access roof
spaces and/or balustrades to roof
spaces are permitted exceptions to the
identified storey heights provided:

- they do not provide any habitable or
other accommodation at roof level;

- they are set back from the building
lines so as to maintain the simplicity
of the roofscape in street views; and

- they are designed to be positive
elements of the roofscape.

■ Parapets are also permitted to extend
above the storey heights identified
provided they do so by no more than
1m.

■ Please refer to Section 3.6 for further
information on the productive use of
the roofscape.

3.3 Block Structure & Urban Grain  

Two principle block typologies are set out 
for the site: 

■ Linear block; and

■ Courtyard block.

The recommended locations for these 
blocks have been identified in this section 
to address the townscape vision, and the 
site specific constraints, such as narrow 
plots and steep topography. The treatment 
and articulation of these blocks will be 
such that variation and interest is created, 
but that the townscape is coherent and 
legible. 

Within the two principle block typologies 
identified, there are two sub-categories: 

■ Landmark elements; and

■ Stacked maisonettes.

These typologies may either be 
incorporated into a wider block structure 
that adheres to the codes set out for the 
principle typologies or as standalone 
elements with a design justification. If 
individual planning applications do not 
comply with the recommended block 
typologies for their location then it must be 
demonstrated that all of the principles of 
the plot set out within the code are being 
satisfied with the proposed block type. 

This section sets out the design codes for 
the block typologies on site. 

All roof forms should be flat as a reflection of this 
distinctive architectural characteristic of Hemel 
Hempstead New Town. Above image shows 
contemporary building comprising a flat roof in 
London. 

The landmark elements must retain a vertical 
element, as seen here in Kings Crescent by 
Karakusevic Carson ©Peter Landers 

■ Steps in height must be meaningful.  
Where a building is intended as a  
landmark, it should be at least 3  
storeys higher than the block which it  
is a counterpart of. The upper height  
limits identified on Figure 3.2 apply in  
all cases, i.e. if part of a building is 3  
storeys taller than its counterparts, the  
tallest element must not exceed the 
upper height limit identified on the 
plan.

■ Please refer to Section 3.4 for codes  
relating to floor to ceiling heights.

■ Pavilions may be acceptable where  
they are located within an open space  
or site and serve to activate it. They  
could include community uses, or 
anchor a view point for example within  
the gateway space through to the  
wildlife site to the east.

■ Any building heights proposed must 
respond sensitively to the adjacent  
wildlife site and any ecological  
constraints.

P
age 74



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
37

03

COMMONPLACE

Figure 3.4: Linear block typology 

Views through 

Urban, consistent 

frontage to Paradise 

Urban, consistent  

frontage to Paradise 

Access 

Figure 3.3: Appropriate linear block locations 

What is important to 
have in a home?

#5 Attractive building ““

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

3.31 Linear Block 

The following key code principles apply:

■ Vehicle access must be provided 
between, or around the side of linear 
blocks.

■ Blocks must be no longer than 50m in 
length without a break or step in 
massing no less than 2 storeys in 
height.

■ Residential entrances must be 
provided directly from the street on the 
primary frontage.

■ All residential units must have their 
own private outdoor space.

■ The blocks must be designed to 
incorporate podium or courtyard 
space to the rear. See section 4 for 
more information on these typologies 
of open space.

■ Where the courtyard spaces to the rear 
are narrow, the massing must step 
down on the rear façade to ensure the 
built form isn’t oppressive at ground 
level.

P
age 75



❚ BUILT FORM

38

03

Glim
psed 

views Access removed 

from frontage 

Figure 3.5: Illustration of appropriate courtyard block 
locations

Figure 3.6: Courtyard block typology guidance 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

3.32 Courtyard block 

The following key code principles apply:

■ Courtyard blocks must be assembled 
from a series of block components. The 
blocks north of Paradise must have an 
urban continuous frontage overlooking 
Paradise with limited breaks of no more 
than 10m each for access. A step 
down in massing reflects the stacked 
maisonette typologies extending 
towards the trees along the northern 
boundary.

■ All residential units must have their 
own outdoor space.

■ Views towards the tree belt to the north 
should be framed.

■ Any sub-components within a 
courtyard block, for example stacked 
maisonettes, must be selected in 
response to the character of the streets 
they overlook.

■ Blocks should offer glimpsed views 
through the frontage to the gardens 
beyond, giving a sense of the character 
of the space and providing some 
greening to the streetscape views. This 
could be through the provision of link 
blocks between two frontage blocks, or 
through a courtyard entrance from the 
street through to the rear gardens.

P
age 76



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
39

03

COMMONPLACE

What sort of houses 
should be in the town 
centre? 

#1 Courtyard block with 
garden square ““

■ Blocks must be articulated so that a 
courtyard or podium space is created 
in the centre of the block (see Sections 
4.4 and 4.5).

■ Any frontage must not be any longer 
than 50m without a step change and/or 
set back in massing (refer to previous 
point on link blocks).

■ Parking must be provided away from 
the  frontage onto Paradise. Drop-off 
and servicing requirements for flexible 
Class E and/or F2 units (see section 
3.4 for definition)  are an exception to 
this code.

■ The blocks should accommodate 
steps in massing. Any height change 
should also be reflected in an appropriate 
elevational treatment for the typology 
being used. Relevant change in 
elevation must be distinctive and 
accompanied by change in height.

The courtyard blocks in Myatts Field use a coherent palette of scales and typologies to form one 
courtyard block. 

(Left): Glimpsed views are offered 
through this block in Burridge Gardens. 

P
age 77



❚ BUILT FORM

40

03

3.33 Sub Category: Landmark Elements
There are two key locations identified for 
landmark elements within the site; framing the 
gateways onto St Albans Road and Wood Lane. 
The following key code principles apply to these 
elements:

■ The landmark elements should be integrated
into a wider courtyard block or linear block
(see sections 3.31-3.32)

■ All residential units must have their own
outdoor space.

■ Landmark blocks must be at least
three storeys higher than their adjoining
counterparts within the courtyard block to
maintain the emphasis of a landmark building.

■ Appropriate forms of parking for landmark
elements are:

- semi-basement; or

- basement.

- Alternatively, off-site locations could
be explored and discussed with HCC
Highways Authority.

- Podium parking may be provided as long
as it complies with the principles set out in
Section 4.5.

■ Parking must not dominate rear courtyard
spaces. Please refer to Section 4.4 for further
information on how these spaces must be
designed.

■ See Section 4.8 for further information on
elevational treatment.

Figure 3.7: Illustration of appropriate locations for landmark 
elements 

Figure 3.8: Landmark element typology guidance 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

Courtyard 
amenity space 

Landmarks must be at
least 3 storeys higher 
than their surrounding 

counterparts 

Access 

P
age 78



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
41

03

COMMONPLACEWhat is important to 
have in a home? 

#1 Own front door ““
Figure 3.10: Stacked maisonette typology guidance 

3.34 Sub category - Stacked maisonette 
The stacked maisonettes on site provide 
the opportunity for larger, family orientated 
units or units that offer more private open 
space. This typology has been located in 
areas that have been designated as 
suitable for family housing, including 
backing onto the existing houses at Orchid 
Drive, and within the secondary streets 
and links/open spaces on site, where the 
direct front door access can aid in 
nurturing a community focussed 
environment. 

The following key code principles apply

■ Stacked maisonettes should be part 
of either a linear, or courtyard block 
typology (see sections 3.31-3.32).

■ All maisonettes must have their own
outdoor space, within balconies and/
or upper floor terraces. Terraces can 
either be accommodated with a set 
back upper level (see figure 3.10). or 
through the stepping of the roofscape 
to create terraces in between units. In 
the case of a stacked maisonette 
backing onto podium parking, the 
ground floor unit must have an open 
space provided on top of the podium, 
accessible from the rooms at first floor 
level. 

■ Please refer to Section 3.8 for further 
information on elevational treatment.

Figure 3.9: Illustration of appropriate maisonette 
locations 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

Direct access 
onto the street 

Set back 
allowing space 

for a private 
terrace

P
age 79



❚ BUILT FORM

42

03

3.4 Ground Floor Frontages

The ground floor strategy for the site 
comprises two key unit typologies:  

■ Typology 1: Flexible Units, defined as:

- 1a: Uses within Class E
Commercial, Business and Service
and/or F2 that have the flexibility
to be converted to residential in
the future if the market demand is
apparent.

- 1b: Residential units that have the
flexibility to be converted to Class E
uses in the future

■ Typology 2: Permanent residential
units.

This strategy has been designed to 
ensure the scheme has inherent flexibility 
and thus the ability to respond to current 
market demands. Due to the site’s 
location within the wider town centre, a 
large proportion of the units have been 
designated as flexible commercial/
residential units, to allow for employment 
provision within the core of Hemel 
Hempstead. For the purpose of this 
code, it should be assumed that only the 
locations highlighted on Figure 3.9 
should be considered as permanent 
residential units.

■ Large openings must be provided at
ground floor level. Internal offices or
workspaces are encouraged to have
an active and visible presence on the
street.

■ Signage may be provided on street to
provide the businesses with a sense
of identity and prominence in the area.
The signage must be clear and legible,
and complement the colours of the
façade treatment. Personal expression
through signage is encouraged.

■ Units fronting onto Paradise must have
a minimum floor to ceiling height of
4.2m. Elsewhere, a minimum floor to
ceiling height of 3.2m is acceptable. If
internal vehicle access is required then
ceiling heights should be increased
appropriately.

■ The larger frontages must be used
creatively with architectural interest
and expression. Please refer to the
materials palette set out in Section
3.8 for more information on façade
treatment.

■ Front doors must be provided directly
onto the street.

■ Habitable rooms must be located at
the front of the dwelling to encourage
passive surveillance and visible activity
from the street.

■ Flexible residential units at ground
floor must have a minimum floor to
ceiling height of 4.2m. The increased
height of the ceiling in comparison to a
standard residential unit must be used
creatively, for example through the use
of a mezzanine level.

■ Front doors to ground floor flats
and stacked maisonettes must be
provided onto the street. For stacked
maisonettes each unit should have its
own door: one to access a private core
(upper level) and one directly into the
unit (lower level).

■ Habitable rooms must be positioned at
the front of the lower floor unit to ensure
activity at street level.

■ Permanent residential units at ground
floor and upper floor level must have a
minimum floor to ceiling height of 2.4m.

1a: Flexible Class E /F2 Units 1b: Flexible Residential Units 2: Permanent Residential 

P
age 80



Paradise Design Code   Built Form
43

03

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 81



P
age 82



Identity04

P
age 83



❚ IDENTITY

46

04

4.0 Identity 
This section sets out the key character drivers 
for the site, including specific codes on the 
approach to the open spaces within the site. 
The identity of the site is made up of a 
combination of open space and built form 
characteristics, therefore codes relating to 
both of these are set out within this section. 

Paradise is located within close proximity 
of the town centre and the site includes 
buildings of a range of townscape qualities 
that typically do not contribute positively in 
architectural character to the identity of the 
neighbourhood. However, they serve an 
important role in providing employment to the 
inner regions of the town.  

The location of Paradise creates a key 
opportunity to significantly enhance the 
character and sense of place, within the 
context of Hemel Hempstead as a New Town. 

A defining characteristic of the New Town is 
the prominence of open space, both in natural 
and urban settings. This includes generous 
landscaped parks, the Water Gardens  with 
wild banks in the heart of the town and long 
distance views to the rising, heavily treed land 
to the south. Another characteristic 
of the New Town is the prominence of flat 
roofs combined with horizontal architectural 
rhythms. This design code brings together 
these two overarching themes to create a 
unique and distinctive identity for Paradise. 

For specific codes on built form please refer to 
Section 03.

Paradise Design Code   Identity

Positively interpret the original vision 
for the town 

Proposals must respond to the area’s 
heritage and character as a New Town and 
in terms of the prominence of landscape in 
Jellicoe’s concept of a ‘city in a park’. 
This must be through the vertical stacking 
of open spaces from street level to the 
roofscape and through the provision of a 
green route to the wildlife site creating a 
network of green spaces that lead to the 
town centre. 

Improve legibility and connectivity

The site is poorly connected at the 

moment and proposals must seek to 
improve the legibility and connectivity 
between the town centre, Paradise, the 
wildlife site to the east and the future 
neighbourhood to the north. This must be 
achieved through new and improved areas 
of public realm and encouraging walking 
and cycling as active modes of transport. 

Positively reflect the distinctive 
qualities of Hemel Hempstead 

The New Town comprises a wide range of 
architectural and building styles. This 
section identifies the elements that must 
be used to reflect the character of the town 
to ensure the site is rooted in its context.

1. 3.2.

IDENTITY

P
age 84



Paradise Design Code   Identity
47

04

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 85



❚ IDENTITY

48

04

4.1 Site wide codes 

The key identity parameters for the site are 
illustrated on Figure 4.1. This key plan defines 
the following: 

■ The key movement routes through the site 
for pedestrians and cyclists. These run along 
key desire lines (in addition to the existing 
street network) to connect the site, wildlife 
site to the east and the future 
neighbourhood on the hospital site to the 
north. Paradise Lane is indicated as a 
strategic green link, and street tree planting 
must be provided to respond to the status 
of this route and highlight it as the primary 
thoroughfare.

■ The connected network of open spaces 
within the site have been defined using the 
aforementioned desire lines, and to ensure 
that a variety of different types of spaces are 
provided, each offering unique 
opportunities.

■ Frontage hierarchy, with the more urban, 
continuous and formal frontages along 
Paradise and Wood Lane as well as the 
defined open spaces provided off street. The 
informal frontages along the wildlife site to 
the east and adjoining the existing tree belt 
to the north are also identified. These 
frontages respond to their context, creating 
an urban core to the neighbourhood which 
breaks down to the reflect the natural, wilder 
boundaries of the site. The difference 
between these two frontages predominantly

Figure 4.1: Identity Key Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W I L D L I F E  S I T E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Central open space

Opportunity for tall building

Park Lane

Strategic open space Strategic pedestrian /  
cycle route

Park Edge

Gateway space

Strategic green link

Wood Lane

Indicative residential 
courtyard

Formal frontage character

Informal frontage character

Linear space

Existing street network

Linear space

Indicative commercial 
courtyard

Paradise

P
age 86

kmitchell_3
Highlight



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
49

04

COMMONPLACE

lies in the consistency and continuity of 
the building line, with the formal edges 
being continuous and linear creating a 
strong urban edge, and the informal 
edges having the flexibility to be broken 
down into shorter plot widths. All 
frontage typologies identified on this 
plan must provide an active edge. 

■ The opportunity for landmark buildings 
on the key gateways into the site; St 
Albans Road and Park Lane.

4.2 Open space strategy

The feeling of ‘being close to nature’ was 
one of the most prominent positive 
responses on the Commonplace 
engagement for the town. Therefore, the 
identity of the site must respond to the 
importance of open space and greening  
as character drivers for the town.  This will 
root the site in Hemel Hempstead’s New 
Town heritage, and create an appropriate 
transition between the town centre and 
the Paradise Fields wildlife site. To reflect 
this, any new 
buildings must contribute to the hierarchy 
of spaces set out on the following pages. 
The spaces will  be structured to be visible 
at all levels within the site; from street level 
interventions to wildflower green roofs. In 
addition these spaces will fulfil sustainable 
and energy production roles as well as 
creating spaces for the 

Why do people feel 
positive about a 
place? 

#1 Close to nature  “ “

community to come together. This will 
create the distinctive identity of an urban 
neighbourhood intertwined in landscape.

The strategy for the site is for the spaces to 
transition from formal landscaping in 
proximity to St Albans Road and Park 
Lane, to wilder and more natural on the 
approach to the tree belts to the north, and 
particularly the east of the site where a 
legible link through to the Paradise Fields 
wildlife site will be created. 

Green Infrastructure & SuDS

Proposals must seek to optimise 
biodiversity and green infrastructure 
across the site and surrounding streets, 
including retrofitting of green infrastructure 
such as planting of verges, providing green 
walls and roofs, planting of street trees and 
native species. This will provide a strong 
visual green link from the town centre to 
the Paradise Fields wildlife site. 

Proposals must seek to add and/or retrofit 
SuDS features across the scheme 
including tree pits, rain gardens, SuDS 
planters, swales and permeable paving. 

Plots E-K have been identified as high risk 
of flooding from surface water. Designs on 
these sites must seek to minimise surface 
water run off via capturing and attenuating 
water in the design and public realm. 

P
age 87



❚ IDENTITY

50

04

D

A

A

A

C

B

B

B

D

A

B

C

D

Street spaces 

Podium gardens

Courtyard spaces

Roof gardens

Figure 4.2: Stacked open space 
strategy. Note: illustrative, code 
compliant scheme shown. 

P
age 88



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
51

04

The spaces across the site must be designed 
to be visible at all levels and will include: 

■ a clear sequence of spaces (A) with a  
coherent character at street level. This  will 
aid in creating a sense of place for this  
new neighbourhood and improve legibility 
between the town centre, the wildlife site 
and the potential future neighbourhood to  

the north;

■ a range of productive roof gardens (D)
(both accessible and inaccessible, private 
and semi-public) that follow the concept of 
wilding to the edges and create an aerial 
transition between urban centre (west) and 

open space (east); and

■ a wilder and more natural accessible edge  
adjacent to the retained tree belts.

D
 R

oo
f G

ar
de

ns
 

D
 R

oo
f G

ar
de

ns
 

B
/C

 C
ou

rt
ya

rd
/P

od
iu

m
 

G
ar

de
ns

A
 S

tr
ee

t l
ev

el
 s

pa
ce

D

D

A

CB

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

Thumbs up for green in the town centre!

Figure 4.3: Illustration of spaces provided at different levels 

P
age 89



❚ IDENTITY

52

04

4.3 Typology A: Street Spaces

This section sets out the design codes for 
the key spaces at street level. 

4.31 Enclosure Ratios 

The different types of space set in this 
section have enclosure ratio codes 
attached to them. The enclosure ratio of 
a space is defined by the height of the 
buildings fronting onto it and the width of 
the space. Enclosure ratios of 1:1-1:1.5 
result in more urban, enclosed and 
overlooked spaces, whereas ratios over 
1:2 result in wider spaces at street level 
that are looser and have increased 
flexibility if there is to be larger areas of 
landscaping, parking or access required 
within the space.  

4.32 Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

The Paradise Fields Gateway Space is the 
transition point between the site and the 
open space beyond (east). It must be a 
legible, safe and accessible route between 
the two spaces. It should also be a place 
for people to dwell, not just pass through, 
with soft landscaping and seating 
opportunities. FORMAL

WILD

FRAMED VIEW TO PARADISE FIELDS 

ENCLOSURE RATIO: 1:1 - 1:1.5
(width of space on illustration: 14m) 

STEPPED BUILDING LINE TO FRAME SPACE 

PARKING

Figure 4.5: Principles plan for the Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

Figure 4.4: Locator Plan 

Illustrative section showing impact of building 
height on width of space to achieve an enclosure 
ratio of 1:1 - 1:1.5

Open Space 14-21m 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
he

ig
ht

 1
4m

 

P
age 90



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
53

04

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

Public Realm 

■ The space must be designed
for shared pedestrian and cycle 
movement, vehicle access should be 
restricted to emergency vehicles only.

■ The space must be lit to create a  
distinct area and include signage to the  
adjacent wildlife site.  Dull orange  street 
lighting is not permitted.

■ Parking and servicing entrances to 
buildings must be located away from  
the frontages of the space to support  
its public use.

■ The space must include soft 
landscaping which responds to the  
gradual transition to wilder landscapes  
on the eastern boundary. Street trees 
should be planted along Paradise  
Lane, where adequate space is 
available, to provide a visual green link 
to the Wildlife Site.

■ The space must be designed using 
high quality hard landscape materials  to 

accommodate cycle parking
for visitors to the wildlife site, informal 
doorstep play, seating and potential 

outdoor tables and chairs
in association with an active ground floor 
use in the building to the north. The 

placement of the above features must 
be designed with the intention of 

encouraging social interaction.

Irregular tree planting and natural seating soften 
the streetscape of this urban courtyard. 

Wilder areas of planting in an urban 
environment, Kings Crescent Estate, London. 

Seating opportunities for groups and individuals 
are provided in this square in Manchester. 

Thumbs up for places to sit and hang
out!

Built Form & Use 

The following design codes apply to the 
buildings to the north and south of the 
gateway space only. All site wide built form 
codes (Section 02) must apply. 

■ The building to the north of the route  
must have large ground floor openings  
to overlook and supervise the gateway  
space. Active uses are encouraged at  
ground floor level, particularly those 
that can spill out into the public realm.  
At this key location, there is a particular  
opportunity for a ground floor use that 
promotes social interaction and  a 

sense of community, for instance
a local cafe. If residential uses are to be 
provided at ground floor level in this 
northern building due to viability, then it 
must retain the principle of large 
openings onto the street through the 
provision of an entrance lobby or similar.

■ The building line should step into the 
space to create a distinct entrance  
point to the wildlife site.

■ The enclosure ratio of the space must 
range between 1:1 and 1:1.5. Refer
to Section 03 Built Form for more 
information on enclosure ratios.

Photograph © Jim Stephenson

P
age 91



❚ IDENTITY

54

04

4.32 Linear Space 

The north-south linear space will be a key 
movement corridor within the Paradise 
site. The following key principles apply to 
this space: 

■ Provide a vital pedestrian and cycle  
connection between the east-west link 

connecting Paradise Fields to
the town centre, and between the new 
neighbourhood and the future 

development on the hospital site.

■ Serve an important function as a  
community space and neighbourhood 
focal point. It will be an off-street space  
where people will be able to sit and  
socialise, and for children to play. As  
the neighbourhood to the north will  
comprise a primary school, this link  

should also incorporate play-on-the-
way facilities that can be continued  
north when the development comes  

forward.

■ Be terminated at the southern end
by a building on the opposite side of 
Paradise, which draws people into the 
site from the north by creating a sense 

of intrigue.

The space will be an urban space with a 
high level of enclosure and overlooking. 
The built form overlooking the space will 
be stacked maisonette typologies with 
front doors onto the street. The frontages 

PLAY ON THE WAY, SEATING, SOFT 
LANDSCAPING

EYES ON THE STREET EYES ON THE STREET 

Indicative land ownership boundary 

Front doors to open 
directly onto space 

Front doors to open 
directly onto space 

Figure 4.6: Locator Plan 

Figure 4.7: Principles plan for the north-south linear space 

Illustrative section showing impact of building 
height on width of space to achieve an enclosure 
ratio of 1:1 - 1:1.5

Open Space 10-15m 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
he

ig
ht

 1
0m

 

onto the space must be continuous to 
provide an appropriate level of enclosure 
and definition. As the space links Paradise 
with the tree belt to the north, urban 
wilding must be explored within the 
space.  

The optimum location for this space is 
shown on Figure 4.6. If the space cannot 
be provided in this location, another 
solution that addresses these objectives, 
within 25m east-west range of the route 
indicated must be put forward. 

HEIGHTS STEP DOWN 
TO FRAME INTIMATE 
COMMUNITY SPACE 

ENCLOSURE RATIO: 1:1 - 1:1.5
(width of space on illustration: 13m) 

P
age 92



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
55

04

COMMONPLACEWhy do people feel positive 
or mostly positive about a 
place? 

#3 Sense of community “ “

Built Form & Use 

The following design codes apply to the 
buildings to the east and west of the linear 
route only. All site wide built form codes 
(Section 02) must apply: 

■ The units to the east and west of the
route should have front doors that
open directly onto the street.

■ Defensible space for the buildings
must be demarcated using the options
set out in Section 4.33.

■ The enclosure ratio of the space must
range between 1:1 and 1:2. Refer 
to Section 03 Built Form for more 
information on enclosure ratios. 

Public Realm 

■ The space must be designed
for shared pedestrian and cycle
movement, vehicle access must be
restricted to emergency vehicles only.

■ Parking for the residential units fronting
onto the space must be located to the
rear of the buildings, to support the
public use of the space.

■ The space must be designed to
accommodate play on the way, public
seating and soft landscaping that
visibly reflects the strategy of ‘wilding
to the edges’.

■ Hard landscaping: continuous paving
materials must be used, with variation
allowed only where there is residential
defensible/privacy space.

■ The residential units must have a
defensible /privacy strip of minimum
1m between the building line and open
space.

This linear space incorporates both hard and soft 
landscaping with seating opportunities. 

Incidental opportunities for play integrated into 
the public realm in Myatts Field, London. 

P
age 93



❚ IDENTITY

56

04

4.33 On-street treatment  

The Regulatory Plan safeguards a 3m 
setback between the building frontage and 
the highway boundary for Paradise and 2m 
for Wood Lane. This setback allows for the 
space to be coded to positively impact on 
the streetscene, and provide the 
appropriate response to the ground floor 
uses. The following pages set out the 
codes for how the street frontage must be 
treated for each of the ground floor unit 
typologies. Please refer to Section 3.4 for 
information on the ground floor strategy 
that determines the unit typologies. 

In addition to the setback space, the 
opportunity must be taken to improve the 
movement corridors within the highways 
boundaries in the future. Paradise is a key 
east-west link through the site and public 
realm improvements must prioritise and 
safeguard pedestrian and cycle movement 
along this axis. 

■ Servicing bays should be 
provided within the set back with 
movable planters or other 
temporary planting interventions at 
either end.

■ Floor to ceiling heights must 
comply with the codes set out in 
Section 02.

■ The paving materials should 
clearly demarcate the servicing 
bay from the frontage spill out 
space. This space could also 
include movable planters.

■ Planters, street furniture and other 
landscape interventions can be used 
to demarcate the defensible /privacy 
space in front of and in between 
residential units.

■ Car parking spaces may be provided 
on street. There should be no more 
than three parking spaces in a row 
without landscape interventions 
breaking them up.

■ Floor to ceiling heights must comply 
with the codes set out in Section 03.

■ Bin and cycle stores should be 
designed as integral to the buildings, 
or on-street in front of the buildings. 
If they are to be designed as part of 
the frontage, a high-quality masonry 
enclosure should be provided to 
relate to the primary façade materials 
and to create an attractive on-street 
feature.

1a: Flexible Class E /F2 Units 1b: Flexible Residential Units 

Figure 4.8

These movable planters are used as a feature 
of the space amongst seating blocks in 
Manchester. 

Typology 1: Flexible Units (refer to 
Section 3.4 for definition) 

Common Principles

■ All new lighting must be provided on 
the front wall of the ground floor unit, 
not within the streetscape.

■ Trees with a 2m clear stem must be 
provided at appropriate distances
so as not to compromise servicing 
requirements for any particular 
commercial or light industrial use.

■ All ground floor uses must provide an 
active edge to the street (see Built 
Form Section 03).

■ Each forecourt space must include an 
area of soft landscape.

Figure 4.9P
age 94



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
57

04

COMMONPLACE

Why do people feel positive 
about a place? 

#5 Pedestrian friendly 

■ Defensible space must be demarcated through the 
use of planters, low vegetation, wild pockets of 
landscaping or railings with inter-visibility between 
the street and ground level unit. For each unit it must 
incorporate an element of soft landscape. 

■ On more intimate streets, where trees may not be 
appropriate, climbing plant species should be used 
to introduce greening to the façades. The exposure 
and direction facing of the unit must be considered in 
species choice. 

■ Bin and cycle stores should be designed as integral 
to the buildings, or on-street in front of the buildings. 
If they are to be designed as part of the frontage, a 
high-quality masonry enclosure should be provided 
to relate to the primary façade materials and to 
create an attractive on-street feature. 

■ Front doors must be provided directly onto the 
street. For more information on the built form please 
refer to Section 3.4. 

■ Boundary treatment must be consistent along the 

length of the street. 

2: Permanent Residential 

Planters at the front of the house provide a 
privacy strip in St Andrews, Bromley-by-Bow. 

Wild front gardens are used to demarcate 
private/public land in some of the more historic 
areas of Hemel Hempstead. 

Climbing plants and shrub planting are used to soften the edge of the housing and green the street in 
William Street Quarter, London. 

Figure 4.10

“ “

P
age 95



❚ IDENTITY

58

04

4.4 Typology B: Courtyard spaces

Courtyard spaces can be provided within 
either the linear or courtyard block 
typologies. For the purposes of illustration, 
this page identifies the coding for the space 
to the rear of a linear block, however these 
same codes apply if the space is provided 
within a courtyard block. 

■ Parking must be sensitively integrated
into the public realm. This must be
achieved through discreet demarcation
of the parking bays using low walls,
boundary planting or paving variations.
White painted lines are not permitted.
Inter-visibility between the soft and hard
landscaped areas must be provided.

■ High quality and permeable paving
materials must be used for parking areas.

■ Parking spaces must be designed so
as not to compromise the ability for the
space to change /be reclaimed for an
alternative use in the future.

■ Soft landscaping must be incorporated
into the public realm. This must be
designed to be usable, each area of open
space must not be smaller than 10% of
the overall space and must be designed
with a justifiable use, e.g. informal play.

■ Direct access must be provided from
ground floor units where undercroft
parking is not provided. This should be

4.5 Typology C: Podium Gardens

Podium gardens may be provided as 
an open space typology over either car 
parking or other uses that require a deep 
floorplate, for other non-residential uses 
that require a deeper floorplate than 
residential uses. The following design 
codes apply to these raised gardens: 

■ The open space must relate to
surrounding landscape. As these
gardens are raised, they must provide
access to the surrounding street /
landscape through the use of stepped
landscape /public realm.  Parking must
be wrapped in uses that provide an
active street frontage, where frontages
are defined on the key plan (Figure 4.1).

■ The units surrounding the space
must provide a high level of passive
surveillance, through window
positioning and the use of balconies.

■ Where Class E uses are adopted over
two storeys on the street frontage,
the opportunity for these to step out
directly onto the podium as a semi-
public space must be explored.

■ The podium spaces must include:
space for informal play, soft
landscaping, the opportunity for
informal play and seating opportunities.

Well overlooked courtyard space that sensitively 
incorporates, but is not dominated by, parking. 

Parking incorporated into the public realm in a 
way that means the spaces could be reclaimed 
for a different use in future. 

Podium gardens offering a range of natural play 
opportunities within a soft landscaped  garden. 

a rear door to semi-private patios, with 
the primary residential access provided 
from the street frontage. 

■ Please refer to Appendix A for sections
illustrating how the courtyard gardens
could be provided within the block to
accommodate parking that could be
repurposed in future.

■ Please refer to Appendix A for section
illustrating how the podium gardens
can be provided within the block, with
direct access from either residential or
Use Class E /F2 units.

P
age 96



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
59

04

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

4.6 Typology D: Roof Gardens  

The following codes apply to all flat roofs 
within the site: 

■ All roofs must contribute to the site’s
sustainability and/or biodiversity
functions. The following are acceptable
approaches (more than one function
can be applied to a single roof):

- Accessible communal roof gardens
with prevalence of soft landscaping.
This could include spaces for
exercise, community spaces for
exercise and/or other community
spaces including a café, gym or
workspaces subject to viability.

- Communal growing spaces.

- Green/blue roofs contributing to
the drainage functionality and/or
ecological biodiversity of the site.

- Energy generation including solar
PVs and air source heat pumps.

■ The site must provide variety in
roofscape approaches. Each site
must be assessed for its individual
merits, but must demonstrate a varied
approach to other applications to
ensure variety.

Co

mmunal growing

Gr
ee

n/blue roof

Ac
ce

ssible gardens

Figure 4.11: Principles plan for roof gardens 

I like that people grow things here! 

P
age 97



❚ IDENTITY

60

04

4.7 Typology E: Balconies 

All units must provide outdoor amenity
space. In addition to the roof spaces set 
out in Section 3.6, this can be provided 
through the use of balconies. The suitable 
use of balconies on frontages is set out 
below: 

■ Inset or partially inset/recessed
balconies must be provided on south
facing units that front onto Paradise or
Wood Lane. These must be designed
to create a privacy buffer between
internal living spaces and the street.

■ Protruding balconies are only
permitted on rear façades, overlooking
communal or private gardens or
frontages identified as informal on
Figure 4.1.

■ The design and depth of balconies
must be designed to maximise
sunlight /daylight whilst maintaining an
appropriate level of privacy. Balconies
must achieve a minimum width and
depth of 1500mm.

For more information on balcony 
treatment and materials please refer to 
Section 3.8.

External balconies are permitted on rear façades. Partially inset balconies are considered a more 
sustainable option to inset balconies whilst 

maintaining a clean and simple façade. 

Inset balconies are an option on south facing units, or units 
overlooking Paradise or Wood Lane.

P
age 98



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
61

04

COMMONPLACE

Why do people feel 
mostly positive about a 
place? 

#1 Important to the 
character of Hemel 

Textured brickwork is used to add interest to the façade in Horsted Park. 

Glazed brickwork is used as a secondary element.

4.8 Elevational Treatment 

The material palette has been developed 
through an analysis of the local context. 
It is influenced by the heritage of Hemel 
Hempstead as a new town, and makes 
nods to the old town in a contemporary 
fashion. The palette has been developed 
with a view of creating a development 
rooted in the identity of the town, while 
also allowing a degree of variety and 
interest. The codes set out in this section 
apply to both formal and informal 
frontages as identified on Figure 4.1. 

Primary façade materials 

Brick must be used as the primary facing
material. Other materials will require a 
strong justification as to their use as a 
primary material within an application. 
Rendering, as either a primary or 
secondary material will not be deemed 
acceptable. All brick façades must
employ a simple and restrained palette of 
primary materials.

To ensure variety and avoid the 
predominance of a single brick tone, 
which engagement responses found 
unattractive, adjoining buildings should
use a different brick tone. 

For each development, the selected 
brick must complement the colours of
adjoining developments and buildings. 

“ “

P
age 99



❚ IDENTITY

62

04

All brick façades must incorporate elements
of decorative detail, through the introduction 
of one of:

■ Textured brickwork;

■ Change in brick bond e.g. soldier or stack
bond; or

■ Secondary elements as identified below.

Secondary Elements 

Selected elements should be selected from
the palette used in the early New Town centre 
buildings. These include: 

■ Textured brick;

■ Patterned brick panels;

■ Flint panels (knapped or whole);

■ Metal cladding panels;

■ Glass;

■ Ceramic tiles;

■ Mosaics;

■ Precast decorative panels.

Other high-quality materials may be used as 
secondary elements where they will create 
a similar visual effect, with justification, 
for instance glazed brickwork in place of 
ceramic tiles. 

All buildings must incorporate decorative
details as part of their façade design. These 
must be selected from the materials listed
above. 

Gainsford Road applies a regular horizontal rhythm on brick façades

Strong framing of windows and 
entrances in Hemel Hempstead 
New Town 

Saxon Court uses secondary elements to 
reinforce entrances and windows

This entrance court in Gainsford 
Road uses glazed tiles to create 
interest 

Tiled mural, Hemel Hempstead 
New Town 

Regular horizontal rhythms are a distinctive 
feature of Hemel Hempstead New Town

P
age 100



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Identity
63

04

Expressive balconies, Hemel Hempstead New 
Town 

This block in Burridge Gardens demarcates windows using a different tone 
of brickwork and uses different balcony extrusions to add interest

Lattice screens, Hemel Hempstead New Town The entrances to the homes within the Colville 
Estate use lattice detailing on the doors which 
complements the brick façadeP

age 101



❚ IDENTITY

64

04

Decorative materials should provide
visual interest and detail in positions 
where people are likely to see the façade 
from close up, such as around entrances, 
window openings, or around balconies. 

Decorative details may also introduce 
horizontal or vertical emphasis on the 
façade or at roof level. Decorative details 
must be selected to support the design
concept for the building.

Proportions and rhythms

For stacked maisonettes, vertical or 
balanced façade rhythms are appropriate 
and the massing of the building may 
emphasise this. 

For linear blocks of apartments, balanced 
or horizontal façade rhythms are 
appropriate. 

For taller/tall buildings, vertical or balanced 
façade rhythms are appropriate.

Balustrades & Screens 

Balustrades should allow sunlight into a
balcony space while giving a degree of 
privacy to the user. Metal railings, when 
used, should add distinctive detail to a
building façade. 

Metal screens may also provide filtered 
views and privacy, for example to 
communal stairs or to ground floor 
accommodation, or screen views of car 

parking or refuse stores from outside while 
allowing daylight and cross ventilation to 
the parking area. 

Openings

Openings must be emphasised either
by creating a reveal, setting window 
and doors back at least half a brick as 
a minimum and by framing them with a 
window surround. 

Framing of ground floor flexible units 
(see Section 3.4 for definition) 

Façades should create a strong frame for
the ground floor unit, which may contrast 
with the primary façade material.

Entrances 

Entrances and communal lobbies should 
be generous and well lit, with canopies, 
projections  or setback porches to provide 
shelter above the entrance door.

Residential entrances may be set back by 
at least one brick.  

Canopies should be lightweight and
elegant in appearance.

Providing for Urban Wildlife 

Buildings should consider measures that
can enhance biodiversity within the façade 
design, such as bird, bat and hedgehog 
box provision, and bee bricks. 

Stacked maisonettes with vertical façade 
elements and rooftop amenity spaces  create 

a stepped roofscape in Ouseburn (Ash Sakula 
Architects) 

Figure 4.12: For stacked maisonettes, vertical 
or balanced façade rhythms are appropriate 
(Illustration of rhythm shown).

P
age 102



Paradise Design Code   Identity
65

04

Figure 4.13: For landmark elements, vertical or balanced façade 
rhythms are appropriate (Illustration of rhythm shown).

Figure 4.14: For linear blocks of apartments, balanced or horizontal façade rhythms are appropriate (Illustration of 
rhythms shown).

P
age 103



P
age 104



05 Use

P
age 105



❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
68

05 USE

5.0 Use

This section establishes the use strategy 
across the site, including the configuration 
of residential and non-residential uses. 

The site will provide a mix of residential 
and non-residential uses, with areas of the 
ground floor and first floor space coded to 
ensure flexibility for interchange between 
the two in response to market demand. 
The two overarching principles for the 
uses within Paradise are set out on this 
page.

■ The site must incorporate ground
floor units that have inherent flexibility
to accommodate a range of uses /
occupiers.

■ The different uses within the site must
be designed to co-exist in harmony
to create a positive environment for
residents, employees and visitors.

The site must incorporate ground floor units that have 
inherent flexibility to accommodate a range of uses /
occupiers. 

The different uses within the site must be designed to 
co-exist in harmony to create a positive environment 
for residents, employees and visitors. 

1. 2.

P
age 106



Paradise Design Code   Use
69

05

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 107



❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
70

05

5.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the 
uses across the site: 

■ Where ‘mixed-use’ floorspace is identified,
orthogonal layouts should be provided
to enable flexibility in use, layout and
occupation. If the layout is not orthogonal (at
right angles), it must demonstrate how the
space can be used with a suitable level of
flexibility for future change in use.

■ Commercial workspace must be designed
to allow future sub-division of the space. This
includes the design of circulation and spaces
to allow for flex in use and occupation.

■ Where the workspace occupier is known,
a specific set of design requirements must
be established for that occupier, within the
framework set out within this code.

■ Where ground floor courtyards are provided
in the centre of a block, or to the rear of a
block, these courtyards must be designed
as part of the sequence of spaces used for
access/egress by the residents, with easy
access from the main residential circulation
core. This will ensure a strong and coherent
relationship between the users and the
space, and encourage activity.

	■

Figure 5.1: Ground Floor Land Use Opportunities Guidance Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W I L D L I F E  S I T E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Subject to Article 4 

Additional land use 
opportunity 

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Mixed Uses: Use class  E (all) + 
F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Mixed use & opportunity for 
larger scape Industrial uses 
Use class  E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), 
F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Potential area for Mixed Use 
and residential class C3, 
E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), 
F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open space 
and access

Potential area for residential use 
only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open space 
and access

Indicative location for DENS 
food bank

Primary active frontage

Opportunity for cafe /  
Community use

Opportunity for  
Local convenience

P
age 108

kmitchell_4
Highlight



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Use
71

05

YOUTH ENGAGEM
EN

T

■ Primary access routes into courtyard
spaces for all users must be a minimum
of 6m in width to create a generous,
welcoming and safe access point.

■ Floor to ceiling heights must comply with
the codes set out in Section 3.4.

■ Where mixed-use space is identified
at ground floor level, the space
should be partially fitted out to enable
the opportunity for small-medium
enterprises (SMEs)  to move in.

5.2 Land Use Strategy 

Figures 5.1-5.3 illustrate the guidance for the 
land use strategy at the ground floor, first 
floor and upper floor levels. 

The ground floor strategy for the site has 
been designed to be inherently flexible, so 
that it can respond to market demand in the 
future. In some locations the opportunity for 
two storeys of mixed use has been identified 
on important frontages, such as fronting 
onto Paradise, on the western site gateway 
with Park Lane and to the south of Wood 
Lane, overlooking St Albans Road. 

Where mixed-uses are provided, either at 
the ground floor or upper floor levels, these 
should explore the opportunity to step out
into the courtyard spaces to the rear (or 
podium level gardens) where beneficial.

‘A cafe would be nice next to the nature reserve’

Figure 5.2: First Floor Use Guidance Plan 

Figure 5.3: Upper Floors Guidance Plan 

N

N
Subject to Article 4 

Subject to Article 4 

Potential area for Use class 
C3, E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 
(a), F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for Use class 
C3, E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 
(a), F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Mixed Uses - class C3, E (all) + 
F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Indicative location for DENs 
food bank

P
age 109



❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
72

05

5.3 Opportunities 

Whilst the site land use strategy has 
retained inherent flexibility, the location of 
some of the parcels lend themselves to 
specific use opportunities, as identified on 
Figure 5.1 and described below: 

■ There are two broad locations that
are identified as key opportunities for
a cafe. These locations have been
selected as they would create a
dynamic relationship between the two
key areas of public realm within the site
and the ground floor that overlooks
them:

	η the public space linking to the
wildlife site to the east. This 

location is clearly visible within the 
public realm, sits along a key desire 
line and would act to draw people 
through the site on entrance from 
the west. 

	η To the south of the north-south link 
that connects into the east-west 
route towards the town centre and 
to the future neighbourhood on the 
hospital site. A cafe or community 
use in this location would provide a 
bookend to this space and would 
have the ability to spill out into it, 
thus activating the communal space 
here. 

■ Plot K (shaded orange on Figure
5.1) has been identified as a suitable
location for a more substantial provision
of industrial space. This is afforded by
the proximity of the site to St Albans
Road, meaning that traffic wouldn’t
need to come into the heart of the site.
In addition, the topographical
conditions and scale of the floorspace
available means that a deeper floorplate
could be provided without compromise
to the street frontage. In addition, there
is adequate space for turning on site,
provided the suitable access
arrangements were to be designed in
according to the specific requirements
of the occupier. Recognising the
landmark nature of this plot, any
industrial spaces must be visually
attractive and integrated into the façade

design of the building.

■ An opportunity for a commercial
courtyard /working yard spill out  space
as been identified on the corner  plot
where Paradise meets Wood  Lane.
This space could be more of  an
intimate courtyard space, adding
variety to the hierarchy of open spaces
and sitting on a potential link between

the site, the future neighbourhood
to the north and the east-west link
connecting the town centre to the
wildlife site.

Temporary Initiatives

Temporary uses could be brought forward 
on the site to support its transition from 
an employment led area to a mixed-use 
neighbourhood. Small scale initiatives 
such as a pop-up coffee shop, or hoarding 
that hosts public art could be used to 
attract interest in the site. The most 
suitable locations for these initiatives are 
along key future desire lines, as identified 
in Section 2, and where a site is coming 
forward in phases, this having additional 
space available. 

If a parcel is to come forward in phases, 
for example if a business relocates off-
site then the existing building should be
considered as a venue for a temporary 
initiative, for example a recreational sports 
space. Temporary initiatives could be used to support 

the transition to a mixed-use neighbourhood. 

P
age 110



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Use
73

05

COMMONPLACEDesign of spaces needs to 
include ways to foster a friendly 
and social neighbourhood. 
This may include culture and 
entertainment facilities. 

5.4 Frontages 

The frontages of the site are of critical 
importance to the character of the streets 
and spaces within the site. The variety 
of uses and occupiers at ground floor 
level will contribute to the vibrancy of the 
streetscape, and the frontages must be 
carefully designed to ensure that they are 
benefiting the public realm as well as being 
fully functional for the users. The following 
codes apply to the ground floor frontages 
across the site:  

■ Any spaces within Use Classes E or F2
must balance privacy requirements
with the need to provide an active
frontage and functional internal spatial
arrangements. Where these spaces
exist they must provide a window /
intervisibility between the internal
space and the street, and where
possible between the working space /
community space and the street.

■ Any privacy measures can be taken
internally (for example through the use
of partitions). Where uses may evolve to
become more public facing, the design
of frontages should allow for future
adaptation to accommodate this need.

■ Spaces that are to be used within Use
Class E /F2 can be double fronted to
overlook both the street and the rear
space. This affords the opportunity for

rear spill-out space for the employees/
visitors. It must be ensured that there
is no conflict with the access provision 
and other uses to the rear, particularly 
where the space is shared with 
residential uses. 

■ Residential entrances must be visible
from the street, and demarcated using
the codes set out in Section 4.8.

Secondary elements are encouraged to emphasise 
residential entrances, which should be clearly visible from 
the street. 

“

“

P
age 111



P
age 112



 A Appendix

P
age 113



76
Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Masterplan evidence base 

Interdependencies 

The Figure adjacent sets out the plot interdependencies 
assumed as part of the coding process. The complexities 
of the land ownership pattern on site result in a 
fragmented and piecemeal series of plots. This plan 
identifies how these plots could come together, as 
demonstrated in the framework, to produce a more 
positive outcome in any of the following ways: 

■ Parking.

■ Open space & landscaping.

■ Capacity.

■ Access.

Joint vehicular access is encouraged between land plots 
where deliverable. 

Further Opportunities 

As set out in the ‘Use’ section of this design code, Plot K 
has a potential further option on its land uses. If other 
industrial uses are to be retained on site, that do not fall in 
within Use Class E, it would be the most suitable site to 
accommodate this type of industry. This is due to its 
proximity to St Albans Road, and the minimised impact it 
would have on transit through to the heart of the site in 
comparison to the other plots. 

A
B

C
D

E

F

H

K

J

G

Appendix A

Sites considered 
interdependent within code

Sites that would benefit from 
coming forward together as part 
of wider parcel

Interdependent

Figure A1: Plot Interdependencies 

P
age 114



Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
77

A

Floor Area Ratios 

The illustrative masterplan for Paradise 
demonstrates how the site could come 
forward in a code compliant way. The plot 
ratios and floor area ratios that are 
achieved with the blocks on the Illustrative 
Masterplan are set out on the adjacent 
table. 

Site (See Figure A1) Plot coverage Floor Area Ratio

A 0.4 2.3

B 0.4 1.1

C 0.4 1.5

D 0.5 1.9

E 0.4 1.2

F 0.5 2.1

G 0.4 1.5

H 0.8 1.6

J 0.4 1.6

K 0.8 2.4

Table A1: Floor Area /Plot Ratios 

P
age 115



78
Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Car Parking 

The illustrative masterplan shown on 
Figure A2 accommodates parking in a 
variety of ways, the locations of which are 
shown indicatively on Figure A2: 

■ Undercroft/podium car parking

■ Semi-basement parking; and

■ Courtyard parking.

Any parking requirements are to be 
extracted from DBC’s Parking Standards 
SPD 2020 and any future iterations of this 
guidance. 

Existing Car Parking on Paradise Lane 

P
age 116



Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
79

A

Ground floor parking

Surface car parking 

30 existing car parking 
spaces

Plot A has been 
identified as a suitable 
location for a semi-
basement car park

Circulation space

Undercroft parking

Indicative minimum 
open space requirement 
(10%)

Plot K has been 
identified as a suitable 
location for Podium 
parking

Figure A2: Illustrative Car Parking Locations 

P
age 117



80
Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Indicative time frames

The Figure adjacent sets indicative time 
frames for the different plots within the 
site to come forward within.  Short, 
medium and long term sites are identified 
(time frames to be confirmed with DBC). 
These indicative time frames have been 
determined based on the land ownership 
information made available. 

Proposed buildings 

Existing buildings 

Stage 1 

Stage 3  

Stage 2

Short-term

Medium / Long-term

Long-term

P
age 118



Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
81

A

3D Massing 

The images on this page illustrate the 3D 
massing for the illustrative masterplan. 
This scheme is code compliant, and the 
heights fall within the specified parameters 
set out on Figure 3.2, with heights varying 
from 3 storeys in sensitive locations, 
to 8 storeys where there is a landmark 
opportunity. 

Viewpoint location 

Viewpoint location 

St Albans R
oad 

St Albans Road 

St Albans Road 

Paradise 

St Albans R
oad 

Flexible ground floor units 

Existing and Consented Schemes 

P
age 119



82
Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

P
age 120



Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
83

A B Appendix

P
age 121



Analysis 

This appendix sets out the baseline analysis for Paradise 
in the context of the wider town centre, focussing on the 
following aspects: 

■ Movement: Pedestrians, cyclists, public transport and 
vehicular;

■ Green and  blue infrastructure;

■ Land Use;

■ Heights;

■ Heritage; and

■ Built Form & Character.

Above: National Model Design Code (p.6) Extract illustrating Design Code Process  

This appendix covers 
the Baseline stage of 
the Design Code 
process 

84
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix BAppendix B

P
age 122



K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Movement: Pedestrians and Cyclists 

Wider Town Centre 

Hemel Hempstead comprises two main centres: the Old Town to the north, and the New 
Town to the south. Figure 1 illustrates the key destinations within the town, which are visibly 
concentrated in two key clusters within the heart of each centre. Paradise is well located in 
relation to the two centres; with the Old Town just over 15 minutes walk north and the New 
Town (centred on the Marlowes) within a 10 minute walk. 

Pedestrian connectivity through the town comprises a mix of pedestrianised routes, 
pavements along roads and routes within landscape corridors and open space. Within the 
retail core of each of the two centres, a positive pedestrian environment has been created; 
from the pedestrianised Marlowes within the New Town, to the raised tables and level 
surfacing on the Old Town High Street. The Water Gardens  provide an attractive, alternative 
off-road route that extends the majority of the distance between the two centres within the 
town. 

Pedestrian movement along St Albans Road and across the Plough Roundabout towards 
the station is undesirable, with a number of underpasses that are occasionally flooded. 
There is a very limited number of pedestrian crossings along St Albans Road, making it a 
large barrier for movement north-south. 

There is a lack of cycle infrastructure, with no dedicated cycle lanes within the town centre. 

Paradise 

Marlowes, the main pedestrianised high street within the New Town is within a 10 minute 
walk of the site, however the pedestrian movement routes between the two are indirect and 
need improvement. The large scale block of the Marlowes Shopping Centre & Car Park 
creates a major barrier between the New Town centre and the site.  In addition, there is a 
level change between Marlowes and Wolsey Road, with the accesses ramped or stepped up 
around the northern and southern edges of the Marlowes Centre. 

Within the site boundaries, there are pavements provided for pedestrians, however due to 
the industrial nature of the site it isn’t heavily trafficked by people moving through on foot. 
However, the context of the site is changing with the emerging development in Paradise 
Fields and the Poppy and Primrose Court residential units, which will increase pedestrian 
presence on site. 

There are two pedestrian access points between the site and the Paradise Fields wildlife site, 
however these are overgrown and underused at present. 

Figure B1: Pedestrian and Cycle Movement 

Destinations  
(incl. schools, library, High 
Street and the Old Town)

Walking distances

5 minutes

10 minutes

15 minutes

Primary footpath 

Secondary footpath 

Tertiary footpath

Town Centre connectivity 
from Paradise 

Key pedestrian crossing

Key 

10 minute cycle, 26 
minute walk to Hemel 
Hempstead Railway 
Station 

Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
85

B
N

P
age 123



Movement: What does this tell us? 

■ Any new development should maximise pedestrian and cycle permeability and 
safety through the site.

■ Car parking should be rationalised to maximise the usability of the internal spaces 
and create a high quality and healthy place.

■ The movement routes must be connected into a wider movement strategy to 
improve connections between the site and the town centre.

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

J U N C T I O N  8  M 1
( 7  m i n  d r i v e )

L E I G H T O N  B U Z Z A R D
( 2 7  m i n  d r i v e )

B E R K H A M S T E A D
( 1 0  m i n  d r i v e )

WAT F O R D
( 2 0  m i n  d r i v e )

Primary street 

Secondary street 

Tertiary street

Arterial street

Pedestrianised High Street 

Public car parking 

Access road 

Key 

Movement: Vehicular 

Wider Town Centre 

The main access to the town centre from the south is via the Plough roundabout, where 6 
routes converge. St Albans Road provides a major transport route between the town centre 
and the M1 to the west, whilst traffic moving north travels via Leighton Buzzard Road or 
Marlowes to reach the Old Town.  

Paradise  

The site is bounded by St Albans Road to the south and to the west adjoins the junction 
connecting Paradise with Park Lane. 

The existing site has 2 access points for vehicles, provided from St Albans Road (A414)  and 
Park Lane. Paradise and Wood Lane are adopted roads, with Paradise terminating in a 
dead end with an 18m wide turning head at its eastern end.  The existing industrial uses on 
site benefit from easy access to the M1 via St Albans Road, without having to navigate 
through the town centre. 

Car parking is distributed throughout the site both on-street and within plots and tends to 
dominate the streetscape. 

Figure B2:Vehicular Movement 

86
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B
N

P
age 124



Public transport: What does this tell us? 

■ Paradise is a sustainable location for both living and
working. It has easy access to the town centre and
to local bus routes. The train station, which offers
direct services to London, is within a 25 minute walk
however the connection requires improvement in
order to be a safe and efficient route for pedestrians
and cyclists. HERT, when delivered, will improve its
public transport accessibility further.

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

LE
IG

H
T

O
N

 B
U

Z
Z

A
R

D
 R

O
A

D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

20
 m

i n
u t

e  
w

a l
k

15
 m

in
ut

e 
w

al
k

Potential HERT route 

Indicative walking 
distances 

Bus stop 

Key Public transport 

Existing 

Hemel Hempstead railway station is situated to the south 
west of the town centre, approximately 25 minute walk or 10 
minute cycle from Paradise. 

Existing bus routes serving the town centre are concentrated 
on a north south route along Marlowes, Bridge Street and 
Waterhouse Street with bus stops within a 5 minute walk of 
Paradise. More limited services run east west at the southern 
end of the town centre along St Albans Road and Station 
Road. Buses also serve Midland Road to the north of 
Paradise. 

Emerging: Hertfordshire - Essex Rapid Transit

The proposed Hertfordshire - Essex Rapid Transit (HERT) is 
an accessible, reliable and affordable Mass Rapid Transit 
(MRT) system that will run east to west from Hemel 
Hempstead and West Watford, joining just south of St Albans 
in Hertfordshire, to Harlow in Essex and onwards to 
Stansted Airport. It will provide a new, sustainable passenger 
transport network, carrying people in greater numbers than a 
typical private car, while providing greater convenience and 
reliability than a traditional bus service.

Project status: public engagement in Autumn 2021

Figure B3. Public transport
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

87

B
N

P
age 125



What does this tell us? 

■ Landscape is a defining feature of the town.

■ East-west connectivity between open spaces must be considered in the wider/
strategic town centre strategy.

■ The Paradise development must be linked into the green infrastructure network and,
where possible, green infrastructure should be brought into the site.

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Green and Blue Infrastructure 

Wider Town Centre 

The green and blue infrastructure is a defining feature of Hemel Hempstead and the wider 
town benefits from several large parks. It comprises a variety of elements, from large parks 
offering a variety of play opportunities, to formal landscaping within streetscapes and distant 
views towards the rising land to the south of the railway. Sir Geoffrey Jellicoe’s original vision 
for Hemel Hempstead was based on the ideal of development set within swathes of 
landscape, and his linear Water Gardens  remain a distinctive and important feature within 
the town. They introduce water and soft landscape into the heart of the New Town centre, 
otherwise hard environment. 

As can be seen on Figure 3 there are extensive green fingers running north south through 
and around the town, however, there is a noticeable lack of east-west links connecting 
these swathes of landscape together. The site’s location provides a key opportunity to 
connect the network of green spaces that link the Nickey Line to the Paradise Fields wildlife 
site, through to the town centre. 

Paradise 

With the exception of the street trees and intermittent grass verges, the site doesn’t currently 
offer any open or amenity space for public use.  To the east of the site there 
is an extensive network of open space extending north from the Paradise Fields  wildlife site 
towards Keens Field and the Nickey Line, a strategic footpath/cycleway. However, the 
connections between the site and this open space are underused and understated and the 
Nickey Line does not extend into the town centre at present. Therefore, the site provides a 
key opportunity for a new green link to connect the town centre into the existing network. 

Figure B4: Green and Blue Infrastructure

Green space 

Formal play space

Water 

Green belt 

TPO (Tree Preservation Order)

Local Wildlife Site

Allotments 

Pedestrianised High Street

Nickey Line

Key 

N

88
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 126



What does this tell us? 

■ The land use context of the site is changing, and the proposed and emerging co-
location of light industrial, business, community services and residential uses needs
carefully consideration and management.

■ The site is removed from the core of the town centre and should not aim to compete.
The mix of uses on site must address the needs of the neighbourhood whilst making
the most of the opportunities of its central location for providing local business.

Land Use 

The two distinct centres within Hemel Hempstead offer a differing range of facilities and 

services. 

The Old Town 

The Old Town is located at the northern end of the wider town centre area and comprises a 
linear high street with a mix of shops and services, including a regular market. The Old Town 
has a higher concentration of independent shops as well as public houses whose hours 
provide for a large proportion of the night-time economy within the town.

The New Town  

The New Town centre is largely linear in form, and comprises the pedestrianised Marlowes, 
and two shopping centres: Riverside and the Marlowes. The retail and service provision is 
concentrated south of the Market Square, and includes restaurants, cafés and a range of 
shops. 

Paradise 
The existing site comprises a mix of heavy and light industrial, community facilities, services 
and retail. In recent years residential development has been planned within the immediate 
vicinity of the site including the (currently under construction) Poppy and Primrose Court 
residential development and the Paradise Fields scheme to the south east, that comprises 
58 dwellings. Directly to the north of the site is the Hospital site, which has been allocated in 

the Site Allocations DPD (adopted 2017, site reference MU/2), comprising a replacement 
hospital, a new 2 form entry primary school and housing (400 homes).

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Figure B5:Land Use

Retail 

Commercial 

Industrial 

Community

Leisure 

Education 

Religious

Residential

Emerging residential

Car parking 

Key 
N

Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
89

B

P
age 127



Heights 

Wider town centre area 

The tallest building within Hemel Hempstead is the KD Tower, which is 22 storeys and sits 
significantly above the skyline of the rest of the town. The core of the New Town centre has 
little variation in height, with the majority of buildings between 3-4 storeys in height. There 
are existing taller and midrise buildings of 6+ storeys in the town centre including within 
new and emerging development, which are beginning to set a precedent for intensifying 
development closest to the core of the new town. The height decreases towards the Old 
Town to the north and the residential estates to the east and west, which generally 
comprise 2-3 storey housing. 

Paradise 

The generally low rise nature of the site is reflective of the site’s industrial history. South of 
the site boundary, fronting onto St Albans Road are a row of residential units that are 4 
storeys in height. Orchid Drive, directly adjoining part of the site’s western boundary is a 
residential development 2-3 storeys in height. However, the identity of the site is changing, 
and Poppy and Primrose Court, a residential development that is currently being built out, 
will rise to 5 storeys. 

The set back of the majority of the buildings on site, in combination with their low rise 
nature results in a streetscape that is undefined by building form and could be improved in 
terms of overlooking. Any new development should provide frontages that have a close 
relationship with the street. 

What does this tell us?  

■ Paradise is an appropriate area to increase building heights and extend the existing
cluster of taller buildings at the south end of the town centre.

■ The KD Tower is widely used as a local point of orientation to identify the town
centre. The Paradise area is not part of the core town centre, so buildings should
avoid competing for prominence with the KD Tower.

■ Height will need to carefully respond to the topography and the existing dwellings.

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K Storey height

Single

2-3

4-5

6-8

9-14

15+

Key 

Figure B6: Building Heights

N

90
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 128



Topography & Flooding 

The town centre of Hemel Hempstead lies in the valley 
bottom of the River Gade with the land rising up to the east. 
The valley side incorporates a number of dry valleys, including 
one along the alignment of St Albans Road. 
The topography of the Paradise area slopes down along 
Paradise to the town centre and also down along Wood Lane 
which then flattens out to join St Albans Road. 

There is a high surface water flow path coming off the wildlife 
site to the east which affects a proportion of the site. Further 
review should be undertaken regarding flood risk and 
topography of the site at detailed planning stages, including 
how to minimise surface water flow through SuDS. 

Plots E-K have been identified by the Lead Local Flood 
Authority as high risk of flooding from surface water. Designs 
for these sites are recommended to maximise capturing and 
attenuating water through the building and landscape design 
such as integrating well designed SuDS in the proposal. 

What does this tell us?  

■ The topography will influence
the visual prominence of new
buildings, so siting of any tall
or taller buildings needs to be
considered carefully to maintain
the visual prominence and
concentration of height and
density of the town centre.

■ There may be opportunities for
undercroft parking to be tucked
into slopes.

2

3

4

5

8

9

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

2

4

5

9 8 3

Figure B7:  Section Locator Plan Figure B8: Existing Site Sections 
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

91

B

P
age 129



Heritage and Townscape

Designated heritage assets within the town are concentrated within the Old Town 
Conservation Area. However, as a New Town, Hemel Hempstead has elements of 
distinctive landscape and townscape character that should be considered alongside its 
designated heritage assets. 

The townscape character is made up of the spatial form of the town centre together with its 
landscape and architectural character. An initial built form and character assessment has 
been undertaken for the wider town centre area, as well as a more detailed block 
assessment of the existing buildings within the site. 

Landscape character

The New Town was originally defined by Jellicoe’s vision for its landscape, as touched on in 
the ‘Green and Blue Infrastructure’ section and this New Town landscape character 
continues to be one of the defining features of the town that is highly valued today. 

Spatial form/urban grain

The spatial form of the town centre is strongly linear with two separate areas of distinctively 
different urban grain and character that run north to south along the bottom of the valley as 
shown on the figure ground study in Figure 8. These are:

■ the Old Town, based around the High Street; and

■ the New Town centre, based around the pedestrianised Marlowes.

They are linked together by the original Marlowes area, originally a suburb to the Old 
Town that became the civic and educational hub of the new town. The latter is now in the 
process of redevelopment with replacement college buildings and the Gade residential 
development. At present this area still has a more suburban character than either the Old 
Town or the New Town centre. 

The Old Town is characterised by  a fine and compact grain of development, with blocks 
made up of a number of relatively small plots. These are narrow and deep in configuration, 
with built development forming a continuous street frontage, and with many narrow alleys, 
lanes and entrances under buildings to courtyards serving the land behind the frontage, 
particularly on the east side of the street.

Conservation area

Listed buildings

Buildings of Architectural 
merit

Key 

Figure B9: Building Heritage

The Jellicoe 
Water Gardens : 
Registered Park 
and Garden.

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
D

 

N

92
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 130



The New Town centre has a large-scale grain of development. Its character is based on 
blocks with large and wide plots, in some cases with a single plot making up an entire 
block. Buildings create continuous street frontages. On its west side, there are regular east-
west links to Waterhouse Street and to the Water Gardens . These are mainly in the form of 
streets, although Bank Court is a notable example of a link created via a series of interlinked 
courtyards. However, on its east side is the Marlowes internal shopping centre and multi-
storey car park, with a large office buildings beyond on  Park Lane, and there are very few 
east-west links through to the New Town industrial area of Paradise or to the hospital. 

Paradise is characterised by a fragmented urban grain, with medium to large plots of 
varied widths, some being relatively deep while others are shallow.  Due to the nature of the 
industrial uses on site, buildings are sited within the plots with no consistent relationship to 
the street. The recent development onto St Albans Road at the south of the site creates a 
partial street frontage of continuous development on to this major route.  

Figure B10: Urban Grain 

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
D

 

What does this tell us? 

■ Designated heritage buildings are concentrated within Old Town.

■ Hemel Hempstead has a strong landscape heritage, as already identified in the
‘Green and blue infrastructure’ section and this must influence the design process
for any new development.

■ Both the Old Town and New Town have an urban character based on blocks with
continuous built street frontages and this must influence the Paradise area.

■ The New Town centre’s spatial form is strongly linear with barriers to eastward
movement so the wider town centre strategy should consider how to address this.

■ Both the Old Town and New Town centre include positive examples of public or
semi-public courtyards set behind the built development of the street frontage,
and there is an opportunity for these to influence the future form of development for
Paradise.

Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
93

B

P
age 131



Architectural Character 

The Old Town and New Town centre have contrasting 
architectural character. 

The architectural character of the Old Town is varied. The 
rhythm of buildings along the street is generally vertical or 
balanced, with shop fronts creating a secondary horizontal 
rhythm. The roofscape is also varied, with buildings of 
different heights and different roof and eaves conditions. 
Gables, turrets, bays, dormers and projecting features such 
as signs or clocks and oblique views of gable ends of taller 
buildings visible above the eaves of lower buildings all add to 
its complexity in views along the street. 

Materials are also varied, with a variety of bricks - red, purple 
and brown, painted stucco and render, flint and timber 
framing. 

A high proportion of the buildings in the Old Town are of 
architectural merit. The quality of their materials, details and 
decoration and condition is generally high.

The New Town centre does not have a strongly coherent 
architectural character overall. However, a number of the 
early New Town buildings constructed in late 1950s and 
early 1960s have been identified as having architectural 
merit. They incorporate a variety of distinctive features or 
details of quality that are characteristic of their time and of 
the initial development of the new town. However, many of 
them are much altered or in poor repair rather than being 
celebrated. Later development, in particular from the 1990’s 
and 2000’s, does not pick up on the character of the original 
New Town buildings or match their quality of materials, 
details, or crafted decorative elements. 

The Old Town is generally 
characterised by vertical or balanced 
building rhythms

Building rhythm 

Roofscape 

Varied roofscape: Old Town Flat roofs: New Town 

Red & buff brick 
characteristic of 
many of the recent 
developments 

A wide range of materials 
are used within the Old 
Town

Red brick and glass is 
used widely on the larger 
buildings along Park Lane 
to the west of the site

New buildings have large plot widths and 
introduce a vertical building rhythm

Flat roofs: New Town 

Materials 

The New Town centre is generally 
characterised by strong horizontal 
building rhythms

A wide range of materials 
are also used within the 
New Town centre.

Use of coloured cladding 
introduces a deep red to new 
development

94
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 132



Common characteristics include a strongly horizontal 
architectural rhythm across a large plot, which unifies a 
number of smaller units. 

The majority of the larger buildings within the New Town have 
flat roofs.  Together these create a strong contrast with the 
character of the Old Town and, in combination with the 
difference in plot widths between the two areas, this creates a 
distinct change in identity between the two centres. 

The palette of materials is very varied and includes cladding, 
render, glass, red brick, buff brick and weatherboarding. 

The early New Town centre buildings incorporate:

■ horizontal or balanced rhythms, with some points of
emphasis highlighted using vertical rhythms;

■ flat roofs;

■ a materials palette, mainly of buff brick as the primary
material, incorporating a variety of different brick textures;

■ a variety of secondary materials, including flint panels
(knapped or whole), stone, glass, ceramic tiles, mosaics,
and precast decorative panels;

■ framing of openings such as windows or shopfronts with
contrasting surrounds;

■ carefully designed and expressive balustrades and
screens to filter views;

■ decorative or crafted details, including tiled murals or
panels, mosaic or fluted columns, sculptural relief panels;
and

■ elegant canopies to highlight entrances.

Buildings of architectural merit: Key elements

Buff brick with textured 
brickwork

Flint panels and stonework

Lattice screensFaçade Tiles (Grade II Listed Emett 
Mosaic Mural in ceramic tiles)

Horizontal rhythm of façade emphasised by 
projecting eaves of oversailing flat roof

Balanced and formal rhythm of façade 

Framing of shopfronts and windows 
with contrasting surrounds 

Vertical emphasis 
to marker element 
that projects 
forward of building 
line

Precast sculptural 
relief panels

Expressive balconies

Mosaic columns 

What does this tell us? 

■ The architectural character of the early New Town
centre buildings provides a series of cues for design
that must influence the Paradise area.

Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
95

B

P
age 133



Paradise: Block Analysis

This section sets out the block analysis for the existing 
buildings and plots within the site. This exercise has been 
undertaken to gain a thorough understanding of the existing 
situation on site, where the industrial land uses and 
piecemeal land ownership heightens the need for an 
individual assessment of each block, as opposed to a site 
wide assessment. This analysis identifies the current size 
and use of the building as well as any relevant planning 
information. In addition, the existing built form and the colour 
and material palettes adopted by each block are identified. 

96
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Block details

EXPO BUILDING

Block details

MAPLE HOUSE

Address:

Use: 
Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

1261

2 commercial storeys

N/A

Brick and corrugated metal cladding. 
Typically characteristic of light 
industrial /commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address:

Use: 
Area (m2):
Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Maple House /Heritage Reclamation 
Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Light industrial

1222

2 commercial storeys

N/A

The mixed materiality includes: 
brickwork, corrugated metal sheeting, 
render and concrete.

Car parking provided on site. 

P
age 134



B

  Appendix B
97

Block details

909 PARADISE LANE

Block details

VITALIA HOUSE

Block details

AMBER HOUSE

Address:

Use: 
Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Hanafan Auto Care
909 Paradise, 
Paradise Ind Est, 
Hemel Hempstead, 
HP2 4TF

Industrial with MOT usage (B2)

1459

Part single storey, part industrial store /
garage

Relevant planning permission from 2014:

4/02763/14/FUL 

Change of use from storage/distribution 
(b8) to general industrial (b2) with mot 
usage 

A predominantly brick and clad building 
with large window and garage access. 

Considered to have active frontages 
onto Wood Lane and Paradise.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address:

Use: 
Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Vitalia House
Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Commercial (B1)

980

2 commercial storeys

N/A

Red brick with simple window and 
façade detailing. Typically characteristic 
of light industrial /commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address:

Use: 

Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Amberside House 
9 Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

3441

3 commercial storeys

Relevant planning permission from 
2007:

4/00471/07/FUL 

Refurbishment & recladding of 
building, use of building for b1(a,b or c) 
business purposes 

Predominantly glass clad building, 
minimal detailing. Typically 
characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Whilst the primary entrance fronts onto 
Wood Lane, there is an extensive set 
back from the access, which reduces 
the activity onto the street.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

P
age 135



98

B  ❚ Appendix B

Block details

CO-OP FUNERAL BUILDING

Block details

HERTFORDSHIRE HOUSE

Block details

DENS FOOD BANK 

Address:

Use: 

Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

The Hub 
2 Paradise 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

4105

Single storey

N/A

A mix of glass, brick and clad materiality 
across the building, the general 
appearance of the building is typical of 
light industrial uses. 

Whilst there are windows and access 
points from Paradise there is not 
considered to be an active frontage 
onto the street.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address:

Use: 
Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Co-op Funeralcare, 
Wood Lane,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Funerals & storage

732

Single storey

N/A

The modest building comprises a brick 
and glass, single storey structure that 
benefits from car parking provided on 
site. 

Address:

Use: 
Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Hertfordshire House  
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, Hemel 
Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

1873

3 commercial storeys

Relevant planning permission from 2000 
/2001:

4/01950/00/FUL

Three storey office building with car parking

and

4/01535/01/FUL

Enclosure of 1st floor balcony and change of 
use of part ground floor from b1 (office) to d1 
(clinic). Replace solid panel with Window.

The building comprises a mix of concrete, 
glass and clad materials with a consistent 
blue and white façade material. Typically 
characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

P
age 136



99

B

Block details

PARK HOUSE

Block details

PARADISE FURNITURE PROJECT

Block details

EXPO HOUSE

Address:

Use: 

Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Park House 
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Commercial (B1a)

1713

3 commercial storeys

Relevant planning permission from 2019:

4/01618/19/OPA

Change of use from office building (b1a) 
to 12 residential flats (c3.) 

Predominantly glass and brick building, 
minimal detailing. Typically characteristic 
of light industrial /commercial uses. The 
building sits in a cutting.

Extensive car parking provided on site 
and at ground level. 

Address:

Use: 

Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

Expo House 
2 Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Commercial (B1a)

1259

2 commercial storeys

Relevant planning permission from 2008:

4/01169/08/FUL

Conversion of existing warehouse and 
storage area to offices and training facility 
and refurbishment of buildings and car park

Brick and clad building, minimal detailing. 
Typically characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address:

Use: 

Area (m2):

Storeys:

Planning:

Description:

The KTM Centre 
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Retail and Garage

1253

Single storey

Relevant planning permission from 2016:

4/03592/15/FUL

Change of use to motorcycle retail and 
repairs

Red brickwork building, minimal 
detailing. Whilst there is an entrance 
and windows facing Wood Lane, the 
significant set back means there is 
minimal activity fronting the street. 

Car parking provided on site. 

P
age 137



100
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Cumulative schemes 

As part of the Baseline analysis, we have mapped the 
cumulative schemes on and adjacent to the site. The 
following applications have been included:

1. 20/02483/FUL
- rooftop extension of 2 floors to provide mixed use

office and 9 apartments.

2. 4/01121/18/MFA
- construction of 44 one and two bed dwellings.

3. 20/02519/MFA
- construction of 58 apartments.

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

1

2

3

1

2

3

Figure B11: Cumulative Schemes

P
age 138



Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
101

B

Site Opportunities 

The following key site opportunities have been identified for 
Paradise: 

■ Improve the connectivity between the town centre and
the site.

■ Emphasise the link to Paradise Fields and associated
network of open space including the Nickey Line.

■ Opportunity to integrate with the residential development
to the north.

■ Introduce a gateway/arrival location for pedestrians and
cyclists to move between the town centre and Paradise
Fields via the site.

■ Opportunity to improve the public realm.

■ Opportunity to create an urban neighbourhood with a mix
of uses that complement but does not compete with (or
copy) existing parts of the town centre.

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

Potential pedestrian and cycle 
gateway 

Pedestrian and cycle green link

Green links to wider network 

Pedestrian and cycle 
connections to adjacent 
residential areas

Wildlife area 

Future mixed-use development 

Improvements to public realm 

Paradise Fields proposed 
development area

Paradise Fields proposed open 
space 

Town centre proximity 

Retained buildings 

Key 

Figure B12: Site Opportunities

P
age 139



102
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Site Challenges

The following key challenges have been identified for 
Paradise: 

■ Sensitive edges along the rear boundaries of the existing
properties on Orchid Drive.

■ St Albans Road creates a major barrier between the site
and the neighbourhoods to the south.

■ The building set back creates a poor sense of enclosure/
frontage to the public realm.

■ Dominance of road infrastructure and parking within the
site.

■ Indirect routes between the site and the town centre.

■ Rising topography with a high point in the north east of
the site.

■ Underused open land at nodal point between site,
hospital site and potential east-west link into town centre
(marked ‘1’ on plan).

1. 

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

Existing road layout 

Dominance of surface car 
parking 

Barrier to pedestrian movement 

Elevation change across site 

Sensitive edge 

Views from current 
development and proximity 
to current development with 
overlooking from new homes

Retained buildings

Key 

Figure B13: Site Challenges

P
age 140



Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
103

B

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 141



P
age 142



Paradise Design Code: Compliance Checklist 

Applicant 
Site 
Proposal 
Completed by
Date 

Chapter Reference Page no. (Code) Design Code Criteria Compliant? Explanatory Comments 

1 15
Are all of the spatial codes set out on the Regulatory Plan 
satisfied? 

2.0 20
Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 
Movement within the site?

2.1 22-23 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

2.1 22 Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles as 
identified on the Movement Key Plan? 

2.2 24 Are the street hierarchy (including pedestrian, cycle and 
vehicular movement) codes satisfied? 

2.3 25-27 Are all of the parking codes satisfied?

2.4 28
Do the access proposals comply with the pedestrian and cycle 
access codes? 

2.5 28
Do the access proposals comply with the vehicular access and 
servicing codes? 

3.0 32
Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 
Built Form within the site?

3.1 34-35 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

3.1 34
Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles as 
identified on the Built Form Key Plan? 

3.2 35-36 Are the heights and density codes satisfied? 

3.2 35
Are the heights proposed within the ranges coded on the 
Heights Plan? 

3.3 36-39
Do the block typologies satisfy the block structure and urban 
grain codes set out, even if they are not courtyard/linear block 
typologies? 

3.31-3.34 40
If landmark, linear or courtyard blocks or stacked maisonettes 
are proposed do they comply with their typology specific 
codes? 

3.4 42-43
Do all ground frontages proposed comply with the codes set 
out?

4.0 46
Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 
Identity within the site?

4.1 48-49 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

4.1 48
Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles identified 
on the Identity Key Plan? 

4.2 49-51 Are the open space strategy codes satisfied? 

4.32 52-55 If the proposal fronts onto the Paradise Fields Gateway Space 
or North-South linear space does it satisfy the Paradise Fields 
Gateway Space/Linear Space specific codes? 

4.33 56-57
Do the proposals comply with the on-street treatment codes 
for its typology? 

4.4, 4.5 58 Does the proposal provide either communal courtyard space 
or podium gardens that satisfy the typology specific codes? 

4.6 59
If the proposal has a flat roof, is it compliant with the roof 
garden codes? 

4.7 60 Do all units provide outdoor amenity space? 

4.7 60
If the proposal provides balconies, does it comply with the 
balcony coding? 

4.8 65
Does the proposal comply with the elevational treatment 
codes? 

5.0 68
Does the proposal support the two overarching principles for 
Use within the site?

5.1 70 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

5.1 70-71
Are the uses proposed compliant with the spatial principles  
set out on the Use Key Plans 

5.2 71 Are the land use strategy codes satsifed? 
5.3 72 Are the frontage codes satisfied? 

How to use this document: This checklist is for use by officers assessing applications, or applicants. Please fill in 
your details in the information box below before compelting the checklist. The explanatory comments box should 
be used to provide an explanation of partial- or non-compliance of codes.  

Produced by Tibbalds Planning & Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 

Note: this compliance list should not be used exclusively, as a number of important codes are explained and set out within the main body of 
the Design Code that aren't duplicated here. This checklist covers coding i.e. mandatory elements only, whereas the Design Code also includes 
guidance which is discretionary. Please refer to Figure 1.1 within the Design Code for an explanation of which elements are classified as 
coding or guidance. The intention of this checklist is to give an initial  overview of the level of compliance. 

 Chapter 1: Introduction 

Chapter 2: Movement 

Chapter 3: Built Form 

Chapter 4: Identity 

Chapter 5: Use 

Page 143



Paradise Design Code  

Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD) 

Consultation Statement
March 2023 

Page 144



1 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Consultation Report ....................................................................................................... 3 

2.1 Background ................................................................................................................. 3 

2.2 Engagement Methods .................................................................................................. 4 

2.3 Making Representations .............................................................................................. 6 

2.4 Level of Response ....................................................................................................... 6 

3. Analysis of Responses ................................................................................................... 7 

4. Next Steps ................................................................................................................... 25 

Appendix A: Supporting Information .................................................................................... 26 

Appendix B. Early Engagement .......................................................................................... 38 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 38 

Engagement with Stakeholders ....................................................................................... 38 

Engagement with the Public ............................................................................................ 39 

Engagement with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing, and Communities .............. 41 

Engagement with Elected Members ................................................................................ 41 

Engagement with Officers ................................................................................................ 42 

Appendix C: Full Text of Responses ................................................................................... 43 

Page 145



2 

1. Introduction

1.1 This Consultation Statement has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 12(a)

framework of design requirements for new development in the Paradise and Wood 

Lane area, which is currently allocated for mixed-use development in the adopted Site 

Allocations DPD (2017)1. These requirements are site-specific, clear and detailed. The 

purpose of the SPD is to enhance the character of the local area and ensure future 

design quality of developments coming forward on the site.  

1.3 The Council are grateful for the time residents, businesses and organisations have spent 

engaging with the draft document. This statement sets out the engagement process in 

detail, summarises the main issues raised and sets out the Council’s response. 

1.4 The Consultation Statemement is structured as follows: 

Section 2. Consultation Report: explains the how the Council engaged in 

accordance with our Statement of Community Involvement, including the individuals 
invited to make responses, the methods used and the overall level of response. 

Section 3. Analysis of Responses: is where the Council identify the key points raised 

in the responses to the consultation, and demonstrate how these comments have been 

taken into account when preparing the final document. 

Section 4. Next Steps: set out the adoption timetable for the SPD. 

Appendix A. Supporting Information: provides copies of the key material used to 

advertise the consultation. This includes copies of the notification for the consultation 

and the public notice.  

Appendix B. Early Engagement: contains an overview of the community engagement 

undertaken at the early stages of preparing the SPD, which informed the content of the 

document.  

Appendix C. Full Text of Responses: contains full copies of all the individual 

responses made to the consultation.  

1 Site Reference MU3, p.22  http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-

development/planning-strategic-planning/local-planning-framework/site-allocations 

1.2 The Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out a 

of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012.

Page 146

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/local-planning-framework/site-allocations
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/local-planning-framework/site-allocations


3 

2. Consultation Report

2.1 Background 

2.1.1 The consultation on the Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) was undertaken in accordance with Regulations 12 and 13 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012. The 

consultation was also carried out in accordance with the requirements set out in the 

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), adopted by Dacorum Borough Council in 

2019. 

2.1.2 The consultation sought views and opinions from residents, businesses and 

organisations on a full draft version of the SPD. This follows an extensive programme of 

engagement which took place in the summer and autumn of 2021. Full details of this is 

set out in Appendix B of this document. 

2.1.3 The statutory public consultation took place between 12pm on the 28th October 2022 

and 11:59pm on the 28th November 2022. This satisfies the requirement to consult for a 

4 week period, which specified in the SCI.  

2.1.4 The consultation draft document can be viewed on our online consultation portal2. 

2 https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37164 

Page 147

https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37164


4 

2.2 Engagement Methods 

2.2.1 Everyone who was on the Council’s Strategic Planning consultation database at the 

time of the consultation start date were notified of the consultation by e-mail, or by 

post mail where no e-mail address was recorded. This includes all specific (statutory) 
bodies, general and other bodies, and the wider community.3

2.2.2 The Council sent a separate notification of the consultation by e-mail to; Town and 

Parish Clerks within the Borough, elected County Councillors for Dacorum, and all of 

Dacorum Council’s elected members and its Senior and Corporate Leadership Team. 

2.2.3 We used a variety of engagement methods to advertise the consultation. Full details of 

the methods and levels of engagement are listed below. The figures stated below refer to 

the documents provided in Appendix A: Supporting Information.  

Digital 

o Dacorum Current Consultation Website: 48 page visits

o Dacorum Additional Planning Document Website: 503 page visits

o Consultation Portal (figure 1): 560 views from 326 users.

Notification 

o Consultation Database Notifications (figure 2 and 3):

 7,002 E-mail (one to each registered consultee for each consultation)

 2,096 Postal (one letter to each consultee covering both consultations)

o Separate Postal Notification to all landowners on the site (figure 3).

Public Notice 

o Public Notice in Newspaper published in the Hemel Gazette on 26th October 2022

(figure 5 and 6).

o Public Notice published online on the Hemel Today website on 26th October 2022

(figure 7).

Press/Media 

o Media release sent to 359 media contacts for wider circulation.

3
As set out in Part A, Section 3: ‘Who We Consult’ of the SCI: https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-

development/planning-strategic-planning/statement-of-community-involvement 

Page 148

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/statement-of-community-involvement
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/statement-of-community-involvement


5 

Publications 

o An article was published in the digital Dacorum Life Newsletter on the 3rd November

2022 (figure 8): 12,337 subscribers

Social Media 

o The consultation was advertised to 4,573 connections on LinkedIn.

Hard Copy Documents 

o Hard copies of documents were made available for public inspection throughout the

whole consultation period at the three deposit points listed within the SCI:

o The Forum

o Berkhamsted Civic Centre

o Victoria Hall

o Hard copies of documents were also made available for the public in the reference

section of the seven libraries located in Dacorum during their normal opening hours:

o Adeyfield

o Berkhamsted

o Bovingdon Community Library

o Hemel Hempstead

o Kings Langley Community Library

o Leverstock Green Community Library

o Tring

o Hard copies of documents were made available to purchase from Strategic Planning.

Town and Parish Councils within the Borough 

o The Council separately notified the 16 Town and Parish Councils in the Borough by

e-mail (figure 4). This notification established that, if requested, the Council had

made hard copies of the document available without cost to ensure that the

town/parish council could hold their own reference copy.

Dacorum Borough Council’s Elected Members 

o Notified 51 Dacorum Elected Members by e-mail

o Notified 10 County Councillors for Dacorum by e-mail

o Members’ news: Notified of consultation using the weekly e-newsletter on the 4th

November 2022.

Page 149



6 

2.3 Making Representations 

2.3.1 Feedback on the Paradise Design Code - Draft SPD was invited as a self-completion 

comments form. The form contained only one question which simplified the process for 

consultees who wished to make general comments on the document, whilst allowing 

those who referenced specific sections/paragraphs within the document to do so.  

2.3.2 The comments form could be completed using our online consultation portal. The 

portal was advertised by providing a hyperlink in a variety of locations, including on the 

Council’s Additional Planning Guidance webpage, as part of consultation notifications 

and within other advertisements for the consultation. The portal provided the option of 

providing comments on the draft SPD, as well as supplementing that response with 

additional material. 

2.3.3 If it was not possible to make comments directly on the consultation portal, responses 

could also be accepted: 

a. By email: responses@dacorum.gov.uk

b. By post: Strategic Planning, The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, HP1

1DN.

2.3.4 For those making comments by email or post, a downloadable and editable comments 

form (see figure 9) was provided on the Additional Planning Guidance web page. This 

could be completed as an online form and emailed, or printed out and posted as a letter. 

2.4 Level of Response 

2.4.1 The consultation received a total of 23 comments from 23 consultees. Out of these, 

five consultees responded to the consultation stating that they had no comments to 

make on the draft SPD.  

2.4.2 Eleven of these responses were made directly within the online consultation portal, and 

twelve were made via e-mail. No responses were received via post. 

2.4.3 Detailed analysis of the responses can be viewed in Section 3 of this report, and the 

full text of all the responses submitted can be viewed in Appendix C of this document. 

Page 150

mailto:responses@dacorum.gov.uk


7 

3. Analysis of Responses

3.1 The detailed responses below set out the actions that will be taken in response to 

individual comments, points and issues. 

3.2 The responses received were individually reviewed and collated within table 3.1. Where 

members of the wider community provided a response, these were summarised and 

included within one section of the table. Responses from a specific (statutory), general or 

other consultee were summarised individually, irrespective of whether similar comments 

had been received and previously noted.  

3.3 An officer response has been provided against each issue raised. This is then followed 

by a list of all the consultees who responded to the consultation stating that they had no 

comment to make.  

3.4 Table 3.2 then identifies where the Paradise Design Code SPD has been revised as a 

result of the consultation comments received. 

3.5 Full text of the responses to the consultation can be found in Appendix C of this 

document.

Page 151



8 

Table 3.1: Responses and Officer Comments 

Question Text: Do you have any comments on the Paradise Design Code – Draft SPD? 

Consultee Name Key Points Raised in Representations Officer Response 
Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service -   
Andrew Butler 

Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service’s capacity to 
deliver an emergency response is not unduly 
affected by individual developments but may be a 
cumulative effect that could limit capacity in the 
Dacorum Area. 

Contributions may be sought from development 
schemes which have the potential to increase the 
demand on the service (Section 106 and CIL).   

The expansion of Hemel Hempstead through 
development provides an opportunity for planning 
authorities to take a national lead by applying a 
proactive approach towards protecting the 
community and infrastructure through in-built fire 
suppression systems. 

Measures to ensure the consideration of fire 
safety matters as they relate to land use planning 
are incorporated at the planning stage for 
schemes involving a relevant high-rise residential 
building (from 1 August 2021). 

HFRS will be consulted at planning stages on Paradise 
applications regarding developer requirements and 
obligations including Section 106 and CIL.  

Affinity Water Ltd. Planning 
Team 

No Specific comments relating to the information 
included within the Paradise Design Code SPD, 
however there is no mention of water efficiency 
within the document. 

Water Efficiency is a matter for detailed design at the 
planning application stage. Any proposal will be 
expected to comply with policy, regulation and guidance 
on Water Efficiency and Sustainable design principles 
including those set out in Dacorum’s Strategic Design 
Guide SPD. Water Efficiency is referenced within an 

P
age 152



9 

Paradise falls within a Government designated 
water stressed area. There is an expectation that 
developments in this location will include water 
efficient fixtures and fittings to minimise water 
use. 

Water Efficiency Measures are also required as 
part of building regulations and in the process of 
granting planning permission. 

objective added to the Built Form regarding designing to 
address the Climate Crisis. 

Water Efficiency is a matter for detailed design at the 
planning application stage. Any proposal will be 
expected to comply with policy, regulation and guidance 
on Water Efficiency and Sustainable design principles 
including those set out in Dacorum’s Strategic Design 
Guide SPD. 

Affinity Water will be consulted at planning stage on 
Paradise applications regarding developer requirements 
and obligations. 

Natural England The Paradise SPD is unlikely to have major 
effects on the natural environment however may 
have some effects. 

Consideration of issues of green infrastructure in 
SPD development (suggestions - use of green 
roofs and gardens, green roofs, new tree 
planting, altering management of land to improve 
biodiversity e.g. green verges, wildlife boxes, 
protection of natural resources such as ground 
and air). 

Consideration of enhancement of surrounding 
natural and built environment, use of natural 
resources more sustainably to bring benefits to 
the local community. 

Other design considerations include lighting 
assessment, Strategic Environmental 
Assessment / Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

This comment is noted. 

The Paradise Design Code SPD includes many codes 
that relate to delivering and improving green 
infrastructure on site. The detailed suggestions 
regarding green infrastructure are welcomed and have 
been incorporated within the green infrastructure codes 
in the SPD. Further guidance can be found in 
Dacorum’s Strategic Design Guide SPD. 

The Paradise Design Code SPD includes codes which 
relate to the enhancement of the natural environment to 
benefit the local community such as improving the 
connection to the Paradise Fields wildlife site. 

An SEA / HRA screening will be undertaken prior to 
adoption. Other considerations listed will be undertaken 
during the relevant planning application stage. 

P
age 153



10 

Designing Out Crime Officer, 
Hertfordshire Constabulary 

Comment relates to inclusion of Prevention First 
and the role of Secured by Design (SBD) 
standards in developing sites. 

The SPD sets strategic level policy only. High level 
secure design principles are included in Dacorum’s 
Strategic Design Guide SPD. Hertfordshire 
Constabulary will be consulted at planning stage on 
Paradise applications regarding developer requirements 
and Secured by Design standards.   

Hertfordshire County Council: 
Growth and Infrastructure Unit  
(Countryside & Rights of Way, 
Herts LEADS Ecology, Lead 
local flood authority, Highways 
Authority) 

The County wish to be continually engagement 
throughout the evolution of this site, either 
through the emerging local plan process or 
further views of this design code once adopted. 
Site is centrally located in Hemel Hempstead and 
has the opportunity to include sustainable 
transport options within it. 

This comment is noted. Continued engagement with 
Hertfordshire County Council to deliver a sustainable 
and connected area of the Town Centre would be 
welcomed. 

Hertfordshire County Council: 
Countryside Rights of Way.  

Site offers the opportunity to deliver a gateway for 
an extended Nickey Line into the southern end of 
the Town Centre. The nearby greenspaces and 
Public Rights of Way are an important resource 
for enabling recreations and active travel use of 
the Nicky Line. It is underroof that DBC are 
pursuing alternative routes to extend the Nickey 
Line as an active travel route one of the preferred 
routes would be passing through Paradise Fields 
to the east of this site. 

Developments within this site can contribute to 
this. Both within the site boundary area and 
beyond. Opportunity to establish segregated 
cycle and pedestrian routes into and from the 
town centre and beyond. Opportunities for 
enabling improvements to Public Rights of Way 
and greenspace routes to the east and north 
(linking with the Nickey Line) through potential 
developer contributions. 

This comment is noted. The SPD fully supports onward 
links and possible future extension to the Nickey Line 
through improving the strategic green link from Hemel 
Town Centre to the gateway of Paradise Fields (this is 
mentioned in Appendix B). Further development 
regarding the Nickey Line extension will be undertaken 
within the Hemel Garden Communities Programme.   
An additional note regarding the Nickey Line will be 
added on the opportunities plan. 

This comment is noted. The SPD fully supports onward 
links and possible future extension to the Nickey Line 
through improving the strategic green link from Hemel 
Town Centre to the gateway of Paradise Fields. This 
will be picked up within the Hemel Garden Communities 
Programme.   

P
age 154



11 

Hertfordshire County Council: 
Herts LEADS Ecology 

No ecology sites within site adjacent to Paradise 
Fields central LWS.  

Ecological sensitivity is considered low. Avoid 
light spill on adjacent trees / woody habitats. No 
fundamental ecological constraints.  

May be potential for roosting bats in mature trees 
and buildings if suitable roosting features are 
present.  

Should consider buffer to adjacent habitat LWS in 
east, enhance green corridor on eastern edge, 
biodiversity net gain measures such as native-
species planting, wildflower sowing and habitat 
boxes for bats, birds hedgehogs and 
invertebrates. 

This comment is noted, detailed points on biodiversity 
measures have been included within the revised codes. 

A note regarding a buffer zone has been included within 
the site wide codes accompanying the built form 
section. 

Hertfordshire County Council: 
Lead local flood authority 

Little reference to surface water management, 
flood risk or sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) within design code. Suggested addition 
and retrofit of SuDS and AuDS features are 
exhaustively explored across open spaces in the 
whole site including tree pits, rain gardens, SuDS 
planters, swales and permeable paving. 

It is recommended that all surface car parking 
areas to use permeable paving to encourage a 
source control approach to surface water 
management whereby runoff is captured and 
attenuated as close to where it falls as possible. 

Should be noted that much of the site is affected 
by a high risk surface water flow path coming off 
the nature reserve to the east. Plots E-K are high 

A code has been added regarding SuDS inclusion 
which applies to all open spaces on the site. An 
objective has been added to the built form section 
regarding designing to address the Climate Crisis. This 
includes reference to SuDS.  

A reference to permeable parking surfaces has been 
added to the parking codes. 

A note regarding surface water flow risk to the site and 
additional risk to plots E-K has been added to the 
masterplan evidence base. A code has been added to 

P
age 155



12 

risk of flooding from surface water (appendix A). 
Design code is encouraged to more robustly 
consider how flood risk could be managed in 
these parcels through the use of SuDS. 

It should also be noted that as part of any future 
planning application, the county council will 
require surface water to be managed up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year + 40% climate change 
event. 

It is advised at this early stage that the county 
council does not consider the cost of SuDS 
implementation and “there is no space” as 
acceptable justifications for their exclusion, and 
below-ground features such as attenuation tanks 
should be avoided. Above-ground SuDS should 
be exhaustively considered and should only be 
discounted where there is very strong technical 
justification. 

All developments should comply with local and 
national design SuDS guidance such as HCC’s 
LFRMS2, the national non-statutory technical 
standards and the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG). 

maximise water capture and attenuation on the design 
of plots E-K. Design work to mitigate the risk of high 
surface flow will be undertaken at the detailed design 
stage of any planning applications. 

This is a matter for detail design at planning application 
stage of any planning application.   

This is a matter for detail design at planning application 
stage of any planning application.   

This is a matter for detail design at planning application 
stage of any planning application.   

Transport HCC as Highways 
Authority. 

The design requirements outlined in the national 
Cycle Infrastructure Design guide (LTN 1/20)2 
should be a starting point when considering the 
redevelopment of the site, along with the county 
council’s Manual for Streets, which is already 
acknowledged within the draft design code. 

The design of the cycle infrastructure on site will be 
subject to detailed design during the planning 
application stage including Cycle Infrastructure Design 
Guide LTN 1/20. 

P
age 156



13 

 

 
There also needs to be recognition that the site is 
a destination relevant to the entire settlement of 
Hemel Hempstead and the movement framework 
should acknowledge that in terms of linking to 
wider aspirations through to consideration for 
cycle storage etc. (it is understood that the 
borough council is also looking to introduce cycle 
hire schemes and encourage e-bikes). 

 
The movement framework plan shows indicative active 
travel routes connecting into wider Hemel Hempstead 
to maximise the connectivity of the site and Paradise 
Fields. This will emerge in more detail with work taken 
forward in the Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Strategy 
and Hemel Garden Communities Programme. 

Historic England   Overall Welcome the design code as a 
comprehensive document and support the 
principals of high quality design and placemaking 
that it contains.  Document shows respect and 
understanding of existing character of Hemel 
New Town. 
 
Factual Correction noted in Appendix B, Heritage 
and Townscape. Image B9 omits Grade II listing.  
Inclusion of locally listed building in the plan 
identifying ‘Buildings of Architectural Merit’ would 
be welcomed. 
 
Several comments made regarding clarity of 
images in Section 4 Identity Code & Appendix B 
to adequately support the interpretation of the 
policy:  
 
Section 4 / Appendix B Architectural Rhythms 
(pg62, 95) same photo is used later on to 
illustrate horizontal rhythm and balanced façade 
rhythm.  
 

This comment is welcomed and noted.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
The footnote on the listed mural has been updated. 
Figure B9 includes all the buildings that are currently 
locally listed. 
 
 
 
Two images on page 95 have been updated to better 
show the architectural concepts listed in the description.  
 
 
 
An expanded description has been added to the image 
referred to on both pages 62 and 95 to explain why this 
image has been used to illustrate two architectural 
concepts.  
 
 
 

P
age 157



14 

 

Fig 4.14 diagram is too small and open to 
interpretation to graphically compare façade 
types.   
 
Pg. 64 Stacked Maisonettes image showing 
vertical façade types angle too oblique to 
understand what is being shown. 
 

Figure 4.14 image has been enlarged. 
 
 
 
The stacked maisonettes image on page 64 has been 
shown as an oblique model view to give a diagrammatic 
example of the concept of vertical façade grouping 
rather than showing an image of the model in elevation 
view which we believe may be interpreted by readers of 
the document in a less diagrammatic manner. 

Central Bedfordshire Council Overall supportive of the Paradise Design code. It 
is considered to be a detailed, forward thinking 
and informative design code which will positively 
influence development within the specified area. 
 
The council particularly supports the requirement 
for parking areas to be designed for flexible use 
thereby future proofing the development area for 
a less car reliant future and integration of green 
infrastructure in the site. 

These comments are welcomed and noted. 

Environment Agency Movement & Site Wide Codes:  
Welcome the ambition to enhance provisions for 
safe / sustainable movement network and 
biodiversity improvements to public realm linking 
nature reserve. Support for enhancements to the 
nature reserve entrance / access and wider green 
and blue infrastructure and Paradise lane as a 
strategic green link. General pedestrian / cycle 
codes proposed are welcomed and should 
encourage sustainable transport in the area. 
Approach to biodiversity and green / blue 
infrastructure should be broadened for all existing 
and new routes to across the site.   
 

A code has been added regarding green infrastructure 
on active travel routes / streets across the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 158



15 

 

 
Built Form Codes:  
Objectives of build form codes area welcomed. 
Recommendation for the inclusion of an objective 
that deals with nature conservation and climate 
change to establish low carbon, climate resilient 
and suitable built form for this area. Recommend 
the provisions for green and blue infrastructure 
plan is included within the site wide plan. This will 
enhance the sustainability of the area and assist 
with public space ambitions of code. 
 
 
Welcome the codes associated with greening and 
green roofs as guiding principles for the site. Add 
a note that well designed and maintained green / 
blue roofs can act as sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS) and roofs can also assist with 
elements like overheating, climate change 
adaption etc.   

 
An objective has been added to the Built Form chapter 
of the document regarding sustainable design and 
response to the Climate Crisis. Further design guidance 
on sustainable design requirements is set out in 
Dacorum’s Strategic Design Guide SPD. The delivery of 
blue and green infrastructure has been specified 
throughout the design code. Green and blue 
infrastructure has not been included within a plan as 
locations will be subject to detailed design and technical 
input. 
 
 
This is noted in chapter 4.6 Typology D Roof Garden.   

GMB Union Section 2 reference to Multi-Modal Transport is 
not sufficient in detail of how access to both 
commercial and residential premises will be 
delivered. Particularly with regarding to food 
delivery and couriers and taxis. GMB Desire all 
construction contractors can provide a facility for 
workers to be apprised of union rights and health 
and safety visits are a frequent part of 
engagement whilst development is under 
construction. 
 
Need to detailed review into accessibility and 
availability of charging points to ensure capacity 
can be met as growth in (EV?) continues. 

Detailed public realm proposals will be subject to design 
at the planning application stage. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Electric vehicle charging provision is covered in the 
Dacorum Car Parking Standards SPD, and EV design 

P
age 159



16 

 

 
 

requirements in the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide 
SPD. 

Jane Wakelin Architects and 
Planning Consultants, 
Breakspear Medical 

Paradise Area should be categorised in Zone 1 
for parking provision rather than Zone 2 as set 
out in the Parking Standards SPD due to its 
highly accessible central town centre location. 

This comment is noted however, the review of the 
Parking Standards SPD is outside the scope of the 
Paradise Design Code. 

Comments received from 
members of the public  

Hemel Town Centre needs investment and 
development as well as the Paradise Area. 
 
 
 
 
 
Is Dacorum Borough Council paying for the 
development?   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Essential sufficient parking is provided for 
residents and business in area. Parking for those 
visiting the town centre must not be allowed here. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There are other projects in the Council that are being 
developed to address the planning and future 
investment for Hemel Town Centre. These include the 
Hemel Place Strategy, Hemel Garden Communities 
Programme and Emerging Local Plan. The focus for 
this SPD is the Paradise and Wood Lane Site (MU/3). 
 
Development in this area will not be paid for by 
Dacorum Borough Council. The Paradise Design Code 
is a Supplementary Planning Document that will guide 
design quality for future planning applications and 
private development coming forward in this area of 
Hemel Hempstead. This is noted in Section 1 of the 
SPD introduction pages regarding the purpose of the 
document. 
 
Detailed parking layouts will be discussed on an 
individual basis during the detailed design stage of any 
planning applications and should comply with the 
Dacorum Parking Standards SPD and/or any future 
iterations of parking guidance. The design code has 
several codes to ensure that parking will not dominate 
the plan for the area such as rear parking courts, 
basement car parking and podium gardens as well as 
controlling on street parking.    
 
 

P
age 160



17 

 

No mention on energy efficient, ground source 
heat pump, solar panels, district heating or 
carbon emission targets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The suitability criteria with the plan cannot be met 
without public transport provision. No public 
transport available to access the site. 
 
 
 
Support for the council forward planning for the 
development of the Paradise and Wood Lane 
Area. Belief that it will bring a substantial 
improvement of the existing situation. 
 
Draft codes treat the hospital site as is it is merely 
a site for future residential development rather 
than a working hospital. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Verulam building is in poor condition and badly 
maintained. Risk that without support for Hemel 

Many points to improve sustainability are included 
within the SPD such as green roofs and solar panels.  
Policies addressing energy efficient buildings, solar 
panels, natural and district heating, and carbon 
emission targets are included at a more detailed level 
with the Strategic Design Guide SPD (Part 2 Design 
Principles p.28/29). An objective regarding addressing 
the Climate Crisis through design has been added to 
the built form section of the SPD. 
 
 
Site accessibility and existing public transport network is 
provided as part of the evidence based to support the 
SPD. The site is well connected and sits within the town 
centre. The distance from Paradise to the Riverside Bus 
Hub is around a 5 minute walk.  
 
This comment is welcomed and noted.   
 
 
 
 
The detailed design of the hospital site allocation is 
outside the scope of the SPD. The document addresses 
codes for some related urban design matters such as 
indicative active travel connections through the site, 
which should be taken into consideration as sites come 
forward. The description of the Hospital Site Allocation, 
as set out in the Site Allocations Document 2017, has 
been updated in the appendix of the SPD for clarity 
over uses on the site. 
 
This comment is noted however it is outside the scope 
of the Paradise Design Code SPD. 

P
age 161



18 

Hempstead Hospital from Dacorum Council, 
Hospital Trust could concentrate their services in 
Watford. 

Developers and Residents will appreciate the 
presence of planned and urgent medical care so 
close to homes and workplaces on site. 

Paradise Plan concentrates on making an 
outdated hard urban landscape with little mention 
of integrating the open space of the nature 
reserve.  Proposal has missed opportunities for 
imaginative carbon neutral design. 

Only buildings are flats in increased heights with 
flat roofs, no family housing. Height of buildings 
should be lower towards to open space.   

Limited public space and no green open space 
will lead to pressure on the nature reserve and 
Ashridge Beechwoods. Family houses with 
private open space could release this pressure. 
Nowhere in the development for children to play 
or residents to relax in green space. More 
enhanced and green east-west link should be 
provided in the town. 

This comment is welcomed and noted. 

Design Codes regarding landscape, open space and 
green infrastructure have been included within the 
document including references to the Strategic Green 
link to Paradise Fields. An objective regarding climate 
responsive design has been added to the Built Form 
section. 

Roof codes have been set to respond to the character 
in Hemel Town Centre and New Town architecture, 
these will be a matter for detailed design at the planning 
application stage. The height of the buildings steps 
down towards the open space. The housing mix, 
including provision on family units, will be decided at the 
planning application stage. 

All developments must provide both private and 
communal open space on site. Paradise Fields is 
adjacent to the site and will provide a source of a large 
open and natural space for future residents to the 
Paradise area. The Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area 
of Conservation Mitigation Strategy has been 
developed by the Council to help protect Ashridge from 
visitor pressure from future growth. Open space for play 
provision is also specified within the document. 

P
age 162



19 

More trees should be planted and solar panels 
over the provision of green roofs, as these are 
not seen. 

We should not be building on green spaces. 

Flat roofed buildings are ugly. 

Images of expressive balconies used in 
document are unattractive. 

Concerns from previous planning consultations 
regarding if infrastructure can keep pace with 
housing development particularly healthcare 
infrastructure. Concerns that the West Herts 
Health Trust intend to run down healthcare 
facilities in Hemel and concentrate facilities in 
Watford. 

The Paradise SPD treats the Hospital Site as an 
opportunity to build homes without mention of 
future healthcare provision. Pg 16 refers to the 
site as future growth, Pg. 72 and 101 mention 
‘future neighbourhood to the north’.  

Green roofs also offer additional benefits for improving 
biodiversity, reducing surface water run-off and 
providing communal open space in the form of roof 
gardens. Additional notes regarding tree planting on 
streets have been incorporated into the document. PV 
Panels is a matter for detailed design. 

The design code does not propose building on any 
green spaces.  

Roof codes have been set to respond to the character 
in Hemel Town Centre and New Town architecture, 
these will be a matter for detailed design at the planning 
application stage. 

The balcony images show a range of different styles 
that would be appropriate for the development. The 
design of balcony proposals will be reviewed at the 
planning application stage.   

This comment is noted however it is not within the 
scope of the Paradise Design Code SPD. 

Any references to ‘future growth’ or ‘future 
neighbourhood’ in the SPD, such as on pages 16, 72 
and 101, reference that the site is allocated for mixed 
use development within the adopted Local Plan for 
Dacorum (site reference MU/2), therefore growth is 
likely there in the future. This is important to be 

P
age 163



20 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3D images in Appendix A pg. 81 do not feature a 
hospital. 
 

referenced within the SPD to understand the future 
impact. The description of the Hospital Site Allocation 
has been updated in Appendix B of the SPD, to 
reference the current adopted policy, and for clarity over 
uses on the site. 
 
The detailed design for the hospital site is outside the 
scope of the SPD. The document address codes for 
some related urban design matters such as indicative 
active travel connections through the site, which should 
be taken into consideration as sites comes forward. 
 
The 3D images in Appendix A show the existing 
hospital buildings. They are shown in a dark grey tone 
that highlights the existing context.  
 

 

Responses were received from the following statutory bodies to state that they had no comments to make on the content of the SPD: 

 Transport for London 

 The Canal & River Trust 

 The Property Planning Team, Hertfordshire County Council    

 North Hertfordshire District Council 

 Minerals and Waste Policy Department, Hertfordshire County Council      

 

 

 

 

P
age 164



21 

 

Table 3.2: Tracked Changes to the SPD 

Page number  Reference  Original Text Updated Text 

12 
Introduction 
Design Quality 

New Paragraph 

The Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 
(2021), provides Borough wide design guidance 
on delivering design quality for new homes and 
employment uses. 
 
The three parts of the SPD are: 

 Design Process; 

 Design Principles; and 

 Employment Uses Guidance. 
The Paradise Design Code supports the Dacorum 
Strategic Design Guide by providing detailed and 
site specific guidance for the Paradise and Wood 
Lane area. 

20 
2.0 Movement 
Objective 1 

The movement network must support safe and 
direct passage through the site in all directions, to 
the nature reserve, the town centre, the proposed 
neighbourhood to the north and to St Albans 
Road. The existing route into the nature reserve 
to the east must be opened up and improved, with 
design proposals that are sensitive to the 
character and biodiversity of this existing open 
space. 

The movement network must support safe and 
direct passage through the site in all directions, to 
the wildlife site, the town centre, the proposed 
neighbourhood to the north and to St Albans 
Road. The existing route into the wildlife site to 
the east must be opened up and improved, with 
design proposals that are sensitive to the 
character and biodiversity of this existing open 
space, including tree planting and green 
infrastructure. 

23 
2.1 Site Wide 
Codes 

New Paragraph 
All existing and proposed streets and active travel 
routes must consider how they can maximise 
green infrastructure in the design / retrofit. 

P
age 165



22 

25 2.3 Parking 

Any spaces should be surfaced with block pavers. 
Black or grey tarmac is undesirable and spaces 
must not be delineated with white highway 
markings. If black/grey tarmac is to be used it 
must be demonstrated that block pavers are 
unviable or undeliverable. If this is proven to be 
the case, any tarmac must be edged with block 
pavers 

Any spaces should be surfaced with permeable 
block pavers. Black or grey tarmac is undesirable 
and spaces must not be delineated with white 
highway markings. If black/grey tarmac is to be 
used it must be demonstrated that block pavers 
are unviable or undeliverable. If this is proven to 
be the case, any tarmac must be edged with 
block pavers. Parking bay delineation must be 
carried out with paving units. 

27 2.3 Parking 

The courtyard should be surfaced with block 
pavers or other high quality surfacing. If black or 
grey tarmac is to be used it must be 
demonstrated that block pavers are unviable or 
undeliverable. If this is proven to be the case, any 
tarmac must be edged with block pavers. 

The courtyard should be surfaced with permeable 
block pavers or other high quality surfacing. If 
black or grey tarmac is to be used it must be 
demonstrated that block pavers are unviable or 
undeliverable. If this is proven to be the case, any 
tarmac must be edged with block pavers. 

33 
3.0 Built Form 
Objective 4 

New Objective 

Proposals must respond to the climate crisis with 
a sustainable design for buildings and the public 
realm. Resilience to climate change should inform 
every stage within the design and development 
process, including capturing opportunities for a 
fabric first approach, low carbon construction, 
habitat creation, on-site biodiversity net gain, 
water efficiency, green infrastructure, SuDS, and 
energy creation. 

35 
3.1 Site Wide 
Codes 

New Paragraph 

A buffer zone should be considered in plots 
running adjacent to the wildlife site to enhance the 
green corridor on the eastern edge. Plot lines 
have been set back to allow for this. 

49 
4.2 Open Space 
Strategy 

New Paragraph 

Proposals must seek to optimise biodiversity and 
green infrastructure across the site and 
surrounding streets including retrofitting of green 
infrastructure such as planting of verges, 
providing green walls and roofs, planting of street 
trees and native species. This will provide a 

P
age 166



23 

strong visual green link from the town centre to 
the Paradise Wildlife Site. 

49 
4.2 Open Space 
Strategy 

New Paragraph 

Proposals must seek to add and/or retrofit SuDS 
features across the scheme including tree pits, 
rain gardens, SuDS planters, swales and 
permeable paving. 

53 
4.32 Paradise 
Fields Gateway 
Space 

The space must include soft landscaping which 
responds to the gradual transition to wilder 
landscapes on the eastern boundary. 

The space must include soft landscaping which 
responds to the gradual transition to wilder 
landscapes on the eastern boundary.  Street trees 
should be planted along Paradise Lane, where 
adequate space is available, to provide a visual 
green link to the Wildlife Site. 

64 
4.8 Elevational 
Treatment 

New Paragraph 

Providing for Urban Wildlife 
Buildings should consider measures that can 
enhance biodiversity within the façade design, 
such as bird, bat and hedgehog box provision, 
and bee bricks. 

89 
Appendix B 
Land Use 

The existing site comprises a mix of heavy and 
light industrial, community facilities, services and 
retail. In recent years residential development has 
been planned within the immediate vicinity of the 
site including the (currently under construction) 
Poppy and Primrose Court residential 
development and Paradise Fields to the south 
east, that comprises 58 dwellings. Directly to the 
north of the site is the hospital site, which has 
been allocated in the local plan for mixed-use 
development comprising of 450 dwellings, a 
primary school and associated open space. 

The existing site comprises a mix of heavy and 
light industrial, community facilities, services and 
retail. In recent years residential development has 
been planned within the immediate vicinity of the 
site including the (currently under construction) 
Poppy and Primrose Court residential 
development and Paradise Fields to the south 
east, that comprises 58 dwellings. Directly to the 
north of the site is the hospital site, which has 
been allocated in the Site Allocations DPD 
(adopted 2017, site reference MU/2), comprising 
a replacement hospital, a new 2 form entry 
primary school and housing (400 homes). 

91 
Appendix B 
Topography 

New Paragraph 

There is a high surface water flow path coming off 
the wildlife site to the east which affects a 
proportion of the site. Further review should be 
undertaken regarding flood risk and topography of 

P
age 167



24 

the site at detailed planning stages, including how 
to minimise surface water flow through SuDS. 

91 
Appendix B 
Topography 

New Paragraph 

Plots E-K have been identified by the Lead Local 
Flood Authority as high risk of flooding from 
surface water. Designs for these sites are 
recommended to maximise capturing and 
attenuating water through the building and 
landscape design such as integrating well 
designed SuDS in the proposal. 

95 
Appendix B 
Architectural 
Character 

Mural in ceramic tiles 
Façade tiles (Grade II Listed Emett Mosaic Mural 
in ceramic tiles) 

95 
Appendix B 
Architectural 
Character 

Balanced Rhythm of Façade Balanced and formal rhythm of façade 

101 
Appendix B Site 
Opportunities 

Emphasise the link to Paradise Fields and 
associated network of open space. 

Emphasise the link to Paradise Fields and 
associated network of open space including the 
Nickey Line. 

P
age 168



25 

 

4. Next Steps 
 

4.1 This Response Report, alongside the final version of the Paradise Design Code SPD will 

be reported to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee for Strategic Planning 

and the Environment and the Council’s Cabinet for recommendations, before 

progressing to the full Council for approval to adopt. 

 

4.2 The adoption procedure will be completed in accordance with Regulation 14 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, and 

the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (adopted 2019). 

 

4.3 Once adopted, the Paradise Design Code SPD will be a material consideration in 

determining planning applications. 

 

 

Page 169



26 

Appendix A: Supporting Information 

Digital 

Figure 1: Consultation Portal 

Page 170



27 

Notification 

Figure 2: Email Notification from Objective 

Page 171



28 

Figure 3: Notification Letter sent by Post. 

Page 172



29 

 

 

 

Page 173



30 

 

Figure 4: Notification sent to Town and Parish Councils in the Borough. Please note the 
small amendment to the text of the original notification in order to reflect that hard copies of 
documents were made available to Town and Parish Councils without cost, in order for these 
to be held as reference copies.  

 

 

Page 174



31 

Public Notice 

Figure 5: Front Page of Hemel Hempstead Gazette & Express, 26/10/2022 

Page 175



32 

 

Figure 6: Public Notice in the Hemel Hempstead Gazette & Express Newspaper. 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



33 

 

Figure 7: Public Notice on the Hemel Today online news, published 26th October 2022. The 
full text of the notice is viewable on the public notices web page4. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                

4 https://www.hemeltoday.co.uk/public-notices  

Page 177

https://www.hemeltoday.co.uk/public-notices


34 

 

Publications 

Figure 8: 'Dacorum Life' Digital Newsletter Article 

 

  

Page 178



35 

 

Hard Copy Documents  

Figure 9: Comments form 

 

Page 179



36 

 

 

Page 180



37 

 
Page 181



38 

 

Appendix B. Early Engagement 
 

 

Introduction 
 

The engagement process started in June 2021 with the online platform Commonplace and 

will be starting the process of committee in March 2022. The table below explains the groups 

that we have engaged with, how we engaged with these groups and the outcome from the 

engagement.  

 

 

Engagement with Stakeholders 
 
Landowner One to One Conversations 
Between July and August 2021 all landowners on the site were contacted by letter, with nine 

responding and accepting a 1:1 meeting.  

 

As with the previous conversations in July and August 2021, in October 2020 all the 

landowners were contacted by letters, with four responding and engaging in a conversation. 

The purpose of these conversations was to brief the site owners on the emerging design 

codes.  

 

Landowner and Occupier Workshop - 2nd August 2021 
This workshop was open to all Paradise Landowners and local businesses, with seven 

attending. 

 
Stakeholder Workshop – 11th October 2021 

This workshop took place over Microsoft Teams where the businesses, landowners and 

residents in the Paradise area were invited. The invites were sent out via a variety of 

methods including flyer dropping and emails the details are given below: 

 

 There were 28 emails sent out to landowners and businesses.   

 98 subscribers to the Commonplace platform also received an email invite.  

 There were approximately 100 flyers distributed to the residential sites in Paradise.  

 As well as an email to the Commonplace subscribers, there was also a post made on 

the consultation website.  

 

From this engagement, there were five RVSPs of which four attended the workshop 

alongside three Dacorum officers and two members from Tibbalds. The aim of this workshop 

was to allow stakeholder to give feedback on the area and contribute to the design codes. 

The plan for the run of the workshop was to present a short presentation on the project 

ending with an opportunity for stakeholders to give feedback. At the workshop, the main 

Page 182



39 

discussion was based around the question ‘What are your operational needs and 

requirements in the future?’  

Engagement with the Public 

Town Centre Consultation 

This consultation was hosted on the platform Commonplace5. This launched on the 30th 

June 2021 and closed on the 15th November 2021. This received 480 contributions in total, 

made by 187 separate respondents. When looking specifically at the Paradise area there 

were eight contributions made. 

Commonplace uses a map to allow the public to drop a pin on a place or feature and leave 

feedback by answering the survey situated on the sidebar. The questions asked were as 

follows: 

1. What is the place, building or street that you have marked on the map?

2. How does this place make you feel?

3. Why do you feel this way? (select all that apply, out of a possible 43 choices)

4. Do you have any other comments?

5. More homes are needed in the Town Centre, what sort of homes do you think these

should be? (select up to four options)

6. Based on your answer above, please tell us what is important for you to have in your

home? (select up to five options)

7. Based on your answer above, please tell us what is important for you to have in your

neighbourhood? (select up to five options)

8. Please provide any additional comments based on how we could improve the area of

the town centre surrounding Paradise / Wood Lane Industrial Estate?

Youth Workshop and Walking Group – Tuesday 3rd August 2021  
This workshop took place over a day with a local youth group, which was facilitated by 

Hertfordshire County Council over the Summer Holidays in Hemel Hempstead. The 

workshop consisted of four activities which are summarised below. The workshop was 

facilitated by Tibbalds, and was attended by three officers from Dacorum Borough Council, 

alongside youth workers who ran the group. The youth group itself consisted of 12-18 year 

olds.   

Initial Mapping:  

This task asked smaller groups of three to five people, on A1 maps, to map out the following: 

 Key destinations

 Play space / open space

 Where they travel from

 How they travel through the town

 Do they travel out of Hemel Hempstead?

5 https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/ 

Page 183

https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/


40 

 Map routes of how they get from home to destination

Walking Tour: 
During this workshop there was a walk around Hemel town centre where the members of the 

youth workshop were asked to take photos of places they liked or disliked indicating their 

opinion with a thumbs up or down. The things that they were asked to think about when 

taking the photos were: 

 Buildings they would/wouldn’t like to live in

 Somewhere they feel comfortable/ uncomfortable

 Places they would want kept the same/changed.

The desired outcome of this was ‘to get a fuller understanding of the important town features 

and characteristics that are liked and disliked by the group.’ A few of the photos collected are 

shown below. 

Paradise Lane task:  
On A4 maps, after the walking tour, the group were asked to answer these three questions 
about the Paradise site:  

 What do you like about the site?

 What should go on the site?

 What would you like to see on the site?

Tissue Study:  
Groups of three to five people were asked to complete a tissue study. This is when you work 

on a draft layout by using good example typologies to understand the scale and massing 

opportunities on a site. This involves working with a scale site plan and cut outs of local or 

well-known buildings that can be arranged on the site plan. You can then trace over the 

layout once you have agreed on a good plan; and building on this to include open space, 

pedestrians links, parking etc. This will help gain an understanding of what may work on a 

site.  

Page 184



41 

Engagement with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing, and 
Communities 

Monthly 1:1 Sessions 
These sessions ran from April 2021 to September 2021 with the two programme leads from 
the Office of Place in attendance. The aim of these sessions would be to review the progress 
of the project and provide any feedback.   

DLUHC/ DBC Roundtable Feedback 
The following sessions reflect the ongoing engagement Dacorum Borough Council had with 
DLUHC as part of the trial:  

 Interim Panel – June 2021

 Final Panel – October 2021

 Final Feedback Session – January 2022

Engagement with Elected Members 

Site Visit and Town Centre Walking Group – Wednesday 18th August 2021 

The waling group was attended by nine elected members, four officers from Dacorum 

Borough Council, a representative from DLUHC and a representative from Tibbalds. The 

image below shows the walking route that was taken by attendees on the walking group. 

The walking group were asked to collect photos based on the following questions: 

1. A place, building or space that you consider important to the character of the area,

and why?

2. A place, building or space that you would change / improve and why?

3. A place, building or space that you would want to keep the same and why?

4. An example of housing that you think is successful or un-successful and why?

Page 185



42 

Briefing at the Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(SPAEOSC) - 24th November 2021. 
This was presented to members by the Hemel Place Strategy Programme Manager at the 

Council, who updated members on the progress of the design codes work. The details of this 

meeting can be viewed on the Dacorum Borough Council website6. 

Engagement with Officers 

Workshop 1 – July 2021 

The goal of this workshop was to discuss Paradise Lane in the context of the town centre 

and gain understanding of officers’ experience and knowledge about the site and Hemel 

Hempstead town centre. This workshop was facilitated by three representatives from 

Tibbalds, and was attended by eighteen officers from Dacorum Borough Council, and five 

officers from Hertfordshire County Council. This workshop included an introduction, project 

brief and scope. This was followed by breakout discussions, where the attendees split into 

the three groups, and undertook a themed SWOT analysis on the Paradise Site and the 

wider Town Centre.  

Workshop 2 – September 2021
This workshop took place via Microsoft Teams and twenty eight officers from Dacorum 

Borough Council were invited, with twelve attending the workshop, facilitated by three 

members from Tibbalds attending also. The workshop ran in the form of two breakout rooms. 

The aim of this workshop was to discuss the three main points of height and massing; 

movement and parking and use of open space. There was further discussions on the 

priorities that need to be considered in the Paradise Design Codes project.  

Workshop 3 – December 2021 
This workshop took place via Microsoft Teams and focused on the Development 

Management Team. This was facilitated by three representatives from Tibbalds, and 

attended by 22 Dacorum officers. The aim of this workshop was to gather feedback on the 

design code prior to the final submission to DLUHC. The way the workshop ran was that 

Tibbalds gave a presentation on the vision, masterplan and draft code as well as talking 

about the approach to design codes and how this can be used by officers when determining 

planning applications on the Paradise site.  

6
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=2823 

Page 186

https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=2823


43 

Appendix C: Full Text of Responses 

Alternatively, you can view all responses made on the consultation webpage, by visiting our consultation portal7. 

7 https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37164 

P
age 187

https://consult.dacorum.gov.uk/kse/event/37164


Paradise Design Code Response Report

PDC2ID

489736Person ID

mrs jenny McEnteeFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

28/10/2022 19:10:27Created On

The PARADISE  area needs improving. The plans sound good. BUT what
about Hemel Hempstead Town Centre? WHat about the empty shops? A

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

plan to develop those is so important. The Plans for Paradise Design Code
will be marred by an empty town centre,  in walking distance that is under
used.

You will not attract businesses if that area is in decline. There are empty
shops large and small that could be developed into business hubs and
community spaces.

We need more housing ....BUT? 

WHo is paying for this development? 

Dacoram Council? Are they contributing financially to the cost? If it is part of
Levelling Up Agenda? 

Is it cheaper to develop what exists in the town centre? 

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC4ID

1330411Person ID

1

P
age 188



Andrew ButlerFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

03/11/2022 17:26:33Created On

Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service Response:PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Dacorum Borough Council - New Consultation on the Paradise Design
Code - Draft SPD

Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service’s (HFRS) capacity to deliver an
emergency response is not unduly affected by individual developments even
if they are fairly sizeable. However, the ‘cumulative effect’ of potential
developments may impact our capacity and likely place additional demand
on fire and rescue resources. The predicted planning assumptions in and
around the greater Dacorum Borough area may lead towards a situation
where HFRS’s ability to continue providing a suitable response within our
agreed timescales may be compromised.

Any additional demand in terms of the need for additional capital investment
in new facilities and funding for additional equipment, and on revenue budgets
for firefighters, officers and support staff. HFRS (via Hertfordshire County
Council) will seek advice on planning obligations towards fire and rescue
services via Section 106 (S106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
and also ask for consideration under the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
where applicable. Contributions may be sought from development schemes
which have the potential to increase the demand on the Service as currently
provided across the respective Council area.

HFRS would request that planners and developers continue to consult on
requirements for the provision of water supplies and that the fire hydrant(s)
served by the mains water supply shall be provided prior to any dwellings
being occupied and to the satisfaction of the Fire & Rescue Service. The
expansion of Hemel Hempstead through development provides an opportunity
for planning authorities to take a national lead by applying a proactive
approach towards protecting the community and infrastructure through in-built
fire suppression systems. HFRS would recommend greater inclusion of

2

P
age 189



Automatic Water Suppression Systems (AWSS) in the built environment.
Sprinklers save lives, protect property, reduce the impact of fire on the
environment and support UK businesses by reducing interruption.

Fire safety and high-rise residential buildings (from 1 August 2021) - Measures
to ensure fire safety matters are incorporated at the planning stage for
schemes involving a relevant high-rise residential building. Measures to
ensure the consideration of fire safety matters as they relate to land use
planning are incorporated at the planning stage for schemes involving a
relevant high-rise residential building. The requirements of this legislation
apply to applications for planning permission made on or after 1 August 2021
as a result of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure and Section 62A Applications) (England) (Amendment) Order
2021 (”the 2021 Order”).

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC7ID

1330586Person ID

Eileen HeylinFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

07/11/2022 17:08:29Created On

It is absolutely essential that sufficient parking is provided for residents and
firms otherwise the lovely plan will be spoiled by parking all over the place

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

(as now). Parking by those visiting the town for shopping etc must not be
allowed here.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

3

P
age 190



Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC9ID

1148744Person ID

Richard CarrFull Name

TFL Planning TeamOrganisation Details
Transport For London

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

18/11/2022 15:21:42Created On

Thank you for consulting Transport for London (TfL). I can confirm that we
have no comments to make on the draft SPD

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

TFL No CommentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC11ID

1209953Person ID

Planning TeamFull Name

Planning TeamOrganisation Details
Affinity Water Limited

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

22/11/2022 12:09:38Created On

4

P
age 191



Whilst we have no specific comments relating to the information included
within the Design Code SPD being consulted on, we note that there is no
mention of water efficiency within the document.

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Being within a Government designated ‘water stressed area’, we expect that
developments in this location will include water efficient fixtures and fittings
to meet the requirement of 110/litres/person/day. Measures such as rainwater
harvesting and grey water recycling help the environment by reducing
pressure for abstractions in chalk stream catchments. These measures
minimise potable (i.e. treated to a level suitable for drinking) water use by
reducing the amount of potable water used for washing, cleaning and watering
gardens.

You may be aware that water efficiency measures are also required by the
Building Regulations. The building regulations set a specific water use
standard that is appropriate for all new development proposals. Part G2 of
the Regulations requires a maximum of 110 litres per person per day in an
areas designated as water stressed areas where a condition that the dwelling
should meet the optimum requirement is imposed as part of the process of
granting planning permission.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Affinity Water No commentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC13ID

1207475Person ID

Natural EnglandFull Name

Consultations TeamOrganisation Details
Natural England

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

5

P
age 192



22/11/2022 12:29:18Created On

Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 28 October 2022, which
was received by Natural England on 28 October 2022.

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose
is to ensure that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and
managed for the benefit of present and future generations, thereby
contributing to sustainable development.

Our remit includes protected sites and landscapes, biodiversity, geodiversity,
soils, protected species, landscape character, green infrastructure and access
to and enjoyment of nature.

While we welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic this
Supplementary Planning Document covers is unlikely to have major effects
on the natural environment, but may nonetheless have some effects. We
therefore do not wish to provide specific comments, but advise you to consider
the following issues:

Green Infrastructure

This SPD could consider making provision for Green Infrastructure (GI) within
development. This should be in line with any GI strategy covering your area.
The National Planning Policy Framework states that local planning authorities
should
‘take a strategic approach to maintaining and enhancing networks of habitats
and green infrastructure’. The Planning Practice Guidance on Green
Infrastructure provides more detail on this.
Urban green space provides multi-functional benefits. It contributes to
coherent and resilient ecological networks, allowing species to move around
within, and between, towns and the countryside with even small patches of
habitat benefitting movement. Urban GI is also recognised as one of the most
effective tools available to us in managing environmental risks such as
flooding and heat waves. Greener neighbourhoods and improved access to
nature can also improve public health and quality of life and reduce
environmental inequalities.

There may be significant opportunities to retrofit green infrastructure in urban
environments. These can be realised through:
• green roof systems and roof gardens;
• green walls to provide insulation or shading and cooling;

6

P
age 193



• new tree planting or altering the management of land (e.g. management of
verges to enhance biodiversity).
You could also consider issues relating to the protection of natural resources,
including air quality, ground and surface water and soils within urban design
plans.
Further information on GI is include within The Town and Country Planning
Association’s "Design Guide for Sustainable Communities" and their more
recent "Good Practice Guidance for Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity".
Biodiversity enhancement
This SPD could consider incorporating features which are beneficial to wildlife
within development, in line with paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.You may wish to consider providing guidance on, for example,
the level of bat roost or bird box provision within the built structure, or other
measures to enhance biodiversity in the urban environment. An example of
good practice includes the Exeter Residential Design Guide SPD, which
advises (amongst other matters) a ratio of one nest/roost box per residential
unit.
Landscape enhancement
The SPD may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local
distinctiveness of the surrounding natural and built environment; use natural
resources more sustainably; and bring benefits for the local community, for
example through green infrastructure provision and access to and contact
with nature. Landscape characterisation and townscape assessments, and
associated sensitivity and capacity assessments provide tools for planners
and developers to consider how new development might makes a positive
contribution to the character and functions of the landscape through sensitive
siting and good design and avoid unacceptable impacts.
For example, it may be appropriate to seek that, where viable, trees should
be of a species capable of growth to exceed building height and managed
so to do, and where mature trees are retained on site, provision is made for
succession planting so that new trees will be well established by the time
mature trees die.
Other design considerations
The NPPF includes a number of design principles which could be considered,
including the impacts of lighting on landscape and biodiversity (para 180).
Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment
A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment only in exceptional
circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance here. While

7

P
age 194



SPDs are unlikely to give rise to likely significant effects on European Sites,
they should be considered as a plan under the Habitats Regulations in the
same way as any other plan or project. If your SPD requires a Strategic
Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation Assessment, you are
required to consult us at certain stages as set out in the Planning Practice
Guidance.
Should the plan be amended in a way which significantly affects its impact
on the natural environment, then, please consult Natural England again.
Please send all planning consultations electronically to the consultation hub
at consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC15ID

1331272Person ID

Sophie GroombridgeFull Name

Designing Out Crime OfficerOrganisation Details
Hertfordshire Constabulary

1331266Person ID

SJGroombridge18Username

Organisation Details

28/11/2022 11:44:21Created On

Prevention First  - Security and crime prevention , building developments
to the Police security standard Secured by Design.

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Designing out crime and building developments to the police preferred
minimum security standard Secured by Design (SBD) creates secure, safer
and sustainable environments providing a better quality of life for the residents
living in the area. Commercial and industrial sites, footpaths, play areas, retail
units, landscaping ,car parking areas and lighting can all be designed to
reduce the fear of crime and have a significant impact on anti-social behaviour
. There are also substantial environmental benefits to designing out crime,
research indicates that the carbon cost of crime in the UK is in the region of

8

P
age 195



6,000,000 tonnes of C02.  Independent academic research suggests that
housing developments built to the Secured by Design standard have 25%
less criminal damage, 25% less vehicle crime and 87% less burglary.
Incorporating crime prevention and security into the local plan would ensure
the police continue to work with the planning department in the future to
provide safer environments for living, working and leisure.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC17ID

1277375Person ID

Planning AdminFull Name

Planning AdminOrganisation Details
Canal & River Trust

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

29/11/2022 14:39:57Created On

Thank you for your consultation on the Paradise Design Code Draft
Supplementary Planning Document.

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

The SPD area is not close to the Trust’s infrastructure, and we therefore have
no comments to make on the SPD.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

No commentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC19ID

9

P
age 196



1151958Person ID

John BattyeFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

29/11/2022 15:04:40Created On

     Previous DBC planning consultations have clearly flagged up residents’
concerns regarding the continuing inability of infrastructure provision to keep

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

pace with housing developments.  Inadequate healthcare provision has been
demonstrated to be among the most important of those concerns.

It is, therefore most disappointing and worrying that the Paradise consultation
treats the site and extent of Hemel Hempstead Hospital establishment as
yet another opportunity to build another 460 homes and the necessary school
with no mention whatsoever of the future extent of healthcare provision. Page
16 merely describes and illustrates the site as earmarked for “future growth.
“ Pages 72 and 101 mention “the future neighbourhood to the north.” The 3
D images in Appendix A (page 81) do not feature the hospital at all.

It is already clear that West Herts Health Trust intend to run down healthcare
facilities at Hemel  Hempstead (possibly to nothing in 15 years’ time) and
concentrate activities in wholly unsuitable buildings on a wholly unsuitable
site in Watford. The hospital buildings at Hemel are already suffering from
(deliberate?) neglect at a time when they offer an opportunity to relieve
bed-blocking elsewhere.

While the initial plans for Paradise might be desirable it will be unacceptable
to many residents if it emerges that Dacorum’s own council and planners are
effectively conniving with WHHT in the ultimate disappearance of proper
healthcare facilities for the growing population of the most populous borough
in SW Herts.

10

P
age 197



DBC should be fighting for better healthcare on behalf of its taxpaying
residents.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

No commentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC21ID

1207333Person ID

Growth and Infrastructure UnitFull Name

Growth and Infrastructure UnitOrganisation Details
Hertfordshire County Council

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

30/11/2022 10:06:57Created On

Please find attached HCC’s response to the Paradise Design Code Draft
SPD.

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

6103556Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

HCC Reps to the Paradise Design Code SPD.pdfInclude files

Response as a fileOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC1ID

1158506Person ID

Meenakshi JefferysFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

11

P
age 198

http://www.your-consultation-url.com/file/6103556


Organisation Details

28/10/2022 18:45:37Created On

I have not seen anything on energy efficiency or mention of ground source
heat pump, solar panels or carbon emission targets. What about district
heating?

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC3ID

1330409Person ID

Jonathan KempsterFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

03/11/2022 16:51:42Created On

The sustainability criteria in your plan cannot be met without public transport
infrastructure provision. I cannot travel to this site because there is no public
transport available to take me there. I am disenfranchised as a result.

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC6ID

1330555Person ID

Faye MorleyFull Name

Organisation Details

12

P
age 199



Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

07/11/2022 11:39:25Created On

Hello,PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

This response is sent by the Property Planning Team at Hertfordshire County
Council (HCC) on behalf of the County Council as a landowner.

HCC as landowner have no comments to make on the Paradise Design Code
- draft supplementary planning document.

Please contact me if you wish to discuss.

Kind regards

Faye

Faye Morley
Senior Planning Officer | Property | Resources
Hertfordshire County Council
County Hall, Pegs Lane, Hertford, SG13 8DE, Postal Point: CH0313
T: 01992 556732 Internal: 26732

Facebook| Twitter | Update me 

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC8ID

1207250Person ID

Stephen GarelickFull Name

GMB UnionOrganisation Details

13

P
age 200



Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

16/11/2022 10:24:24Created On

In reference to section 2 the presumptions in relation to multi modal transport
is not sufficiant in detail or undertanding of how access to both commercial

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

and residential premises required and the space to provide services. GMB
Union represent members who work for food service compnaines who typically
deliver in to well known comapnies such as Pizza Express, Pret an Manger,
Subway who require access at varing times given the size of vehicles
apporpriate parking will be required. Drivers cannot circle in the hope a space
will open up as this not only causes environmental issues but delays on time
sensitive deliveries, similarly Evri and Yodel courier members already suffer
significant delays when deliveing to both commercial and residential buildings
and spaces must be avaialble. No consideration has been applied for Private
hire or Taxi access or ranking and for those who are reliant on food deliveries
similar facilities will need to be incorperated. The access required for take
awy delivey will also regire improved consideration. A deep dive in to
accesability and availability of charging points must be made to ensure
capacity is met as growth in this area continues.

GMB desire that in construction all contractors provide the facility for workers
to be apprised of union rights and that Health and Safety visits are a frequent
part of engagment whiclt the development is under constructuion.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC10ID

1330901Person ID

Philip AylettFull Name

Organisation Details

14

P
age 201



Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

22/11/2022 09:52:54Created On

I am pleased that the Council is planning for the development of Paradise
and Wood Lane.The area has clearly grown haphazardly over the years and

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

there is a need to make much better and more considered use of the space,
to provide housing and other amenities and a more fitting approach to the
town from the east. I have no comments on the detailed proposals, which I
hope will bring about a substantial improvement on the existing situation.

However, as Chair of Dacorum Health Action Group, which campaigns for
better health services for the Borough, I would like to make some specific
comments on a topic which I believe has direct relevance to the future of the
Paradise area – the presence just a few metres away of Hemel Hempstead
Hospital.

An extension and other changes to the Hospital were given outline planning
approval by the Council earlier this year – see planning application
22/01641/OUT. The planning statement for the application set out a
continuing, clear and important role for the Hospital in the provision of health
services in West Hertfordshire. This is from page 4:

Hemel Hempstead Hospital will serve as the Trust’s planned medicine centre
treating long term conditions as well as an urgent treatment centre and
diagnostic facilities.

This activity already includes nearly 100,000 diagnostic tests, over 40,000
urgent care cases and 76,000 outpatient appointments annually, with some
increases in these numbers planned.

By any standards, this is, or should be, a major asset for the town, situated
close to the Paradise area. It is very conveniently located along not one but
three of the code’s intended ‘strategic pedestrian/cycle routes’ to the north.
In future Hemel Hospital will be accommodated exclusively in the Verulam
building in the south of its current site, with the other (northern) parts of the
Hemel Hospital estate being demolished to allow construction of a residential
neighbourhood. Nevertheless, the services provided in the remaining Hospital

15

P
age 202



building will still make it an attractive facility for future residents of the Paradise
area.

It is, therefore, very disappointing that the draft code treats the Hospital largely
as if it is destined to be merely a site for future residential development. It
makes no distinction between the planned new northern residential
neighbourhood and the Verulam building which, according to the Trust, will
be retained as a working hospital.

This failure to take proper account of an important and relevant local public
service facility is a serious gap in the draft code, which should be remedied
when the final code is produced.  Developers and potential residents will
appreciate the presence of  planned and urgent medical care so close to
homes and workplaces. An appropriate reference to the Hospital would also
be a positive sign that Dacorum Council expects the Trust to provide hospital
care conveniently close to home for the people of the Borough, for the
foreseeable future.

There is one major problem, however. The Trust has stated that, as a matter
of policy, it will not in future be carrying out some items of backlog
maintenance in the remaining Verulam building. This is deliberate neglect,
contrary to NHS guidance on maintenance, that will lead inevitably to
deterioration of the building. In fact, the Verulam building is already poorly
maintained, with large sections of shabby guttering choked with what appears
to be many months’ accumulation of debris, weeds and grass. A photograph
of the roofs of the building, taken from close to the top entrance, is attached.

There is to be a review of the locations of the Trust’s planned care services
after 15 years.The danger is that, at that point or even before, in the absence
of solid and enthusiastic support for Hemel Hempstead Hospital from
Dacorum’s local authority, the Trust will feel able to close this increasingly
expensive, neglected and failing building.This will help them to press on with
their inequitable policy of concentrating as many services as possible at the
cramped and inaccessible Watford General site.

The people of Dacorum, Hertfordshire’s most populous borough, will finally
have lost the battle for decent, convenient, fair hospital provision. Our elected
representatives must not allow this to happen on their watch.

Philip Aylett

6099034Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

16

P
age 203



20221117_095252 (4).jpgInclude files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC12ID

1207490Person ID

Planning Policy TeamFull Name

Planning Policy TeamOrganisation Details
North Hertfordshire District Council

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

22/11/2022 12:10:56Created On

Thank you for notifying us of the above consultation.PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

North Herts Council have no comments to make.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

North Herts No commentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC14ID

1059773Person ID

Mrs Anna BarnardFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

24/11/2022 19:42:46Created On

As Jellicoe envisaged, Hemel Hempstead should be a town in a landscaped
setting.  Regrettably, over the last years this has been ignored with the town

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

turning its back on the Water Gardens, the Moor is being overshadowed by

17

P
age 204

http://www.your-consultation-url.com/file/6099034


high rise buildings and now the plan for Paradise has yet again concentrated
on outdated hard urban landscape with only lipservice paid to integrating the
open space of the nature reserve.

Yet again the only buildings are flats and more flats in increasing heights
causing canyon effects. They are flat roofed boxes of unimaginative designs.
Whilst it is appreciated that Dacorum is under pressure to provide more
housing, the exact number is currently being questioned. The Hospital site
is stated as providing a possible 430 dwellings and this scheme states a
further 350 with NO family housing. With limited public open space and no
green public open space, this will only lead to more pressure on the adjacent
Nature Reserve (thus reducing the nature quality) and further afield, the
Ashridge Beechwoods.  Surely some family houses with private open space
could go some way to reducing this pressure. At present there is nowhere
for children to play or for residents to relax in green space within the
developments.

The East-West connectivity must be enhanced with the green infrastructure
brought into the town not just stuck on the periphery.  A much more enhanced
link should be provided between the existing open space and the town,
especially towards Park Lane which is currently an eyesore and an example
of ad hoc development.

The height of buildings should be lower adjacent to the existing open space,
especially as seen decending the hill (perhaps an opportunity for some well
designed family houses at the entrace to the town?)

If the Council is serious about tackling climate change then far more trees
must be planted and solar panels provided on all the roofs of the buildings -
inaccessible green roofs are pointless as they will not be maintained nor seen
if the buildings are several storeys high.

In general this is a sterile, soulless proposal which has missed opportunities
for imaginative design, carbon neutral buildings within a green landscaped
setting - just more of the same high rise developments with little attempt at
providing an attractive community flowing into the town with and increased
soft green landscape brought further into the town. Yet another concrete
jungle.  A poor show for this important Chilterns Town.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

18

P
age 205



Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC16ID

1331286Person ID

JANE WAKELINFull Name

Architects and Planning ConsultantsOrganisation Details
Breakspear Medical

1331280Person ID

wakelinassocsUsername

Organisation Details

28/11/2022 16:42:55Created On

02 Movement Pages 20-28PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

The Paradise Design Guide (PDG) July 2022 refers, under Section 02:
Movement, to the location of the Paradise site as being ‘within in the heart
of the town’ and in a ‘central location’. As such we consider that further
consideration should be given to the amount of proposed vehicle required in
this location, in order that it may be compliant with DBC Parking Policy. The
level of parking required on any redevelopment site will have a fundamental
impact on the nature of the design, the need for underground parking and
the level of amenity space offered.

To accommodate potential variations in parking demand within a single area,
Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) have a Zonal Parking Standard, which
gives consideration to varying parking demand within three separate Zones
with the Borough, ref: DBC Parking Standards Supplementary Planning
Document November 2020. This Parking Standards SPD proposes
‘standards’, rather than upper to lower limits, with the option to reduce these
standards in certain locations, for example areas which are well located in
terms of proximity to public services, shops and recreational facilities. ‘The
purpose of this SPD is to provide parking standards which are (1) reflective
of the current situation in the borough but (2) allow for some flexibility to
encourage trends towards lower car ownership in some accessible higher

19

P
age 206



density locations’  Ref: para 3.1 DBC Parking Standards SPD November
2020.

The Parking Standards SPD goes further to state that the aim of policy should
be ‘to encourage or ‘nudge’ a gradual downward trend in car ownership and
use in the most accessible locations’ para 3.3 . If vehicle movements are not
to dominate the street scene within Paradise every opportunity should be
taken to encourage lower levels of car dependency. This could clearly be
done with a reduction in parking standards within this particular location. We
consider that the site should be consistently categorised as within Zone 1 for
parking provision rather than Zone 2.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

Officer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC18ID

1270226Person ID

Mr SAM WFull Name

Organisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

29/11/2022 14:52:13Created On

Here are my comments:PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

- I do not think we should be building on any more green spaces.

- There should always be more nature and less building.

- I very think flat roofed building are ugly although gardens are on top of them
are obviously better than just a roof.

- I think the 'expressive balconies' above Greggs shown are very ugly.

20

P
age 207



Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

No commentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC20ID

1207365Person ID

Historic EnglandFull Name

Historic EnglandOrganisation Details

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

29/11/2022 15:12:56Created On

Thank you for inviting Historic England to comment on the Draft of the
Dacorum Borough Paradise Design Code. As the government’s statutory

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

adviser on the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, we
are pleased to have the opportunity to comment on this document at this
early stage.

Overall, we welcome the production of this draft Design Code. We consider
that it is a comprehensive document and support the principles of high-quality
design and place-making that it contains.We welcome the recognition within
these chapters of the need to understand and respect the existing character
of Hemel Hempstead New Town as part of the design process. Hemel
Hempstead contains a number of distinctive character areas, ranging from
the Old Town to the New Town, all of which need to be understood and,
where appropriate, respected as part of the design process.

While we support the analysis, principles and guidance contained within the
Draft Design code, we consider that the photographs and illustrations do not
always adequately support interpretation of the code. This is a particular
issue in relation architectural rhythms which are discussed in section 4
(Identity), and Appendix B (architectural character). For example, page 62

21

P
age 208



includes a photo which the caption tells us illustrates ‘regular horizontal
rhythms’. However, an uncropped version of this same photo appears again
on page 95 (Appendix B, Architectural Character) this time purporting to
illustrate ‘a balanced rhythm of façade’. Furthermore, while figure 4.14
attempts to graphically compare and contrast the two façade types, the
diagram is too small, and open to interpretation. Finally, page 64 includes a
photo showing stacked maisonettes which the caption says illustrates vertical
façade elements, but the photo has been taken at an oblique angle making
it difficult to see what is being illustrated.

Paragraph 12 of the National Model Design Code states that design codes
should be visual and numerical wherever possible as this makes them easier
to engage with, gives developers greater certainty about what may be
acceptable, and can lead to faster decisions based on whether a proposal
complies with a code. The existing photos within section 4 and Appendix B
of the Draft Code are ambiguous, weakening its effectiveness and potentially
causing delay in decision making. We would therefore suggest that more
appropriate/effective photographs/diagrams are included to illustrate /
demonstrate the principles being discussed.

Finally, there is just a factual correction to note in Appendix B, Heritage and
Townscape. Figure B9: Built Heritage omits the Grade II listed Mosaic Map
(Emett Mosaic) (LEN 1458900) which is a mosaic mural designed by Rowland
Emett and painted by Phyllis Butler of Carter Tiles Ltd, installed in 1960 on
the south elevation of the Marlowes tiered car park in Hemel Hempstead,
immediately to the east of the Water Gardens. We request that the figure is
revised to include the listed mosaic. Finally, while we welcome the
identification of ‘buildings of architectural merit’ in figure B9, it would be helpful
if the plan could be revised to indicate which (if any) of these are also locally
listed.

Conclusions

I hope that you find the above comments helpful. We’d like to stress that this
response is based on the information provided by the Council in its

22

P
age 209



consultation.To avoid any doubt, this does not affect our obligation to provide
further advice and, potentially, object to specific proposals, which may
subsequently arise as a result of this plan, where we consider that these
would have an adverse effect upon the historic environment. If you have any
questions with regards to the comments made, then please do get back to
me. I would be very happy to meet to discuss these comments further. In the
meantime, we thank you for making us aware of this Masterplan and look
forward to receiving subsequent consultations on this matter.

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

No commentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

PDC22ID

1277421Person ID

Billal QureshiFull Name

Planning Officer, Minerals & Waste Policy, E&IOrganisation Details
Hertfordshire County Council

Person ID

Username

Organisation Details

30/11/2022 10:14:18Created On

Thank you for consulting us on the Paradise Design Code - Draft SPD. We
have no comments to make as Minerals and Waste Planning Authority.

PDG Q - Please provide your comments here:

Upload Supporting File - Please upload any supporting evidence here:

Include files

No commentOfficer Comment - Officer Comments:

23

P
age 210



 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (LOCAL PLANNING) 
(ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012, REGULATION 14 

 

Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document  
Adoption Statement 

[DATE TBC] 

 

This statement is published by Dacorum Borough Council to fulfil the requirements of 
Regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012.  

The Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was adopted by 
Dacorum Borough Council on the [DATE TBC]. This document sets out a framework of 
design requirements for new development in the Paradise and Wood Lane area, which is 
currently allocated for mixed-use development in the adopted Site Allocations DPD (2017). 
These requirements are site-specific, clear and detailed. The purpose of the SPD is to 
enhance the character of the local area and ensure future design quality of developments 
coming forward on the site. It is now a material consideration in determining planning 
applications.  

Under Section 23 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the Council has 
modified the SPD to take into account representations made in relation to the document and 
any other relevant matters. Details of the modifications are included within the Consultation 
Statement, prepared in accordance with Regulation 12a of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Any person with sufficient interest in the decision to adopt the SPD may apply to the High 
Court for permission to apply for judicial review of that decision. Any such application for 
leave to review the decision must be made promptly, and in any case not later than 3 
months after the date on which the SPD was adopted, that is by the [DATE TBC].  

The Paradise Design Code SPD, the Consultation Statement, and this Adoption Statement 
are available to view on the Council’s website: www.dacorum.gov.uk/supplementary-
planning-documents. 

Hard copies of the documents are viewable at Borough Council offices during normal 
opening hours: 

• The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1DN 
• Berkhamsted Civic Centre, 161 High Street, Berkhamsted, HP4 3HD 
• Victoria Hall, Akeman Street, Tring, HP23 6AA 

They are also available within the reference section of public libraries located in the 
Borough. 

Enquiries should be directed to the strategic planning team, by emailing 
strategic.planning@dacorum.gov.uk or by calling 01442 228660. 

Page 211

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents


 

Dacorum Borough Council Screening Opinion on the 
determination of the need for a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 and 
European Directive 2001/42/EC for the Paradise Design Code 
Supplementary Planning Document 
 
27TH FEBRUARY 2023 
 
SUMMARY 
Dacorum Borough Council (the ‘Council’) determines that the emerging 
Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document does not require a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 

1. This screening opinion determines whether or not the contents of the 
emerging Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) in 
accordance with the European Directive 2011/42/EC (the Directive) 
and associated Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 (the Regulations).  

2. Any land use plan or programme ‘which sets the framework for future 
development consent of projects’ must be screened according to a set 
of criteria from Annex II of the Directive and Schedule 1 of the 
Regulations. These criteria include exceptions for plans ‘which 
determine the use of a small area at local level’ or which only propose 
‘minor modifications to a plan’, if it is determined that the plan is 
unlikely to have significant environmental effects.  

3. The initial screening opinion must be subject to consultation with 
Historic England, the Environment Agency and Natural England. The 
results of the screening process must be detailed in a Screening 
Statement, made available to the public.  

 
THE SCREENING PROCESS 

4. Using the criteria set out in Annex II of the Directive and Schedule 1 of 
the Regulations, a Screening Opinion determines whether a plan or 
programme is likely to have significant environmental effects.   

5. The extract from ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Directive’ in Appendix 1 provides a flow diagram to 
demonstrate the SEA screening process.  

Page 212



 

6. Table 1 in Appendix 1 sets out the criteria from the Practical Guide, 
along with an assessment of the Paradise Design Code SPD against 
each criterion to ascertain whether a SEA is required. 

7. Also part of the screening process is the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment Screening, which can be found in Appendix 2, and the 
assessment of likely significance of effects on the environment, which 
can be found in Appendix 3.  

8. These two assessments feed into Table 1 and the SEA screening 
opinion.  

 
PARADISE DESIGN CODE SPD 
 

About the SPD 

9. In April 2021, Dacorum Borough Council took part in phase 1 of the 
National Model Design Code testing programme, supported by the 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), to 
develop a design code to steer quality in emerging developments.  

 

10. The Paradise and Wood Lane area was selected for the trial because the 
Council believed this area would benefit from a comprehensive design 
framework, due to the fragmented land ownership, and the active 
planning context within the site. The site is currently allocated in the Site 
Allocations DPD (site reference MU/3), which was adopted by the 
Council as part of the Local Plan for the Borough in 2017.  

 

11. The Paradise Design Code SPD sets out a framework of design 
requirements for new development in the area, which are site-specific, 
clear and detailed. The SPD’s purpose is to provide further detail on the 
policies within the adopted Local Plan for Dacorum, and the document 
does not introduce new planning policies or site allocations to the 
development plan. Once adopted, the Paradise Design Code SPD will 
become a material consideration when determining planning applications. 
It is expected to enhance the character of the local area and ensure 
future design quality of developments coming forward, by providing clarity 
about design expectations to applicants. 

 

12. The introductory section of the SPD establishes the vision, objectives and 
key priorities for the area and explains how the code should be used. 
This section also provides a ‘Regulatory Plan’ (figure 1.6) and an 
‘Illustrative Masterplan’ (figure 1.7) however it is not the intention of the 
SPD that applicants replicate these, the purpose is to demonstrate how 
the SPD’s principles could be applied spatially.  

 

Page 213



 

13. The main body of the report is split into four key sections, these each 
provide design coding for movement, built form, identity and use on the 
site. The codes within the SPD specify both mandatory and discretionary 
elements. This approach reflects current best practice to ensure that a 
high standard of design will be secured, whilst offering applicants 
flexibility. 

14. All relevant planning applications need to demonstrate that the code 
compliance checklist has been satisfied prior to permission being 
granted. 

 
Policy provision for the SPD 

15. The Paradise Design Code SPD will support and complement the 
policies within the adopted development plan for Dacorum, by providing 
detailed design guidance on site-specific matters. 

16. The policy provision for the SPD is established in Policy CS11 of the 
Dacorum Core Strategy (2013), which states ‘The quality of 
neighbourhood design in towns and large villages will be reinforced 
through a Supplementary Planning Document on Urban Design’.  

17. In 2021 the Council adopted the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide 
(DSDG) SPD. This SPD sets the overarching design process and 
principles all applicants’ residential development and commercial 
premises should follow. As this SPD’s scope is broad and Borough-wide, 
it makes provisions that ‘DBC is in the process of preparing detailed 
guidance for other types of applications’. Therefore, the Paradise Design 
Code sits under the DSDG by providing detailed and site specific codes 
to support applications for mixed-use development on the Paradise and 
Wood Lane site. 

18. When determining planning applications, schemes must be designed in 
accordance with current adopted policy, any other material 
considerations and a further understanding of technical constraints such 
as utilities, infrastructure and environmental protection. 

 
Corporate Provision for the SPD 

19. The Paradise Design Code SPD promotes the achievement of all the 
following corporate priorities1 for Dacorum Borough Council, as set out 
below: 

o A clean, safe and enjoyable environment; 

o Building strong and vibrant communities; 

o Ensuring economic growth and prosperity; 

                                            
1 https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/corporate-plan-2020-

2025.pdf?sfvrsn=ba6f089e_10   

Page 214

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/corporate-plan-2020-2025.pdf?sfvrsn=ba6f089e_10
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/corporate-plan-2020-2025.pdf?sfvrsn=ba6f089e_10


 

o Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those 
most in need; 

o Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery; and 

o Climate and ecological emergency. 

20. The vision, principles and codes for the area, as set out in the SPD, have 
been influenced by a contextual analysis of the wider town, and are 
informed by the pillars set out in the Hemel Garden Communities Spatial 
Vision.  

 
 

RESPONSES 

21. The Council consulted with the statutory consultees, the Environment 
Agency, Historic England and Natural England on the screening opinion 
from 31st January 2023 to the 27th February 2023. Responses were 
received from each of the three bodies and are attached as Appendix 4.  

22. Historic England agreed with the Council’s conclusion that neither an 
SEA nor an HRA would be required. 

23. The Environment Agency confirmed their agreement with the findings of 
the Screening Opinion that a SEA will not be required for the SPD.  

24. Natural England stated that they did not consider the SPD to pose any 
likely risk or opportunity in relation to their statutory purpose, and 
confirmed that they had no comments to make on the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment.  

 
 

CONCLUSION 

25. As a result of the screening undertaken by the Council, the following 
determination has been reached. 

26. Based on the assessment presented in the Appendices, the Paradise 
Design Code SPD is unlikely to have a significant effect on the 
environment.  

27. The Paradise Design Code SPD does not require a Strategic 
Environment Assessment.  

28. The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to have significant effects on 
the National Sites Network, therefore an Appropriate Assessment is not 
required.  

 
 
 
 

Page 215



 

 
Appendix 1 – Extract from ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Directive’ (ODPM) (2005)2 
 

Figure 1 – Application of the SEA Directive to plans and programmes 

 

                                            
2 Extract from A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive, Office 
of the Deputy Prime Minister (September 2005) 

Page 216

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf


 

Table 1: Assessment of the Paradise Design Code SPD against the SEA Directive 

Stage Y/N Explanation 

1. Is the Plan or Project subject to 
preparation and/or adoption by a national, 
regional or local authority OR prepared by 
an authority for adoption through a 
legislative procedure by Parliament or 
Government? (Art. 2(a)) 

Y 

The preparation and adoption of the SPD by a local planning authority is 
allowed under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The process of 
preparing the Paradise Design Code SPD is in accordance with the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012. 
 

2. Is the Plan or Project required by 
legislative, regulatory or administrative 
provisions? 
(Art. 2(a)) 

Y 

The SPD is not a requirement under the provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, however, if adopted, it will build upon the 
policies in the adopted development plan, and it will be a material 
consideration when determining planning applications. 
 
It is therefore important that the screening process is precautionary and 
considers whether it is likely to have significant environmental effects and 
hence whether SEA is required under the Directive. 

3. Is the Plan or Project prepared for 
agriculture, forestry, fisheries, energy, 
industry, transport, waste management, 
water management, telecommunications, 
tourism, town and country planning or land 
use, AND does it set a framework for 
future development consent of projects in 
Annexes I and II to the EIA Directive? (Art 
3.2(a)) 

N 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The SPD has been prepared for the purposes of town and country 
planning. It builds on the policies in the adopted Development Plan, by 
providing detailed design requirements for the Paradise and Wood Lane 
Site (MU/3). It does not introduce new planning policies or site allocations 
to the development plan. 
 
The SPD does not set a framework for future development consents of 
projects in Annexes I and II to the EIA Directive. 

4. Will the Plan or Project, in view of its 
likely effect on sites, require an 
assessment for future development under 

N 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to have significant effects on 
the National Sites Network. See Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
Screening Opinion for the Paradise Design Code SPD in Appendix 2.  

P
age 217



 

Stage Y/N Explanation 
Article 6 or 7 of the Habitats Directive? 
(Art. 3.2 (b)) 

6. Does the Plan or Project set the 
framework for future development consent 
of projects (not just projects in annexes to 
the EIA Directive)? (Art 3.4) 

Y 
Once adopted, the SPD will become a material consideration in the 
determination of future development consent of planning applications.  

8. Is it likely to have a significant effect on 
the environment? (Art. 3.5) 

N 

The principle of development on the site has already been established in 
the Site Allocations DPD in 2017, which was subject to comprehensive 
Sustainability Appraisal, incorporating SEA. The SPD builds on the 
policies within the adopted Development Plan and does not create new 
policies. 
 
Therefore the Paradise Design Code SPD is considered to have no 
significant effect on the environment. 

P
age 218



 

Appendix 2 - Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
Screening Opinion for the Paradise Design Code SPD  
 
INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This screening report has been prepared to determine whether the 
Paradise Design Code SPD should be subject to a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA). 

2. National sites provide valuable ecological infrastructure for the protection 
of rare, endangered and/or vulnerable natural habitats and species of 
exceptional importance within the European Union. 

3. These sites consist of Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), designated 
under European Directive 92/43/EEC3 on the conservation of natural 
habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the Habitats Directive), and Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs), classified under European Directive 
2009/147/EC4 on the conservation of wild birds (the Birds Directive). 

4. Additionally, paragraph 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) requires that sites listed under the Ramsar Convention are to be 
given the same protection as fully designated National sites. 

5. HRA is the process by which potential effects of a plan or project on the 
conservation objectives of European sites designated under the Habitats 
and Birds Directives are assessed. 

6. The application of HRA to land-use plans is a requirement of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the UK’s 
transposition of European Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of 
natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (the Habitats Directive). 

PARADISE DESIGN CODE SPD 
 

About the SPD 

7. In April 2021, Dacorum Borough Council took part in phase 1 of the 
National Model Design Code testing programme, supported by the 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), to 
develop a design code to steer quality in emerging developments.  

8. The Paradise and Wood Lane area was selected for the trial because the 
Council believed this area would benefit from a comprehensive design 
framework, due to the fragmented land ownership, and the active planning 
context within the site. The site is currently allocated in the Site Allocations 

                                            
3 Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of 
wild fauna and flora 
4 Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 
on the conservation of wild birds 

Page 219

file://///dacorum.local/dbcshare/planning/devplans/STRATEGIC%20PLANNING/SOCIAL%20VALUE%20SPD/SEA%20screening/Council%20Directive%2092/43/EEC%20of%2021%20May%201992%20on%20the%20conservation%20of%20natural%20habitats%20and%20of%20wild%20fauna%20and%20flora
file://///dacorum.local/dbcshare/planning/devplans/STRATEGIC%20PLANNING/SOCIAL%20VALUE%20SPD/SEA%20screening/Council%20Directive%2092/43/EEC%20of%2021%20May%201992%20on%20the%20conservation%20of%20natural%20habitats%20and%20of%20wild%20fauna%20and%20flora
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/dir/2009/147/oj
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/dir/2009/147/oj


 

DPD (site reference MU/3), which was adopted by the Council as part of 
the Local Plan for the Borough in 2017.  

9. The Paradise Design Code SPD sets out a framework of design 
requirements for new development in the area, which are site-specific, 
clear and detailed. The SPD’s purpose is to provide further detail on the 
policies within the adopted Local Plan for Dacorum, and the document 
does not introduce new planning policies or site allocations to the 
development plan. Once adopted, the Paradise Design Code SPD will 
become a material consideration when determining planning applications. 
It is expected to enhance the character of the local area and ensure future 
design quality of developments coming forward, by providing clarity about 
design expectations to applicants. 

10. The introductory section of the SPD establishes the vision, objectives and 
key priorities for the area and explains how the code should be used. This 
section also provides a ‘Regulatory Plan’ (figure 1.6) and an ‘Illustrative 
Masterplan’ (figure 1.7) however it is not the intention of the SPD that 
applicants replicate these, the purpose is to demonstrate how the SPD’s 
principles could be applied spatially.  

11. The main body of the report is split into four key sections, these each 
provide design coding for movement, built form, identity and use on the 
site. The codes within the SPD specify both mandatory and discretionary 
elements. This approach reflects current best practice to ensure that a 
high standard of design will be secured, whilst offering applicants flexibility. 

12. All relevant planning applications need to demonstrate that the code 
compliance checklist has been satisfied prior to permission being granted. 

 
Policy Provision for the SPD 

13. The Paradise Design Code SPD will support and complement the policies 
within the adopted development plan for Dacorum, by providing detailed 
design guidance on site-specific matters. 

14. The policy provision for the SPD is established in Policy CS11 of the 
Dacorum Core Strategy (2013), which states ‘The quality of 
neighbourhood design in towns and large villages will be reinforced 
through a Supplementary Planning Document on Urban Design’.  

15. In 2021 the Council adopted the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide (DSDG) 
SPD. This SPD sets the overarching design process and principles all 
applicants’ residential development and commercial premises should 
follow. As this SPD’s scope is broad and Borough-wide, it makes 
provisions that ‘DBC is in the process of preparing detailed guidance for 
other types of applications’. Therefore, the Paradise Design Code sits 
under the DSDG by providing detailed and site specific codes to support 
applications for mixed-use development on the Paradise and Wood Lane 
site. 

Page 220



 

16. When determining planning applications, schemes must be designed in 
accordance with current adopted policy, any other material considerations 
and a further understanding of technical constraints such as utilities, 
infrastructure and environmental protection. 

 
Corporate Provision for the SPD 

17. The Paradise Design Code SPD promotes the achievement of all the 
following corporate priorities5 for Dacorum Borough Council, as set out 
below: 

o A clean, safe and enjoyable environment; 

o Building strong and vibrant communities; 

o Ensuring economic growth and prosperity; 

o Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those 
most in need; 

o Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery; and 

o Climate and ecological emergency. 

18. The vision, principles and codes for the area, as set out in the SPD, have 
been influenced by a contextual analysis of the wider town, and are 
informed by the pillars set out in the Hemel Garden Communities Spatial 
Vision.  
 

HRA SCREENING 
 
Methodology 

19. The Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook, produced by David 
Tyldesley Associates (referred to hereafter as the ‘DTA Handbook’), 
provides an industry recognised good practice approach to HRA. The 
DTA Handbook, and in particular ‘Practical Guidance for the Assessment 
of Plans under the Regulations’, which forms part F, has been used to 
prepare this screening report. 

20. A step-by-step approach has been used to determine whether the SPD 
should be exempted, excluded or eliminated from further assessment for 
its effects on any National site. The step-wise approach, as outlined in the 
DTA Handbook, is illustrated in Figure 26 below. 

                                            
5 https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/corporate-plan-2020-

2025.pdf?sfvrsn=ba6f089e_10   
6 Extract from The Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook, www.dtapublications.co.uk 
© DTA Publications Limited (November 2018) all rights reserved. This work is registered with 
the UK Copyright Service. 

Page 221

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/corporate-plan-2020-2025.pdf?sfvrsn=ba6f089e_10
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/corporate-plan-2020-2025.pdf?sfvrsn=ba6f089e_10
http://www.dtapublications.co.uk/


 

 
Screening 

21. For a plan to be exempt from assessment, the whole of the plan must be 
exclusively directly connected with or necessary to the management of 
the National site(s) potentially affected.  

22. As the Paradise Design Code SPD is not directly connected with the 
management of the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) it is not exempt from the HRA assessment process. 

23. A plan may be excluded from the assessment process if it is not a plan 
under the scope of the Regulations. The application of HRA to land-use 
plans is a requirement of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017.  

24. As the Paradise Design Code SPD will become a material consideration 
when deciding applications for planning permission, it is arguable that it 
does influence decision makers on the outcome of a project. Therefore, 
the SPD will proceed to the next step and be considered for elimination. 

Page 222



 

25. As the SPD cannot be excluded it is necessary to determine whether it 
can be eliminated from further assessment on the basis that when 
considering the purpose, content and proposals of the document, it is 
obvious that it could not have any conceivable effect on any National site. 
This has been undertaken using a 5 step criteria approach as set out 
below: 

Step 1: The whole plan is a general policy statement, or a plan that 
expresses only a general political will or aspiration, or a general intention 
of the public body  

OR 

Step 2: The whole of the plan is about design, layout, timing, phasing, or 
other management or delivery of development or other change provided 
for or promoted by another plan already subject to HRA and which has 
been found not to have any significant effect on any National site, without 
relying on mitigation measures 

OR 

Step 3: The whole of the plan is about the requirement to provide 
mitigation measures to ensure that proposals in another plan cannot have 
an adverse effect on the integrity of any National site 

OR 

Step 4: The whole plan is a combination of proposals that meet criteria 1, 
2 and/or 3 above 

AND 

Step 5: It is not possible to identify any credible evidence of any adverse 
effect on a National site in the plan area or elsewhere. 

 
 
26. The Paradise Design Code SPD meets the criteria for Step 2 in that its 

principle purpose is to supplement the policies in the existing development 
plan with further detail, and is concerned with matters relating to the 
design of development. 
 

27. The provisions of the SPD will be delivered through the planning 
application process. All planning applications will be required to consider 
the guidance in the SPD alongside adopted planning policy, any other 
material considerations and a further understanding of technical 
constraints such as utilities and infrastructure. Furthermore, all planning 
applications are subject to the requirements as detailed in the Chilterns 
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation Mitigation Strategy. 

 

Page 223



 

28. On the 15th November 2022, Cabinet approved the Chilterns Beechwoods 
Special Area of Conservation Mitigation Strategy7. This strategy sets out 
targeted measures to protect the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (CBSAC) and to accommodate the predicted pressures 
associated with future growth. 
 

29. All qualifying development8 will be required to pay a Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring (SAMMS) tariff per dwelling, and will also be 
required to either contribute to an existing Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace (SANG) or provide a bespoke solution (dependant on 
thresholds).  

 
RESPONSES 

30. The Council consulted with the statutory consultees, the Environment 
Agency, Historic England and Natural England on the screening opinion 
from 31st January 2023 to the 27th February 2023. Responses were 
received from each of the three bodies and are attached as Appendix 4.  

31. Historic England agreed with the Council’s conclusion that neither an 
SEA nor an HRA would be required. 

32. The Environment Agency confirmed their agreement with the findings of 
the Screening Opinion that a SEA will not be required for the SPD.  

33. Natural England stated that they did not consider the SPD to pose any 
likely risk or opportunity in relation to their statutory purpose, and 
confirmed that they had no comments to make on the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment.  

 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
34. The Paradise Design Code SPD has been considered in light of the 

assessment requirements of 63/105 of the Habitats Regulations.  It is 
concluded that the Paradise Design Code SPD can be eliminated from 
further assessment in the HRA process because, when considering the 
purpose, content and proposals of the SPD, it is obvious that it could not 
have a conceivable effect on a National site.  

 

 
  

                                            
7 https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/new-single-local-
plan/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation-(sac)---
mitigation-strategy  
8 All proposals which seek to deliver a net increase in dwellings located within the 12.6km zone of influence are 
considered to be ‘qualifying development’, as set out in page 20, paragraph 3.2.16 & page 23, paragraph 3.2.34 of 
the Mitigation Strategy  
Zone of influence interactive map: 
https://dacorumbc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/instant/lookup/index.html?appid=a59b90f9d66f44828d802b867e6c4276  

Page 224

https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/new-single-local-plan/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation-(sac)---mitigation-strategy
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/new-single-local-plan/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation-(sac)---mitigation-strategy
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/new-single-local-plan/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation/chilterns-beechwoods-special-area-of-conservation-(sac)---mitigation-strategy
https://dacorumbc.maps.arcgis.com/apps/instant/lookup/index.html?appid=a59b90f9d66f44828d802b867e6c4276


 

Appendix 3 - Assessment of the likely significance of effects on the environment 
 
The criteria below is taken from Annex II of the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive and Schedule I of the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Regulations. 
 
Table 2: Schedule 1 of the SEA Directive (1) Characteristic of the SPD having particular regard to: 

(a) the degree to which the plan or 
programme sets a framework for 
projects and other activities, either 
with regard to the location, nature, 
size and operating conditions or 
by allocating resources. 

 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD does not contain any land use policies and only serves 
to provide guidance to the policies of the adopted development plan, namely Policy CS11 
of the Core Strategy (2013). Furthermore, the principle of development on the MU/3 site 
has already been established by the Site Allocations DPD once it was adopted in 2017. 
Both development plan documents have been subject to comprehensive Sustainability 
Appraisal, incorporating SEA. 
 
The SPD provides more detail on the policies and principles established in the Dacorum 
Development Plan, and primarily relates to detailed design matters.  
 

(b) The degree to which the plan or 
programme influences other plans 
and programmes including those 
in a hierarchy. 

 
The purpose of the SPD is to supplement the policies within the Development Plan, and 
it does not form part of the development plan when adopted. The policy provision for the 
SPD also takes into account the Dacorum Strategic Design Guide (DSDG) SPD (adopted 
2021). The Paradise Design Code supplements the broad, Borough-wide principles 
established by the DSDG with detailed, site specific, guidance for the Paradise and 
Wood Lane area (site MU/3, Site Allocations DPD 2017).  
 
During any application for planning permission on the site, the proposal will be required 
to comply with national and local policy/guidance, and a further understanding of 
technical constraints will be required. 

P
age 225



 

 

(c) The relevance of the plan or 
programme for the integration of 
environmental considerations in 
particular with a view to promoting 
sustainable development. 

 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental 
effects as a result of this criteria. Policies addressing environmental considerations are 
included at a more detailed level with the Development Plan, and the Dacorum Strategic 
Design Guide SPD. An assessment of environmental considerations on the site will be 
undertaken during the relevant planning application stage, as they will be subject to 
detailed design and technical input. 
 
It is expected that the Paradise Design Code SPD will result in positive effects by 
delivering and improving green and blue infrastructure on site, the provision of 
sustainable design features, and the enhancement of the natural environment to benefit 
the local community.  
 
Following advice from national bodies, the lead local flood and ecology authority and 
local utilities providers, an objective regarding addressing the Climate Crisis through 
design has been added to the built form section of the SPD, and further codes have been 
added relating to measures to increase biodiversity and maximise water 
attenuation/capture through design, alongside a code specifying a buffer zone to the 
local wildlife site.  
 

(d) Environmental problems relevant 
to the plan or programme. 

 

 
Providing further detailed guidance to the existing policies of the adopted Dacorum Core 
Strategy (2013) is unlikely to exacerbate environmental problems, indeed it is likely to 
reduce environmental problems through the consistent application of guidance promoting 
environmental consideration at the design stage of a proposal.  
 
Any environmental problems relating to specific proposals will be considered during the 
relevant planning application stage. 

P
age 226



 

 

(e) The relevance of the plan or 
programme for the implementation 
of Community legislation on the 
environment (for example, plans 
and programmes linked to waste 
management or water protection). 

 
The greater consideration of delivering and improving green and blue infrastructure on 
site, the provision of sustainable design features and the enhancement of the natural 
environment to benefit the local community are unlikely to give rise to significant 
environmental effects as a result of this criteria.  
 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is judged not to have an impact on Community 
legislation. 
 
The Development Plan for Dacorum contains policies relating to the implementation of 
Community legislation on the environment, these include: 
 

Dacorum Borough Council: 

 The Core Strategy (adopted 2013) 

 Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1991-2011 Written Statement (adopted 2004) 
Hertfordshire County Council: 

 Minerals Local Plan Review 2002-2016 (adopted 2007) 

 Mineral Consultation Areas in Hertfordshire Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) (adopted 2007) 

 Waste Core Strategy and Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document (DPD) 2011-2026 (adopted 2012) 

 Waste Site Allocations DPD 2011-2026 (adopted 2014) 

 Employment Land Areas of Search SPD (adopted 2015) 
 

P
age 227



 

Table 3: Schedule 1 of the SEA Directive (2) Characteristics of the effects and area likely to be affected having particular regard to: 

(a) The probability, duration, 
frequency and reversibility of the 
effects. 

 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental 
effects as a result of this criteria. The Paradise Design Code SPD elaborates on the 
policies set out in the adopted Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) and sets out how 
development can achieve them. It does not in itself present any policies and serves only 
to provide greater clarity and guidance. 
 
Any effects on the environment caused by specific proposals on the site should be 
identified and considered at the relevant planning application stage.  
 

(b) The cumulative nature of the 
effects. 

 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental 
effects as a result of this criteria. The Paradise Design Code SPD elaborates on the 
policies set out in the adopted Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) and sets out how 
development can achieve them. It does not in itself present any policies and serves only 
to provide greater clarity and guidance. 
 
By providing guidance, this will ensure a consistent application of high standards of 
design for proposals in the area. This will have a cumulative positive effect over time as 
proposals are required to follow the same framework, which takes sustainability into 
account.  
 

(c) The trans-boundary nature of the 
effects. 

 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental 
effects as a result of this criteria. The Paradise Design Code SPD elaborates on the 
policies set out in the adopted Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) and sets out how 
development can achieve them. It does not in itself present any policies and serves only 
to provide greater clarity and guidance. 

P
age 228



 

 

(d) The risks to human health or the 
environment (for example, due to 
accidents). 

 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental 
effects as a result of this criteria.  
 
No risks to human health or the environment have been identified as an effect of the 
SPD.  The SPD is expected to improve the quality of design and living standards for new 
and existing occupants of the site. A community impact assessment has been prepared 
and will be updated prior to the SPD being adopted by the Council.  
 

(e) The magnitude and spatial extent 
of the effects (geographical area 
and size of the population likely to 
be affected). 

 

 
The Paradise Design SPD is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental effects as a 
result of this criteria. The SPD will apply to developments on the MU/3 site, within the 
administrative area of Dacorum Borough Council. This site is currently home to a mixture 
of business and residential uses, and is not subject to national designations and 
protection which have been considered.  This site does not fall within the zone of 
influence of the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC at Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI and 
Tring Woodlands SSSI.  
 
There is evidence that additional residential development within Dacorum is likely to give 
rise to increased recreational pressures on the site. A Mitigation Strategy has been 
prepared to ensure any new development, subject to the necessary mitigation, will not 
result in adverse effects on the integrity of the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC.   
 
The Paradise Design Code SPD relates to detailed design matters relating to movement, 
built form, identity and land uses for proposals within the MU/3 area, therefore the 
geographical area, and populations affected are small.  
 
 

P
age 229



 

(f) The value and vulnerability of the 
area likely to be affected due to:  
o Special natural characteristics 

or cultural heritage;  
o Exceeded environmental 

quality standards or limit 
values; or  

o Intensive land-use. 
 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental 
effects as a result of this criteria. The SPD will apply to developments on the MU/3 site, 
within the administrative area of Dacorum Borough Council. This site is currently home to 
a mixture of business and residential uses, and is not subject to national designations 
and protection which have been considered.  This site does not fall within the zone of 
influence of the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC at Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI and 
Tring Woodlands SSSI.  
 
There is evidence that additional residential development within Dacorum is likely to give 
rise to increased recreational pressures on the site.   A Mitigation Strategy has been 
prepared to ensure any new development, subject to the necessary mitigation, will not 
result in adverse effects on the integrity of the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC.   
 
The Paradise Design Code SPD elaborates on the policies set out in the adopted 
Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) and sets out how development can achieve them. 
Matters relating to environmental standards and land use are contained in the 
Development Plan for Dacorum. It is not anticipated to adversely affect any special 
natural characteristic or cultural heritage, and it does not in itself present any policies or 
directly influence the use of land in Dacorum. 
 

(g) The effects on areas or 
landscapes which have a 
recognised national, community or 
international protection status. 

 

 
The Paradise Design Code SPD is unlikely to have any significant environmental effects 
on landscapes which have a recognised national, community or international protection 
status. Proposals on the site will need to comply with policies in the development plan, 
and the mitigation strategy.  

P
age 230



 

Appendix 4 – Consultation responses to screening  
 
Natural England – Response Received 09/02/2023 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
  
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that 
the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present 
and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  
  
Natural England does not consider that this Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning 
Document – consultation on screening for Strategic Environment Assessment and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment poses any likely risk or opportunity in relation to our statutory 
purpose, and so does not wish to comment on this consultation.  
  
The lack of comment from Natural England should not be interpreted as a statement that 
there are no impacts on the natural environment. Other bodies and individuals may wish to 
make comments that might help the Local Planning Authority (LPA) to fully take account of 
any environmental risks and opportunities relating to this document. 
  
If you disagree with our assessment of this proposal as low risk, or should the proposal be 
amended in a way which significantly affects its impact on the natural environment, then in 
accordance with Section 4 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, 
please consult Natural England again. 
  
Yours faithfully 
  
Matthew Dean 
Natural England 
Consultation Service 
Hornbeam House 
Crewe Business Park, Electra Way, 
Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 6GJ 
  
Tel: 0300 060 3900 
Email:  consultations@naturalengland.org.uk 
www.gov.uk/natural-england 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 231

mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk
http://www.gov.uk/natural-england


 

Environment Agency Response Received 24/02/2023 
 
Thank you for your email.  We agree with Dacorum Borough Council that the 
emerging Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document does not 
require a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 
  
Please let me know if you have any questions. 
Kind regards 
Deborah 
  
Deborah Simons 
Planning Advisor, Hertfordshire and North London Sustainable Places 
Environment Agency | Alchemy, Bessemer Road, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL7 
1HE 
   0203 025 9020  HNLSustainablePlaces@environment-agency.gov.uk 

  
 
Historic England Response Received 27/02/20 
 
RE: Consultation on screening for Strategic Environment Assessment and 
Habitats Regulations Assessment: Paradise Design Code SPD 
  
Thank you for consulting Historic England on the screening for SEA and HRA 
for the Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). I 
can confirm that we support the conclusion that that neither an SEA nor an 
HRA would be required.  I would be grateful if you could confirm receipt of this 
email. 
  
Best wishes, 
  
Andrew Marsh BSc MA MRTPI 
Historic Environment Planning Adviser 
Development Advice | East of England 
Historic England  
Mobile: 07557 828181   
Direct line: 01223 582734 
  
Historic England 
Brooklands | 24 Brooklands Avenue | Cambridge | CB2 8BU 
www.historicengland.org.uk Follow us on Twitter at@HE_EoE What’s new in the East of 
England? 
 

 

Work with us to champion heritage and improve lives. Read our Future Strategy and get 
involved at historicengland.org.uk/strategy. 
Follow us:  Facebook  |  Twitter  |  Instagram     Sign up to our newsletter      

This e-mail (and any attachments) is confidential and may contain personal views which are not the views of Historic England 
unless specifically stated. If you have received it in error, please delete it from your system and notify the sender 
immediately. Do not use, copy or disclose the information in any way nor act in reliance on it. Any information sent to Historic 
England may become publicly available. We respect your privacy and the use of your information. Please read our full 
privacy policy for more information. 

Page 232

mailto:HNLSustainablePlaces@environment-agency.gov.uk
http://www.historicengland.org.uk/
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/in-your-area/east-of-england/
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/in-your-area/east-of-england/
http://historicengland.org.uk/strategy
https://www.facebook.com/HistoricEngland
https://twitter.com/HistoricEngland
https://www.instagram.com/historicengland/
http://webmail.historicenglandservices.org.uk/k/Historic-England/historic_england_preference_centre
https://www.historicengland.org.uk/terms/privacy-cookies/
http://www.historicengland.org.uk/


 

 

 

P
age 233



September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 
Policy / service / decision  Paradise Design Code – Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Description of what is being impact assessed 
What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 
need to reference/consider any related projects? 
Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

In April 2021, Dacorum was one of 14 local authorities nationally to be awarded DLUHC pilot funding, to develop locally led design codes to 
steer design quality in emerging developments. This programme was supported by DLUHC’s newly established Office for Place as part of 
the Phase 1 of the National Model Design Code Testing Programme.  

The SPD sets out a framework of design requirements for new development in the Paradise and Wood Lane area, which is currently 
allocated in the Site Allocations DPD (Reference MU/3). This SPD supports the policies within the existing Core Strategy (2013), and builds 
upon the strategic design principles set out in the Borough-wide Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD (2020). 

This document also supports the delivery of the corporate objectives and priorities for the Council, including the emerging Hemel Place 
Strategy, by steering design quality of emerging development in the Hemel Hempstead town centre. The principles and codes were also 
informed by the principles established in the Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Strategy, to ensure coherence with the wider ambitions of 
the town.  

Once adopted the Paradise Design Code will provide clarity about design expectations to applicants, and is expected to enhance the 
character of the local area and ensure future design quality. The document has been prepared with the needs of design teams and officers in 
mind, and will be used by applicants, planning officers, statutory consultees and the wider community.  

By setting out requirements for development to be of the highest possible design quality, the Paradise Design Code SPD will have a positive 
impact on communities within both new and existing neighbourhoods within and around the area. 

Evidence 

P
age 234



September 2019 V2 2 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 
(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 
or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

The CIA prepared to support the draft version of the Paradise Design Code SPD was approved on the 21st June 2022. This CIA was 
compared with the associated CIA for the Hemel Place Strategy, which was prepared in May 2022, and the CIA prepared for the Hemel 
Garden Communities project. Both projects have informed the development of the content of the SPD.  
 
The CIA prepared to support the development of the draft Paradise Design Code SPD has been reviewed to reflect the outcomes of the 
statutory public consultation on the document. Therefore this current CIA represents an updated version, which will inform the adoption 
version of the SPD. 
 
The Paradise Design Code SPD has an indirect effect on individuals – it is through the application of the SPD during the planning application 
and decision making process that any impacts will directly occur, and therefore this assessment cannot be definitive on the impact on 
individuals with protected characteristics. However, a number of documents have been reviewed whilst preparing this assessment, in order 
to understand the broad range of potential impacts on individuals with protected characteristics the adoption of the SPD may create.  
 
The engagement and consultation work undertaken to support and inform this document has ensured that all feedback from residents, 
businesses and organisations has been considered, and has informed the design codes as they are set out within the SPD. Effective 
community engagement advances equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not by 
ensuring all sections of society are able to influence the content of the proposals.  
 
Once the SPD is adopted it becomes a material consideration, and will therefore ensure that the recommendations from respondents to 
engagement and consultation activities are delivered in new development. 
 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 
explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

P
age 235



September 2019 V2 3 

The statutory public consultation on the SPD took place between 12pm on the 28th October 2022 and 11:59pm on the 28th November 2022. 
The consultation sought views and opinions on a full draft version of the SPD. Everyone who was on the Council’s Strategic Planning 
consultation database at the time of the consultation start date were notified of the consultation by e-mail, or by post (over 9,000 notifications 
in total). This includes all statutory bodies that are required to be consulted, general and other bodies, and the wider community.  
 
‘General’ bodies include voluntary bodies, and bodies which represent the interest of ethnic or national groups, religious groups and disabled 
people in the area. ‘Other’ bodies are those bodies not specified in Government regulations, however they are known interested parties, 
groups and organisations who may have an interest in planning policy matters, and can represent the interests of individuals/groups with 
protected characteristics.  
 
Full details of engagement methods, how responses were invited and the overall levels of response are set out in the Paradise Design Code 
SPD - Consultation Statement. This statement also sets out how the final version of the SPD has been modified to reflect the responses 
received. 
 
The statutory public consultation follows an extensive programme of engagement which took place in the summer and autumn of 2021. The 
purpose of this was to inform the full draft SPD. This engagement utilised a wide range of methods and tools. This ensured that information 
was accessible to a variety of groups in the community, and improved opportunities for individuals to become involved in the process and to 
better influence outcomes. Full details of this are also set out in the Consultation Statement. 
 

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 
detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 
understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 
mitigation. 

• The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 
• Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group Summary of impact 
Negative 
impact / 
outcome 

Neutral 
impact / 
outcome 

Positive 
impact / 
outcome 

P
age 236



September 2019 V2 4 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 
users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 
and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Age The provisions established in the SPD to support healthy lifestyles, active 
travel and social interaction should indirectly benefit all age ranges, 
however this will particularly benefit older people where accessibility is a 
greater barrier and social isolation is more prevalent. 
 
The impact of the promotion of mixed-use development has been 
considered on residents; therefore, the SPD makes provisions to ensure 
vehicle servicing is separate from pedestrian access points, that servicing 
must not compromise public realm or residential amenity, and that 
residential vehicular access and parking should be positioned away from 
the public realm to ensure these areas remain traffic free. These measures 
reduce potential negative impacts from mixed-use development, and 
provide positive outcomes regarding reduced congestion, increased 
pedestrian accessibility and improved air quality, measures that will 
particularly benefit younger and older people. 
 
Specific proposals that provide places for play, particularly facilitating 
informal and ‘play on the way’ opportunities, will positively benefit children 
who live and travel through the area. 
 
Increased emphasis on creating places with a safe and secure movement 
network, which minimises the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, 
cyclists and vehicles can have particular benefits for older people and 
younger people, by facilitating and promoting cheap and independent 
active travel. 
 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Disability (physical, 
intellectual, mental) 

The provisions established in the SPD to support healthy lifestyles, social 
interaction and active travel will particularly benefit people with disabilities 
where accessibility is a greater barrier, and social isolation is more 
prevalent.  
 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 237



September 2019 V2 5 

                                                           
1 After adjusting for age, education level, marital status, and income inequality. https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-021-04056-1  

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 
and Mental Illness & 
Learning Disability Guide 

Increased emphasis on creating places with a safe and secure movement 
network, which minimises the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, 
cyclists and vehicles can have particular benefits for people with disabilities 
and health conditions, by facilitating and promoting cheap and independent 
active travel. 
 
As discussed previously the potential negative impacts on delivering a 
mixture of residential and employment uses on the public realm have been 
addressed with measures that will benefit people who have mobility and/or 
sensory impairments. Reducing congestion and car dominance in the 
public realm will benefit those who are more vulnerable to adverse effects 
of poor air quality particularly individuals with particular health conditions. 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

Research supports that exposure to high levels of air pollution causes 
negative impacts during pregnancy. As discussed the SPD introduces 
measures to reduce congestion and car dominance in the public realm, 
which will benefit pregnant and breastfeeding people who are more 
vulnerable to adverse effects of poor air quality. 
 
Proposals to create accessible connections within a mixed-use area have 
bene found to indirectly benefit outcomes for pregnant people. For 
example, research has identified that the risk of developing postpartum 
depression (in urban settings) is reduced in high quality urban settings 
comprised of mixed-use and walkable neighbourhoods1. 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Gender reassignment It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD will not 
have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. All members 
of the community should benefit from strengthened design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and promote social interaction may 
indirectly benefit individuals within the LGBTQ+ community including those 
at any stage of their gender reassignment process. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 238

https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-021-04056-1


September 2019 V2 6 

Race and ethnicity It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD will not 
have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. All members 
of the community should benefit from strengthened design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and promote social interaction may 
indirectly benefit those from minority ethnic communities. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Religion or belief It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD will not 
have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. All members 
of the community should benefit from strengthened design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and promote social interaction may 
indirectly benefit those from minority religious communities. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sex All members of the community should benefit from strengthened design 
requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and promote social interaction will 
contribute to the achievement of gender inclusive urban spaces. 
Incorporating design factors such as high quality lighting and appropriate 
overlooking contributes to reducing violence and fear of violence, and will 
ensure mobility and access to the public realm is not curtailed. 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Sexual orientation It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD will not 
have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. All members 
of the community should benefit from strengthened design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and social interaction may 
indirectly benefit individuals within the LGBTQ+ community. 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

Not protected 
characteristics but 
consider other 
factors, e.g. carers, 
care leavers, 
veterans, homeless, 

All members of the community should benefit from strengthened design 
requirements.  
 
The SPD promotes the creation of flexible and mixed-use spaces, which 
make use of higher density urban and accessible neighbourhoods. It is 
considered that this ambition will have no direct impact on people who 
share protected characteristics, but could have indirect benefits for all 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 239



September 2019 V2 7 

low income, 
loneliness, rurality 
etc. 

groups with restricted mobility, including those living in low-income 
households. 
 
There is extensive research that supports the role of nature in benefitting 
personal wellbeing. The SPD establishes an open space strategy, which 
will provide residents and employees within the site with access to a 
variety of green spaces. It is not expected that increasing access to nature 
will have a positive impact on all, particularly those with health conditions 
and those who have been negatively impacted by a lack of access to 
nature previously. 
 
Supporting environments which makes it easier for all people to move 
around will help to advance equal opportunities between those with and 
without protected characteristics. A genuine choice of transport modes 
should consequently help reduce congestion and improve air quality and 
public health. Also by improving the network for pedestrians and cyclists, 
the SPD will facilitate cheap and independent active travel for individuals 
impacted by reduced access to mobility, particularly individuals on low 
incomes or facing income insecurity. 
 
Introducing safety measures within the public realm, including the provision 
of adequate lighting, and overlooking has the potential to benefit users who 
are more likely to experience violence or feelings of unsafety when 
travelling. 
 
The SPD has made provisions for the food bank provided by the charity 
DENS working in partnership with the Trussell Trust. This is an essential 
service for individuals and families facing food insecurity. 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 
these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

P
age 240



September 2019 V2 8 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date Person 

responsible Action complete 

Not applicable. Select date  ☐ 

 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

N/A 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Keeley Mitchell – Assistant SPAR Officer 

Date 27/02/2023  

(V1 document 14/06/2022) 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 
if being presented to SLT / Cabinet) 

Alex Robinson – Assistant Director (Planning) 

Date 27/02/2023  

(V1 document 21/06/2022) 

Entered onto CIA database - date TBC 

P
age 241



September 2019 V2 9 

 
 

 

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

P
age 242



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Title of report: Hemel Town Centre Vision  

Date: 14 March 2023 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place  

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Hemel Town Centre Vision  

Appendix 1 - Consultation feedback (attached) 
Appendix 2 – Urban Analysis (attached) 
Appendix 3 – Public realm opportunities (attached) 
Appendix 4 – Opportunity sites (attached) 
Appendix 5 – Hemel Spatial Vision (available via link)  
hemel-garden-communities-spatial-vision.pdf (hemelgardencommunities.co.uk) 
Appendix 6 – Our Hemel Story (available via link) 

HEM-Storybook-web-2022-09-14.pdf (thinkhemel.com) 

Background papers: 

 

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Masterplan 2011-2021 hemel-hempstead-town-
centre-masterplan---adopted-jan-13-(small).pdf (dacorum.gov.uk) 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Sara Whelan, Hemel Place Strategy, Programme Manager  

 

Sara.whelan@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228590 (ext. 2590) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for 

those most in need 

 

   

STRATEGIC PLANNING AND 

ENVIRONMENT  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 243

Agenda Item 11

https://www.hemelgardencommunities.co.uk/media/3hknvayj/hemel-garden-communities-spatial-vision.pdf
https://thinkhemel.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/HEM-Storybook-web-2022-09-14.pdf?_gl=1*1wbfomh*_up*MQ..*_ga*MTE1MjAzNTA5OS4xNjc3MTczMjY5*_ga_KQQV8MPG0M*MTY3NzE3MzI2OC4xLjEuMTY3NzE3MzI2OC4wLjAuMA..
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/planning-development/hemel-hempstead-town-centre-masterplan---adopted-jan-13-(small).pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/planning-development/hemel-hempstead-town-centre-masterplan---adopted-jan-13-(small).pdf
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

 

Wards affected All Hemel Hempstead wards  

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To outline for Informal Cabinet the Town Centre 
Vision and appendices. 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. To support the Town Centre vision and next steps 
to Council in July 2023.  

2. To agree a soft launch of Town Centre Vision and 
appendices to investors at UKREiiF (16-18 May 
2023)  

Period for post policy/project review: N/A 

 

1 Introduction:  

1.1 The Hemel Place work started in summer 2021, Thinking Place, a place branding, marketing and place-

making specialist carried out stakeholder engagement. The response to this formed our Hemel Place Story, 

which has a main big idea and three themes;  

Big idea – Growing a fresh new future  

Theme 1 – A vibrant destination for enterprise  

Theme 2 – Enhance your wellbeing in Hemel  

Theme 3 – Where connections matter  

Strapline – ‘where life is greener’  

1.2 The Hemel Place Story was launched on July 8th 2022, with an event including external speakers, a range of 

guests and a new www.thinkhemel.com website. 

1.3 This paper provides an overview of the Town Centre Vision. The town centre is an important area of the 

Hemel Place work, hence been given early priority ahead of a Hemel Place Strategy. The town centre needs 

intervention to support the current businesses and attract a new diverse economy, repurposing vacant 

units and development sites to a destination for leisure and culture as well as providing homes in a 

sustainable location.  

1.4 The main audience for the vision is developers. The intention is to soft launch the vision at UKREiiF an 

investor’s forum held in Leeds, 16-18 May 2023. Any feedback following this event could be incorporated 

into the final document approved by Cabinet in July 2023. 

1.5 Placeshaping work is progressing in Tring and Berkhamsted. Thinking Place were commissioned in autumn 

2022, they completed engagement work with the community and key stakeholders. A narrative for each 

town has been produced and agreed by the Tring and Berkhamsted Steering Groups. The narratives are 

included below and the steering groups are working on scoping the next steps, which will be different for 

each town.  

Tring narrative  

Theme 1 embrace our quirky spirit 

Theme 2 the natural choice 
Page 244

http://www.thinkhemel.com/


Theme 3 buzz with us 

Berkhamsted  

Theme 1 harnessing our hidden history and heritage 

Theme 2 location, connection; London and local 

Theme 3 cultivating a hub and heart 

1.6 The place work in Tring and Berkhamsted are important interdependences for the Hemel Town Centre 

Vision as there is an opportunity to share cultural activities across the three towns, benefitting our wider 

communities.   

2 Summary of Town Centre Vision:   

2.1 The attached document provides an overarching vision for the town centre and highlights the main aims and 

priorities in order to deliver the vision. It provides an overview of Hemel Town Centre for those who are not 

familiar and a suggested approach to land use and opportunity sites, particularly aimed at investors. 

Importantly the land uses should remain flexible to accommodate active opportunities in the market.  

2.2 The main document is accompanied by six appendices, which will work as chapters and be relevant to 

different audiences. For example, the opportunity sites will be of interest to developers, public ream 

proposals for future bid opportunities. The appendices are;  

Appendix 1 - Consultation feedback (attached) 

Appendix 2 – Urban Analysis (attached) 

Appendix 3 – Public realm opportunities (attached) 

Appendix 4 – Opportunity sites (attached) 

Appendix 5 – Hemel Spatial Vision (available via link) hemel-garden-communities-spatial-vision.pdf 

(hemelgardencommunities.co.uk) 

Appendix 6 – Our Hemel Story (available via link) HEM-Storybook-web-2022-09-14.pdf 

(thinkhemel.com)  

2.3 The Town Centre vision will be a key part of a future Hemel Place Strategy. Intervention in the town centre 

is important and a key priority for Hemel.  

3 Options and alternatives considered 

3.1 Do nothing – stop working on the Hemel Place Strategy and Town Centre Vision. This option is discounted 

as the need this work to attract investment and businesses as well as building reputation and improving 

civic pride.  

4 Consultation 

4.1 A survey was open to residents and communities across Hemel Hempstead from November 2022 – January 

2023. It was hosted on a website supported by commonplace. The answers are being analysed and will be 

important when drafting the Hemel Place Strategy. Many findings have also been included in the drafting of 

the Town Centre Vision. 434 people answered the survey which had 21 questions included below. A 

response to these questions can be found in appendix 1.  

1. How proud of Hemel Hempstead are you? 

2. Why do you feel this way? 
Page 245

https://www.hemelgardencommunities.co.uk/media/3hknvayj/hemel-garden-communities-spatial-vision.pdf
https://www.hemelgardencommunities.co.uk/media/3hknvayj/hemel-garden-communities-spatial-vision.pdf
https://thinkhemel.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/HEM-Storybook-web-2022-09-14.pdf?_gl=1*1wbfomh*_up*MQ..*_ga*MTE1MjAzNTA5OS4xNjc3MTczMjY5*_ga_KQQV8MPG0M*MTY3NzE3MzI2OC4xLjEuMTY3NzE3MzI2OC4wLjAuMA..
https://thinkhemel.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/HEM-Storybook-web-2022-09-14.pdf?_gl=1*1wbfomh*_up*MQ..*_ga*MTE1MjAzNTA5OS4xNjc3MTczMjY5*_ga_KQQV8MPG0M*MTY3NzE3MzI2OC4xLjEuMTY3NzE3MzI2OC4wLjAuMA..


3. What would make your score even better? 

4. Please tell us three things that are most important to you for the future of Hemel Hempstead? 

5. Where is your favourite place in Hemel? 

6. Why is this your favourite place? 

7. Where is your least favourite place in Hemel? 

8. Why is this your least favourite place? 

9. If you live in Hemel Hempstead, where do you consider is the heart of your community? 

10. Could you please give us the name of this place? 

11. How can we as communities support each other with the cost of living crisis and other 

challenges? 

12. Are there any community activities or groups providing support that you would like to make us 

aware of AND/OR that you feel is missing from this community? 

13. If you have a disability or health condition, how do you feel Hemel Hempstead supports you as 

a place to live? 

14. What is your impression on how communities interact with each other in Hemel Hempstead? 

15. Do you feel that Hemel Hempstead is a community that promotes acceptance, inclusion and a 

sense of belonging to all its residents? 

16. What do you consider most important to you when thinking about a place to live? 

17. If you work in or visit Hemel Hempstead, would you consider living here? 

18. What is the reason behind your answer to question 17? 

19. How often do you visit Hemel Hempstead town centre? 

20. Why do you visit Hemel Hempstead town centre? 

21. What would make you visit the Town Centre more often? 

5 Financial and value for money implications: 

5.1  None arising from this report  

6 Legal Implications 

6.1 None arising from this report  

7 Risk implications: 

7.1 Resources/budget – there is a risk that the programme of Hemel Place and Town Centre work is not 

resourced sufficiently in the future. A new Place Communities and Enterprise service that will support the 

implementation of the place work has mitigated this risk. Funding will be on a project basis and will look to 

secure funding from bids and other sources.  

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

8.1 A Community Impact Assessment was carried out in April 2021 when the Hemel Place work first started. 

Attached is a Community Impact Assessment focussed on the Town Centre Vision. The aim in the vision is 

Page 246



for the town centre to be a place where the community can meet and be close to nature. The focus will be 

to develop the town centre so it is accessible to all, including people and communities from a range of 

diverse backgrounds, fostering community cohesion and celebrating diversity. This is positive for all in the 

community. There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report.     

9 Sustainability implications  

9.1  There are eight aims that set out delivery of the town centre vision (pages 18-19 off vision document). Aim 

no. 4 includes focusing on sustainable transport systems. Creating an environment that better connects the 

Town Centre to other areas of Hemel (the station, the emerging Hemel Garden Communities, Apsley, 

Maylands, etc.) whilst supporting active movement and enabling healthy lifestyles and improved wellbeing. 

9.2 Aim no. 5 focuses on climate change and biodiversity. This includes ensuring that any interventions and 

actions address the climate and biodiversity challenges we are facing today and in the future. This includes 

enhancing the biodiversity offer in the town centre to create a healthier environment as well as improve 

the connection between people and nature.  

9.3 Aim no. 7 focuses on reinvigorating the town centre and creating an evening economy by providing new 

residential, community and employment opportunities. A key aim is to make the Town Centre feel safer 

using creative changes. 

10 Council infrastructure  

10.1 The placeshaping approach at the Council will enable the majority of teams to work together in delivering 

the Town Centre Vision. The Council is moving away from teams working separately, to a multi-disciplinary 

approach which focuses on geographic areas and importantly works with the community and stakeholders 

in the area who know the place best.  

11 Conclusions:   

11.1 In conclusion the committee is invited to scrutinise the draft Town Centre Vision and support its use to 

attract investment at UKREiiF in May 2023. The next steps will be to present the vision to Cabinet in July 

2023 and draft an action plan to set out short, medium and long-term actions to deliver the vision.  

 

 

Page 247



APPENDIX 01
HEMEL 
HEMPSTEAD 
TOWN CENTRE 
VISION

DOC 005 - 09.02.2023

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

DRAFT

P
age 248



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TEXT PLACEHOLDER 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

P
age 249



P
age 250



HEMEL IS A FAMILY OF WELCOMING 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND THRIVING 
COMMUNITIES. WORKING 
TOGETHER WE WILL SHAPE OUR 
FUTURE WITH CONFIDENCE.

SAFETY

HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

RESILIENCE

SUSTAINABILITY

DIGITAL 
TRANSFORMATION

SKILLS, 
SCHOOL & 
TECHNOLOGY

ENTERPRISE 
AND ECONOMY  

SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSPORTS

DBC CORPORATE VISION:

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP TO 
CREATE A BOROUGH WHICH 
ENABLES THE COMMUNITIES 
OF DACORUM TO THRIVE AND 
PROSPER

P
age 251



COMMUNITY COHESION

MEANWHILEHIGH-QUALITY 
HOMES

BIODIVERSITY

SOCIAL 
VALUE

MMC

CELEBRATING 
EXISTING 
ASSETS

P
age 252



6

H E M E L 
HEMPSTEAD 
POPULATION*

MILES NORTH-WEST OF 
LONDON

HENRY VIII GRANTED A 
CHARTER OF INCORPORATION 
TO HEMEL HEMPSTEAD

93,591

24

1539

WHERE IS HEMEL

*Dacorum Borough Council Data Dashboard - Hemel Hempstead total 
population in 2019

MINUTES

EUSTON 
STATION

30

MINUTES LUTON 
AIRPORT

25

P
age 253



7

HEMEL BUBBLE PLAN

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018953
*Map based on ‘Hemel Garden Communities - Programme Area_Draft_V6’ received from St Albans City and District Council on 22.12.2021 
Hemel Hempstead Bubble Plan*

Key

Kings Langley Neighbourhood Plan

Grovehill neighbourhood designated area

River Gade relocation project 

Old Town

Nickey Line to 
Redbourn & 
Harpenden

London

Tring

Strategic Movement Routes
Nickey Line Extension

Paradise Design Code

Two Waters

Town Centre boundary 

South Hemel Opportunity AreaSouth Hemel Opportunity Area

North and East Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas

Hemel Hempstead 
Station

Apsley 
Station1 2

Maylands Business Park and Herts IQ

Town Centre Hospital site

2

1

areas of influence

Riverside Shopping Centre 

Market Square 

Civic Centre site

Gadebridge

Warners End

Corner 
Hall

Chaulden

Boxmoor

Jarman Fields

Adeyfield

Bellgate

Old 
Town

Grovrehill

Woodhall Farm

The Heights

Bennetts End

Apsley

Leverstock Green

Local Centre

Nash 
Mills

Water 
Gardens

Proposed
Crematorium

Marlowes Shopping Centre 

Dacorum
 Borough Council

Dacorum Borough 
Council

St Albans City & District

St Albans City 
& DistrictDacorum Borough & St Albans District Boundary

P
age 254



8

SUMMARY OF ENGAGEMENTS

The engagement process aimed to capture local 

knowledge and empower communities to take part in the 

future of the Hemel Hempstead and its town centre. The 

process sought to reach as wide as possible to involve 

the full diversity of Hemel’s communities, including those 

under-represented groups that are seldom heard. 

The engagement aimed to ensure that the Hemel Place 

and Town Centre Strategies were guided by the views and 

priorities of strategic and delivery partners, businesses, 

community stakeholders as well as the wider public, 

residents and visitors. The Hemel Place team held a 

variety of events and communication methods to ensure 

a wide range of opinions and voices were captured and 

presented. The engagement approach was designed to 

provide multiple opportunities for interested parties to 

have their say in shaping the Hemel Place and Town 

Centre Strategies.

The engagement process included the following activities:

• Hemel Place Board meetings

• One-to-one conversations

• Stakeholder workshops

• Presentations at stakeholders events

• Think Hemel website

• Surveys on Commonplace

The following pages provide an overview of the 

engagement undertaken. For full details of the

engagement process, please see the separate appendix 

document.

Hemel Place Board

At the beginning of the process, the Council established 

the Hemel Place Board partnership of key stakeholders 

from the public, private and third sectors that have a 

strong presence in Hemel Hempstead and are essential 

for the future success of the town. The Board meets 

bimonthly and provides strategic directions for the 

growth of the town and the content of the new Place 

Strategy.

One-to-one conversations

Conversations were held with stakeholders and 

were aimed at understanding their main priorities. 

Conversations were held using video calls or in-person 

meetings.

Stakeholder workshops

Themed workshops were held with stakeholders

and Council officers as an opportunity for a detailed 

discussion over priorities and ambitions for the Hemel 

Place and Town Centre Strategies. The presentation 

included key findings from the

appraisal work and research so far. A series of

questions were posed to prompt discussion about

the Town Centre, according to the theme of the

workshop:

1. A vibrant destination for enterprise

2. Where connections matter

3. Enhance your wellbeing in Hemel

Presentations at stakeholders events 

The Hemel Place team attended several stakeholders 

events such as the Hemel Hempstead Business 

Ambassador breakfast where the project was presented 

to businesses and other key partners. 

Think Hemel website

A new website has been created. The website includes 

information on the Hemel Place project, regular progress 

updates, contact information, Hemel visuals and photos, 

and engagement event invitations. The website will 

continue to be updated to record project development: 

www.thinkhemel.com

Surveys on the Commonplace platform

Between November 2022 and January 2023 the Hemel 

Place team launched a survey aimed at residents, visitors 

and businesses hosted on a commonplace platform. The 

surveys have helped to shape and inform the new Hemel 

Place and Town Centre Strategies. P
age 255



9

WHAT PEOPLE THINK ABOUT HEMEL TOWN CENTRE?

65%

45%

As part of DLUHC’s pilot testing programme Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) have been developing design codes 

to guide the quality of future places in the Town Centre. Between July and November 2021, a 6-week community 

consultation period was open on the Commonplace platform where DBC requested residents their feelings about the 

town centre and a sentiment map was produced as part of the process. 

of the overall POSITIVE contributions said it was due to 

being close to nature.

Positive comments tend to be in areas on or close to green 

and pedestrian friendly spaces. Positive comments are 

also located in the Old Town described in many comments 

as attractive place to visit and close to Gadebridge Park.

of the NEGATIVE contributions said it was due to being 

Not Attractive.

Negative comments tend to be in the new town centre and 

in particular in Market Square and along the Marlowes. 

These areas are described as dull, unsafe and with a lack 

of green areas. 27% of the comments about the town 

centre where specifically about Market Square.

Town Centre boundary

Negative Sentiment

Mostly Negative Sentiment

Neutral Sentiment

Mostly Positive Sentiment

Positive Sentiment

15 minutes walk

10 m

inutes w
alk

5 
m

in
ut

es

 w
alk

N

M
a

rlo
w

es
M

a
rlo

w
es

L
eighton B

uzzard R
d

L
eighton B

uzzard R
d

L
eig

hto
n B

uzza
rd

 R
d

L
eig

hto
n B

uzza
rd

 R
d

Station RdStation Rd

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d
T

w
o

 W
a

te
rs

 R
d

Law
n Ln

Law
n Ln

St A
lbans R

d

St A
lbans R

d

Queensway
Queensway

Hillfield RdHillfield Rd

Combe StCombe St

W
a

terho
use St

W
a

terho
use St

H
igh Street

H
igh Street

P
age 256



10

• North-South orientation of town centre 

• Vacancies (sporadic) 

• Difficult to drive to public transport, not designed to carrying lots of shopping 

• Lack of range in evening / nigh –time uses 

• Topography 

• Too much space 

• ASB doesn’t feel safe 

• Disconnected to the station 

• Employment areas out of centre 

• Leisure offer in HH is condensed in Jarmans 

• Strategic sites not in Local Plan 

• Lack of high quality homes in town centre – lot of affordable and social rent 

• Town centre not ready to pitch, need more endorsement from local plan 

• Poor evening economy 

• Lack of an artistic/entertainment venue – need a replacement for the pavilion  

• Marlowes shopping centre has a high level of vacancies and a poor environment  

• Lack of commercial demand for office space, made worse by Covid 

• Lack of direct public transport connections to settlements outside the borough (C.Beds)  

• Jellicoe Water Gardens 

• Outstanding green spaces and blue infrastructure around the town centre (e.g. Gadebridge 

Park, Boxmoor) 

• Strong linear active frontage along the Marlowes up to the Old Town 

• Old Town 

• Easy access to green spaces 

• Good parking and servicing strategy 

SWOT ANALYSIS

STRENGTH WEAKNESSES  

P
age 257



11

SWOT ANALYSIS

• Improve east-west connections in town centre 

• Relocation and condensation of retail 

• Destination town 

• Extend the historic trail to include town centre, Water Gardens, Paper Mills, etc. 

• Asda site relocated on Market Square?  

• Cherry bounce retirement homes? 

• Redevelopment of Market Square is a major opportunity – the site should be expanded to 

include the bungalows and other nearby buildings 

• HH market vibrant footfall 

• Hans encourage vibrant sense of place 

• Link to Gadebridge park could be improved 

• Increase in people living in town centre à more expenditure in town centre 

• Watford à has it worked? What learnings from other towns seeking transformation 

• Routine of cleaning all play areas  

• Create a new landmark building 

• Health offer around hospital site and bus interchange (e.g. boxing club) – A healthy quarter  

• Welwyn – how are they doing? Are they doing well? 

• Who aiming into Bank Court? Old Town and the Plough are traditionally entrances  

• Safety in service yards 

• Cost of living will have knock effect on retail and businesses 

• Increase in internet shopping and less use of town centre shops 

• Distance from train station 

• Planning reform and Gov uncertainty 

• Reducing car parking could undermine the vitality of the town centre + loss of DBC income 

• Lack of unique selling point means that cannot compete with other settlements 

• Reduction of biodiversity NET gain November 2023 

• Satisfy SANG clean safe and green 

• Water Gardens listed status (?) 

• Stand-alone developments e.g. increased building heights without any consistency in design 

• People in charge use cars 

• Political issues, disabled parking bays 

• High deprivation in town centre 

• Poor quality of existing housing 

• Pigeons – how can reduce them and the use of pigeons spike that are everywhere in the 

town centre 

• Façade of Bank Count building facing the Marlowes (Hightown) is very dirty and deteriorated. 

Can we enforce it?  

OPPORTUNITIES THREATS 

P
age 258



12

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

Between November 2022 and January 2023 the Hemel Place team launched a survey aimed at residents, visitors and 

businesses hosted on a commonplace platform. The surveys have helped to shape and inform the new Hemel Place 

and Town Centre Strategies. 
1. How proud of Hemel Hempstead are you?

2. Why do you feel this way?

3. What would make your score even better?

4. Please tell us three things that are most important to you for the future of Hemel Hempstead?

5. Where is your favourite place in Hemel?

6. Why is this your favorite place?

7. Where is your least favourite place in Hemel?

8. Why is this your least favorite place?

9. If you live in Hemel Hempstead, where do you consider is the heart of your community?

10. Could you please give us the name of this place?

11. How can we as communities support each other with the cost of living crisis and other challenges?

12. Are there any community activities or groups providing support that you would like to make us aware of AND/OR 

that you feel is missing from this community?

13. If you have a disability or health condition, how do you feel Hemel Hempstead supports you as a place to live?

14. What is your impression on how communities interact with each other in Hemel Hempstead?

15. Do you feel that Hemel Hempstead is a community that promotes acceptance, inclusion and a sense of belonging 

to all its residents?

16. What do you consider most important to you when thinking about a place to live?

17. If you work in or visit Hemel Hempstead, would you consider living here?

18. What is the reason behind your answer to question 17?

19. How often do you visit Hemel Hempstead town centre?

20. Why do you visit Hemel Hempstead town centre?

21. What would make you visit the Town Centre more often?

THE QUESTIONS ASKED:

P
age 259



P
age 260



14

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

2. WHY DO YOU FEEL THIS WAY?

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

1. HOW PROUD OF HEMEL HEMPSTEAD ARE YOU?

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

P
age 261



15

20%  chose local business/shopping/ retail (130 comments)

11% chose Green spaces/ trees/ parks

3. WHAT WOULD MAKE YOUR SCORE EVEN BETTER?

12% chose Local business/shopping/ retail b (101 comments)

12% chose Community amenity / facility / library (100 comments)

12% chose Green spaces / trees / parks (99 comments)

4. PLEASE TELL US THREE THINGS THAT ARE MOST IMPORTANT TO YOU FOR 

THE FUTURE OF HEMEL HEMPSTEAD?

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

P
age 262



16

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

5. WHERE IS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
not at all proud not too proud neutral somewhat proud very proud

P
age 263



17

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

5. WHERE IS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - Neutral

P
age 264



18

5. WHERE IS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - Not at all proud 

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

P
age 265



19

5. WHERE IS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - not too proud

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

P
age 266



20

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

5. WHERE IS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - somewhat proud

P
age 267



21

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

5. WHERE IS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - very proud

P
age 268



22

5. WHERE IS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Outliers >4 mile radius around the centre point excluded

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

P
age 269



23

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

- 14% Green spaces / trees / parks (59 comments)

- 13% Community amenity / facility / library (54 comments)

- 13% Local business / shopping / retail (54 comments)

6. WHY IS THIS YOUR FAVOURITE PLACE?

P
age 270



24

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

7. WHERE IS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
not at all proud not too proud neutral somewhat proud very proud

P
age 271



25

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

7. WHERE IS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - Neutral

P
age 272



26

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

7. WHERE IS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - Not at all proud 

P
age 273



27

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

7. WHERE IS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - not too proud

P
age 274



28

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

7. WHERE IS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - somewhat proud

P
age 275



29

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

7. WHERE IS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Colours indicating ‘How proud of Hemel are you?” - very proud

P
age 276



30

7. WHERE IS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE IN HEMEL?
Outliers >4 mile radius around the centre point excluded

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

P
age 277



31

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

18% Local business / shopping / retail (77 comments)

9% Design / appearance(37 comments)

8. WHY IS THIS YOUR LEAST FAVOURITE PLACE?

P
age 278



32

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

Gadebridge 48 comments 8%

10. COULD YOU PLEASE GIVE US THE NAME OF THIS PLACE?

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

9. IF YOU LIVE IN HEMEL HEMPSTEAD, WHERE DO YOU CONSIDER IS THE HEART 

OF YOUR COMMUNITY?

P
age 279



33

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

18% Community amenity / facility / library (59 comments)

16% Local business / shopping / retail (53 comments)

13% Public cost / investment / budget (43 comments)

11. HOW CAN WE AS COMMUNITIES SUPPORT EACH OTHER WITH THE COST OF 

LIVING CRISIS AND OTHER CHALLENGES?

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

12. ARE THERE ANY COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES OR GROUPS PROVIDING SUPPORT 

THAT YOU WOULD LIKE TO MAKE US AWARE OF AND/OR THAT YOU FEEL IS 

MISSING FROM THIS COMMUNITY?

P
age 280



34

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

14. WHAT IS YOUR IMPRESSION ON HOW COMMUNITIES INTERACT WITH EACH 

OTHER IN HEMEL HEMPSTEAD?

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

13. IF YOU HAVE A DISABILITY OR HEALTH CONDITION, HOW DO YOU FEEL 

HEMEL HEMPSTEAD SUPPORTS YOU AS A PLACE TO LIVE?

P
age 281



35

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

15. DO YOU FEEL THAT HEMEL HEMPSTEAD IS A COMMUNITY THAT PROMOTES 

ACCEPTANCE, INCLUSION AND A SENSE OF BELONGING TO ALL ITS RESIDENTS?

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

16. WHAT DO YOU CONSIDER MOST IMPORTANT TO YOU WHEN THINKING ABOUT 

A PLACE TO LIVE?

P
age 282



36

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

18. WHAT IS THE REASON BEHIND YOUR ANSWER TO QUESTION 17?

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

17. IF YOU WORK IN OR VISIT HEMEL HEMPSTEAD, WOULD YOU CONSIDER 

LIVING HERE? (MOVE TO QUESTION 19 IF NOT RELEVANT)

P
age 283



22% 

19% 

4% 

8% 
9% 

14% 

8% 

10% 

4% 
3% 

37

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

HEMEL PLACE SURVEY - TOWN CENTRE

22% of people responded that they visit the town centre ‘Monthly’ followed by a 19% of people visiting the town centre ‘Weekly’. Only the 3% of 

the responded are visiting the town centre ‘Everyday’.     

18. HOW OFTEN PEOPLE VISIT HEMEL HEMPSTEAD TOWN CENTRE?

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

18. HOW OFTEN PEOPLE VISIT HEMEL HEMPSTEAD TOWN CENTRE? (DATA SPLIT 

BY AGES)

P
age 284



24% 

40% 

1% 

O
V

E
R

A
L

L
 L

E
IS

U
R

E

38

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

As the results of question 2, the majority of people visit the town centre for ‘Shopping’.  The diagrams highlights that families seem to be 

attracted by the town centre and its proximity to ‘Parks and Green Spaces’ (Gadebridge and Boxmoor are located nearby). The chart also shows 

that older generations go to the town to join ‘Community Groups/Charities’, an activity that is not undertaken by younger generations. The 

chart also highlights that people aged 16-24 only go to the town centre for ‘Healthcare’ and ‘Shopping’. This represents a huge opportunity to 

create activities that promote night-time and attract younger generations that are currently not visiting the town centre.   

20. WHY DO YOU VISIT HEMEL HEMPSTEAD TOWN CENTRE? (DATA SPLIT BY 

AGES)

40% of people responded that the reason why they visit the town centre is for ‘Shopping’ and only the 1% responded ‘Nightlife’. This  chart 

highlights that shopping is the predominant activity in the town centre suggesting also a lack of a diversified offer especially for young 

generations. However, the overall sum of leisure activities (incl. eating & drinking, gym/fitness, nightlife, parks and green spaces, theatre/art 

galleries and play areas) represents the 24% of activities in the town centre.     

20. WHY DO YOU VISIT HEMEL HEMPSTEAD TOWN CENTRE? 

I own/manage a business here

Community groups/charities Eating & drinking

Meeting friends or family

Theatre / Art galleries

Healthcare

Nightlife

Accessing transport

Gym / fitness

Parks & green spaces

To use play areas

I live here

Faith building

Hemel Hempstead market

Walking route

I work here

Shopping

P
age 285



39

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK

ADD DESCRIPTION XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX   

21. WHAT WOULD MAKE YOU VISIT THE TOWN CENTRE MORE OFTEN?

P
age 286



40

OTHER RELEVANT CONSULTATION DOCUMENTS 

Commonplace Engagement Report      1

DRAFT

Hemel Hempstead 

Guid ing  the  fu tu re  o f  des ign  in  
the  tow n cent re

DESIGN CODES | ENGAGEMENT

REPORT APPENDIX A 

Sep tember  2021
NMDC Tes t ing  P i l o t

DRAFT

Town Centre  

 

CHAPTER AA   1 

OOff  tthhee  ffoolllloowwiinngg  tthheemmeess,,  wwhhiicchh  ddoo  yyoouu  
ffeeeell  lliikkee  sshhoouulldd  bbee  pprriioorriittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  OOlldd  
TToowwnn??    
Respondents were given a selection of themes to order 1-9 based on pri-
orities for improvement in the Old Town Area. Number of respondents 
and priorities are set out in the table below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The second part of this question asked:  
PPlleeaassee  eexxppaanndd  oonn  wwhhyy  yyoouu  hhaavvee  sseelleecctteedd  tthhiiss  oorrddeerr  ??    
Key feedback topics from each response have been summarised in the  
bullets to this section  
  
The results from the Top 4 Priorities are set out on the page adjacent 
with key themes from the public written feedback summarised below.  
Expanded themes from the written feedback are set out on the next 
page.  

 

2                                                                                    HEMEL OLD TOWN SURVEY   

PPrriioorriittyy  11    
FFeeeelliinnggss  ooff  SSaaffeettyy    
  

· Alcohol related behaviour from some visitors to Pubs and nightime ven-
ues mentioned in particular with relation to anti-social behaviour im-
pacting on feeling unsafe when walking around the area at night  

 

· Many of the comments regarding safety / ASB come from residents who 
live in the Old Town Area  

 

· Link with Gadebridge park mentioned as feeling unsafe at nigh time  
 

· Desire for increase in police presence and CCTV on the High Street  
  
PPrriioorriittyy  22  
EEnnhhaannccee  HHiissttoorriicc  CChhaarraacctteerr                                                                  
  

  

· Poor maintenance of buildings and shopfronts highlighted, enhance-
ments needed to maintain the historic buildings 

 

· Importance in maintaining prevalent historic character of area 
 

· Several comments relate to capitalising on the historic character of the 
Old Town as a key asset for Hemel, promoting it to visitors outside of 
the Borough in places such as London  

 

· Desire to see more signposting to historical information on buildings  
  
PPrriioorriittyy  33    
IInnccrreeaassee  VVaarriieettyy  ooff  AAccttiivviittiieess    
 

· Improve variety of things to do including markets, variety of shops, 
eating and drinking facilities events and community spaces  

 

· Improving variety of activities for children and families in Old Town 
 

· Praise for existing unique and independent shops on High Street  
 

· Several comments relate to improving awareness of unique character 
outside of Hemel and improving connectivity to increase footfall into 
the area and support High Street Businesses  

  
PPrriioorriittyy  44  
FFeeeelliinnggss  ooff  CCoommmmuunniittyy    
  

· Desire for the local community to be involved and engaged in any dis-
cussions regarding the future of the Old Town area  

 

· Need to improve community and neighbourhood feel in the area. Some 
suggestions for increasing pro-social places such as benches and seating 
that can provide opportunities for casual conversations and company  

 
· Increasing ‘feelings of community’ in the area identified as a way to 

attract people back to the Old Town area  

  

PARADISE DESIGN CODE 

ENGAGEMENT REPORT 

HEMEL OLD TOWN 

ENGAGEMENT REPORT 

The Paradise / Wood Lane Industrial Estate will be 

the case study for testing how applied design codes in 

Hemel Hempstead could improve the neighbourhood 

providing a high quality mixed use development with 

new homes.

Dacorum launched an online community engagement 

to seek views on how the council should set design 

guidance for future new development coming forward 

in the town centre.

The council was keen to hear from local 

residents, businesses and community groups 

about your favourite places, spaces and  

buildings in Hemel Hempstead town centre.  

Feedback was important to be sure 

the town centre meets the current and future needs of 

the community and contribute to the unique character 

of Hemel Hempstead. The consultation was launched 

for 3 months and closed on 15th November 2021. 

The Hemel Old Town is a thriving and historic part of 

Hemel Hempstead, and the Old Town Place project 

aims to support the ambitions of businesses and 

communities in the area, and create a better place 

where the local community can thrive and feel pride. 

Dacorum is exploring new opportunities to improve the 

Old Town and as part of this programme, the council 

launched a community consultation so that people 

living, visiting and working in Hemel could share their 

views on the Old Town. The consultation was open for 

6 weeks and closed on 8th June 2022.

P
age 287



P
age 288



WWW.THINKHEMEL.COM

P
age 289



APPENDIX 02
HEMEL 
HEMPSTEAD 
TOWN CENTRE 
VISION

DOC 005 - 09.02.2023

URBAN ANALYSIS

DRAFT

P
age 290



HEMEL IS A FAMILY OF WELCOMING 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND THRIVING 
COMMUNITIES. WORKING 
TOGETHER WE WILL SHAPE OUR 
FUTURE WITH CONFIDENCE.

SAFETY

HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

RESILIENCE

SUSTAINABILITY

DIGITAL 
TRANSFORMATION

SKILLS, 
SCHOOL & 
TECHNOLOGY

ENTERPRISE 
AND ECONOMY  

SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSPORTS

DBC CORPORATE VISION:

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP TO 
CREATE A BOROUGH WHICH 
ENABLES THE COMMUNITIES 
OF DACORUM TO THRIVE AND 
PROSPER

P
age 291



COMMUNITY COHESION

MEANWHILEHIGH-QUALITY 
HOMES

BIODIVERSITY

SOCIAL 
VALUE

MMC

CELEBRATING 
EXISTING 
ASSETS

P
age 292



4

H E M E L 
HEMPSTEAD 
POPULATION*

MILES NORTH-WEST OF 
LONDON

HENRY VIII GRANTED A 
CHARTER OF INCORPORATION 
TO HEMEL HEMPSTEAD

93,591

24

1539

WHERE IS HEMEL

*Dacorum Borough Council Data Dashboard - Hemel Hempstead total 
population in 2019

MINUTES

EUSTON 
STATION

30

MINUTES LUTON 
AIRPORT

25

P
age 293



5

HEMEL BUBBLE PLAN

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018953
*Map based on ‘Hemel Garden Communities - Programme Area_Draft_V6’ received from St Albans City and District Council on 22.12.2021 
Hemel Hempstead Bubble Plan*

Key

Kings Langley Neighbourhood Plan

Grovehill neighbourhood designated area

River Gade relocation project 

Old Town

Nickey Line to 
Redbourn & 
Harpenden

London

Tring

Strategic Movement Routes
Nickey Line Extension

Paradise Design Code

Two Waters

Town Centre boundary 

South Hemel Opportunity AreaSouth Hemel Opportunity Area

North and East Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas

Hemel Hempstead 
Station

Apsley 
Station1 2

Maylands Business Park and Herts IQ

Town Centre Hospital site

2

1

areas of influence

Riverside Shopping Centre 

Market Square 

Civic Centre site

Gadebridge

Warners End

Corner 
Hall

Chaulden

Boxmoor

Jarman Fields

Adeyfield

Bellgate

Old 
Town

Grovrehill

Woodhall Farm

The Heights

Bennetts End

Apsley

Leverstock Green

Local Centre

Nash 
Mills

Water 
Gardens

Proposed
Crematorium

Marlowes Shopping Centre 

Dacorum
 Borough Council

Dacorum Borough 
Council

St Albans City & District

St Albans City 
& DistrictDacorum Borough & St Albans District Boundary

P
age 294



6

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre was established in the 

1950s and 1960s as part of the Masterplan for the Hemel 

Hempstead New Town. The centre is linear in form and 

runs north to south along the valley floor. Geoffrey Jellicoe 

created the original plan based around the idea of a 

town in a park with generous open spaces in and around 

the town centre and the residential neighbourhoods. 

Whilst his Masterplan was substantially modified by the 

Development Corporation, his vision for the town centre 

was largely retained.

The main shopping area of the town centre was 

remodelled in the 1990s to include a pedestrianised area 

along Marlowes with an indoor shopping centre. Service 

yards flank Marlowes to the east and west.

To remedy this situation specific issues need to be 

addressed including the poor quality public realm 

characterised by dated frontages, surfaces and street 

furniture, and access and movement difficulties such as 

relate to pedestrians, cyclists, buses, taxis and private 

vehicles. The town centre has an underdeveloped evening 

and leisure economy and is failing to make the most of its 

natural and cultural assets. Regeneration and upgrading 

of key sites together with restoration of heritage assets 

is required to help secure the town centre’s long-term 

prosperity and to create an appealing, attractive and 

sustainable location with a high quality environment.

By 1962 the New Town Masterplan was substantially 

complete. Today, Hemel Hempstead rivals Watford as 

Hertfordshire’s largest town with a population of around 

94,000.

OLD TOWN

RIVERSIDE
SHOPPING CENTRE

OLD KODAC TOWER 
(REFURBISHED)

MARLOWES
SHOPPING CENTRE

JELLICOE WATER 
GARDENS

NEW TOWN CENTRE
(BANK COURT)

HEMEL HEMPSTEAD 
HOSPITAL

aerial view of Hemel Town Centre

P
age 295



7

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE

The Local Planning Framework Core Strategy identified 

seven distinct but interlinked zones with the town centre, 

each with a clear identity and character. These comprise 

the Old Town, the civic and educational area of the 

college and public sector uses along with the Market 

Square, the original area of Marlowes, the primary retail 

area along Marlowes, the Hospital and light industrial 

area of Paradise, the Water Gardens and the large scale 

buildings around the Plough roundabout. Accordingly, 

these seven areas are identified as individual “Character 

Zones” within the Core Strategy.

There is a marked difference between the Old Town in 

the north and the new town centre to the south. The 

Old Town is centred upon the High Street with its rich 

heritage and historic character. The High Street contains 

a concentration of listed buildings and is protected as a 

key part of the Old Town Conservation Area. In contrast, 

the primary shopping area focussed at the southern end 

of the town centre along Marlowes and the adjacent 

Water Gardens (registered in 2010 as a Garden of Special 

Historic Interest) exhibit a strong New Town character.

view of the High Street in Hemel Old Town

view of the Walled Gardens in Gadebridge Park looking north towards 
the spire of St Mary’s Church

view of Marlowes pedestrian area in the new town centre

view of Jellicoe Water Gardens looking south toward the Kodac tower

P
age 296



8

N

Town Centre boundaryHemel Hempstead Town Centre - character zones*

The Local Planning Framework Core Strategy identified 

seven distinct but interlinked zones with the town centre, 

each with a clear identity and character. These are:

5

1
2

3

6

4

7

1 2

3

5

764

CHARACTER ZONES

PRIMARY SHOPPING IN 
MARLOWES SHOPPING 
CENTRE AREA

POST WWII HEMEL 
HEMPSTEAD WAS SELECTED 
AS ONE OF THE FIRST TO 
BE DESIGNATED AS  A NEW 
TOWN

HIGH STREET IN THE OLD 
TOWN IS RICH OF HERITAGE 
AND HISTORIC CHARACTER

7

1947

*The information shown in the diagram above is extracted from ‘Hemel Hempstead Town Centre Masterplan 2011-2021 - Adopted January 2013’

Old Town Centre 

Original Marlowes Zone

Gade Zone

Jellicoe Water Gardens Zone

Hospital Zone

Marlowes Shopping Centre

Plough Zone

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - CHARACTER ZONES

TOWN CENTRE - CHARACTER ZONES

P
age 297



9

1 2 3

654

A key task of the Hemel Place and Town Centre Strategy 

is to promote the integration and understanding of Hemel 

Town Centre heritage assets, providing an understanding 

of the historic significance of the town centre as a whole.

Town Centre boundaryHemel Hempstead Town Centre - heritage asset **

7

Listed building

Building of interest

Building of merit

Old Town conservation area

Public art

The Old Town Centre

The original Marlowes

Sir Rowland Emmett’s mosaic mural to the Hillview Road 
elevation of the car park to the corner of Hillview Road and 
Marlowes

Watergarden Street

The Bank Building

Architectural detailing to buildings in Bridge Street

The New Town Centre

key

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

**The information shown on this diagram is extracted from ‘Hemel Hempstead Heritage Improvememt Study’ dated November 2021

*https://britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/england/dacorum-hemel-
hempstead-town-ward-dacorum-hertfordshire#.YZTTIU7P2Uk

LISTED BUILDINGS*

PUBLIC ART PIECES

CONSERVATION AREA

76
5
1

N

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - HISTORIC ASSETS

TOWN CENTRE HERITAGE ASSETS

P
age 298



10

N

2

6

5

7

1

3

4
8

- Gadebridge Park 

- Bunkers Park 

- Boxmoor 

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - green and blue infrastructure

Market 
Square

Marlowes

Gadebridge Park

Town Centre boundary

6 5

4

7

2 1

8

3

River Gade

Jellicoe Water Garden

Riverside green area

Waterhouse Street

The Walled Garden

Gadebridge Park

Paradise Fields

Heath Park

key

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

D E S T I N A T I O N 
PARKS IN HEMEL 
HEMPSTEAD:

GARDENS OF 
SPECIAL HISTORIC 
INTEREST FROM 
2010

RESTORATION OF 
JELLICOE WATER 
GARDEN IN 2017

JELLICOE 
WATER GARDEN

3

£3.5M

TOWN CENTRE GREEN AND BLUE     
INFRASTRUCTURE

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - GREEN&BLUE INFRASTRUCTURE

P
age 299



11

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - sentiment heat map*

*The information shown on this diagram is based on Commonplace interviews reported on the following website: https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/

N

Negative

Mostly negative

Neutral

Mostly positive

Positive

key

CONTRIBUTIONS*

RESPONDENTS*

479
187

TOWN CENTRE HEAT MAP

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - SENTIMENT MAP

P
age 300



2

1

1 2

12

Recommended mix of uses in strong city centres as 

indicarted in research report prepared by KPMG in 2021

office 
62%

food 
leisure
       6%

industrial 
8%

retail 
18%

warehouse
2%

other
4%

LACK OF CULTURAL AND 
LEISURE FACILITIES IN  TOWN 
CENTRE

REAL OPPORTUNITY TO 
DEVELOP THE NIGHT TIME 
ECONOMY

BUSINESSES  NEED  SUPPORT  AND  
A  NEW PURPOSE FOR STREET 
LEVEL ACRTIVITIES AND BUSINESS 
OPPORTUNITIES  NEED TO BE 
DEVELOPED

N

retail

takeaway

cafè/restaurant/pub

charity shop

estate agents

bank

nail/hair/beauty salons

Riverside Shopping Centre

key

convenience shop

other

college

residential

police station

job centre

unoccupied

Marlowes Shopping Centre

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - ground floor uses (diagram dated  November 2021)

Market 
Square

Bank Court

Marlowes

Waterhouse Street

Town Centre boundary

other
9%

takeaway
16%

retail
16%

unoccupied
13%

beauty
11%

estate
agent
           4%

charity
shops
    5%

banks
5%

convenience
shops
3%

betting shops
2%

cafe/restaurant
16%

opticians/gyms
1%

TOWN CENTRE GROUND FLOOR USES

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - GROUND FLOOR USES

P
age 301



2

1

1

2

13

N

retail

Civic

cafè/restaurant/pub

charity shop

residential

bank

college

Riverside Shopping Centre

key

police station

job centre

unoccupied

Marlowes Shopping Centre

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - first floor uses (diagram dated  January 2022)

Market 
Square

Marlowes

Waterhouse Street

Town Centre boundary

Recent changes in planning rules mean that a range of 

commercial premises could be converted to houses or 

flats without the need for planning permission.

Dacorum Borough Council (DBC) consider that these 

changes could potentially have a negative impact on the 

vitality and viability of Hemel Hempstead town centre, by 

impacting its ability to retain and attract businesses and 

jobs, as well as impacting the level of services available 

locally for Dacorum’s residents, workers and visitors.

Consequently, DBC  have made an Article 4 Direction 

covering parts of Hemel Hempstead town centre that 

will require any changes of use to residential to require 

planning permission. This Direction came into force on 

Thursday 29 July 2021.

An Article 4 Direction is now in place across parts of 

Hemel Hempstead town centre. A consultation was held 

in August 2021. The Direction has now been confirmed by 

the Council and remains in effect until it is modified or 

cancelled. 

art.4

source: https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/
planning-strategic-planning/article-4-directions

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - FIRST FLOOR USES

P
age 302



14

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - BUILDING HEIGHT

N

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - building height in Town Centre Town Centre boundary

G

G+1

G+2

G+3

G+4

G+5

G+6

G+7

G+8

G+9

G+21

key

P
age 303



15

N

Site 4 design principle and development requirements - diagram extracted from ‘Two Waters - Draft Masterplan Guidance, June 2017’ The Vision for the Two Waters Masterplan - diagram extracted from 
‘Two Waters - Draft Masterplan Guidance, June 2017’

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - TWO WATERS PROPOSAL

LANDMARK BUILDING 
UP TO 16 STOREYS 
PROPOSED AROUND 
THE PLOUGH 
ROUNDABOUT 
GATEWAY

G+15

P
age 304



P

P

P

P

P

P

B

N N

16

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - EXISTING TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - main vehicular circulation Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - public transport circulation

P

B

vehicular circulation

vehicular roundabout

parking area

bus route

bus stop

bus interchange

key

P
age 305



C

C

10 min walking

10 min walking

N N

17

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - cycle circulation Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - pedestrian circulation

cycle path

cycle parking

pedestrian path

pedestrian underpass

pedestrian bridge

shared surface area

1000 m

key

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE

INVESTED IN 
IMPROVEMENT 
OF PUBLIC 
REALM IN OLD 
TOWN AND 
MARLOWES AND 
RESTORATION 
OF JELLICOE 
WATER GARDENS

£30M+

P
age 306



18

5

1

9

10

1

6

1

7

1

8

SHARED SURFACE

BLUE INFRASTRUCTURE

GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

The Old Town shared surface

Unpleasant pedestrian 

connection between the 

Marlowes Shopping Centre Area 

and the Old Town

Lack of active frontages and 

activities along the River Gade

Presence of cars and delivery 

bays undervalue the walking 

experience along the canal

Lack of east-west green 

permeability through the Town 

Centre

Lack of well designed green 

spaces in the Marlowes Shopping 

Centre area

The market shared surface

The Marlowes shared surface

The Bank Court shared surface

The River Gade

Gadebridge Park

The Walled Garden

Jellicoe Water Garden

Paradise Fields

The Plough Roundabout

10

9

6

7

8

1

3

4

1

2

KEY ISSUES: KEY ASSETS: 

KEY ASSETS: 

KEY ASSETS: 

KEY ISSUES: 

KEY ISSUES: 

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - SUMMARY

P
age 307



19

Unexpressed potential of public 

land and  buildings

Majority of people have a 

mostly negative or negative 

perception of the Town Centre

Most of the negative comments 

are in the Marlowes Shopping 

Centre area and Market Square

SENTIMENT HEAT MAP

PUBLIC LAND AND BUILDINGS

Mostly positive

Positive

Neutral

Mostly Negative

Negative

7

1

2

3

4

5

6

The Forum

Civic Centre Site 

Gadebridge Park

Old Town Hall

Market Square

Water Gardens and Car Parks

Paradise Lane 

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

KEY ASSETS: KEY ISSUES: 

KEY ISSUES: 

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE - URBAN APPRAISAL - SUMMARY

P
age 308



WWW.THINKHEMEL.COM

P
age 309



APPENDIX 03
HEMEL 
HEMPSTEAD 
TOWN CENTRE 
VISION

DOC 005 - 09.02.2023

PUBLIC REALM OPPORTUNITIES

DRAFT

P
age 310



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TEXT PLACEHOLDER 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx

P
age 311



P
age 312



HEMEL IS A FAMILY OF WELCOMING 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND THRIVING 
COMMUNITIES. WORKING 
TOGETHER WE WILL SHAPE OUR 
FUTURE WITH CONFIDENCE.

SAFETY

HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

RESILIENCE

SUSTAINABILITY

DIGITAL 
TRANSFORMATION

SKILLS, 
SCHOOL & 
TECHNOLOGY

ENTERPRISE 
AND ECONOMY  

SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSPORTS

DBC CORPORATE VISION:

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP TO 
CREATE A BOROUGH WHICH 
ENABLES THE COMMUNITIES 
OF DACORUM TO THRIVE AND 
PROSPER

P
age 313



COMMUNITY COHESION

MEANWHILEHIGH-QUALITY 
HOMES

BIODIVERSITY

SOCIAL 
VALUE

MMC

CELEBRATING 
EXISTING 
ASSETS

P
age 314



6

H E M E L 
HEMPSTEAD 
POPULATION*

MILES NORTH-WEST OF 
LONDON

HENRY VIII GRANTED A 
CHARTER OF INCORPORATION 
TO HEMEL HEMPSTEAD

93,591

24

1539

WHERE IS HEMEL

*Dacorum Borough Council Data Dashboard - Hemel Hempstead total 
population in 2019

MINUTES

EUSTON 
STATION

30

MINUTES LUTON 
AIRPORT

25

P
age 315



7

HEMEL BUBBLE PLAN

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018953
*Map based on ‘Hemel Garden Communities - Programme Area_Draft_V6’ received from St Albans City and District Council on 22.12.2021 
Hemel Hempstead Bubble Plan*

Key

Kings Langley Neighbourhood Plan

Grovehill neighbourhood designated area

River Gade relocation project 

Old Town

Nickey Line to 
Redbourn & 
Harpenden

London

Tring

Strategic Movement Routes
Nickey Line Extension

Paradise Design Code

Two Waters

Town Centre boundary 

South Hemel Opportunity AreaSouth Hemel Opportunity Area

North and East Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas

Hemel Hempstead 
Station

Apsley 
Station1 2

Maylands Business Park and Herts IQ

Town Centre Hospital site

2

1

areas of influence

Riverside Shopping Centre 

Market Square 

Civic Centre site

Gadebridge

Warners End

Corner 
Hall

Chaulden

Boxmoor

Jarman Fields

Adeyfield

Bellgate

Old 
Town

Grovrehill

Woodhall Farm

The Heights

Bennetts End

Apsley

Leverstock Green

Local Centre

Nash 
Mills

Water 
Gardens

Proposed
Crematorium

Marlowes Shopping Centre 

Dacorum
 Borough Council

Dacorum Borough 
Council

St Albans City & District

St Albans City 
& DistrictDacorum Borough & St Albans District Boundary

P
age 316



8

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre was established in the 

1950s and 1960s as part of the Masterplan for the Hemel 

Hempstead New Town. The centre is linear in form and 

runs north to south along the valley floor. Geoffrey Jellicoe 

created the original plan based around the idea of a 

town in a park with generous open spaces in and around 

the town centre and the residential neighbourhoods. 

Whilst his Masterplan was substantially modified by the 

Development Corporation, his vision for the town centre 

was largely retained.

The main shopping area of the town centre was 

remodelled in the 1990s to include a pedestrianised area 

along Marlowes with an indoor shopping centre. Service 

yards flank Marlowes to the east and west.

To remedy this situation specific issues need to be 

addressed including the poor quality public realm 

characterised by dated frontages, surfaces and street 

furniture, and access and movement difficulties such as 

relate to pedestrians, cyclists, buses, taxis and private 

vehicles. The town centre has an underdeveloped evening 

and leisure economy and is failing to make the most of its 

natural and cultural assets. Regeneration and upgrading 

of key sites together with restoration of heritage assets 

is required to help secure the town centre’s long-term 

prosperity and to create an appealing, attractive and 

sustainable location with a high quality environment.

By 1962 the New Town Masterplan was substantially 

complete. Today, Hemel Hempstead rivals Watford as 

Hertfordshire’s largest town with a population of around 

94,000.

OLD TOWN

RIVERSIDE
SHOPPING CENTRE

OLD KODAC TOWER 
(REFURBISHED)

MARLOWES
SHOPPING CENTRE

JELLICOE WATER 
GARDENS

NEW TOWN CENTRE
(BANK COURT)

HEMEL HEMPSTEAD 
HOSPITAL

aerial view of Hemel Town Centre

P
age 317



9

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE

The Local Planning Framework Core Strategy identified 

seven distinct but interlinked zones with the town centre, 

each with a clear identity and character. These comprise 

the Old Town, the civic and educational area of the 

college and public sector uses along with the Market 

Square, the original area of Marlowes, the primary retail 

area along Marlowes, the Hospital and light industrial 

area of Paradise, the Water Gardens and the large scale 

buildings around the Plough roundabout. Accordingly, 

these seven areas are identified as individual “Character 

Zones” within the Core Strategy.

There is a marked difference between the Old Town in 

the north and the new town centre to the south. The 

Old Town is centred upon the High Street with its rich 

heritage and historic character. The High Street contains 

a concentration of listed buildings and is protected as a 

key part of the Old Town Conservation Area. In contrast, 

the primary shopping area focussed at the southern end 

of the town centre along Marlowes and the adjacent 

Water Gardens (registered in 2010 as a Garden of Special 

Historic Interest) exhibit a strong New Town character.

view of the High Street in Hemel Old Town

view of the Walled Gardens in Gadebridge Park looking north towards 
the spire of St Mary’s Church

view of Marlowes pedestrian area in the new town centre

view of Jellicoe Water Gardens looking south toward the Kodac tower

P
age 318



N

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

10

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE PUBLIC REALM OPPORTUNITY AREAS

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area Town Centre South

Bank Court opportunity area

Waterhouse Street opportunity area

1. BANK COURT

2. WATERHOUSE STREET

This historic financial centre of Hemel 

Hempstead, Bank Court is an attractive plaza 

with classic “New Town” architecture.

The LUF investment will take place in Hemel Hempstead 

town centre, spanning an area from the Old Town Hall 

in the north to Bank Court in the South. This represents 

a coherent strategy that will integrate the currently 

separate components of the town centre so that the 

whole is more than the sum of the parts. 

This area can be sub-divided into the following areas of 

focus: Town Centre South and Town Centre North

Town Centre South - Including the opportunity areas of 

Bank Court and Waterhouse Street

Proposed improvements in Town Centre South include: 

• improved lighting  

• a dedicated cycle route and shared surface treatment 

with more and safer crossings on Waterhouse Street 

• public realm enhancements at Bank Court to promote 

food and beverage uses 

• enhancement of East-West links between the Marlowes 

and Water Gardens heritage feature 

• creation of new green spaces and planting to enhance 

biodiversity 

• new seating 

• improved bus stops 

• new public art 

• creation of a heritage and wellbeing trail 

• a meanwhile use project to be delivered on Market 

Square, complemented by the development of a 

meanwhile use strategy for the town centre as a whole 

(identification of sites, projects, uses and partners 

with a delivery strategy) and delivery of the identified 

projects. 

Running parallel to the Marlowes Parade, 

Waterhouse Street abuts Bank Court and the 

Water Gardens. 

1

2

P
age 319



N

11

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE PUBLIC REALM OPPORTUNITY AREAS

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre North

Upper Marlowes opportunity area

St Mary’s Square an Old Town Hall 
opportunity area

Town Centre North - Including the opportunity areas of 

Upper Marlowes and St Mary’s Square and the Old Town 

Hall. 

3. UPPER MARLOWES

4. ST MARY’S SQUARE AND OLD TOWN 
HALL

Upper Marlowes reflects Hemel Hempstead’s 

varied architecture with old and new 

developments alongside one another.

The original town square acts as the focal point 

for the community, situated between the Old 

Town high street and St Mary’s Churchyard and 

Gadebridge Park. On the southern side of the 

square is located the Old Town Hall, a theatrical 

and cultural events venue located at the heart 

of Hemel Old Town.

3

4

Proposed improvements in Town Centre North include: 

• creation of dedicated cycle lanes and shared surface 

treatments and pavement improvements 

• improvement to existing green space including 

enhanced biodiversity 

• new public art and improved bus stop 

• a heritage and wellbeing trail 

• new seating and a new playful crossing feature 

• enhanced East-West connections including between 

the Old Town and Gadebridge Park 

• Removal of parking in St Marys Square and improve 

attractiveness of area  

 

Benefits 

The above outputs will achieve the following benefits: 

• Increased visitor numbers and footfall across the 

town centre 

• Improve connection between main destinations in 

Town Centre, Marlowes shopping area, Old Town, 

Water Gardens and Gadebridge Park  

• Greater visitor dwell times and levels of spend 

• Reduction in town centre voids 

• Uplift in property values, incentivising investment and 

promoting development and better use of underused 

sites and properties 

• Increased community participation in activities 

• Enhanced air quality and resident health 

• Greater pride in the town centre through an improved 

environment that celebrates the town’s identity 

• Greater safety, reduced crime and fear of crime 

• Increased range of activities in the town including 

an evening economy and use of public realm for 

community events 

• Increase attractiveness of Hemel Hempstead and 

reframe reputation to be a choice for leisure and 

investors   

P
age 320



N

12

1. BANK COURT - VISION FOR A NEW CAFE’ QUARTER 

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area Town Centre boundary

Bank Court 
opportunity area

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

Bank Court was the financial centre, and remains the 

geographic centre of the New Town. Residents would 

meet here and go about their business. It is centrally 

located between the Marlowes Parade and Waterhouse 

Street, and still experiences high footfall. However, as 

times have changed the way residents use high streets 

have changed. Bank Court needs to be brought into the 

2020s. Displaying the very best of Hemel Hempstead’s 

New Town architecture, Bank Court has the potential to 

be the new recreation heart of the town. Utilising the 

sheltered outdoor space close to attractive buildings and 

the Water Gardens, Bank Court could be Hemel’s new Café 

Quarter. It can also serve as a strategic East-West route 

between Waterhouse Street and the Marlowes.

The components of the proposed interventions at Banke 

Court are: 

• enhancement of the public realm at Bank Court 

to create a strategic East-West route between 

Waterhouse Street and the Marlowes and to encourage 

economic activity with the objective of becoming 

Hemel’s new Café Quarter, 

• building on the site’s New Town architecture and views 

to the Water Gardens

• enhanced lighting, pedestrian and cycle links

• creation of shared surfaces, planting and seating

• creation of biodiverse green spaces

P
age 321



13

1. BANK COURT - VISION FOR A NEW CAFE’ QUARTER 

Bank Court Yesterday Bank Court Today

P
age 322



N

14

1. BANK COURT - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

Bank Court site boundary: 4,760 sqm Active frontage Inactive frontage Access to residential property Access to commercial property

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

River 
Gade

Bank Court

Marlowes Parade

Jellicoe Water Gardens

10m 22m

36m

13m

13m

13m

44m35m 25m

3m

Bank Court map - existing condition

1

Liberty Tea Rooms and 
Community Centre

1 Coral 
Bookmakers

2 Jenny’s Restaurant 
and Take Away

3 Computer Care4 A.T. Nails5 Caffe’ Nero6 The Hospice of St Francis7 Vodafone8

Willow9 La Belle beauty lounge10 NatWest Bank11 NatWest Bank12 Barclays Bank13

2 3

4 5

6

8

7

9

1012

1113

P
age 323



15

1. BANK COURT - EXISTING CONDITION

Bank Court aerial view

Jellicoe Water Gardens Waterhouse Street Bank Court Marlowes Parade

CONSTRAINTS

OPPORTUNITIES

• Bank Court has some architectural challenges, 

with the low ceiling of the entry point from Marlowes, old/

weathered materials, and size limitations.

• It is part residential with restrictions around 

noise, light, and opening times. From a pedestrian’s point 

of view, it is difficult to see Bank Court from the Marlowes.

• Designed by Jellicoe as the centre of the New Town, 

Bank Court has an embodied advantage for development. 

It is prominent, walkable, and safe for residents with 

great potential for leisure and recreation use, especially 

café culture.

• Bank Court has the best view of the Water Gardens, 

and is the prime demonstration of the “town in a garden” 

spirit.

P
age 324



16

1. BANK COURT - VISION FOR A NEW CAFE’ QUARTER 

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.9

1.11

1.10

1.2

1.1

1.4

1.3

Wate
rho

use
 

Stree
t

Marlo
wes 

Par
ade

River
 GadeJell

icoe
 Wate

r 

Gard
ens

IMPROVED EAST WEST CONNECTION

P
age 325



17

1. BANK COURT - VISION FOR A NEW CAFE’ QUARTER 

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

1.12 

Improvement of the lighting along the River Gade to improve 
the walkability of Waterhoouse Street without compromising 
the wildlife of the river

Creation of a dedicated cycle route along Waterhouse Street 
to promote and support active and sustainable means of travel

Potential to transform part of Waterthouse Street in a shared 
surface street in order to improve the walking experience along 
the River Gade and support the creation of a café quarter

Public realm upgrades in the Bank Court pedestrian area by 
introducing new planters and seating areas

The Bank Court to be the ‘new western entrance’ to the Town 
Centre. Potential to relocate the banks in the Marlowes 
shopping area and replace the banks with cafés and restaurants 

Potential to maximise the use of the terrace above the bank 
court buildings by introducing rooftop bars/restaurants with 
views looking towards the Jellicoe Water Gardens (interventions 
not to be included in the LUF cost plan as buildings are not in 
DBC ownership)

Improve the east-west connection between Water Garden-Bank 
Court-Marlowes by introducing suspended seasonal art and 
lighting installation

Introduction of a new green space at the heart of the courtyard 
to reinstate the original Jellicoe concept, improve the public 
realm and give to the Bank Court residents the opportunity to 
look into a new green area

Promote improvement works to shop front and development 
of a new design guide is helping to raise the standard of shop 
fronts and signs across the Town Centre

Promote the installation of high quality seating area in the 
Marlowes Parade to facilitate the creation of a cafe’/restaurant 
quarter

Improve the biodiversity of existing green areas in the Marlowes 
parade by planting new plant species, flowers and trees

New lamp post banners to enhance the new entrance to the 
Town Centre. Intervention  to create a vibrant gateway, 
including an art commission which celebrates the local identity 
of Bank Court.

1.5 1.12 1.4 1.8 1.7 1.21.31.61.1

CAFE’
RESTAURANT

Roof top with a view 
towards the Jellivcoe 

Water Gardens

RIVER GADE

Waterhouse       Street

Roof extension on existing 
Bank Court buildings

P
age 326



N

18

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area Town Centre boundary

Waterhouse Street 
opportunity area

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Waterhouse Street occupies an underused area in the 

town centre. Situated between the Jellicoe Water Gardens 

to the East and the Marlowes to the West, Waterhouse 

Street has unique characteristics for Hemel Hempstead. 

Imaginative repurposing and bold design interventions 

along Waterhouse Street is key to enhancing East-West 

connectivity in the town centre.

Currently, Waterhouse Street is a barrier between 

the Marlowes and the Water Gardens. It is a vehicle-

dominated road running parallel to the pedestrianised 

high street, dividing open public spaces. Developing 

enhanced connections between Waterhouse Street and 

sites one and two would greatly improve accessibility to 

the Water Gardens, and embrace Jellicoe’s original New 

Town principles of a town in a garden.

The components of the proposed interventions along 

Waterhouse Street are: 

• Improvements to Waterhouse Street to enhance East-

West connectivity 

• improving accessibility between the Water Gardens 

and the rest of the town centre through shared surface 

treatments 

• attractive street furniture

• enhanced cycle and pedestrian facilities

• paving improvements

• improved bus stops

• parklets 

• heritage and wellbeing trails 

• new public art 

P
age 327



19

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - EXISTING CONDITION

Waterhouse Street Yesterday Waterhouse Street Today

P
age 328



N

20

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - EXISTING CONDITION

Waterhouse Street map - existing condition

Jellicoe Water Gardens Play area

Bank Court

Waterhouse Street

Primark

69 Waterhouse Street Service yard Service yardService yard

Service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

existing bus stop that 

reduces the width of 

pavement

inconsistent 
street lighting 
design between 
Moor End Rd and 
Waterhouse St

inconsistent balustrade design 
along Waterhouse St

inconsistent balustrade design 
along Waterhouse St

inconsistent balustrade design 
along Waterhouse St

Lieghton Buzzard Road

Cotterells

B
rid

g
e R

o
a

d

M
o

o
r E

nd
 R

o
a

d

Marlowes Parade

Riverside Car Park Watergardens Car Park (South)

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

10m

318m

9.5m

11m

River Gade

Waterhouse Street site boundary

P
age 329



21

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - EXISTING CONDITION

Bank CourtMarlowes ParadeBridge Street Riverside 
Car Park

Leighton 
Buzzard Road

Waterhouse 
Street

Jellicoe Water 
Gardens

CONSTRAINTS

OPPORTUNITIES

• Heading north, Waterhouse Street is taxi and bus 

only from Moor End Road to Bridge Street. Heading south 

it is one-way for private vehicles from Bridge Street as 

well.

• There are only three pedestrian bridges over the 

River Gade along this section: two opposite Bank Court 

and one being Bridge Street itself.

• The street is regularly used as access for deliveries 

to the back of retail units fronting onto the Marlowes.

• Waterhouse Street is the perfect site for dedicated 

sustainable and active travel routes. The Marlowes 

Parade, running parallel to Waterhouse Street, is already 

pedestrianised and well used.

• As modes of personal transport modes such as 

cycles and electric scooters grow in popularity, Waterhouse 

Street could host dedicated cycle/scooter lanes, avoiding 

the explicitly pedestrianised areas. This would improve 

safety for residents and make the town centre more 

accessible.

• Extending these active travel pathways to 

Hemel Hempstead station through Station Road and 

London Road will improve overall connectivity in Hemel 

Hempstead.

• Areas such as Bank Court, Riverside shopping 

centre, and passageways either side of Primark can be 

developed into new East-West connections to improved 

areas of public realm, with shared surfaces and attractive 

street furniture.
Waterhouse Street aerial view

P
age 330



N NN

Bridge Road

22

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - EXISTING CONDITION

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - existing street frontages 

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - existing bus routes

existing cycle racksExisting bus routes

existing bus stop existing bus stop area

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service 
yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - existing servicing and parking  

accessible parking 
bay

servicing routes

traditional parking bay taxi parking bay

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

Inactive street 
frontage

Existing active street 
frontages to be maintained

Access to  residential properties 
along Waterhouse Street

delivery access along 
Waterhouse Street 

Bus and Taxi only 
on Moor End Rd

P
age 331



N NN

23

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - EXISTING CONDITION

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service 
yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Bridge Road

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

Waterhouse Street map - existing lighting

existing light fitting type 2existing light fitting type 1  

Waterhouse Street map - road and pavement surface 

area with potential but 
perceived as back of house 
space and lack of proper 
drop off point

good quality pavement area

lack of connection between 
Marlowes Parade and Waterhouse 
Street

Waterhouse Street map - existing green spaces  

existing light touch 
greening and benches

existing play area

existing green space

exsting trees along Waterhouse 
Street

P
age 332



24

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

N

    

Waterhouse Street map - proposed public realm interventions

Jellicoe Water Gardens Play area

Bank 
Court

Waterhouse Street

River Gade

Primark

69 Waterhouse Street service yard service yardservice yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Lieghton Buzzard Road

Cotterells

B
rid

g
e R

o
a

d

M
o

o
r E

nd
 R

o
a

d

Marlowes Parade

Riverside Car Park Watergardens Car Park (South)

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

4.5m
3m
3m

4m

3m

3.5m
3m
3m

Waterhouse Street site boundary

2.1

2.6 2.82.7

2.10 2.14

2.9
2.9

2.9

2.16

2.18

2.15
2.15

2.15

2.15

2.13 2.13 2.222.17
2.9

2.11

2.12

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.42.4

P
age 333



25

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

2.1

2.5

2.9

2.12

2.4

2.8

2.13

2.16

2.18

2.17

2.3

2.7

2.11

2.15

2.20

2.20

2.22

2.2

2.6

2.10

2.14

2.19

Pavement improvements: increase width 

and quality of pavement and creation of 

a dedicated drop-off and pick-up point

Paving improvements: Improve the 

pavements to make the area more 

attractive for all users and to enhance 

supporting activity. Shared surface area 

to allow to vehicular/delivery access to 

Riverside Shopping Centre and Primark 

building

Parklets: Integration of parklets, stalls 

and/or movable planters into car park 

spaces to increase activities and greening 

in the street

Cycle experience improvements: provide 

new cycle parking space to support cyclists 

Light touch greening: Incorporate 

planting within the street to enhance the 

pedestrian environment.

Enhancing ecology and biodiversity: 

Improve and further develop greener and 

more ecological edges and spaces long 

Waterhouse Street by adding new trees 

and green edges

Play and wellbeing street: Provide playful 

stopping points along the river walk along 

with exercise area to promote health and 

wellbeing

Highlighting local landmarks: Highlight 

historic buildings and landmarks by adding 

feature lighting. Development of heritage 

trail to bring Hemel past to life

Cafe’ and restaurant to spill out space: 

commercial units in Bank Court to use 

public space as external spill out space and 

contribute to the maintenance and upkeep 

Heritage and wellbeing trails: development 

of new wayfinding along walking and 

cycling routes to promote heritage and 

wellbeing trails (e.g. on floor signage, 

public art)  

Cycle experience improvements: Improve 

quality of paving along bridge to provide 

a legible and safe pedestrian and two-way 

cycle route, including clear demarcation 

between vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians.

Improved bus stop: Improve current bus 

stop on Waterhouse Street to make it  

more colourful and inviting 

Enhancing ecology and biodiversity: 

improve existing green space by adding 

new trees, plants and flowers to improve 

biodiversity

Level street crossings: Provide continuous 

pedestrian footways across side roads to 

prioritise pedestrians and improve safety.

New public art: Improve the east-west 

connection between Waterhouse Street 

and Marlowes by introducing suspended 

seasonal art and lighting installation on 

both sides of Primark building

New public art: Creation of new artwork 

piece to enhance the design/visual quality 

of the spaces, and encourage people to 

pause in these shared spaces and interact 

to promote social wellbeing.

Playful benches: Painting existing benches 

and bins to add more colours to the street

Playful crossing: Introduce a playful

crossing feature to enhance the walking 

experience along Waterhouse Street

Improved lighting: Improve the provision 

of lighting to increase safety and legibility 

of routes. New lighting to improve the 

walkability of Waterhoouse Street without 

compromising the wildlife of the river

Pavement improvements: create a shared 

surface area in front of Water Gardens in 

order to improve connection with Bank 

Court and make the area more attractive 

for all users and to enhance supporting 

activities

Accessibility improvements: maintain 

same quantity of accessible parking bays 

along Waterhouse Street improving the 

quality of the parking street surface

A new active frontage along Waterhouse 

Street on both corners of the Primark 

building and 91 Waterhouse Street 
(interventions not to be included in the LUF cost plan 
as buildings are not in DBC ownership)

P
age 334



N NN

Bridge Road

26

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - active street frontages and key connections 

Proposed new active street 
frontages

Existing active street 
frontages to be maintained

pedestrian connections to 
be enhanced 

focal point to be enhanced 

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - proposed bus and cycle routes

Proposed bus routeExisting bus routes

existing bus stop

proposed cycle routes

cycle racks

new bus stop

dedicated cycle lane 

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service 
yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Taxi parking bays 
could potentially 
be relocated near 
Riverside shopping 
Centre

proposed 
new bus stop 
on Lieghton 
Buzzard Rd

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - proposed servicing and parking  

accessible parking 
bay

servicing routes

drop-off/pick-up point flexible area for parklets, 
stalls, movable planters

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

P
age 335



N NN

27

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - proposed lighting 

festoon lights at Bank 
Court to enhance the new 
gateway to New Town and 
Marlowes Parade

a new consistent low hight 
lighting along the pedestrian 
and cycle lane   

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - road and pavement surface 

level street crossingshared surface

flexible space for parkletes, stalls 
and/or movable planters

outdoor exercise and play 
area

playful crossing 

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

River Gade

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens

R
iv

er
 G

a
d

e

Primark

service 
yard

service 
yard

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Riverside 
Car Park

Bridge Road

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

Watergardens 
Car Park (South)

Waterhouse Street map - proposed green spaces  

light touch greening and 
benches

existing green space to improve 
with more trees, plants and flowers

new trees along pavement

Bridge Road

L
ie

g
ht

o
n 

B
uz

za
rd

 R
o

a
d

P
age 336



28

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

MARLOWES PARADE

EAST -W
EST    

CONNECTIO
N

TWO-WAY 

CYCLE LANE

BANK

COURT

PRIMARK

RIVERSIDE

RIVERSIDE

JELLICOE WATER GARDENS

LEIGHTON BUZZARD ROAD

RIVER GADE

2.13

2.13 2.102.22

2.11

2.17

2.3
2.6

2.13

2.9

2.9

2.9

2.16

2.18

2.4

2.4

2.20

2.19

2.2

2.21

2.22

2.2 2.32.112.6

2.212.18

2.17

2.16

2.19

2.19

2.5

2.22

2.5

2.20

2.20

2.72.15

P
age 337



29

2. WATERHOUSE STREET - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

2.20 2.42.192.42.21 2.6

2.3

2.2

2.5

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.13

2.16

2.18

2.17

2.19

2.20

2.21

2.22

Playful crossing: Introduce a playful crossing feature to link 
towards to the linear park

Cycle experience improvements: Improve quality of paving 
along bridge to provide a legible and safe pedestrian and 
two-way cycle route, including clear demarcation between 
vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians.

Light touch greening: Incorporate planting within the street 
to enhance the pedestrian environment.

Shared surface area to allow to vehicular/delivery access to 
Riverside Shopping Centre and Primark building

New high quality lighting to improve the walkability of 
Waterhoouse Street without compromising the wildlife of the 
river

Integration of parklets, stalls and/or movable planters into car 
park spaces to increase activities and greening in the street

create a shared surface area in front of Water Gardens in 
order to improve connection with Bank Court and make the 
area more attractive for all users and to enhance supporting 
activities

improve existing green space by adding new trees, plants and 
flowers to improve biodiversity
Provide playful stopping points along the river walk along with 

exercise area to promote health and wellbeing

Highlight historic buildings and landmarks by adding feature 
lighting. Development of heritage trail to bring Hemel past to 
life

Heritage and wellbeing trails: development of new wayfinding 
along walking and cycling routes to promote heritage and 
wellbeing trails (e.g. on floor signage, public art) 

Cafe’ and restaurant to spill out space: commercial units in 
Bank Court to use public space as external spill out space and 
contribute to the maintenance and upkeep
New active frontages along Waterhouse Street (interventions 

not to be included in the LUF cost plan as buildings are not in 
DBC ownership) 

Improve the east-west connection between Waterhouse Street 
and Marlowes by introducing suspended seasonal art and 
lighting installation on both sides of Primark building

Playful benches: Painting existing benches and bins to add 
more colours to the street

Creation of a new artwork piece to enhance the quality of the 
spaces, and encourage people to pause in these shared spaces 
and interact to promote social wellbeing

P
age 338



N

Queensway

Queensway

Gadebridge 

Park

Keens Field

30

3. UPPER MARLOWES - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre boundary

Upper Marlowes 
opportunity area

Upper Marlowes is an important site in the town centre. 

The street hosts a range of public services, from West 

Herts College, the council and library in the Forum, and 

the NHS health and wellbeing centre. There are several 

businesses based here, mostly professional services to the 

south, and hospitality, culture, and leisure to the north. 

There is significant footfall due to the nearby Gadebridge 

Park and the further education college. Several buildings 

along this site are of heritage value, such as The Bury, 

Old Hempstead House, and the Victorian dwellings along 

Upper Marlowes.

The components of the proposed interventions along 

Upper Marlowes are: 

• enhancing the connection between the Old Town and 

the Marlowes through creating shared surfaces, new 

cycle infrastructure, heritage and wellbeing trails, 

pavement improvements 

• creation of biodiverse green spaces, public art, 

• enhanced public realm treatment around local 

landmark buildings 

• improved bus stops

Combe Street

Midland Road

Dacorum Way

Warners E
nd Road

Alexandra Road

H
igh Street

Market 

Square

M
a

rl
o

w
es

P
age 339



31

3. UPPER MARLOWES - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

Marlowes Yesterday Marlowes Today

P
age 340



27m

29m
25m

23m

400m

140m

18m

19m

13.5m

30m

32

3. UPPER MARLOWES - EXISTING CONDITION

N

Upper Marlowes map - existing condition

Upper Marlowes site boundary

Marlowes

Marlowes

The Forum West Herts College

The Bury

River
Gade

West Herts 
College

Police 
Station

D
a
co

rum
 W

a
y

C
o

m
b

e Street

M
id

la
nd

 R
o

a
d

Alex
andra Road

Q
ueensw

ay

Q
ueensw

a
y

Civic Centre Site

Marlowes 
Heath and 
Wellbeing 
Centre

Maitland Joseph House

Carey Baptist 
Church

Car Park
Alexandra 
Road

P
age 341



33

3. UPPER MARLOWES - EXISTING CONDITION

CONSTRAINTS

OPPORTUNITIES

• The town centre is very long, approximately 

1.5km, and the town centre economy cannot support a 

sustained retail offering along the whole route.

• Although there are pedestrian crossings, there is 

frequent traffic along the road, with bad parking practices 

as well.

• The retail units on the north east of the upper 

Marlowes occupy historic buildings but appear rundown 

and cramped with parking and street furniture obstructing.

• Upper Marlowes occupies a strategic location, 

serving as the connection between the Old Town and the 

Marlowes Parade.

• The top of the Upper Marlowes, merging onto 

Queensway, could become a shared surface area to better 

connect the two economic centres and adjacent public 

space.

• Existing street furniture, such as the wrought 

metal gateway into the Old Town, benches, and cycle 

storage, can be enhanced to create a preferred location 

for resting and storing cycles.

Upper Marlowes aerial view

The Forum Midland 
Road

Old Odeon 
Cinema

Civic Centre 
Site

West Herts 
College

QueenswayThe Bury Carey Baptist 
Church

The Marlowes

P
age 342



N NN

34

3. UPPER MARLOWES - EXISTING CONDITION

Upper Marlowes map - existing bus and cycle routes

existing cycle racksExisting bus routes

existing bus stop existing bus stop area

Upper Marlowes map - existing car routes and parking  

accessible parking 
bay

car routes

traditional parking bay taxi parking bay

Car Park

Inactive street 
frontage

Existing green shrub

Existing active street 
frontages to be maintained

existing low level wall and private 
front garden

Upper Marlowes map - existing street frontages 

P
age 343



N NN

35

3. UPPER MARLOWES - EXISTING CONDITION

Upper Marlowes map - existing listed buildings and conservation areasUpper Marlowes map - road and pavement surface 

area with potential for 
shared surface pavement

good quality pavement area

Crossing point with traffic lights

Traditional street crossing point

Upper Marlowes map - existing green spaces  

existing green space Listed Buildings Old Town conservation 
area

Building of Local Interest

Building of architectural merit
existing TPO

P
age 344



36

3. UPPER MARLOWES - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

N

Upper Marlowes map - proposed public realm improvements

Upper Marlowes site boundary

Marlowes

Marlowes

The Forum

West Herts College

The Bury

River
Gade

West Herts 
College

Police 
Station

D
a
co

rum
 W

a
y

C
o

m
b

e Street

M
id

la
nd

 R
o

a
d

Alex
andra Road

Q
ueensw

ay

Q
ueensw

a
y

Civic Centre Site

Marlowes 
Heath and 
Wellbeing 
Centre

Maitland Joseph 
House

Carey Baptist 
Church

Car Park
Alexandra 
Road

3.13.13 3.2 3.3 3.93.5 3.83.7

3.7

3.11
3.11

3.12
3.11

3.4

3.1

3.13 3.14

3.6

3.15

3.15

3.103.3

P
age 345



37

3. UPPER MARLOWES - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

Marlowes
Marlowes

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.12

3.123.6

3.2

3.10

Pavement improvements: create a shared 

surface area in front of Carey Baptist 

Church at the junction between the 

Marlowes and Dacorum Way

Pavement improvements: create a new 

seating area with wooden benches in the 

existing green space

Pavement improvements: removal 

of  existing retaining wall facing the 

Marlowes and adjustment of ground 

levels. Creation of new steps to allow 

accessibility to green space and seating 

area

Pavement improvements: removal 

of  existing retaining wall facing the 

Marlowes and adjustment of ground levels. 

Creation of new steps to allow better 

accessibility to Carey Baptist Church

Pavement improvements: create a shared 

surface parking area

Pavement improvements: create a 

shared surface area between the West 

Herts College, Gadebridge Park entrance 

and Old Town entrance at the junction 

between Queensway, Alexandra Road and 

the Marlowes. 

3.1

3.8

Cycle experience improvements: creation 

of dedicate cycle lanes with green space 

buffer zone between the road and the 

cycle lane

Playful crossing: Introduce a playful

crossing feature to enhance the walking 

experience along the Marlowes
3.3 Heritage and wellbeing trails: development 

of new wayfinding along walking and 

cycling routes to promote heritage and 

wellbeing trails (e.g. on floor signage, 

public art)  

3.15

3.14

3.13 Cycle experience improvements: provide 

new cycle parking space to support cyclists 

Highlighting local landmarks: upgrade and 

refurbishment of existing shop front (Cost 

not to be included in LUF application )

Improved bus stop: relocation of bus stop 

to allow creation of dedicated cycle lanes

3.7 Enhancing ecology and biodiversity: 

improve existing green space by adding 

new trees, plants and florwers to improve 

biodiversity

3.9 New public art: Creation of new artwork 

piece to enhance the design/visual quality 

of the spaces, and encourage people to 

pause in these shared spaces and interact 

to promote social wellbeing.

3.11 Highlighting local landmarks: Highlight 

historic buildings and landmarks by adding 

feature lighting. Development of heritage 

trail to bring Hemel past to life

P
age 346



N NN

38

Upper Marlowes map - existing bus and cycle routes

existing cycle racks to be maintained

new cycle lane (MAT 05)

existing cycle racks to be relocated

new cycle racks

Existing bus routes retained

New cycle lanes

bus stop to be relocated

existing bus to be maintained

Upper Marlowes map - proposed car routes and parking  

car routes location of traditional parking 
bay to be maintained

Car Park

Relocate 
existing cycle 
racks

Relocate 
existing cycle 
racks to allow 
creation of new 
cycle lane

Location for potential new 
active frontages

Upper Marlowes map -  active street frontages and key connections 

Crossing point to be maintained

New artistic painted crossing 
point

3. UPPER MARLOWES - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

pedestrian connections to 
be enhanced 

focal point to be enhanced 

P
age 347



N NN

39

Upper Marlowes map - wayfinds and landmarksUpper Marlowes map - road and pavement surface 

new shared surface area

existing finish of pavement 
(asphalt or slabs) to be replaced 
with new paving slabs

Upper Marlowes map - existing green spaces  

Highlight historic buildings by adding 

feature lighting 
key view point

new wayfindings

new public art

Upgrade and refurbishment of 
existing shop front
(Cost not to be included in LUF)

3. UPPER MARLOWES - PROPOSED PUBLIC REALM IMPROVEMENTS

level street crossing

removal of  existing retaining wall and 
adjustment of ground levels.
Creation of new steps, seating areas 
and new paving

existing green space to be improved 
with more trees, plants and flowers to 
enhance biodiversity

new green space

new seating area in existing 
green space

green lane to provide separation 
between road and cycle lane

P
age 348



N

Queensway

Queensway

Gadebridge 

Park

Keens Field

40

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre boundary

Upper Marlowes 
opportunity area

St Mary’s square acts as the focal point for the community, 

situated between the Old Town high street, and St Mary’s 

Churchyard and Gadebridge Park. The Old Town Hall is 

adjacent, a theatrical and cultural events venue located 

at the heart of Hemel Old Town. This area is a brilliant 

community asset in need of greater development. 

The components of the proposed interventions in St 

Mary’s Square are: 

• pavement improvements

• enhanced lighting, new street furniture and installation 

of new planters

• Use of public realm interventions and cultural activities 

to improve the east-west connection between 

Gadebridge Park, St Mary’s Square and the Old Town 

• enhance the setting of key cultural and community 

buildings

Combe Street

Midland Road

Dacorum Way

Warners E
nd Road

Alexandra Road

H
igh Street

Market 

Square

M
a

rl
o

w
es

4 - ST MARY’S SQUARE AND OLD TOWN HALL - EXISTING CONDITION

P
age 349



41

Old Town Yesterday St Mary’s Square Today

4 - ST MARY’S SQUARE AND OLD TOWN HALL  - EXISTING CONDITION

P
age 350



30m

18m
56m

50m

14m

65m

28m

3.5m

3.5m

3m

42

4 - ST MARY’S SQ. AND OLD TOWN HALL - EXISTING CONDITION

St Mary’s Square and Olt Town Hall site boundary

N

St Mary’s Square map - existing condition

St Mary’s Church

Old 
Town 
Hall

Gadebridge
Park

H
igh

Street

St Mary’s 
Square

St Mary’s Cl

Car Park 
(High Street)

existing 
parking 
bays

existing 
benches

existing 
bollards

P

P

P
age 351



43

4 - ST MARY’S SQ. AND OLD TOWN HALL  - EXISTING CONDITION

CONSTRAINTS

OPPORTUNITIES

• St Mary’s Square is used as a disabled car park 

during the day.

• The presence of cars further separates the high 

street from St Mary’s Church and Gadebridge Park.

• The Old Town Hall is a small venue. This limits its 

potential usage.

 

• An access route between Gadebridge Park and 

the Old Town, connecting the footfall of the park to the 

picturesque high street nearby.

Upper Marlowes aerial view

Gadebridge 
Park

Walled 
Garden

Old Town 
Hall

St Mary’s 
Square

High Street St Mary’s 
Church

P
age 352



44

N

St Mary’s Square map - proposed interventions

St Mary’s Church

Old 
Town 
Hall

Gadebridge
Park

H
igh

Street

St Mary’s 
Square

4.3

4.1

4.7

4.7

4.6

4.6

4.8

4.8

4.5

4.2

4.4St Mary’s Cl

Car Park 
(High Street)

4 - ST MARY’S SQ. AND OLD TOWN HALL - PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS

P
age 353



45

4 - ST MARY’S SQ. AND OLD TOWN HALL - PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS

4.1

4.5

4.2

4.6

4.3

4.7

4.4

4.8

Pavement improvements: relocation of 

parking spaces in High Street Car Park 

and removal of existing bollards to create 

a more flexible space for events, markets 

and festivals

Improved lighting: creation of a new 

uplights  to illuminate trees around St 

Mary’s Church and improve walkability 

experience between Gadebridge Park and 

Old Town

Street Furniture: installation of new 

transportable planters with integrated 

seating areas 

Improved lighting: creation of a new 

lighting installation in the green space 

around St Mary’s Church to enhance 

connection between park, church and Old 

Town square

Creation of new active frontages on both 

sides of St Mary’s Square (interventions not to 
be included in the LUF cost plan)

Street Furniture: creation of a new metal 

portal/s at the entrance of St Mary’s Cl 

from Gadebridge Park

Street Furniture: creation of temporary 

pup-up store to support activation of the 

Old Town Square

Use of public realm interventions and 

cultural activities to improve the east-

west connection between Gadebridge 

Park, St Mary’s Square and the Old Town

P
age 354



46

CASE STUDIES

A number of initiatives from around the world reveal diverse approaches to placemaking implementation, yet strikingly all show 

rapid impact and meaningful community participation. A closer look at several of them can help envision how placemaking 

initiatives are being developed, implemented, and scaled.

MILAN, Italy - Piazze Aperte

Through a tactical urban planning 

intervention, the city of Milan is building new 

spaces for residents to meet and socialize 

through the project “Piazze Aperte”. 

This intervention will be accompanied by 

paintings on the ground, the installation of 

racks for bicycles and temporary bollards to 

ensure respect for the pedestrian areas. The 

goal for these light interventions is to lead 

to structural changes across neighborhoods 

and public spaces.
Piazza Dergano - before Piazza Dergano - after

BARCELONA, Spain - Superblock

With these superblocks (“Superilles” 

in Catalan), up to nine city blocks are 

combined. Pedestrians and cyclists have 

priority within these superblocks. The 

dreary gray of the street is replaced by 

planted raised beds, flower pots and trees. 

Streets become an extended living room. 

You can hear children laughing instead of 

the noise of the car, breathe in fresh air 

instead of exhaust fumes, and meet relaxed 

residents who talk to each other.
Sant Antoni Superilla in Barcellona - before and after

ABEELSTRAAT, Belgium - School Street

A School Street is a road closure strategy 

to restrict motorised traffic, where walking 

and cycling zones are created in front of 

schools, at least during dropoff and pick 

up times. School Streets are emerging as 

a low-cost, simple intervention to reduce 

vehicle usage, pollution, improve safety, 

as well as encourage walking and cycling 

in an effort to enhance community health 

and increased comfort among children, and 

their families.
School Street in Abeelstraat

King’s Cross is one of the largest and most 

successful redevelopments in London. 

An underused industrial site has been 

transformed and rejuvenated with new 

streets, squares and parks, homes, shops, 

offices, galleries, bars, restaurants, schools, 

and even a university. The location, the 

connections, the canal-side setting, the 

heritage, an exciting cultural scene, a 

thriving business community, and a strong 

sense of local community.
Public space at King’s Cross in London

LONDON, United Kingdom  - King’s Cross

Communities can transform underused 

areas of Los Angeles largest public asset 

into active, vibrant, and accessible 

public space with People St, a program 

of the City of Los Angeles Department 

of Transportation. Eligible Community 

Partners can apply for approval to create 

projects that enhance the quality of life in 

this city. The Application Cycle features two 

innovative types of projects are available: 

Plazas and Parklets.
Livable streets in Los Angeles

LOS ANGELES, U.S.A. - People Street

UTRECHT, Netherlands - Catharijnesingel canal

Utrecht is restoring the beautiful 

Catharijnesingel canal that had been 

filled in during the 1970s to make a large 

highway.  The removal of the motorway is 

in line with the new Utrecht policies that 

determine that the main road users in 

the city are people cycling and walking, 

not people using private cars, a broader 

attempt by the municipality to sideline the 

car and promote healthier living.
Catharijnesingel canal in 2009 Catharijnesingel canal in 2018

LONDON, United Kingdom - Folly for a Flyover

Folly for a Flyover transformed a fenced-off 

undercroft of the A12 motorway in Hackney 

Wick into a public outdoor waterside 

cinema, café and performance space 

that bring the community together in a 

forgotten, disused corner of the city. Folly 

for a Flyover was assembled by a team 

of volunteers over the course of a month, 

using reclaimed and donated materials. It 

remains in place for six weeks, staging a 

series of movies and performances as part 

of the Create festival.

Images of Folly for a Flyover

P
age 355



47

Image of Southwark Bridge Image of Westminster Bridge

Aberfeld Street - before Aberfeld Street - after

St Christopher’s Place is a square near 

Oxford Street, full of shops and restaurants. 

It is an oasis of calm, a completely different 

experience to the crowds and tourist shops 

on Oxford Street. It has a village feel, there 

are wooden benches to relax on and hanging 

baskets full of colourful flowers. This area 

feels unique rather than uniform with many 

independent shops and with canopies and 

umbrellas outside the restaurants.
Images of St Chistopher’s Place 

LONDON, United Kingdom - St Christopher’s Place

Illuminated River is a large-scale public art 

commission which lights up nine bridges in 

central London across the River Thames.

Designed by American artist Leo Villareal 

in collaboration with British architects 

Lifschutz Davidson Sandilands, it uses LED 

light fittings to produce sequenced patterns 

of moving light across the bridge structures. 

Each of the bridges has been lit differently, 

in part as a consequence of them all being 

built differently, but also to reflect local 

areas.

LONDON, United Kingdom - Illuminated River

Aberfeldy Street is a street in Poplar 

which has undertaken a huge makeover. 

All shopfronts along the street have been 

painted with bright colours and patterns. 

Part of a project to boost businesses 

during lockdown. It’s a response to the 

economic havoc being caused by Covid-19 

pandemic. The colours and patterns have 

been designed by local people and inspired 

by the Bangladeshi tradition of Kantha 

which is about recycling and transforming 

something old into something new. 

LONDON, United Kingdom - Aberfeldy Street

Inspired by the magical Mary Poppins, the 

Umbrella Sky Project first appeared in 2011 

as a part of the famous annual Ágitagueda 

Art Festival in the Portuguese city of 

Águeda. Every summer, Sextafeira designs 

a handful of the city’s narrow streets with 

colorful umbrella canopies that provide 

shade for the pedestrians passing through. 

Rooftop cables are strung with numerous 

parasols that help cool the roadways in a 

creative and cost-effective way.
Images of the Umbrella Sky Project in Agueda

ÁGUEDA, Portugal - Umbrella Sky Project

Grey to Green is a groundbreaking 

environmental and economic development 

strategy devised by Sheffield City Council. 

It responds to the need to re-connect the 

Castlegate area, including the Law Courts 

and Victoria Quays, with the rest of the city 

centre, the need to re-use a large amount 

of redundant highway; and the severe 

impact that the floods in June 2007 had on 

Castlegate.
Sheffield before Sheffield after

SHEFFIELD, United Kingdom - Grey to Green

Stevenage new town looks and feels like 

an urban jungle. Built between 1946 and 

1980, the area has a more expansive high 

street with its car-free areas – the UK’s first 

completely pedestrianised town centre – 

and a range of more affordable housing 

options. Work is currently underway to 

regenerate central Stevenage, creating 

7,300 new homes by 2028, revamping the 

railway station and building new bars, 

restaurants, shops and leisure facilities.
Pedestrianised and play areas in Stevenage now town centre

STEVENAGE, United Kingdom  - Shopping Precint

Coventry did a massive investment in 

the city centre and wider area, such as 

the UK Battery Industrialisation Centre, 

major events and festivals dominate 

the diary, RISING has been created as 

a global platform to advance thinking 

and understanding about peace and 

reconciliation and the city has just begun 

its celebratory year as UK City of Culture 

2021.
Radford Brook Linear Park in Coventry that runs from Nauls Mill Park to the city 

centre and under the Ring Road - before and after

COVENTRY, United Kingdom  - UK City of Culture 2021

Since 2015, the city of Vienna has given 

residents organisational and financial 

support to realise ideas that activate public 

spaces and create more opportunities 

for people to socialise and spend time 

outdoors. Citizens can submit ideas for 

improvement of public or semi-public 

spaces using an online form. A jury selects 

ideas according to submission criteria, such 

as that the projects need to be inclusive and 

cannot be commercial.
Images of parklets in Vienna

VIENNA, Austria - Grätzloase Parklets

CASE STUDIES

P
age 356



WWW.THINKHEMEL.COM

P
age 357



APPENDIX 04
HEMEL 
HEMPSTEAD 
TOWN CENTRE 
VISION

DOC 005 - 09.02.2023

OPPORTUNITY SITES

DRAFT

P
age 358



2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The opportunity sites in this document will include 

a variety of landowners. Some will be short term 

opportunities and others will medium to longer term. 

Some sites providing parking will need to be considered 

as part of the wider town centre parking offer. Servicing 

will also be a key consideration when considering mixed 

use sites in the southern area of the town centre. 

P
age 359



HEMEL IS A FAMILY OF WELCOMING 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND THRIVING 
COMMUNITIES. WORKING 
TOGETHER WE WILL SHAPE OUR 
FUTURE WITH CONFIDENCE.

SAFETY

HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

RESILIENCE

SUSTAINABILITY

COMMUNITY COHESION

MEANWHILE
DIGITAL 
TRANSFORMATION HIGH-QUALITY 

HOMES

BIODIVERSITY

SOCIAL 
VALUE

MMC

SKILLS, 
SCHOOL & 
TECHNOLOGY

CELEBRATING 
EXISTING 
ASSETS

ENTERPRISE 
AND ECONOMY  

SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSPORTS

DBC CORPORATE VISION:

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP TO 
CREATE A BOROUGH WHICH 
ENABLES THE COMMUNITIES 
OF DACORUM TO THRIVE AND 
PROSPER

P
age 360



6 7

H E M E L 
HEMPSTEAD 
POPULATION*

MILES NORTH-WEST OF 
LONDON

HENRY VIII GRANTED A 
CHARTER OF INCORPORATION 
TO HEMEL HEMPSTEAD

93,591

24

1539

WHERE IS HEMEL HEMEL BUBBLE PLAN

*Dacorum Borough Council Data Dashboard - Hemel Hempstead total 
population in 2019

MINUTES

EUSTON 
STATION

30

MINUTES LUTON 
AIRPORT

25

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100018953
*Map based on ‘Hemel Garden Communities - Programme Area_Draft_V6’ received from St Albans City and District Council on 22.12.2021 
Hemel Hempstead Bubble Plan*

Key

Kings Langley Neighbourhood Plan

Grovehill neighbourhood designated area

River Gade relocation project 

Old Town

Nickey Line to 
Redbourn & 
Harpenden

London

Tring

Strategic Movement Routes
Nickey Line Extension

Paradise Design Code

Two Waters

Town Centre boundary 

South Hemel Opportunity AreaSouth Hemel Opportunity Area

North and East Hemel Hempstead Growth Areas

Hemel Hempstead 
Station

Apsley 
Station1 2

Maylands Business Park and Herts IQ

Town Centre Hospital site

2

1

areas of influence

Riverside Shopping Centre 

Market Square 

Civic Centre site

Gadebridge

Warners End

Corner 
Hall

Chaulden

Boxmoor

Jarman Fields

Adeyfield

Bellgate

Old 
Town

Grovrehill

Woodhall Farm

The Heights

Bennetts End

Apsley

Leverstock Green

Local Centre

Nash 
Mills

Water 
Gardens

Proposed
Crematorium

Marlowes Shopping Centre 

Dacorum
 Borough Council

Dacorum Borough 
Council

St Albans City & District

St Albans City 
& DistrictDacorum Borough & St Albans District Boundary

P
age 361



N
N

8 9

HEMEL TOWN CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITES HEMEL TOWN CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITES

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area Town Centre South

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Paradise 

FieldsHemel 

Hospital

West Herts 

College

The 

Forum

Market 

Square

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oad

Queensway

M
a

rlo
w

es

M
a

rlo
w

es

Adeyfield Rd

Hillfield Rd

A
lexa

nd
ra

 R
d

Alexandra Rd

Warners End Road

H
igh St

Paradise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre North

3. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK SOUTH

4. MOOR END CAR PARK1. MARKET SQUARE

5. CIVIC CENTRE SITE2. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK NORTH

Hemel town centre is surrounded by a number of 

significant areas of change that represent an ongoing 

and unprecedented transformation of the area. The 

opportunity is for town centre to become a cultural 

hub well connected with the station, Apsley, Maylands 

and the other local centres around Hemel. The area will 

need to respond to the changing context through the 

intensification of developments and activities, and the 

enhancement of the local community that can work, live 

and socialise in the area.

6. THE BURY 9. MARLOWES SHOPPING CENTRE

7. NCP CAR PARK + ASDA + ICELAND 10. RIVERSIDE SHOPPING CENTRE

8. HOSPITAL AND PARADISE SITE 11. TWO WATERS SITE

1

5

7

6

2

3

4

10

11

9

8

P
age 362



N

10 11

1. MARKET SQUARE OPPORTUNITY SITE 1. MARKET SQUARE OPPORTUNITY SITE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area

View of Market Square from NCP car park

View of Market Square from Water Gardens Car Park North View of Market Square service yard View of parade of shops on Market Square north sideView of Job Centre

View of old cinema at the junction between Marlowes and Combe St

View of parade shops on one side of Market Square 

Town Centre south boundary

Market Square opportunity site

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

Market Square is located in Hemel Hempstead within 

Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies a central location 

within the town centre, half way between the Old Town 

to the north and the primary retail area to the south. It 

is a 10 minute bus ride to Hemel Hempstead train station 

and walking distance to surrounding residential areas and 

town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Marlowes and Waterhouse 

Street at the point where Hillfield Road meets the 

Marlowes, and used to host the Hemel Hempstead 

outdoor market and bus station. It is close to Dacorum 

Borough Council Offices, Hemel Hempstead Hospital and 

Hemel Hempstead Police Station, located in an area with 

a predominantly civic focus.

Market Square has rectangular shape of approximately 

94m by 57m. The site slopes down from the Marlowes 

which borders the site to the east to Waterhouse Street 

and the River Gade to the west, at which point the site 

widens out. Beyond the River Gade is the Water Gardens 

Car Park. The site is estimated to be 0.53ha in area, when 

extended to include the northern bungalows it increases 

to 0.54 ha.

The site incorporates a paved former market square and 

the old bus station. It is surrounded by predominantly 

low level, low quality retail units. There are no listed 

buildings within close proximity of the site, and it is not in 

a conservation area.

Access to the site by vehicle can be gained from 

Waterhouse Street, the Marlowes and from the adopted 

highway to the north behind The Market Arms Tavern. 

Pedestrian access is unrestricted due to the open nature 

of the site.
Market Square boundary extended to 
include the old Cinema,the Job Centre, 
the pub and the service yard

P
age 363



N

12 13

1. MARKET SQUARE - EXISTING CONDITION 1. MARKET SQUARE - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

Market Square

old bus stop

Salvation 
Army

100m

77m

100m

153m

57m
11m

51m

34m

Job Centre

Old Cinema

NCP Car park

Hamilton House

Water Gardens Car Park (North)

River Gade

The 
Forum

Marlowes

Bus interchange

Waterhouse Street

C
o

m
b

e Street

Market Square map - existing condition Market Square aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Job CentrePolice Station The Forum Old Cinema

Pub & Night Club Service YardWater Gardens Car Park Salvation Army

Waterhouse Street

Marlowes

Parade of shops Market Square Hamilton HouseNCP Car park Bus Interchange

Market Square site boundary - 6,200 sqm (0.62ha)

Market Square boundary extended to include the old Cinema,the Job Centre, the pub and the service yard - 13,770 sqm (1.4ha)

Market Square site boundary

Market Square boundary 
extended to include the old 
Cinema,the Job Centre, the 
pub and the service yard

Market Square incorporates a paved former market square 

and the old bus station. It is surrounded by predominantly 

low level, low quality retail units. There are no listed 

buildings within close proximity of the site, and it is not in 

a conservation area.

Access to the site by vehicle can be gained from 

Waterhouse Street, the Marlowes and from the adopted 

highway to the north behind The Market Arms Tavern. 

Pedestrian access is unrestricted due to the open nature 

of the site.

The site’s immediate surroundings represent a varied mix 

of contexts and scales.

The northern side of Market Square is formed by a parade 

of 1 storey low grade retail units, a three storey retail/-

-residential end unit to the east and a 1/3 storey public 

house to the west. The three storey units have gained 

planning permission to add one further floor, representing 

a changing future context. An adopted highway access 

route located between the parade of 1 storey retail and 

the public house provides vehicular access to the site and 

connects the original market office further to the north, 

also owned by DBC, with the site.

The eastern side of Market Square is adjacent to the 

Marlowes, a retail street that connects the site to the 

High Street further to the south. Beyond the Marlowes is 

a 3 storey NCP car park with retail on the ground floor 

and Hamilton House, a 10 storey commercial building, 

soon to be converted into residential through Permitted 

Development. 

The southern site of Market Square is formed by a parade 

of 1 storey retail units, a three storey retail/residential 

end unit to the east and a two storey building housing the 

Salvation Army to the west.

The west side of Market Square is adjacent to Waterhouse 

Street beyond which there is the River Gade, the Water 

Gardens and the 2 storey Water Gardens Car Park.

There is a gentle slope from east to west of approx 2m. A 

series of steps on the east boundary step down from the 

level of the Marlowes to that of the rest of the site.

There are three established trees along the south of the 

site, the eastern of which is a memorial that must be 

retained.

To the south east along the Marlowes there are a series of 

bus stops connecting the site to the wider area.

The scale of the immediate context is varied, ranging 

from 1 to 10 storeys. The architectural style of the square 

is consistently post-war new town, however beyond the 

site there is a much more varied range of architectural 

styles. The material context is again varied, ranging from 

red and yellow brick to painted concrete and render.

SI
TE AREA

1.4HA

0.6HA

P
age 364



N

14 15

2. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK NORTH OPPORTUNITY SITE 2. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK NORTH OPPORTUNITY SITE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area

View of Water Garden Car Park North from Bridge Street

View of Water Garden Car Parks exit from Bridge Street View of Water Garden Car Park North looking south

Entrance to the Water Garden Car Park North from Combe Street

View of Water Garden Car Park North exit to Bridge Street

Entrance to the Water Garden Car Park north from Leighton Buzzard  
Road

Aerial view of Water Gardens Car ParksTown Centre south boundary

Water Gardens Car Park North opportunity site

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

The Water Gardens Car Parks site is located in Hemel 

Hempstead within Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies 

a central location within the town centre, half way 

between the Old Town to the north and the primary 

retail area to the south. It is a 10 minute bus ride to 

Hemel Hempstead train station and walking distance to 

surrounding residential areas and town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Leighton Buzzard Road and 

Waterhouse Street at the northern side of the Jellicoe Water 

Gardens. It is close to Dacorum Borough Council Offices, 

Hemel Hempstead Hospital and Hemel Hempstead Police 

Station, located in an area with a predominantly civic 

focus.

The Water Gardens Car Parks site includes the multi-storey 

Water Gardens Car Park North and the Water Gardens Car 

Park South. The overall size of the site is approximately 

400m by 50m. The site is estimated to be 1.7ha in area. A 

parking strategy or plan for the whole town centre would 

be interdependent to this site coming forward. 

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park North

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park SouthP
age 365



N

16 17

2. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK NORTH - EXISTING CONDITION 2. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK NORTH - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

Market Square

old bus stop
Salvation 
Army

50m

49m

210m

280m

67m

34m

Job Centre

Old 
Cinema

Water Gardens Car Park (North)
Water Gardens 
Car Park (South)

River Gade

Play
Area

Marlowes
Marlowes Pedestrian Parade

Waterhouse Street

Leighton Buzzard Road

Cotterells

C
em

etery H
ill

C
o

tt
erells H

ill

Waterhouse Street

B
rid

g
e Street

B
rid

g
e Street

C
o

m
b

e Street

Water Gardens Car Park North map - existing condition Water Gardens Car Park North aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Market SquareNCP Car Park Hamilton House Salvation Army

Cotterells Hill

W
at

er
ho

us
e 

St
re

et

Cemetery Hill

Marlowes

Waterhouse Stre
et

Leighton Buzzard Road

Service Yard
Water Gardens 
Car Park (North)

Water Gardens 
Car Park (South) Jellicoe Water GardensWaterhouse St Leighton Buzzard Road

Water Gardens Car Park North site boundary - 12,230 sqm (1.7ha)

Water Gardens Car Park North  site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent plans, access to the Water 

Gardens Car Park (North) is from Combe Street and 

Leighton Buzzard Road with exits on Bridge Street and 

Leighton Buzzard Road.

The size of the Water Gardens Car Park (North) is circa 

34m x 210m with an area of approx. 7,140 sq.m.

Following recent improvement works, the access to the 

Water Gardens Car Park (South) has been amended to 

be from Leighton Buzzard Road only with exit on Bridge 

Street.

The size of the Water Gardens Car Park (South) is circa 

27m x 97m with an area of approx. 2,619 sq.m.

SI
TE AREA

1.2HA

P
age 366



N

18 19

3. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK SOUTH OPPORTUNITY SITE 3. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK SOUTH OPPORTUNITY SITE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area

View of Water Garden Car Park South from the entrance

View of Water Garden Car Park South looking south View of Water Garden Car Parks from Cotterells

Entrance to the Water Garden Car Park South from Leighton Buzzard Rd

View of Water Garden Car Park South looking north

View of the play area adjacent to the Water Gardens Car Park south

Aerial view of Water Gardens Car ParksTown Centre south boundary

Water Gardens Car Park South opportunity site

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park North

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park South

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

The Water Gardens Car Parks site is located in Hemel 

Hempstead within Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies 

a central location within the town centre, half way 

between the Old Town to the north and the primary 

retail area to the south. It is a 10 minute bus ride to 

Hemel Hempstead train station and walking distance to 

surrounding residential areas and town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Leighton Buzzard Road and 

Waterhouse Street at the northern side of the Jellicoe Water 

Gardens. It is close to Dacorum Borough Council Offices, 

Hemel Hempstead Hospital and Hemel Hempstead Police 

Station, located in an area with a predominantly civic 

focus.

The Water Gardens Car Parks site includes the multi-storey 

Water Gardens Car Park North and the Water Gardens Car 

Park South. The overall size of the site is approximately 

400m by 50m. The site is estimated to be 1.7ha in area.

P
age 367



N

20 21

3. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK SOUTH - EXISTING CONDITION 3. WATER GARDENS CAR PARK SOUTH - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

Market Square

old bus stop
Salvation 
Army

40m

116m

120m

38m

27m

Water Gardens Car Park (North)
Water Gardens 
Car Park (South)

River Gade

Play
Area

Marlowes
Marlowes Pedestrian Parade

Waterhouse Street

Leighton Buzzard Road

Cotterells

C
em

etery H
ill

C
o

tt
erells H

ill

Waterhouse Street

B
rid

g
e Street

B
rid

g
e Street

Water Gardens Car Park South map - existing condition Water Gardens Car Park South aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Market SquareNCP Car Park Hamilton House Salvation Army

Cotterells Hill

W
at

er
ho

us
e 

St
re

et

Cemetery Hill

Marlowes

Waterhouse Stre
et

Leighton Buzzard Road

Service Yard
Water Gardens 
Car Park (North)

Water Gardens 
Car Park (South) Jellicoe Water GardensWaterhouse St Leighton Buzzard Road

Water Gardens Car Park South site boundary - 4,690 sqm (0.5ha)

Water Gardens Car Park South  site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent plans, access to the Water 

Gardens Car Park (North) is from Combe Street and 

Leighton Buzzard Road with exits on Bridge Street and 

Leighton Buzzard Road.

The size of the Water Gardens Car Park (North) is circa 

34m x 210m with an area of approx. 7,140 sq.m.

Following recent improvement works, the access to the 

Water Gardens Car Park (South) has been amended to 

be from Leighton Buzzard Road only with exit on Bridge 

Street.

The size of the Water Gardens Car Park (South) is circa 

27m x 97m with an area of approx. 2,619 sq.m.

SI
TE AREA

0.5HA

P
age 368



N

22 23

4. MOOR END CAR PARK OPPORTUNITY SITE 4. MOOR END CAR PARK OPPORTUNITY SITE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area

View of Moor End Car Park from Jellicoe Water Gardens looking south

Cycle racks adjacent to the Moor End Car Park View of Moor End Car Park looking north

View of Moor End Car Park from Leighton Buzzard Road looking north

View of Moor End Car Park looking north

View of Moor End Car Park from Moor End Road looking north

Aerial view of Moor End and Water Gardens car parksTown Centre south boundary

Moor End Car Park opportunity site

The Moor End Car Park site is located in Hemel Hempstead 

within Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies a central 

location within the town centre, half way between the 

Old Town to the north and the primary retail area to the 

south. It is a 10 minute bus ride to Hemel Hempstead train 

station and walking distance to surrounding residential 

areas and town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Leighton Buzzard Road and 

Moor End Road at the southern side of the Jellicoe Water 

Gardens. It is close to the River side shopping Centre 

facing the River Gade.

The overall size of the site is approximately 115m by 35m. 

The site is estimated to be 0.4ha in area.

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park North

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park South

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

P
age 369



N

24 25

4. MOOR END CAR PARK - EXISTING CONDITION 4. MOOR END CAR PARK - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

30m

34m

18m

70m

115m

40m

Moor End Car Park

Warterhouse Street

Jellicoe
Water
Gardens

M
o

o
r 

E
nd

 R
o

a
d

Cotterells

Leighton Buzzard Road

Moor End Car Park map - existing condition Moor End Car Park aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Market SquareNCP Car Park Hamilton House Salvation Army

Cotterells Hill

W
at

er
ho

us
e 

St
re

et

Cemetry Hill

Marlowes

Waterhouse Stre
et

Leighton Buzzard Road

Service Yard
Water Gardens 
Car Park (North)

Water Gardens 
Car Park (South) Moor End Car ParkJellicoe Water GardensWaterhouse St Leighton Buzzard Road

Moor End Car Park site boundary - 3,570 sqm (0.4ha)

Moor End Car Park site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent plans, access to the Moor 

End Car Park is from Leighton Buzzard Road with exits 

on the same street.

The size of the Moor End Car Park is circa 115m x 35m 

with an area of approx. 3,750 sq.m.

SI
TE AREA

0.4HA

P
age 370



N

Queensway

Queensway

Gadebridge 

Park

Keens Field

West Herts 

College

The Bury

The 

Forum

26 27

5. CIVIC CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITE 5. CIVIC CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITE

View of Civic Zone site from the Marlowes

View of the Civic Zone site at the junction between Marlowes and 
Dacorum Way

View of Carey Baptist Church located opposite to the Civic Zone siteView of Civic Zone site from Leighton Buzzard Road

View of Civic Zone site facing the Marlowes

The Gade residential development located on the southern side of the 
Civic Zone site

The Civic Zone site is located in Hemel Hempstead within 

Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies a central location 

within the town centre, half way between the Old Town 

to the north and the primary retail area to the south. It 

is a 10 minute bus ride to Hemel Hempstead train station 

and walking distance to surrounding residential areas and 

town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Forum and West Herts College 

at the point where Dacorum Way meets the Marlowes, and 

used to host the original Dacorum civic centre. The Civic 

Zone site offers a significant opportunity to contribute to 

the Council’s aspirations for the regeneration of the town 

centre through achieving aims set out in planning policies 

for the Gade Zone.

The Civic Zone site has rectangular shape of approximately 

145m by 60m. The site slopes down from the Marlowes 

which borders the site to the east to the River Gade to 

the west, at which point the site widens out. The site is 

estimated to be 0.78ha in area.

It is surrounded by predominantly new buildings including 

.

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre north boundary

Civic Zone opportunity site

Combe Street

Midland Road

Dacorum Way

Warners E
nd Road

Alexandra Road

H
igh Street

Market 

Square

M
a

rl
o

w
es

P
age 371



N

28 29

5. CIVIC CENTRE SITE - EXISTING CONDITION 5. CIVIC CENTRE SITE - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

Civic Zone Site

The Gade

The Gade

podium of the Gade

T
he G

a
d

e ca
r p

a
rk

The Gade

145m

130m

63m

64m

51m

11m

The Foundry

West Herts College

Marlowes

Lieghton Buzzard Road

River Gade

The 
Forum

Marlowes

D
a

co
rum

 W
a

y

Police Station

Civic Zone site map - existing condition Civic Zone site aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

West Herts College The Foundry
Marlowes Heath and 
Wellbeing Centre

Carey Baptist 
Church The GadeCivic Zone Police StationThe Forum Market Square

Market Square site boundary - 7,890 sqm (0.78ha)

Civic Zone site boundary

The Civic Zone site is surrounded by predominantly new 

buildings including the Forum, the Gade and Foundry 

residential developments and the West Herts College. The 

height of the new buildings varies from 4 to 7 storeys.

On the other side of the Marlowes there are a series of 

listed buildings, including the Carey Baptist Church, that 

forms the original Marlowes.  The Old Town conservation 

area is located at a 5-minute walk from the Civic Zone 

site.

C
o

m
b

e Street

M
id

la
nd

 R
d

Marlowes 
Heath and 
Wellbeing 
Centre

Carey 
Baptist 
Church

Maitland Joseph House

Lei
ght

on 
Buz

za
rd

 R
oad

Marlowes

SI
TE AREA

0.78HA

P
age 372



N

Queensway

Queensway

Gadebridge 

Park

Keens Field

West Herts 

College

The Bury

The 

Forum

30 31

6. THE BURY OPPORTUNITY SITE 6. THE BURY OPPORTUNITY SITE

The Bury is located off Queensway, to the north of the 

modern Hemel Hempstead Town Centre and on the 

southern edge of Gadebridge Park.

Hemel Hempstead is part of the Greater London Urban 

Area, situated 24 miles northwest of the capital. The Bury 

sits within the boundary of the 32 hectare Gadebridge 

Park, which is situated to the west of Hemel Hempstead 

Old Town. The Park is bounded by Leighton Buzzard 

Road to the west, Queensway to the south, High Street 

to the east and Gadebridge Lane to the north. The house 

is immediately east of the River Gade and its southern 

elevation can be viewed from Queensway.

The Bury occupies a partially wooded and landscaped 

area close to the southern edge of Gadebridge Park and 

facing on to Queensway.

It is a Grade II* Listed Building and originated as a 

dwelling and it is currently only partially in use, with the 

local Member of Parliament using the building as their 

constituency office.

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre north boundary

The Bury opportunity site

Combe Street

Midland Road

Dacorum Way

Warners E
nd Road

Alexandra Road

H
igh Street

Market 

Square

M
a

rl
o

w
es

M
a

rl
o

w
es

View of the Bury

Footpath in Gadebridge Park leading towards the Bury Entrance to Gadebridge Park at the junction between Queensway and 
Marlowes

View of the Bury from Gadebridge Park

View of the Bury footbridge

View of the Charter Tower and Walled Gardens

P
age 373



N

32 33

6. THE BURY SITE - EXISTING CONDITION 6. THE BURY SITE - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

Walled 
Gardens

The Bury

Bowls Club

Queensway

Queensway

117m

78m

93m

41m

41m

26
m

24m

195m

64m

H
ig

h 
St

re
et

West Herts College

Gadebridge Park

Queensway Car Park

L
eighton B

uzzard R
oad

M
a

rl
o

w
es

The Bury site map - existing condition The Bury site aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Walled Gardens Gadebridge ParkCharter Tower Queensway Car Park West Herts CollegeThe Bury Civic Zone Site

The Bury site boundary - 12,540 sqm (1.3ha)

Civic Zone site boundary

Gadebridge Park forms the immediate setting of The 

Bury. It is primarily a landscaped parkland, consisting 

of grassed areas interspersed with significant trees and 

landscape features. The park was formerly the gardens 

associated with The Bury.

Immediately to the east of The Bury is a hard landscaped 

parking area with a modern single storey garage bounding

its eastern edge. This is accessed off Queensway. The Bury 

Lodge is located to the south of this, occupying the corner

of Queensway and the access track into the Park which 

runs between the Charter Tower and the Park itself.

Further to the east are the Charter Tower and Walled 

Gardens, which are the remains of a medieval manor house 

which formerly occupied the site, but was demolished by 

1790, with the Charter Tower the porch to the medieval

house. The Charter Tower is a Scheduled Monument and is 

Listed at Grade II*, the walls are Listed at Grade II.

To the west is the River Gade and then the main car park 

for Gadebridge Park.

To the north are Bowling Greens and associated buildings, 

including the Clubhouse.

The wider setting of the building takes in the ‘Old Town’ to 

the east and north-east, with a significant historic

environment along High Street, including the Grade I 

Listed Church of St. Mary. This is a Conservation Area, 

which extends to include The Bury itself.

Gadebridge Park extends to the north and West Herts 

College is situated to the south.

Queensway

Marlowes

SI
TE AREA

1.3HA

P
age 374



N

Queensway

Queensway

Gadebridge 

Park

Keens Field

West Herts 

College

The Bury

The 

Forum

34 35

7. NCP CAR PARK + ASDA + ICELAND OPPORTUNITY SITE 7. NCP CAR PARK + ASDA + ICELAND OPPORTUNITY SITE

The NCP,ASDA and Iceland site is located in Hemel 

Hempstead within Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies 

a central location within the town centre, half way 

between the Old Town to the north and the primary 

retail area to the south. It is a 10 minute bus ride to 

Hemel Hempstead train station and walking distance to 

surrounding residential areas and town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Marlowes and Hillfield Road 

facing Market Square. The site currently houses the NCP 

Car Park, an office block, the Iceland and ASDA retail 

stores.

The site has an L shape form and is estimated to be 1.6ha 

in area.

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre north boundary

NCP car park, ASDA and Iceland site boundary

Combe Street

Midland Road

Dacorum Way

Warners E
nd Road

Alexandra Road

H
igh Street

Market 

Square

M
a

rl
o

w
es

M
a

rl
o

w
es

View of NCP car park, ASDA and Iceland site from Market Square

View of the office building from the NCP car park looking east View of the office building from Hillfield Road looking westView of the ASDA

Internal view of the NCP car park

Aerial view of the NCP car park looking west

P
age 375



N

36 37

7. NCP CAR PARK + ASDA + ICELAND - EXISTING CONDITION 7. NCP CAR PARK + ASDA + ICELAND - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

178m

42m

57m

45m

75m

68m57m51m
6m

140m

39m
13m

18m
64m

6m

21m
39m

Wolsey Road

Marlowes

Alexandra Rd

H
illfield

 R
d

King Henry Street 

Market Square

Bus Interchange

Hamilton House

Hemel Hospital

Park Ln

King Harry St

M
id

la
nd

 R
d

NCP car park, ASDA and Iceland site map - existing condition NCP car park, ASDA and Iceland site aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Market 
Square The Forum

Water Gardens 
Car Park (North)

Job 
Centre

Alex
an

dr
a 

Rd

Hillfield Rd

Midland Rd

Waterhouse St

Marlo
wes

Marlo
wes

Com
be St

Leighton Buzzard Rd

NCP 
Car Park

Old 
Cinema West Herts CollegeASDA

NCP car park, ASDA and Iceland site boundary - 15,545 sqm (1.6ha)

NCP car park, ASDA and Iceland site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent plans, the site has multiple 

access from the Marlowes and Hillfield Road .

The size of the NCP car park is circa 70m x 55m.

The size of the office block and Iceland is circa 60m x 

70m.

The size of the ASDA including the car park is circa 70m 

x 115m.

The overall area of the site is approx. 15,545 sq.m.

SI
TE AREA

1.6HA

P
age 376



N

38 39

8. HOSPITAL AND PARADISE OPPORTUNITY SITE 8. HOSPITAL AND PARADISE OPPORTUNITY SITE

The Hospital and Paradise site is located in Hemel 

Hempstead within Dacorum Borough Council. The site 

sites between the Marlowes Shopping Centre to the west, 

Paradise Fields to the east, St Albans Road to the South 

and Hillfield Road to the north.

The site houses the Hemel Hospital with the Verulam 

Wing at the centre of the site.  The site also includes the 

Paradise zone at the south. DBC produced a design code 

for the Paradise zone which can be downloaded from the 

council website

The overall size of the site is approximately 8.9ha in area.

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - North Area Town Centre north boundary

Hospital and Paradise site opportunity site

View of the hospital from the car park

View of the hospital site entrance from Hillfield Road View of the hospital car park adjacent to Paradise FieldsView of the Paradise site looking west towards the Marlowes

View of the hospital from Paradise Field looking east

View of the hospital site from Maynard Road looking north

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park North

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park South

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

P
age 377



N

40 41

8. HOSPITAL AND PARADISE SITE - EXISTING CONDITION 8. HOSPITAL AND PARADISE SITE - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

330m

147m

62m

215m

155m

130m82m

68m

140m

170m

190m

King Herry Street 

Walsey Road

Park Ln

P
aradise

Hemel HospitalWood Ln

H
illfield

 R
d

Walnut Grove

Maynard Rd

St Albans Rd Paradise 
Field

NCP 
car park

MarlowesBus interchange

Marlowes Shopping Centre

Hospital and Paradise site map - existing condition Hospital and Paradise site aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Jellicoe Water 
Gardens The Forum

Moor End 
Car Park

Marlowes 
Shopping Centre

Tu
rn

er
s 

H
ill

Alexandra Rd

Hillfield Rd

Paradise

W
oo

d 
Ln

St Albans Rd

Park Ln

Bridge St

Leighton Buzzard Rd

Water Gardens 
Car Park (North) ASDA Paradise FieldsNCP Car ParkMarket Square

Hospital and Paradise site boundary - 89,270 sqm (8.9ha)

Hospital and Paradise site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent plans, the main access to 

the Hospital is from Hillfield Road and the main access to 

Paradise area is from Park Line. 
SI

TE AREA

8.9HA

P
age 378



N

42 43

9. MARLOWES SHOPPING CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITE 9. MARLOWES SHOPPING CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area

View of the Marlowes Shopping Centre from Park Ln looking west

Internal view of the Marlowes Shopping Centre View of the Marlowes Shopping Centre from Albion Hill looking east

View of the Marlowes Shopping Centre from the Marlowes pedestrian 
area

View of the Marlowes Shopping Centre from Wolsey Road  looking north

View of the Marlowes Shopping Centre from Selden Hill looking north

Aerial view of the Marlowes Shopping CentreTown Centre south boundary

Marlowes Shopping Centre opportunity site

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park North

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park South

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

The Marlowes Shopping Centre site is located in Hemel 

Hempstead within Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies 

a central location within the town centre, half way 

between the Old Town to the north and the primary 

retail area to the south. It is a 10 minute bus ride to 

Hemel Hempstead train station and walking distance to 

surrounding residential areas and town centre amenities. 

The Marlowes Shopping Centre is an easy 5 minutes’ drive 

from both the M1 and M25.  Access to our multi storey car 

park is via Wolsey Road

The overall size of the site is approximately 350m x 100m. 

The site is estimated to be 2.8ha in area.

P
age 379



N

44 45

9. MARLOWES SHOPPING CENTRE - EXISTING CONDITION 9. MARLOWES SHOPPING CENTRE - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

260m 93m

353m

41m
11m

46m

99m

46m
53m

Wolsey Road

Travelodge Hemel 
Hempstead

Marlowes pedestrian area

King Henry Street 

Marlowes Shopping Centre (car park) 

PrimarkRiverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Park Ln

A
lb

io
n H

ill

Maynard Road

Seld
en H

ill

Marlowes Shopping Centre map - existing condition Marlowes Shopping Centre aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Riverside Shopping 
Centre

Marlowes Shopping 
Centre

Leighton 
Buzzard Rd Cotterells

Moor End 
Car Park

Marlo
wes

Park 
Ln

Paradise

Marlowes

Waterhouse Street

Leighton Buzzard Road

Jellicoe Water 
Gardens 

Water Gardens 
Car Park (North) MarlowesMarket SquareWaterhouse St

Marlowes Shopping Centre site boundary - 27,640 sqm (2.8ha)

Marlowes Shopping Centre site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent 

plans, the pedestrian access to 

the Marlowes Shopping Centre 

is from the Marlowes pedestrian 

area while the delivery access if 

from Kind Henry Street. The site 

also includes a multi-storey car 

park with access from Walsey 

Road

The size of the Marlowes 

Shopping Centre site is circa 

350m x 100m with an area of 

approx. 27,640sq.m.

SI
TE AREA

2.8HA

P
age 380



N

46 47

10. RIVERSIDE SHOPPING CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITE 10. RIVERSIDE SHOPPING CENTRE OPPORTUNITY SITE

View of Riverside Shopping Centre from pedestrian footbridge looking 
north

View of Riverside Shopping Centre from Selden Hill looking south View of Riverside Shopping Centre from the Plough Roundabout looking 
north

View of Riverside Shopping Centre from the Marlowes pedestrian area

View of Riverside Shopping Centre from bus stop looking north

View of Riverside Shopping Centre from Moor End Road looking south

Aerial view of Riverside Shopping Centre

The Riverside Shopping Centre site is located in Hemel 

Hempstead within Dacorum Borough Council. It occupies 

a central location at the beginning of the new town centre. 

It is a 10 minute bus ride to Hemel Hempstead train 

station and walking distance to surrounding residential 

areas and town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Plough Roundabout, Leighton 

Buzzard Road and Moor End Road. The site use to house 

Debenhams which is now closed. The Premier Inn is also 

located on the site with access from Moor End Road

The overall size of the site is approximately 155m x 170m. 

The site is estimated to be 2.1ha in area.

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area Town Centre south boundary

Riverside Shopping Centre opportunity site

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Market 

Square

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park North

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park South

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Hillfield Road

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

P
age 381



N

48 49

10. RIVERSIDE SHOPPING CENTRE - EXISTING CONDITION 10. RIVERSIDE SHOPPING CENTRE - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

155m

137m

106m

126m

170m

160m

101m

M
o

o
r E

nd
 R

o
a

d

Old 
Kodak Tower

River 
Gade

Waterhouse St

Leig
hto

n
Buzzard

Road

Station Rd

Lawn Ln

St A
lbans R

oad

The Plough 
Roundabout

Selden Hill

Primark

Marlowes 
Shopping 
Centre

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Hemel 
Hempstead 
Telephone 
Exchange

Marlowes Pedestrian Area

Two 
Waters Rd

Riverside Shopping Centre map - existing condition Riverside Shopping Centre aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Old Kodak 
Tower

L
a
w

n L
n

W
at

er
ho

us
e 

St
re

et

St Albans Road

P
ar

k 
Ln

W
ol

se
y 

Ro
ad

Wate
rhouse

 St

Leighto
n Buzz

ard
 Rd

M
ar

lo
wes

Station Road

Two W
ate

rs 
Road

The Plough 
Roundabout

Jellicoe Water 
Gardens 

Riverside 
Shopping Centre

Marlowes 
Shopping Centre

Hemel Hempstead 
Leisure Centre Bank Court

Riverside Shopping Centre site boundary - 20,780 sqm (2.1ha)

Riverside Shopping Centre site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent plans, access to Riverside 

Shopping Centre  is from the Plough Roundabout and 

Moor End Road.

 

The size of the Riverside Shopping Centre site is circa 

155m x 170m with an area of approx. 20,780 sq.m.

SI
TE AREA

2.1HA

P
age 382



N

50 51

11. TWO WATERS OPPORTUNITY SITE 11. TWO WATERS OPPORTUNITY SITE

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre - South Area Town Centre south boundary

Two Waters opportunity site

M
a

rl
o

w
es

 P
a

ra
d

e

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park North

Water 

Gardens 

Car 

Park South

Paradise 

Fields

Jellicoe

Water

Gardens

M
a

rl
o

w
es

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e

T
w

o
 W

a
te

rs
 R

d

St A
lbans R

oadParadise

M
a

yn
ya

rd
 R

d

W
o

ls
ey

 R
d

K
ing

 H
enry St

Leighton
Buzzard

Se
ld

en
 H

ill

Rd

W
ood Ln

St
at

io
n 

Ro
ad

W
a

te
rh

o
us

e 
St

re
et

St
re

et

Bridge Street

Bank 

Court

View of the Two Waters site looking toward the B&Q and Travis Perkins

View of the Two Waters site from Heath Park looking eastView of the Magic Car Wash by the Plough Roundabout

View of the Grand Canal looking east

View of the Two Waters site from Two Water Road looking north

The Two Waters site is located in Hemel Hempstead within 

Dacorum Borough Council. It is a 10 minute bus ride to 

Hemel Hempstead train station and walking distance to 

surrounding residential areas and town centre amenities.

It is situated between the Plough Roundabout to the 

north, the Heath Park to the west and London Road to 

the south. The site include the Magic Car Wash, B&Q and 

the Travis Perkins retail area.

The site is estimated to be 5.5ha in area.

P
age 383



N

52 53

11. TWO WATERS SITE - EXISTING CONDITION 11. TWO WATERS SITE - EXISTING CONDITION

NOTE: The information shown on these pages is indicative only and 
subject to measured survey verification

115m

250m

175m
120m

195m

105m

400m

480m

57m

105m

95m

32m

Le
ig

ht
on

Station Rd

La
w

n 
Ln

Buzz
ard

 Rd

Two Waters Rd

St A
lbans Rd

C
edar W

alk

Corner H
all A

ve

B&Q

Heath Park

C
or

ne
r 

H
al

l

G
ra

nd
 U

ni
o

n 
C

a
na

l

HH Town 
Cricket Club

Vauxhall Hemel 

Hempstead

Car 
Wash

The Plough 
Roundabout

St Albans Rd

Old 
Kodak 
Tower

Marlowes

Cotterells

Harding’s Moor 
Nature Reverve

Two Waters site map - existing condition Two Waters site aerial view extracted from Hemel Hempstead 3D model produced by Vu.City 

Riverside 
Shopping 
Centre

Hemel Hempstead 
Telephone Exchange

Jellicoe 
Water 
Gardens 

Bank 
Court

Old Kodak 
Tower

London   R
oad

C
ra

b
tr

ee
 L

n

Lawn Ln

St
 A

lb
an

s 
Rd

Cotterells

Two Waters

St
atio

n 
Rd

Leighton Buzzard Rd

Waterhouse St

Marlowes 
Shopping Centre Lime Walk Durrants LakeHeath Park

Two Waters site boundary - 55,130 sqm (5.5ha)

Two Waters site boundary

As indicated on the adjacent plans, access to the Two 

Waters site is from Two Waters and Lawn Ln with exits 

on the same street. The Grand Union Canal runs through 

part of the site.

The size of the Moor End Car Park is circa 480m x 195m 

with an area of approx. 55,130 sq.m.

SI
TE AREA

5.5HA

P
age 384



WWW.THINKHEMEL.COM

P
age 385



Community Impact Assessment 
 

 

 

 

Name and description of project,  policy or service  

 
Hemel Town Centre Vision  
 
Hemel Hempstead is the principal town within the Borough of Dacorum and faces big challenges in 
relation to future growth, the impact of Hemel Garden Communities as a catalyst for transforming it 
into a 21st century Garden Town, ongoing regeneration, the effects of Covid19 on how people will live 
their lives in the future, developing its economic position and meeting the challenges of tackling 
climate change.  
 
The town centre is an early priority for intervention to support the area to prevent a spiral of decline 
and repurpose areas to accommodate changing priorities of the community.  
 
 

Identifying the impact of this project, policy or service on the community and environment 

 Questions to explore: 
What positive impact will your project, policy or service have? 
What negative impact will your project policy or service have? 
How will you ensure any negative impact is limited? 
What is the impact of doing nothing? 

On the community in general 
e.g. social or economic benefits, 
negative impacts 
 

The vision is being introduced to have a positive impact on the 
community: to create better places to live in, provide a town 
centre where communities can meet and enjoy access to 
nature. Strengthen the economic position of the town centre 
and the wider economy generally and tackling the range of 
long-term impacts on the community arising from the Covid19 
pandemic and changes in retail habits. 
 
 
 
 

On the council as an organisation 
e.g. on staff, services or assets  

The Town Centre vision will be delivered by many teams across 
the Council, including 

 Place Communities and Enterprise  

 Planning, Development and Regeneration 

 Commercial Assets and Property Development 

 Housing Strategy and Development 

 Community Engagement 

 Clean, Safe and Green 

 Events  

 Community safety  
 

On the protected characteristics 
Age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and 

 
The Town Centre Vision seeks to make the town centre 
accessible for all and embeds community cohesion as a key 
aim. The aim is for the town centre to be a place for all to 

Page 386



Community Impact Assessment 
 

 

 

maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex, sexual orientation 
(Specify where impacts are different 
for different characteristics) 

access, meet and spend leisure time close to nature. When 
implementing the vision each intervention will be considered 
to ensure that the impact on the protected characteristics are 
addressed. The aim will be to make the proposals arising from 
the Strategy inclusive to all issues and groups.  
 
 
 
 
 

On the environment 
e.g. effects on the climate, trees, 
amenity space, biodiversity, water, 
energy, waste, material use, air 
quality 
 

The Town Centre Vision sets out that new development will 
address climate change now and in the future. The vision seeks 
to support nature and biodiversity. New developments will be 
of high design and environmental quality.  
 
New built development creates a range of pressures on the 
environment which will be managed through the statutory 
development plan for the Borough and associated policy. 
Including biodiversity net gain and Environmental 
Improvement Plans set out in the Environment Bill and 
Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill. The emerging new Local 
Plan for Dacorum will set the policy basis for the 
environmental impacts of development in the Borough.  
 
 
 
 
 

On the specific target community / 
location 
e.g. if the project is based in a 
specific area or targeted community 
group 

The Town Centre vision is set to improve the area as a place as 
well as for the community who live in the area.  
 
 
 
 
 

Outline the approach you took to identify the need for this project, policy or service.  
Please include use of research, data and consultation with residents and/or staff. 

 

The need for the creation of a new Hemel Town Centre Vision is set out in the introductory section of 
this Community Impact Assessment.  

The Council is in the process of preparing a new Local Plan for the Borough, for which amongst other 
things, background national policy and local research makes it clear that there is a need to plan for a 
step-change in the level of new development to substantially boost the supply of housing; to grow 
and develop the Borough’s economic base; to tackle the impacts of climate change and address the 
Council’s declaration of a Climate Change Emergency; and to deliver new infrastructure. 

Page 387



Community Impact Assessment 
 

 

 

Further evidence will be gathered to support the local plan when planning in detail for the future of 
Hemel Hempstead Town Centre in terms of its role as a central and vibrant focus for the community, 
both now and in the future. This will include details of number of homes and infrastructure required 
in the town centre.  

 

Which commitment(s) does this policy, project or service support from the Equality and Diversity 
CIH Charter Housing Framework?  

The Chartered Institute of Housing has created a helpful framework to assess the need to ensure that 
equality and diversity is embedded into policy, project and service delivery. The key commitments are 
as follows, and as the new Hemel Place Strategy develops, the issues covered by each one will be 
addressed in the programme plan and its monitoring and management:  
 

1. Equality and diversity is driven from the top:  
 

• There is strong leadership from our governing body, chief executive and management 
team endorsing a strategic commitment to equality and diversity across all nine protected 
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation; and to supporting an 
understanding of the role of human rights in housing 
 

2. Equality and diversity informs our business planning 
 

• Equality and diversity lies at the heart of our business planning process and informs our 
investment decisions, how we design and deliver value for money services, how we procure 
services; and how relationships with partners, suppliers, contractors, customers and 
communities are sustained 
• We undertake equality analyses which show how equality and diversity informs our business 
objectives and equality analyses are transparent, monitored, reported and acted upon 
• We are committed to ongoing improvement in providing fair and accessible services to our 
existing customers and to future customers 
 

3. Equality and diversity shapes our organisational culture 
• Equality and diversity informs recruitment and staff development - the staff we employ 
represent the communities we serve. Diversity is represented at all levels of the organisation 
and our staff in their diversity are satisfied with us 
• Our commitment to equality and diversity is public, clear and transparent - all language, 
imagery, policies, procedures and publicity are inclusive and representative of our diverse 
communities. Information is provided in alternative or accessible formats where this is 
required 
• Our organisation communicates a zero tolerance approach to discriminatory attitudes or 
practice from staff, partners, contractors, suppliers, customers and from individuals in the 
communities in which we work 
 

4. Equality and diversity is supported through staff training, development and engagement 
 

Page 388



Community Impact Assessment 
 

 

 

• Staff at all levels are supported to gain appropriate knowledge and skills to deliver equal services 
to our staff and our customers in their diversity 
• Staff in their diversity have an opportunity to shape and influence the delivery of fair and 
accessible services 
 

5.  We know who our customers are  
 

• We proactively use customer profiling to gather customer insight information to help us 
develop fair and accessible services 
• Staff and customers clearly understand how customer profiling can improve our organisation 
and where service improvements have been made we will share our successes 
• We will develop our capacity to understand and respond to the housing needs and aspirations 
of migrants and new arrivals in the communities which we serve 
• We will develop our capacity to understand and respond to the housing needs and aspirations 
of future customers in their diversity 
• Customer insight information is regularly reviewed, monitored and refreshed and measured 
against our strategic plan and business objectives for equality and diversity 
• Customer profiling is informed by best practice, is undertaken confidentially and in line with the 
Data Protection Act 1998 
 

6. We involve our customers in shaping and scrutinising services 
 

• We actively encourage and proactively seek the involvement of customers in their diversity 
across all nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation, 
in the shaping and delivery of fair and accessible services 
• We provide structures, resources, training and capacity building opportunities for customers 
to enable them to contribute to delivery of fair and accessible services 
• We effectively empower our tenants to scrutinise, monitor and review our services for equality 
and diversity - we provide our customers with regular, robust and appropriate information 
in accessible formats which have been agreed with them and customers are encouraged 
to challenge our performance in relation to equality and diversity. We will report to our 
customers on our progress 
 

7. We represent the communities which we serve 
 

• We build visible links with local, diverse and representative community groups and 
community advocates to strengthen our relationships with the communities which we serve 
and to build trust 
• We work openly with partners and other service providers in the community to ensure that 
our services are representative and diverse and to ensure that the diverse customers which we 
serve are safe and secure in their homes and communities 
 

8. We support the communities which we serve 
 

• We will work with the communities which we serve and with community partners to advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different groups within the 

Page 389



Community Impact Assessment 
 

 

 

communities which we serve 
• We will work with the communities which we serve and with community partners to eliminate 
discrimination, tackle harassment, hate incidents and hate crime and domestic violence 

 

How will you review the impact, positive or negative once the project, policy or service is 
implemented?  

Action By when By who 

Community Impacts to be reviewed by the Programme 
Steering Group at regular intervals 

Standing 
Agenda item 

Programme Manager – 
Sara Whelan  

Review by Corporate Place Board  Standing 
Agenda item 

Programme Lead – James 
Doe 

Include as part of post-project review Dec 2023 Programme Lead – James 
Doe 

Highlight of specific impacts through ongoing reporting 
to Council, Cabinet and Strategic Planning and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

According to 
Programme 
Plan 

Programme Manager – 
Sara Whelan  

 
Completed by:    
Sara Whelan  
Hemel Place Strategy Programme Manager      
Dated 03 March 2023       
 

Reviewed and signed off by: 
Matt Rawdon  
Assistant Director – People 

Page 390



 

1 
 

SPAE OSC 
 Work Programme 2023/2024 

 
 

 

Meeting Date Report 

Deadline 

Items Contact Details Background 

information 

  13 June 

2023 

2 June 2023 Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

 Quarterly Budget 
Monitoring Report 

Claire Dempsey – Financial 
Planning & Analysis Team Leader 

Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Financial Outturn 
Report 

Nigel Howcutt – Chief Finance 
Officer  

Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental Services 
Quarterly Reports 

Robert Williams – Head of 
Environmental Services 

Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental & 
Community Protection 
Quarterly reports 

Emma Walker – Head of 
Environmental and Regulatory 
Services 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Planning, Development 
and Regeneration 
Quarterly reports 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 
Director Strategic Planning and 
Regeneration 

Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

     

6 July 2023   28 June 

2023 

Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

 Annual Planning 

Enforcement Report 

  

   

   

   

     

6 Sept 2023 24 Aug 2023 Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

Page 391

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk


 

2 
 

 Quarterly Budget 

Monitoring Report 

Claire Dempsey – Financial 

Planning & Analysis Team Leader 

Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental Services 

Quarterly Reports 
Robert Williams – Head of 

Environmental Services 

Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental & 

Community Protection 

Quarterly reports 

Emma Walker – Head of 

Environmental and Regulatory 

Services 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Planning, Development 

and Regeneration 

Quarterly reports 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director Strategic Planning and 

Regeneration 

Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

     

 4 Oct 23 25 Sept 23 Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

    

   

   

   

     

1 Nov 23  23 Oct 23 Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

 Quarterly Budget 

Monitoring Report 

Claire Dempsey – Financial 

Planning & Analysis Team Leader 

Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental Services 

Quarterly Reports 
Robert Williams – Head of 

Environmental Services 

Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental & 

Community Protection 

Quarterly reports 

Emma Walker – Head of 

Environmental and Regulatory 

Services 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Planning, Development 

and Regeneration 

Quarterly reports 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director Strategic Planning and 

Regeneration 

 

Page 392

mailto:Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  

     

6 Dec 2023 27 Nov 2023 Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

 Joint Budget 

Ideally no further items 

to be added 

  

   

   

   

  10 Jan 2024   28 Dec 

2024 

   

  Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

    

   

   

   

     

  7 Feb 2024 29 Jan 2024 Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

 

  

 Joint Budget 

Ideally no further items 

to be added 

  

   

   

   

     

6 March 2024 28 Feb 2024 Action Points (from 

previous meeting) 

  

Page 393

mailto:Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk


 

4 
 

 

 Quarterly Budget 

Monitoring Report 

Claire Dempsey – Financial 

Planning & Analysis Team Leader 

Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental Services 

Quarterly Reports 
Robert Williams – Head of 

Environmental Services 

Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Environmental & 

Community Protection 

Quarterly reports 

Emma Walker – Head of 

Environmental and Regulatory 

Services 

Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

Planning, Development 

and Regeneration 

Quarterly reports 

Alex Robinson – Assistant 

Director Strategic Planning and 

Regeneration 

Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  

 

    

 

Page 394

mailto:Claire.dempsey@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.williams@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Part 2 Minutes

	6 Action points from previous meeting
	7 Q3 Reports Planning Development and Regeneration
	Strategic Planning & Environment OSC - Place Q3 2022-23

	8 Q3 Report Environmental and Community Protection
	10 Paradise Design Code
	Appendix A - Paradise Design Code Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix B -  Paradise Design Code SPD - Code Compliance Checklist
	Sheet1

	Appendix C - Paradise Design Code SPD - Consultation Statement
	Consultation Report. pdf.pdf
	Paradise Design Code Response Report MISSING EA.pdf

	Appendix D - Paradise Design Code SPD - Draft Adoption Statement
	Appendix E - Paradise Design Code SPD - SEA and HRA Screening Determination
	Appendix F - Paradise Design Code SPD - Updated Community Impact Assessment
	Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template
	 Paradise Design Code – Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Policy / service / decision
	Description of what is being impact assessed
	Evidence
	Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others)
	The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any mitigation.


	11 Hemel Town Centre Framework
	Appendix 1 - Consultation feedback - Doc 005 - Town Centre Vision
	Appendix 2 - Urban Analysis - Doc 005 - Town Centre Vision
	Appendix 3 - Public Realm Opportunities - Doc 005 - Town Centre Vision
	Appendix 4 - Opportunity sites
	Hemel Town Centre Vision Community Impact Assessment March 2023

	12 Work Programme



